
 

Page 1 of 463 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, APRIL 15, 2019 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL 

 

 
 
Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular Meeting of April 1, 2019. 

Agenda Revisions 

Special Order of Business 

2. Public hearing on a proposed Agreement for Private Development and conveyance of certain city-
owned real estate to Zuidberg NA, L.L.C. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published April 5, 2019) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Oral comments. 

3. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for Private Development and a 
Minimum Assessment Agreement with Zuidberg NA, L.L.C., and approving and authorizing 
execution of a Quit Claim Deed conveying title to certain real estate to Zuidberg NA, L.L.C. 

Old Business 

4. Pass Ordinance #2938, amending Section 26-118 (formerly 29-107) of the Code of Ordinances by 
removing property located at the southeast corner of West 12th Street and Union Road from the A-1, 
Agricultural District, and placing the same in the RP, Planned Residence District, upon its third & 
final consideration. 

5. Pass Ordinance #2939, amending Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to the 
College Hill Neighborhood (CHN) Overlay Zoning District, upon its second consideration. 

New Business 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 
discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

6. Approve the following recommendations of the Mayor relative to the appointment of members to 
Boards and Commissions: 
a) MaryJane McCollum, Board of Rental Housing Appeals, term ending 05/01/2023.  
b) Bruce Wingert, Board of Rental Housing Appeals, term ending 05/01/2023. 

7. Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of April 1, 2019 relative to the following items: 
a) Sustainability.  
b) Bills & Payroll. 

8. Receive, file and adopt the City Council Work Session minutes of April 1, 2019. 

1



 

Page 2 of 463 

9. Receive and file a communication from the Civil Service Commission relative to a certified list for the 
position of Public Safety Officer. 

10. Approve a request by Winnebago Boy Scouts of America for a permit to operate a Daisy BB Gun 
Range at Pheasant Ridge Golf Course, 3205 West 12th Street, on May 23, 2019. 

11. Approve the following special event related requests: 
a) Street closures, Shamrock Shuffle, April 27, 2019. 
b) Street closures, UNI Triathlon, April 28, 2019. 
c) Parking variance, Washington Street (Annual Friends of MercyOne Cedar Falls May Breakfast), 
May 14, 2019. 
d) Street closures, Iowa Shrine Bowl Parade, July 20, 2019. 
e) Street closures, College Hill Farmers Market, June 6, July 11, August 1, September 5 & October 
3, 2019. 

12. Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses:  
a) Hy-Vee Clubroom, 6301 University Avenue, Special Class C liquor - renewal. 
b) Jorgensen Plaza (Table 1912, Diamond Event Center and Gilmore's Pub), 5307 Caraway Lane, 
Class C liquor, Class B wine & outdoor service - renewal. 
c) Mary Lou's Bar & Grill, 2719 Center Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 
d) The Horny Toad American Bar & Grille, 204 Main Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 
e) ZSAVOOZ, 206 Brandilynn Boulevard, Class C liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 
f) CVS/Pharmacy, 2302 West 1st Street, Class E liquor - renewal. 
g) Prime Mart, 2728 Center Street, Class E liquor - renewal. 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

13. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Marco Relationship Agreement with Marco 
Technologies, LLC relative to a new phone system. 

14. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a lease relative to property vacated by the 2008 
flood buyout programs. 

15. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a contract with Laser Line Striping relative to 2019 
pavement marking services. 

16. Resolution approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the purchase of a wheel loader. 

17. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of four Owner Purchase Agreements, and approving 
and accepting two Permanent Drainage Easements and two Temporary Construction Easements, in 
conjunction with the Walnut Street Box Culvert Project. 

18. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of two Owner Purchase Agreements, in conjunction 
with the Ridgeway Avenue Reconstruction Project - Chancellor Drive to Nordic Drive. 

19. Resolution receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting the low bid of Benton's Sand & 
Gravel, Inc., in the amount of $202,362.40, for the 2019 Permeable Alley Project. 

20. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Developmental Procedures Agreement with 
BJW Holdings, LLC relative to storm sewer oversizing for Park Ridge Estates Subdivision. 

21. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Professional Service Agreement with Snyder & 
Associates, Inc. relative to the Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project. 

22. Resolution approving and accepting a Lien Notice and Special Promissory Note for property located 
at 1026 West 8th Street relative to the Rental to Single Family Owner Conversion Incentive Program. 

2



 

Page 3 of 463 

23. Resolution approving and authorizing submission of a Certified Local Government National Register 
Nomination of the Cedar Falls Wild Historic District, as recommended by the Historic Preservation 
Commission. 

24. Resolution approving a College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District site plan for façade 
improvements at 2020 College Street. 

25. Resolution approving a College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District site plan for façade 
improvements at 2125 College Street. 

26. Resolution approving a Central Business District Overlay Zoning District site plan for a 
commercial/residential mixed use redevelopment at 302 Main Street and 123 East 3rd Street/305 
State Street, as recommended by the Planning & Zoning Commission. 

27. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Service Agreement with Farmers State Bank 
relative to drawdowns of Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funds. 

28. Resolution approving and authorizing reimbursements and cancellation of one assessment relative 
to the 2018 Sidewalk Assessment Project, Zone 9, in conjunction with the 2019 Street Construction 
Project. 

29. Resolution approving and adopting Small Cell Design Guidelines for the City of Cedar Falls. 

30. Resolution approving and adopting a Small Wireless Facility Fee Schedule. 

31. Resolution receiving and filing, and setting May 6, 2019 as the date of public hearing on, the 
proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 100 Block Alley 
Reconstruction Project. 

32. Resolution receiving and filing, and setting May 6, 2019 as the date of public hearing on, the 
proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the Walnut Street Box Culvert 
Replacement - University Branch of Dry Run Creek Project. 

33. Resolution receiving and filing, and setting May 6, 2019 as the date of public hearing on, the 
proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the Ridgeway Avenue 
Reconstruction Project - Chancellor Drive to Nordic Drive. 

34. Resolution setting May 6, 2019 as the date of public hearing on amendments to the City's FY19 
Budget. 

Allow Bills and Payroll 

35. Allow Bills and Payroll of April 15, 2019. 

City Council Referrals 

City Council Updates 

Executive Session 

36. Executive Session to discuss Property Acquisition per Iowa Code Section 21.5(1)(j) to discuss the 
purchase or sale of particular real estate only where premature disclosure could be reasonably 
expected to increase the price the governmental body would have to pay for that property or reduce 
the price the governmental body would receive for that property, following Public Forum. 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics germane to City 
business.) 

Adjournment 

  

3



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, APRIL 1, 2019 
REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 

MAYOR JAMES P. BROWN PRESIDING 
  

The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, in the City Hall at Cedar Falls, Iowa, at 7:00 P.M. on the above date. 
Members present: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. 
Absent: None. 

 
52253 - It was moved by Green and seconded by Darrah that the minutes of the Regular 

Meeting of March 18, 2019 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
Mayor Brown read a proclamation declaring April 7-13, 2019 as Crime Victims’ 
Rights Week. Glenda Husome with the Family and Children’s Council spoke 
briefly and introduced Rosario with Riverview Center and Laura with the 
Department of Corrections. 

 
The Mayor then read a proclamation declaring April 28-May 5, 2019 as Days of 
Remembrance, and University of Northern Iowa Director of the Center for 
Holocaust and Genocide Education Stephen Gaies commented and invited 
everyone to the Holocaust Remembrance Ceremony on April 23, 2019 at 7:00 
P.M. at the Grout Museum District. 

 
Mayor Brown recognized University of Northern Iowa student Drew Foster as a 
2019 National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) wrestling champion. 

 
52254 - City Clerk Danielsen announced that Item 28 was being removed from the 

Resolution Calendar. 
 
52255 -  Mayor Brown announced that in accordance with the public notice of March 22, 

2019, this was the time and place for a public hearing on the proposed plans, 
specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2019 Permeable Alley 
Project. It was then moved by deBuhr and seconded by Darrah that the proof of 
publication of notice of hearing be received and placed on file. Motion carried 
unanimously. 

 
52256 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed plans, etc. Upon being advised that there were no written 
communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Principal 
Engineer Schrage commented briefly about the project. Jim Skaine, 2215 Clay 
Street, spoke opposed to the program. There being no one else present wishing 
to speak about the proposed plans, etc., the Mayor declared the hearing closed 
and passed to the next order of business. 

 
52257 -  It was moved by Blanford and seconded by Miller that Resolution #21,469, 

approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of 
cost for the 2019 Permeable Alley Project, be adopted. Following questions by 

4



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

Councilmembers Green, deBuhr and Wieland, and responses by Community 
Development Director Sheetz and Principal Engineer Schrage, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, 
Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #21,469 
duly passed and adopted. 

 
52258 -  Mayor Brown announced that in accordance with the public notice of March 22, 

2019, this was the time and place for a public hearing on proposed amendments 
to Section 26-181, CHN, College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District, of 
Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to certain provisions in 
the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District. It was then moved by 
Wieland and seconded by Miller that the proof of publication of notice of hearing 
be received and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
52259 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed amendments. Upon being advised that there were no written 
communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Community 
Services Manager Howard provided a brief summary of the process and 
recommendations. College Hill Partnership Executive Director Kathryn Sogard 
spoke in support of the amendments. There being no one else present wishing to 
speak about the proposed amendments, the Mayor declared the hearing closed 
and passed to the next order of business. 

 
52260 -     It was moved by Wieland and seconded by Darrah that Ordinance #2939, 

amending Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to the College 
Hill Neighborhood (CHN) Overlay Zoning District, be passed upon its first 
consideration. Following questions by Councilmembers Wieland and Kruse, and 
responses by Community Services Manager Howard and Community 
Development Director Sheetz, it was moved by Kruse and seconded by Green to 
amend the motion to remove language within 26-181(5)(a)(6) that states “For 
mixed-use buildings constructed prior to January 1, 2019, parking is not required 
for existing dwelling units.” Following questions by Councilmembers Blanford and 
Miller, and responses by City Attorney Rogers and Community Services Manager 
Sheetz, the motion to amend failed 3-4 with Councilmembers Miller, Blanford, 
Darrah and Wieland voting nay. 

 
      It was then moved by Kruse and seconded by deBuhr to remove language within 

26-181(5)(a)(6) that states “In addition, for mixed-used and commercial buildings 
constructed prior to January 1, 2019, parking is not required for upper floor space 
that is converted to residential use.” Following questions by Councilmembers 
Kruse, deBuhr, Blanford, Miller and Green, and responses by Community 
Services Manager Howard, City Attorney Rogers and College Hill Partnership 
Executive Director Kathryn Sogard, the motion to amend failed 3-4 with 
Councilmembers Miller, Blanford, Darrah and Wieland voting nay. 

 
      It was then moved by Kruse and seconded by Green to table the motion until the 

College Hill parking study is completed. Following comments by Councilmembers 
Green, Miller and Blanford, and response by City Administrator Gaines, the 
motion to table failed 3-4 with Councilmembers Miller, Blanford, Darrah and 

5



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

Wieland voting nay.  
 
      The Mayor then put the question on the original motion and upon call of the roll, 

the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Blanford, 
Darrah, Wieland. Nay: Kruse, Green. Motion carried. 

 
52261 - Following a brief explanation by City Attorney Rogers and comments by 

Councilmembers Blanford, deBuhr and Wieland, it was moved by deBuhr and 
seconded by Darrah that the rules requiring Ordinance #2937, adopting the Code 
of Ordinances for the City of Cedar Falls, to be considered at three separate 
meetings be suspended. The Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call 
of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, 
Kruse, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: Blanford. Motion carried. 

 
It was then moved by Wieland and seconded by Miller that Ordinance #2937, 
adopting the Code of Ordinances for the City of Cedar Falls, be passed upon its 
third and final consideration. The Mayor put the question on the motion and upon 
call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, 
Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor 
then declared Ordinance #2937 duly passed and adopted. 

 
52262 -     It was moved by deBuhr and seconded by Wieland that Ordinance #2938, 

amending Section 29-107 of the Code of Ordinances by removing property 
located at the southeast corner of West 12th Street and Union Road from the A-
1, Agricultural District, and placing the same in the RP, Planned Residence 
District,  be passed upon its second consideration. Following due consideration 
by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, 
the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, 
Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
52263 - Jeff Hansen, 806 Bluff Street, expressed concerns regarding snow levels in 

alleys and debris on roadside in his neighborhood. 
 
 It was moved by Wieland and seconded by Green that the following items and 

recommendations on the Consent Calendar be received, filed and approved: 
 
   Receive and file the resignation of Jayme Renfro as a member of the Art & 

Culture Board. 
  
  Receive and file communications from the Civil Service Commission relative to 

certified lists for the following positions:  
  a) Arborist.  
  b) Equipment Operator. 

 
   Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of February 2019. 

 
Approve the request for a temporary sign on West 1st Street between the Rapp 
Gas Station and the Little Red School House for the Make-A-Wish Walk on April 
24-27, 2019. 
 

6



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

Approve a request for street closures for the Downtown Show and Shine, May 5, 
2019. 
 

   Approve the following applications for liquor licenses:  
 a) Lark Brewing, Deringer’s Public Parlor & The Stuffed Olive, 314 Main Street,             

Class C liquor & outdoor service - sidewalk café.  
   b) Luxe Nail Bar, 5907 University Avenue, Class C liquor - new. 
 
   Motion carried unanimously. 
 
52264 -  It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Miller to receive and file the 

Committee of the Whole minutes of March 18, 2019 relative to Pavement 
Management and Bills & Payroll. Jim Skaine, 2215 Clay Street, commented and 
Councilmember Green raised point of order.  Following a question by 
Councilmember Miller and response by City Attorney Rogers, the motion carried 
unanimously.  

 
52265 -  It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Blanford to endorse the 

recommendations of the Library Board of Trustees, the Art & Culture Board and 
the Parks & Recreation Commission regarding use of the Berg and Ray Funds 
held by the Cedar Falls Community Foundation for the benefit of the Cedar Falls 
Public Library, the Hearst Center and the Recreation Center. Following a 
question by Rosemary Beech, 5018 Sage Road, and response by Finance & 
Business Operations Director Rodenbeck, the motion carried unanimously.  

 
52266 - It was moved by Miller and seconded by Green that the following resolutions be 

introduced and adopted: 
 

Resolution #21,470, approving and accepting from the Municipal Electric and 
Gas Utilities the permanent transfers of $3,372,681.00 to the General Fund and 
$30,000.00 to the Economic Development Fund of the City of Cedar Falls. 

 
Resolution #21,471, approving and authorizing execution of an Easement 
Agreement, in conjunction with a sidewalk café at 314 Main Street. 
 
Resolution #21,472, approving the Gold Star Family Memorial Monument site 
plan concept and preliminary cost estimate, as recommended by the Parks & 
Recreation Commission. 
 
Resolution #21,473, approving and adopting revised Bylaws for the Housing 
Commission. 
 
Resolution #21,474, approving a Claim for Non-Residential Relocation 
Assistance Reimbursement, in conjunction with the West 1st Street 
Reconstruction Project. 
 
Resolution #21,475, approving and accepting a Temporary Easement, in 
conjunction with the 2017 Levee/Floodwall System Improvements Project. 

 
   Resolution #21,476, approving and authorizing execution of a License 

7



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

Agreement with Aureon Network Services relative to installing a fiber optic 
telecommunications system in the Greenhill Road public right-of-way. 
 
Resolution #21,477, approving and authorizing execution of a Professional 
Service Agreement with Robinson Engineering Company relative to the Ace 
Place Subwatershed Assessment Project. 
 
Resolution #21,478, approving and authorizing execution of a Professional 
Service Agreement with Terracon Consultants, Inc. relative to 2019 Construction 
Testing Services. 

 
   Resolution #21,479, approving and accepting a Lien Notice and Special 

Promissory Note for property located at 925 West 15th Street relative to the 
Rental to Single Family Owner Conversion Incentive Program. 

 
   Resolution #21,480, approving and accepting the low bids, and authorizing 

execution of two Rehabilitation Contracts with Connerley Construction, Inc. 
relative to Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) housing rehabilitation 
projects. 

 
   Resolution #21,481, setting April 15, 2019 as the date of public hearing to 

consider entering into a proposed Agreement for Private Development and to 
consider conveyance of certain city-owned real estate to Zuidberg NA, L.L.C. 

 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #21,470 through #21,481 duly 
passed and adopted. 

 
52267 -  It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Miller that Resolution #21,482, 

approving and authorizing execution of an Amended and Restated 
Developmental Procedures Agreement with James Benda relative to property 
located in the vicinity of University Avenue and McClain Drive, be adopted. 
Following a question by Councilmember Green and response by Planner II 
Lehmann, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, 
Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared 
Resolution #21,482 duly passed and adopted. 

 
52268 -     It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Wieland that the bills and payroll of 

April 1, 2019 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer be 
authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper funds in 
payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers 
voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. 
Motion carried.  

 
52269 - It was moved by Green and seconded by Blanford to refer to the Committee of 

the Whole a request to amend the consumer fireworks ban to allow a limited-use 
window. Following comments by Councilmembers Green, Blanford, Kruse, 

8



 
 

 

- 6 - 

 

Wieland and Darrah, the motion failed 2-5 with Councilmembers Miller, deBuhr, 
Kruse, Darrah and Wieland voting nay. 

 
 It was then moved by Darrah and seconded by Blanford to refer to a Work 

Session, Sustainability for the future of Cedar Falls. Motion carried unanimously.  
 
52270 - Mayor Brown announced a public workshop for the ‘Downtown Visioning’ on April 

2, 2019 from 6-8 P.M. at the Cedar Falls Community Center. 
 
52271 - Eashaan Vajpei, 3831 Convair Lane, expressed appreciation for the process of 

three readings for ordinances and expressed concerns with code language that 
could “grandfather in” a current illegal use, and City Attorney Rogers responded 
to a related question by Councilmember Kruse. 

 
 Rosemary Beech, 5018 Sage Road, requested a consistent speed limit on South 

Main Street, improvements to the parking area near the trailhead on South Main 
Street, and expressed the need for improved audio in the Council Chambers. 
Community Services Director Sheetz responded about planned improvements to 
the referenced parking area in the 2020 CIP. 

 
 Councilmember Wieland recognized the University of Northern Iowa students in 

attendance at the meeting. 
 
 Jim Skaine, 2215 Clay Street, commented on cost of the University Avenue 

roundabouts. 
 
52272 - It was moved by Wieland and seconded by Kruse that the meeting be adjourned 

at 8:35 P.M.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
  _______________________________ 
  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

9



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Planner II 

 DATE: April 11, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Zuidberg NA, L.L.C. Economic Development Project 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 
For the past several months, staff has been working with officials with Zuidberg NA, 
L.L.C. toward the construction of a new 30,000 square foot building for their 
warehouse/office facility. The company is currently located in the industrial park at 3105 
Capital Way within an existing 10,000 square foot space that they are currently leasing. 
Since the opening of their North American location in Cedar Falls in 2014, the company 
has seen growth that has led them to consider constructing and owning a larger building 
within the industrial park. The proposed project will occur on Lots 21 and 22 of West 
Viking Road Industrial Park Phase IV (3.54 acres total of which approximately 2.90 
acres is buildable after setback and open space requirement). This new facility will have 
a minimum building valuation and permit valuation of $2,750,000 and a total project 
minimum assessed valuation of $2,980,000 (including land). 
 

DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT 

 
As noted in the Introduction, the proposed building will be constructed and owned by 
Zuidberg NA, L.L.C., and will consist of a 30,000 square foot building to be located 
along Production Drive, just south of the Ashley Furniture distribution center in the West 
Viking Road Industrial Park. The proposed project will have a minimum building 
valuation of $2,750,000, and a total project valuation including land of $2,980,000. 
Zuidberg NA, L.L.C. will commence construction this spring/summer with completion 
anticipated within 9-12 months. The agreement also contains an option for 3 years on 
the lot immediately adjacent to the south (Lot 2 of West Viking Road Industrial Park 
Phase III). The company has indicated a desire for an option on that lot for possible 
future expansion opportunities. 

 
 
 
 

10



COMPANY PROFILE 
 

Zuidberg NA, LLC is a North American company doing business in Cedar Falls since 
2014. The company is selling front hitches, power take offs and related components for 
the construction and agriculture equipment markets in North America. Their customer 
base includes John Deere, Case New Holland, AGCO, JCB and over 100 other 
customers throughout the USA. The company has now outgrown their rented space at 
3105 Capital Way in the Cedar Falls Industrial Park and needs to have a larger building 
that provides room for expansion in the future. Zuidberg is owned by Zuidberg North 
America Inc. and has 7 employees in Cedar Falls but hopes to increase this in the near 
future as their business continues to grow starting in 2019. 
 
Zuidberg NA, LLC is wholly owned by Zuidberg Frontline Systems BV based in Ens, 
The Netherlands and privately owned by Jeroen Emiel Zuidberg. Zuidberg Frontline 
Systems BV has been manufacturing front hitches and power take offs for over 35 years 
since the beginning of the company. The key markets are agricultural. Zuidberg 
Frontline Systems is now the global market leader producer of these products in the 
world. Zuidberg Frontline Systems BV is selling their products all over the world.  
 
Zuidberg Frontline Systems BV employs over 375 people at the parent company in The 
Netherlands. More information about Zuidberg NA can be found at their company 
website www.zuidbergna.com. 
 
 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVES 

Land Incentive 

 

For the proposed Zuidberg NA, L.L.C. project, the company would receive at no cost, 
Lots 21 and 22 of West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase IV (3.54 acres total of which 
approximately 2.90 acres is buildable after setback and open space requirement) in the 
West Viking Road Industrial Park. This land incentive is consistent with our general 
industrial economic incentive guidelines of providing one acre of non-restricted building 
area for each 10,000 +/- square feet of new building space being constructed having a 
minimum $40 per square foot valuation. Therefore, staff feels that the proposed 30,000 
square foot facility with a $2,750,000 minimum building valuation is consistent with prior 
City land incentives for comparable projects.  

Industrial Partial Property Tax Exemption 

 
Consistent with our ongoing local economic development incentive guidelines, the City 
of Cedar Falls typically will consider a Five-Year Partial Property Tax Exemption on 
projects having a minimum assessed valuation of $1,200,000+.  Section 8.11 of the 
Agreement for Private Development references sections 21-48 through 21-57 of the 
Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances and Chapter 427B of the Iowa Code with respect to the 
provisions of the applicable partial property tax exemption. For the proposed Zuidberg 
NA, L.L.C project, the following exemption schedule is estimated using the existing 
industrial tax rate/valuation and projecting annual property taxes of $99,025: 

11



Year  % Exemption  $ Abated  $ Amount Paid  $ Total Taxes  
         

1  75%  $74,269  $24,756  $99,025 
2  60%  $59,415  $39,610  $99,025 
3  45%  $44,561  $54,464  $99,025 
4  30%  $29,708  $69,318  $99,025 
5  15%       $14,854   $84,172  $99,025 

    $222,807  $272,320    $495,127 
 
It should be noted that following City Council consideration of the Agreement for Private 
Development, an actual Ordinance will be drafted and adopted implementing the 
proposed exemption schedule noted above. The Ordinance granting the applicable 
partial property tax exemption will be presented to City Council once construction of the 
new Zuidberg NA, L.L.C. facility has commenced. 

Conclusion 

 
As this memorandum indicates, Zuidberg NA, L.L.C. is proposing to construct a new 
30,000 square foot warehouse/office facility on Lots 21 and 22 of West Viking Road 
Industrial Park Phase IV (3.54 acres total of which approximately 2.90 acres is buildable 
after setback and open space requirement).  The proposed new construction building 
project will have a minimum building permit valuation of $2,750,000 and a total 
Minimum Assessed Valuation of $2,980,000 including land.  Construction would 
commence this spring/summer with completion anticipated in approximately 9-12 
months. 
 
The Agreement for Private Development by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
and Zuidberg NA, L.L.C. has been reviewed by Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, and is 
attached for your review and approval. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
The Community Development Department recommends that the City Council adopt and 
approve the following: 
 
 1. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for 

Private Development and a Minimum Assessment Agreement by and 
between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and Zuidberg NA, L.L.C., and 
approving and authorizing execution of a Quit Claim Deed conveying title 
to certain real estate to Zuidberg NA, L.L.C. 

 
If you have any questions regarding the proposed Zuidberg NA, L.L.C. economic 
development project, please contact the Community Development Department. 
 
xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
           Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 

12



Capital Way

Tec
hn

ol o
gy

Pl
Production Dr

Venture Way

Technology Pkwy

I

Target Regional
Distribution Center

Ashley Furniture
Distribution Center

City of Cedar Falls
Public Works

Project Location

Zuidberg NA, LLC
30,000 sq. ft.
Warehouse/Office

Bossard

13



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by:  Shane Graham, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa (319) 268-5160    

 
RESOLUTION NO. _______ 

 
RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF AN 
AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT AND A MINIMUM 
ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE CITY OF CEDAR 
FALLS, IOWA, AND ZUIDBERG NA, L.L.C., AND APPROVING AND 
AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF A QUIT CLAIM DEED CONVEYING TITLE TO 
CERTAIN REAL ESTATE TO ZUIDBERG NA, L.L.C.. 

 
 WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 8196 approved and adopted on November 12, 1990 
(Ordinance No. 1923), amended a first time by Resolution No. 10,224 on November 13, 1995 
(Ordinance No. 2122), amended a second time by Resolution No. 13,862 on November 17, 
2003 (Ordinance No. 2461), amended a third time by Resolution No. 18,377 on December 10, 
2012 (Ordinance No. 2785), amended a fourth time by Resolution 19,263 on November 3, 2014, 
amended a fifth time by Resolution No. 19,963 on April 18, 2016, amended a sixth time by 
Resolution No. 21,079 on May 7, 2018 (Ordinance No. 2923), and amended a seventh time by 
Resolution No. 21,368 on December 17, 2018, the City Council has approved and adopted an 
urban renewal plan designated as the “Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal 
Plan” (the “Urban Renewal Plan”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is desirable that properties within the Urban Renewal Plan be developed 
as part of the overall development area covered by said Plan; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City has received a proposal from Zuidberg NA, L.L.C.  ("Developer"), in 
the form of a proposed Agreement for Private Development (the "Agreement") by and between 
the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the "City") and the Developer, pursuant to which, among other 
things, the Developer would agree to construct certain Minimum Improvements (as defined in 
the Agreement) on certain real property located within the Urban Renewal Plan as legally 
described in the Agreement attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference (defined 
in the Agreement as the "Development Property"), consisting of the construction of a 
Warehouse/Office Facility totaling at least 30,000  square feet of finished space, together with 
all related site improvements, as outlined in the proposed Development Agreement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agreement further proposes that the City provide certain financial 
incentives for the urban renewal project under the terms and following satisfaction of the 

14



 2 

conditions set forth in the Agreement, consisting of conveyance of title to the Development 
Property to the Developer,  the Development Property being legally described as follows: 
 

Lots 21 and 22, West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase IV, City of Cedar Falls, 
Black Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 3.54 acres more or less). 

 
 WHEREAS, Iowa Code Chapters 15A and 403 (the "Urban Renewal Law") authorize 
cities to make loans and grants and to convey real property to developers for economic 
development purposes in furtherance of the objectives of an urban renewal project and to 
appropriate such funds, make such expenditures and convey such real property as may be 
necessary to carry out the purposes of said Chapters, and to levy taxes and assessments for 
such purposes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agreement further proposes that the City, the Developer and the 
Assessor of Black Hawk County, Iowa, enter into a Minimum Assessment Agreement (the 
"Minimum Assessment Agreement"), whereby the minimum actual taxable value of the 
improvements to be constructed thereon would be established at an amount not less than 
$2,980,000.00 for a period through December 31, 2031; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Council hereby finds and determines that the Agreement is in the best 
interests of the City and the residents thereof, and that the performance by the City of its 
obligations thereunder is a public undertaking and purpose and in furtherance of the Urban 
Renewal Plan and the Urban Renewal Law and, further, that the Agreement and the City's 
performance thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate economic development activities and 
objectives of the City within the meaning of Chapters 403 and 15A of the Iowa Code, taking into 
account the factors set forth in Chapter 15A, to-wit: 
 

a) Businesses that add diversity to or generate new opportunities for the Iowa 
economy should be favored over those that do not. 

 
b) Development policies in the dispensing of the funds should attract, retain, or 

expand businesses that produce exports or import substitutes or which generate 
tourism-related activities. 

 
c) Development policies in the dispensing or use of the funds should be targeted 

toward businesses that generate public gains and benefits, which gains and 
benefits are warranted in comparison to the amount of the funds dispensed. 

 
d) Development policies in dispensing the funds should not be used to attract a 

business presently located within the state to relocate to another portion of the 
state unless the business is considering in good faith to relocate outside the state 
or unless the relocation is related to an expansion which will generate significant 
new job creation.  Jobs created as a result of other jobs in similar Iowa 
businesses being displaced shall not be considered direct jobs for the purpose of 
dispensing funds; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Council hereby finds and determines that the requirements of Iowa 

Code Section 403.8 with respect to the transfer of property in an urban renewal area are 
satisfied insofar as the Development Property is being disposed of for the purpose of 
development of an industrial building (see Iowa Code Section 403.8(2)(b)), and because the 

15



 3 

terms of the Minimum Assessment Agreement satisfy the safe harbor contained in Iowa Code 
Section 403.8(3). 

 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
 Section 1.  That the performance by the City of its obligations under the Agreement, 
including but not limited to conveyance of the Development Property to the Developer in 
connection with the development of the Development Property under the terms set forth in the 
Agreement, be and is hereby declared to be a public undertaking and purpose and in 
furtherance of the Urban Renewal Plan and the Urban Renewal Law and, further, that the 
Agreement and the City's performance thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate economic 
development activities and objectives of the City within the meaning of chapters 403 and 15A of 
the Iowa Code, taking into account the factors set forth therein. 
 
 Section 2.  That the form and content of the Agreement, the provisions of which are 
incorporated herein by reference, be and the same hereby are in all respects authorized, 
approved and confirmed, and the Mayor and the City Clerk be and they are hereby authorized, 
empowered and directed to execute, attest, seal and deliver the Agreement for and on behalf of 
the City in substantially the form and content now before this meeting, and that from and after 
the execution and delivery of the Agreement, the Mayor and the City Clerk are hereby 
authorized, empowered and directed to do all such acts and things and to execute all such 
documents as may be necessary to carry out and comply with the provisions of the Agreement 
as executed, including but not limited to execution and delivery of a Quit Claim Deed conveying 
title to the Development Property to the Developer. 
 
 Section 3.  That the form and content of the Minimum Assessment Agreement, the 
provisions of which are incorporated herein by reference, be and the same are hereby in all 
respects authorized, approved and confirmed, and the Mayor and the City Clerk be and they are 
hereby authorized, empowered and directed to execute, attest, seal and deliver the Minimum 
Assessment Agreement for and on behalf of the City in substantially the form and content now 
before this meeting, and that from and after the execution and delivery of the Minimum 
Assessment Agreement, the Mayor and the City Clerk are hereby authorized, empowered and 
directed to do all such acts and things and to execute all such documents as may be necessary 
to carry out and comply with the provisions of the Minimum Assessment Agreement, as 
executed. 
 
 
 
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this _____ day of ________________, 2019. 
 
 

     
 _________________________________________ 

      James P. Brown, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

16



 4 

CERTIFICATE 
 
 
STATE OF IOWA   ) 
     ) SS: 
COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK: ) 
 
 

I, Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby 

certify that the above and foregoing is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution 

No. _____ duly and legally adopted by the City Council of said City on the _____ day of 

____________________, 2019. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the 

official seal of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of ____________________, 

2019. 

   

  
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
 

17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



QUIT CLAIM DEED 
THE IOWA STATE BAR ASSOCIATION 

Official Form No. 106 

Recorder’s Cover Sheet 

Preparer Information:  (Name, address and phone number) 

Taxpayer Information: (Name and complete address) 

Return Document To: (Name and complete address) 

Grantors: Grantees: 

Legal description:   

Document or instrument number of previously recorded documents: 

© The Iowa State Bar Association 2018 
    IOWADOCS®   

Kevin Rogers, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613
Phone: (319) 273-8600

Zuidberg NA, LLC, 3105 Capital Way, Suite 1, Cedar Falls, IA  50613

Zuidberg NA, LLC, 3105 Capital Way, Suite 1, Cedar Falls, IA  50613 Attn: Jeroen E. Zuidberg

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa Zuidberg NA, L.L.C.

See Page 2

69



  
Form No. 106, Quit Claim Deed 

Revised January 2016 

QUIT CLAIM DEED 

© The Iowa State Bar Association 2018 
IowaDocs®  

 For the consideration of __________________________________ Dollar(s) and other valuable 

consideration, _______________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________ do hereby 

Quit Claim to _______________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________ all our right, title, interest, 

estate, claim and demand in the following described real estate in __________________ County, Iowa: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Each of the undersigned hereby relinquishes all rights of dower, homestead and distributive 

share in and to the real estate.  Words and phrases herein, including acknowledgment hereof, shall be 

construed as in the singular or plural number, and as masculine or feminine gender, according to the 

context. 

 Dated: __________________________ 

 

 

__________________________________   __________________________________ 

          (Grantor)             (Grantor) 

 

 

__________________________________   __________________________________ 

          (Grantor)             (Grantor) 

 

 

__________________________________   __________________________________ 

          (Grantor)             (Grantor) 

 

STATE OF______________________, COUNTY OF______________________ 

 This record was acknowledged before me on _______________________, by ______________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________. 

 

 

___________________________ 

Signature of Notary Public 

One

Black Hawk
Lots 21 and 22, West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase IV, City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa;
subject to the conditions, covenants and restrictions contained in that certain Agreement for Private Development
entered into between Grantor and Grantee herein, and further subject to the conditions, covenants and restrictions
contained in the Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Plan approved by
Cedar Falls City Council Resolution No. 8196 approved and adopted on November 12, 1990 (Ordinance No.
1923), amended a first time by Resolution No. 10,224 on November 13, 1995 (Ordinance No. 2122), amended a
second time by Resolution No. 13,862 on November 17, 2003 (Ordinance No. 2461), amended a third time by
Resolution No. 18,377 on December 10, 2012 (Ordinance No. 2785), amended a fourth time by Resolution No.
19,263 on November 3, 2014, amended a fifth time by Resolution No. 19,963 on April 18, 2016, amended a sixth
time by Resolution No. 21,079 on May 7, 2018 (Ordinance No. 2923), and amended a seventh time by Resolution
No. 21,368 on December 17, 2018 and further subject to restrictive covenants, ordinances, and limited access
provisions of record, if any, and to existing easements of record.

This deed is exempt according to Iowa Code 428A.2(6).

IOWA BLACK HAWK

Zuidberg NA, L.L.C.

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa

James P. Brown
as Mayor and Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, as City Clerk, of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa

70



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: David Sturch, Planner III, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 (319) 273-8600 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2938 

 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING SECTION 26-118,  

DISTRICT BOUNDARIES OF DIVISION I GENERALLY  

OF ARTICLE III DISTRICT AND DISTRICT  

REGULATIONS OF CHAPTER TWENTY-SIX (26) 

ZONING, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES, OF THE 

COTY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND RE-ENACTING 

SAID SECTION 26-118 OF SAID ORDINANCE, AS 

AMENDED, SO AS TO APPLY AND INCLUDE TO THE  

CHANGE IN THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF  

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AS PROVIDED BY THIS ORDINANCE 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

finds that the rezoning is consistent with the adopted Comprehensive Plan of the City of Cedar Falls 

and therefore has recommended to the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, that all that area 

described as follows shall be removed from the A-1 Agricultural Zoning District and placed in the 

RP Planned Residence Zoning District, as follows: 

 

A PARCEL IN LOT 2 OF ROBINSON'S MINOR PLAT OF PART OF THE NORTHWEST 

QUARTER OF SECTION 15, TOWNSHIP 89 NORTH, RANGE 14 WEST OF THE 5TH P.M., 

BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, AND MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

  

COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION; 

 

THENCE NORTH 89°49'32" EAST (ASSUMED BEARING), 75.00 FEET ALONG THE NORTH 

LINE OF SAID SECTION TO THE NORTHERLY EXTENSION OF THE WEST LINE OF LOT 2 

OF ROBINSON'S MINOR PLAT OF PART OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID 

SECTION; THENCE SOUTH 00°00'06" EAST, 33.00 FEET ALONG SAID WEST EXTENSION 

LINE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 2 AND THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

THENCE NORTH 89°49'32" EAST, 795.34 FEET ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 2 

TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 1 IN SAID MINOR PLAT; THENCE SOUTH 

00°09'12" EAST, 275.63 FEET; THENCE NORTH 89°48'38" EAST, 223.37 FEET; THENCE 

SOUTH 00°10'46" EAST, 307.88 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 35°48'01" EAST, 410.89 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 89°49'48" EAST, 813.81 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00°02'24" EAST, 898.69 

71



FEET, ALL ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 2; THENCE NORTH 50°48'28" 

WEST, 1,057.40 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°16'33" WEST, 145.20 FEET TO THE 

NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER 

OF SAID SECTION AS SHOWN ON SAID MINOR PLAT; THENCE SOUTH 89°47'16" WEST, 

1,252.41 FEET ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF THE 

NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION AS SHOWN ON SAID MINOR PLAT TO THE 

WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 2; THENCE NORTH 00°00'06" WEST, 1,291.49 FEET TO THE 

POINT OF BEGINNING;      

 

CONTAINING 42.345 ACRES, SUBJECT TO EASEMENTS OF RECORD. 

 

And 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it to the best interests 

of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, that said proposal be made and approved; and 

 

  WHEREAS, the said Section 26-118, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of Article 

III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-six (26), Zoning, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, provides that the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, attached thereto, is incorporated into and made a part of said Ordinance; 

 

 WHEREAS, notice of public hearing has been published, as provided by law, and such 

hearing held on the proposed amendment; now, therefore, 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

 

 Section 1.  That the following described real estate: 

 

A PARCEL IN LOT 2 OF ROBINSON'S MINOR PLAT OF PART OF THE NORTHWEST 

QUARTER OF SECTION 15, TOWNSHIP 89 NORTH, RANGE 14 WEST OF THE 5TH P.M., 

BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, AND MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

  

COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION; 

 

THENCE NORTH 89°49'32" EAST (ASSUMED BEARING), 75.00 FEET ALONG THE NORTH 

LINE OF SAID SECTION TO THE NORTHERLY EXTENSION OF THE WEST LINE OF LOT 2 

OF ROBINSON'S MINOR PLAT OF PART OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID 

SECTION; THENCE SOUTH 00°00'06" EAST, 33.00 FEET ALONG SAID WEST EXTENSION 

LINE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 2 AND THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

THENCE NORTH 89°49'32" EAST, 795.34 FEET ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 2 

TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 1 IN SAID MINOR PLAT; THENCE SOUTH 

00°09'12" EAST, 275.63 FEET; THENCE NORTH 89°48'38" EAST, 223.37 FEET; THENCE 

SOUTH 00°10'46" EAST, 307.88 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 35°48'01" EAST, 410.89 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 89°49'48" EAST, 813.81 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00°02'24" EAST, 898.69 

FEET, ALL ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 2; THENCE NORTH 50°48'28" 

WEST, 1,057.40 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°16'33" WEST, 145.20 FEET TO THE 

NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER 

OF SAID SECTION AS SHOWN ON SAID MINOR PLAT; THENCE SOUTH 89°47'16" WEST, 

1,252.41 FEET ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF THE 

72



NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION AS SHOWN ON SAID MINOR PLAT TO THE 

WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 2; THENCE NORTH 00°00'06" WEST, 1,291.49 FEET TO THE 

POINT OF BEGINNING;      

 

CONTAINING 42.345 ACRES, SUBJECT TO EASEMENTS OF RECORD. 

 

Be and the same is hereby removed from the A-1 Agricultural District and added to the RP Planned 

Residence District. 

 

Section 2. That the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is hereby 

amended to show the property described in Section 1, above, as now being in the RP Planned 

Residence District, and the amended map is hereby ordained to be the zoning map of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, as amended. 

 

 Section 3. That said Section 26-118, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of Article 

III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-six (26), Zoning, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is hereby repealed and hereby re-

enacted in the identical language as the same now is, in order that the same shall apply to and include 

the change hereby made in the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

 

INTRODUCED:     March 18, 2019   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   March 18, 2019   

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:   April 1, 2019    

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:       

ADOPTED:          

 

____________________________ 

       James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

73



 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by: Karen Howard, P&CS Manager, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (319) 273-8600 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2939 

 
AN ORDINANCE REPEALING AND REPLACING SECTION 26-181 (FORMERLY 29-160), 
CHN, COLLEGE HILL NEIGHBORHOOD OVERLAY ZONING DISTRICT, OF DIVISION 2, 
SPECIFIC DISTRICTS, OF ARTICLE III, DISTRICTS AND DISTRICT REGULATIONS, OF 
CHAPTER 26 (FORMERLY 29), ZONING OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY 
OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA (Case # TA19-001) 

 
WHEREAS, it is the purpose of the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District to regulate 

development and land uses within the College Hill Neighborhood and to provide guidance for building and 
site design standards, maintenance and development of the residential and business districts in a manner 
that complements the University of Northern Iowa campus, promotes community vitality and safety, and 
strengthens commercial enterprise; and 

 
WHEREAS, these amendments add a definition of “mixed-use building” and establish standards for 

said mixed-use buildings, including parking requirements and building design standards to encourage new 
development and revitalization of the College Hill business district and areas immediately adjacent to the 
University of Northern Iowa campus; and 

 
WHEREAS, these amendments delete ambiguous language from the College Hill Overlay Zoning 

District standards that have created uncertainty in the market and in the community regarding parking 
requirements for upper floor residential dwelling units within mixed-use buildings;  

 
WHEREAS, these amendments provide consistency between the parking requirements for mixed-use 

buildings in the C-3 (College Hill Business District) and multiple dwelling buildings in the R-3 and R-4 
Zoning Districts located within the College Hill Overlay District;  

 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has reviewed the proposed changes to the 

ordinance and recommends approval; and now, therefore:  
 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 

That Section 26-181, CHN, College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District, of Division 2, Specific 
Districts, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 26, Zoning is hereby repealed in its 
entirety and the following Section 26-181, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 
 

Sec. 26-181.   CHN College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District. 

74



 2 

In the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District, the following provisions, regulations and 

restrictions shall apply:  

(1)  Boundaries. The College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District (CHN district) boundaries are 
shown in the College Hill neighborhood master plan and legally described in attachment A. (Said 
attachment is not set out at length herein but is on file in the office of the city planner.)  

(2)  Purpose and intent.  

a.  The purpose of the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District is to regulate 
development and land uses within the College Hill neighborhood and to provide guidance for 
building and site design standards, maintenance and development of the residential and 
business districts in a manner that complements the University of Northern Iowa campus, 
promotes community vitality and safety and strengthens commercial enterprise. New 
structures, including certain types of fences, certain modifications to existing structures and 
certain site improvements and site maintenance shall conform to this section.  

b.  The provisions of this section shall apply in addition to any other zoning district regulations and 
requirements in which the land may be classified. In the case of conflict, the most restrictive 
provisions shall govern unless otherwise expressly provided in this section.  

(3)  Definitions. The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this section, shall have the 
meanings ascribed to them in this subsection, except where the context clearly indicates a different 
meaning:  

Bedroom means a room unit intended for sleeping purposes containing at least 70 square feet 
of floor space for each occupant. Neither closets nor any part of a room where the ceiling height is 
less than five feet shall be considered when computing floor area.  

Change in use means and include residential uses changed from single-unit to two-unit or two-
unit to multi-unit or to any increase in residential intensity within a structure (i.e., change from 
duplex to fraternity house). The term "change in use" shall also apply to changes in use 
classifications (i.e., residential to commercial).  

Fraternity/sorority means residential facilities provided for college students and sponsored by 
university affiliated student associations. Such facilities may contain individual or common sleeping 
areas and bathroom facilities but shall provide common kitchen, dining, and lounging areas. Such 
facilities may contain more than one unit.  

Greenway means open landscaped area maintained for floodplain protection, stormwater 
management and public access. Such area may contain pedestrian walkways or bicycle pathways 
but is not intended for regular or seasonal usage by motorized recreational vehicles.  

Landscaped area means an area not subject to vehicular traffic, which consists of living 
landscape material including grass, trees and shrubbery.  

Lot split, property transfer means not a subdivision plat where a new lot is being created; 
includes any transfer of small segments of property or premises between two abutting properties, 
whether commonly owned or owned by separate parties, where one property (the "sending 
property") is dedicating or deeding additional land to another abutting property (the "receiving 
property").  

Mixed-Use Building means a building designed for occupancy by a minimum of two different 
uses. Uses generating visitor or customer traffic (such as retail, restaurants, personal services) are 
typically located on the ground floor facing the street, whereas uses generating limited pedestrian 
activity (such as office or residential uses) are typically located on upper floors or behind street-
fronting commercial uses. 

75



 3 

Neighborhood character. The College Hill neighborhood area is one of the city's oldest and 
most densely populated neighborhoods. As the University of Northern Iowa has grown the original 
single-unit residential neighborhood surrounding the campus area has been transformed into a 
mixture of single-unit, duplex and multiple unit dwelling units along with a few institutional uses and 
other university-related uses such as fraternities and sorority houses. These various uses are 
contained in a variety of underlying zoning districts (i.e., R-2, R-3, R-4 Residential and C-3 
Commercial Districts). Architectural styles vary significantly among existing building structures 
while differing land uses and building types are permitted in different zoning districts. When 
references are made in this article to preservation of neighborhood character, uniformity of building 
scale, size, bulk and unusual or widely varying appearance are of primary concern regardless of 
the nature of the proposed building use.  

New construction, including significant improvements to existing structures, shall be of a 
character that respects and complements existing neighborhood development. The following 
variables or criteria shall be used in determining whether a newly proposed construction or building 
renovation is in keeping with the character of the neighborhood:  

1.  Overall bulk/size of the building;  

2.  Overall height of the building;  

3.  Number of proposed dwelling units in comparison to surrounding properties;  

4.  Lot density (lot area divided by number of dwelling units);  

5.  Off-street parking provision;  

6.  Architectural compatibility with surrounding buildings.  

Parking area means that portion of a parcel of land that is improved and designated or 
commonly used for the parking of one or more motor vehicles.  

Parking lot means that area improved and designated or commonly used for the parking of 
three or more vehicles.  

Parking space (also parking stall) means an area measuring at least nine feet wide and 19 feet 
long for all commercial, institutional or manufacturing uses or eight feet wide and 18 feet long for 
residential uses only, connected to a public street or alley by a driveway not less than ten feet 
wide, and so arranged as to permit ingress and egress of motor vehicles without moving any other 
vehicle parked adjacent to the parking space.  

Premises means a lot, plot or parcel of land including all structures thereon. 

Residential Building: Any building that is designed and/or used exclusively for residential 
purposes, but not including a tent, cabin or travel trailer.   

Residential conversion means the alteration or modification of a residential structure that will 
result in an increase in the number of rooming units or dwelling units within the residential 
structure. The addition or creation of additional rooms within an existing rooming unit or dwelling 
unit does not constitute a residential conversion.  

Structural alteration means any alteration, exterior or interior that alters the exterior dimension 
of the structure. This provision shall apply to residential, commercial and institutional uses 
including churches or religious institutions.  

Substantial improvement means any new construction within the district or any renovation of 
an existing structure, including the following:  

1.  Any increase in floor area or increased external dimension of a residential or commercial 
structure. Additional bedrooms proposed in an existing duplex or multi-unit residence shall 

76



 4 

be considered a substantial improvement. Bedroom additions to single-unit residences 
shall not be considered to be a substantial improvement.  

2.  Any modification of the exterior appearance of the structure by virtue of adding or 
removing exterior windows or doors. Repair or replacement of existing windows or doors 
which does not result in any change in the size, number or location of said windows and 
doors shall not be considered to be a substantial improvement.  

3.  Any structural alteration that increases the number of bedrooms or dwelling units. Interior 
room additions, including bedroom additions, may be made to single-unit residential 
structures without requiring additional on-site parking.  

4.  All facade improvements, changes, alterations, modifications or replacement of existing 
facade materials on residential or commercial structures. Routine repair and replacement 
of existing siding materials with the same or similar siding materials on existing structures 
shall be exempt from these regulations.  

5.  Any new, modified or replacement awnings, signs or similar projections over public 
sidewalk areas.  

6.  Any increase or decrease in existing building height and/or alteration of existing roof pitch 
or appearance. Routine repair or replacement of existing roof materials that do not 
materially change or affect the appearance, shape or configuration of the existing roof 
shall not be considered a substantial improvement.  

7.  Any construction of a detached accessory structure measuring more than 300 square feet 
in base floor area for a residential or commercial principal use.  

8.  Any increase in area of any existing parking area or parking lot or any new construction of 
a parking area or parking lot, which existing or new parking area or parking lot contains or 
is designed to potentially accommodate a total of three or more parking stalls.  

9.  Any proposed property boundary fence, which utilizes unusual fencing materials such as 
stones, concrete blocks, logs, steel beams or similar types of atypical or unusual fence 
materials. Standard chain-link fences, wooden or vinyl privacy fences shall be exempt 
from these provisions.  

10.  Demolition and removal of an entire residential, commercial or institutional structure on a 
property shall not be considered a substantial improvement.  

(4)  Administrative review.  

a.  Applicability. The provisions of this section shall constitute the requirements for all premises 
and properties that lie within the boundaries of the College Hill neighborhood overlay zoning 
district. This section and the requirements stated herein shall apply to all new construction, 
change in use, structural alterations, substantial improvements or site improvements including:  

1.  Any substantial improvement to any residential, commercial or institutional structure, 
including churches.  

2.  Any new construction, change in use, residential conversion or structural alteration, as 
defined herein, for any structure.  

3.  Any new building structure including single-unit residences.  

b.  Emergency repairs. In the case of emergency repairs required as the result of unanticipated 
building or facade damages due to events such as fire, vandalism, flooding or weather-related 
damages, site plan review by the planning and zoning commission and the city council will not 
be required for completion of said emergency repairs, provided that the extent of damages and 

77



 5 

cost of said repairs are less than 50 percent of the value of the structure. However, said 
emergency repairs along with cost estimates related to the extent of building structural 
damages shall be verified by the city planner in conjunction with the city building inspector. 
Said emergency repairs, to the extent possible, shall repair and re-establish the original 
appearance of the structure. In the event that said emergency repairs result in dramatic 
alteration of the exterior appearance of the structure as determined by the city planner, the 
owner of the property shall make permanent repairs or renovations that re-establish the 
original appearance of the structure with respect to facade features, window and door sizes, 
locations and appearances of said windows and doors within six months following completion 
of said emergency repairs. Said emergency repairs shall not alter the number, size or 
configuration of pre-existing rooms, bedrooms or dwelling units within the structure.  

c.  Submittal requirements. Applicants for any new construction, change in use, structural 
alteration, facade alteration, residential conversion, substantial improvement, parking lot 
construction or building enlargement shall submit to the city planning division an application 
accompanied by such additional information and documentation as shall be deemed 
appropriate by the city planner in order for the planning division to properly review the 
application. The required application for any project may include one or more of the following 
elements depending upon the nature of the application proposal. Some applications will 
require submittal of more information than other types of applications. The city planner will 
advise the applicant which of these items need to be submitted with each application with the 
goal of providing sufficient information so that decision makers can make an informed decision 
on each application.  

1.  Written description of building proposal, whether a new structure, facade improvement, 
parking lot improvement, building addition, etc. The name and address of the property 
owner and property developer (if different) must be provided;  

2.  Building floor plans;  

3.  Building materials;  

4.  Dimensions of existing and proposed exterior building "footprint";  

5.  Facade details/exterior rendering of the structure being modified, description of proposed 
building design elements including, but not limited to, building height, roof design, number 
and location of doors and windows and other typical facade details;  

6.  Property boundaries, existing and proposed building setbacks;  

7.  Parking lot location, setbacks, parking stall locations and dimensions along with parking 
lot screening details;  

8.  Lot area and lot width measurements with explanation if any portion of an adjacent lot or 
property is being transferred to the property under consideration;  

9.  Open green space areas and proposed landscaping details with schedule for planting new 
landscaping materials;  

10.  Trash dumpster/trash disposal areas;  

11.  Stormwater detention/management plans.  

Following submittal of the appropriate application materials as determined by the city planner, said 
application materials shall be reviewed by the city planning and zoning commission and the city 
council to determine if the submittal meets all chapter requirements and conforms to the standards 
of the comprehensive plan, recognized principles of civic design, land use planning and landscape 
architecture. The commission may recommend and the city council may approve the application as 

78



 6 

submitted, may deny the application, or may require the applicant to modify, alter, adjust or amend 
the application as deemed necessary to the end that it preserves the intent and purpose of this 
section to promote the public health, safety and general welfare.  

(5)  District requirements and criteria for review.  

a.  Minimum on-site parking requirements. The following standards shall apply in the College Hill 
Neighborhood Overlay District and shall govern if different from the requirements listed in 
Section 26-220, Off-street parking spaces. 

1.  Single-unit Dwelling: Two parking stalls per dwelling.  

2. Single-unit Dwelling, renter-occupied: Two parking stalls per dwelling unit plus one 
additional parking stall for each bedroom in excess of two bedrooms. 

3.  Two-unit Dwelling: Two stalls per dwelling units plus one additional stall for each bedroom 
in each dwelling unit in excess of two bedrooms.  

4.  Multiple Dwelling: Two stalls per dwelling unit plus one additional stall for each bedroom 
in excess of two bedrooms. One additional stall shall be provided for every five units in 
excess of five units for visitor parking. 

5. Non-residential uses in the C-3 District: No parking required. 

6.  Dwelling units within Mixed-Use Buildings in the C-3 District: One parking stall per 
bedroom, but not less than one stall per dwelling unit, except as follows. For mixed-use 
buildings constructed prior to January 1, 2019, parking is not required for existing dwelling 
units.  In addition, for mixed-use and commercial buildings constructed prior to January 1, 
2019, parking is not required for upper floor space that is converted to residential use.  

7. Dwelling units within Mixed-Use Buildings in zones other than the C-3 District: Two stalls 
per dwelling unit plus one additional stall for each bedroom in excess of two bedrooms. 
One additional stall shall be provided for every five units in excess of five units for visitor 
parking.  

8.  Boardinghouse/roominghouse: Five stalls plus one stall for every guest room in excess of 
four guest rooms.  

9.  Fraternity/sorority: Five parking stalls plus one stall for every two residents in excess of 
four residents.  

10. Where fractional spaces result, the number required shall be the next higher whole 
number.  

11.  Bicycle accommodations: All new multi-unit residential facilities are encouraged to provide 
for the establishment of bicycle racks of a size appropriate for the anticipated residential 
occupancy of the facility. A general suggested bike parking standard is two bike stalls per 
residential unit. For commercial projects, if lot area is available, bike racks are encouraged 
to be installed in conjunction with the commercial project.  

b.  Parking lot standards.  

1.  All newly constructed or expanded parking lots (three or more parking stalls) shall be hard 
surfaced with concrete or asphalt, provided with a continuous curb, be set back a 
minimum five feet from adjacent property lines or public right-of-way with the exception of 
alleyways, in which case a three foot permeable setback will be required, and otherwise 
conform to all parking guidelines as specified in this section and in section 26-220. 
Alternative parking lot surfaces may be considered to the extent that such surfaces 
provide adequate stormwater absorption rates, subject to city engineering review and 

79



 7 

approval, while providing an acceptable surface material and finished appearance. Gravel 
or crushed asphalt parking lots will not be permitted. However, other types of ecologically 
sensitive parking lot designs will be encouraged and evaluated on a case-by-case basis.  

2.  Landscaping in parking lots shall be classified as either internal or peripheral. The 
following coverage requirements shall pertain to each classification:  

(i)  Peripheral landscaping. All parking lots containing three or more parking spaces shall 
provide peripheral landscaping. Peripheral landscaping shall consist of a landscaped 
strip not less than five feet in width, exclusive of vehicular obstruction, and shall be 
located between the parking area and the abutting property lines. One tree for each 
25 lineal feet of such landscaping barrier or fractional part thereof shall be planted in 
the landscaping strip. At least one tree shall be planted for every parking lot (such as 
a three-stall parking lot) regardless of the lineal feet calculation. In addition to tree 
plantings, the perimeter of the parking lot shall be screened with shrubbery or similar 
plantings at least three-feet in height as measured from the finished grade of the 
parking lot at the time of planting for purposes of vehicular screening. The vegetative 
screen should present a continuous, effective visual screen adjacent to the parking lot 
for purposes of partially obscuring vehicles and also deflecting glare from headlights. 
If landscaped berms are utilized, the berm and vegetative screening must achieve at 
least a 3-foot tall screen at the time of installation as measured from the grade of the 
finished parking lot. Each such planting area shall be landscaped with grass, ground 
cover or other landscape material excluding paving, gravel, crushed asphalt or similar 
materials, in addition to the required trees, shrubbery, hedges or other planting 
material. Existing landscaping upon abutting property shall not be used to satisfy the 
requirements for said parking lot screening requirements unless the abutting land use 
is a parking lot.  

(ii)  Exceptions.  

A.  Peripheral landscaping shall not be required for single-unit or two-unit residential 
structures where the primary parking area is designed around a standard front 
entrance driveway and/or attached or detached residential garage. However, if 
an open surface parking lot containing three or more parking stalls is established 
in the rear yard of a two-unit residential structure, the perimeter 
landscaping/screening requirements as specified herein shall apply.  

B.  Peripheral landscaping shall not be required for parking lots that are established 
behind building structures where the parking lots do not have any public street or 
alley frontage or is not adjacent to any open properties such as private yards, 
parks or similar open areas. Examples of such a parking lot would be one 
designed with a multiple unit apartment facility where the parking lot is encircled 
with building structures within the project site and where the parking lot is 
completely obscured from public view by building structures.  

C.  Underground or under-building parking lots.  

D.  Aboveground parking ramps shall provide perimeter screening as specified 
herein around the ground level perimeter of the parking structure.  

(iii)  Internal landscaping. All parking lots measuring 21 parking stalls or more shall be 
required to landscape the interior of such parking lot. At least one overstory tree shall 
be established for every 21 parking stalls. Each tree shall be provided sufficient open 
planting area necessary to sustain full growth of the tree. Not less than five percent of 
the proposed paved area of the interior of the parking lot shall be provided as open 
space, excluding the tree planting areas. These additional open space areas must be 

80



 8 

planted with bushes, grasses or similar vegetative materials. Each separate open 
green space area shall contain a minimum of 40 square feet and shall have a 
minimum width dimension of a least five feet.  

(iv)  Exceptions. Internal landscaping shall not be required for vehicular storage lots, 
trucking/warehousing lots or for automobile sales lots. However, perimeter 
landscaping/screening provisions, as specified herein, shall be required for all such 
parking areas when they are installed or enlarged in area.  

(v)  Parking garages or parking ramps. All such facilities where one or more levels are 
established for parking either below ground or above ground and where structural 
walls provide for general screening of parked vehicles, internal landscaping shall not 
be provided.  

(vi)  Open green space; landscape areas. It is the intent of this regulation that in parking 
development sites open green space and landscape areas should be distributed 
throughout the parking development site rather than isolated in one area or around 
the perimeter of the parking lot. Trees and shrubs planted within parking areas shall 
be protected by concrete curbs and provide adequate permeable surface area to 
promote growth and full maturity of said vegetation.  

3.  Parking stalls must provide a minimum separation of four feet from the exterior walls of 
any principal structure on the property as measured from the vehicle (including vehicular 
overhang) to the nearest wall of the structure. No vehicular parking stall shall be so 
oriented or positioned as to block or obstruct any point of egress from a structure, 
including doorways or egress windows.  

4.  No portion of required front or side yards in any residential (R) zoning district shall be 
used for the establishment of any parking space, parking area, or parking lot, except for 
those driveways serving a single- or two-unit residence. For all other uses, a single 
driveway no more than 18 feet in width may be established across the required front and 
side yards, provided that side yard driveway setbacks are observed, as an access to 
designated rear yard parking areas, unless said lot is dedicated entirely to a parking lot, in 
which case a wider driveway access will be allowed across the required yard area to 
access said parking lot.  

5.  When a driveway or access off a public street no longer serves its original purpose as 
access to a garage or parking lot due to redevelopment of the property or is replaced with 
an alternative parking lot or parking arrangement with an alternate route of access, the 
original driveway access shall be re-curbed by the owner at the owner's expense and the 
parking/ driveway area shall be returned to open green space with grass plantings or 
other similar landscaping materials.  

6.  Routine maintenance of existing parking areas and parking lots, including resurfacing of 
said areas with similar materials or with hard surfacing will be permitted without requiring 
review by the planning and zoning commission and city council, provided that no increase 
in area of said existing parking area or parking lot, or any new construction of a parking 
area or parking lot, which existing or new parking area or parking lot contains or is 
designed to potentially accommodate a total of three or more parking stalls, occurs. Any 
newly paved or hard surfaced parking lot, excluding those existing hard surface parking 
lots that are merely being resurfaced, must satisfy minimum required setbacks from the 
property line or alley and must provide a continuous curb around the perimeter of said 
improved parking lot. Hard surfacing of any existing unpaved parking area or parking lot 
will require an evaluation by the city engineering division regarding increased stormwater 
runoff/possible stormwater detention.  

81



 9 

c.  Stormwater drainage.  

1.  Stormwater detention requirements as outlined in section 24-338 and in section 26-94 
shall apply to all newly developed parking lots and new building uses. In addition, said 
requirements shall apply to any existing parking lot that is resurfaced, reconstructed or 
enlarged subject to review by the city engineer. In those cases where no municipal storm 
sewer is readily available to serve a particular property or development site, the use of the 
property will be limited. The maximum allowable use that shall be permitted on any 
particular property or development site which is not served by a municipal storm sewer 
shall be limited to the following uses in Residential zoning districts: a parking lot; a single-
unit residence; a two-unit residence; or a multi-unit residence. Provided, however, that the 
applicant shall be required to submit calculations, which shall be subject to review and 
approval by the city engineering division, that verify that the total impervious surface area 
on the particular property or development site that will exist immediately following 
completion of the proposed new development shall be no greater than the total impervious 
surface area on the particular property or development site that existed immediately prior 
to the proposed new development.  

2.  Soil erosion control. At the time of new site development, including parking lot 
construction, soil erosion control measures must be installed on the site in conformance 
with city engineering standards. Said soil erosion measures must be maintained until the 
site is stabilized to the satisfaction of the city engineering division.  

d.  Open space/landscaping requirements.  

1.  Principal permitted uses within the district shall provide minimum building setbacks as 
required in the zoning chapter. With the exception of construction periods said required 
front and side setback areas (required yards) shall be maintained with natural vegetative 
materials and shall not be obstructed with any temporary or permanent structure, on site 
vehicular parking including trailers or recreational vehicles, nor disturbed by excavations, 
holes, pits or established recreational areas that produce bare spots in the natural 
vegetation.  

2.  Driveways measuring no more than 18 feet in width, sidewalks and pedestrian access 
ways measuring no more than six feet in width may be established across the required 
front and side yard areas.  

3.  All newly constructed office or institutional buildings in the R-3 or R-4 districts and all 
newly constructed single unit dwelling, two-unit dwelling, or multiple dwelling in residential 
or commercial districts shall provide on-site landscaping within the required yard areas or 
in other green space areas of the property at the rate of 0.04 points per square foot of 
total lot area of the site under consideration for the proposed residential development or 
improvement. Landscaping shall consist of any combination of trees and shrubbery, 
subject to review and approval by the planning and zoning commission and the city 
council. In addition to these requirements, parking lot plantings and/or screening must be 
provided as specified herein. Plantings must be established within one year following 
issuance of a building permit. This provision shall not apply to commercial or mixed-use 
buildings established in the C-3 Commercial District.  

4.  Measured compliance. The following landscaping point schedule applies to required 
landscaping in all zoning districts within the College Hill neighborhood overlay district with 
the exception of commercial uses in the C-3 Commercial District, and shall be used in 
determining achieved points for required plantings. The points are to be assigned to plant 
sizes at time of planting/installation.  

82



 10 

Overstory Trees:  

4-inch caliper or greater  100 points  

3-inch caliper to 4-inch caliper  90 points  

2-inch caliper to 3-inch caliper  80 points  

1-inch caliper to 2-inch caliper  60 points  

Understory Trees:  

2-inch caliper or greater  40 points  

1½-inch caliper to 2-inch caliper  30 points  

1-inch to 1½-inch caliper  20 points  

Shrubs:  

5-gallon or greater  10 points  

2-gallon to 5-gallon  5 points  

Conifers:  

10-foot height or greater  100 points  

8-foot to 10-foot height  90 points  

6-foot to 8-foot height  80 points  

5-foot to 6-foot height  40 points  

4-foot to 5-foot height  30 points  

3-foot to 4-foot height  20 points  

  

e.  Fences/retaining walls.  

1.  Fences shall be permitted on properties in accordance with the height and location 
requirements outlined in section 26-93. Zoning/land use permits shall be required for 
fences erected within the district.  

2.  Any existing fence or freestanding wall that is, in the judgment of the building inspector, 
structurally unsound and a hazard to adjoining property shall be removed upon the order 
of the building inspector.  

3.  Retaining walls may be installed on property as a measure to control soil erosion or 
stormwater drainage. However, said retaining walls shall be permitted only after review 
and approval by the city engineer.  

f.  Detached accessory structures. All newly constructed detached accessory structures or 
expansions of existing detached accessory structures exceeding 300 square feet in base floor 
area proposed to be situated on residential or commercial properties shall be subject to review 
and approval by the planning and zoning commission and city council. Maximum allowable 
building height, size and location requirements for accessory structures as specified in section 
26-126 shall apply. In addition to those standards, proposed detached accessory structures or 
expanded structures larger than 300 square feet in area shall be designed in such a manner 
as to be consistent with the architectural style of the principal residential or commercial 

83



 11 

structure on the property. Similar building materials, colors, roof lines, roof pitch and roofing 
materials shall be established on the accessory structure to match as closely as possible 
those elements on the principal structure. In addition, vertical steel siding along with "metal 
pole barn" type construction shall not be allowed.  

g.  No existing single-unit residential structure in the R-2 district shall be converted or otherwise 
structurally altered in a manner that will result in the creation or potential establishment of a 
second dwelling unit within the structure.  

h.  No duplex (two-unit) or multiple dwelling shall add dwelling units or bedrooms to any dwelling 
unit without satisfying minimum on-site parking requirements. If additional parking spaces are 
required, the entire parking area must satisfy parking lot development standards as specified 
herein.  

i.  No portion of an existing parcel of land or lot or plot shall be split, subdivided or transferred to 
another abutting lot or parcel for any purpose without prior review and approval by the city 
planning and zoning commission and the city council. Land cannot be transferred or split from 
one lot or property to be transferred to another for purposes of benefiting the receiving 
property while diminishing the minimum required lot area, lot width or building or parking lot 
setback area of the sending property. Such lot transfer or split shall not create a 
nonconforming lot by virtue of reduction of minimum required lot area, lot width or reduction of 
minimum required building or parking lot setbacks. Said lot transfer or split shall not affect any 
existing nonconforming property by further reducing any existing nonconforming element of 
the lot or property including lot area, lot width or building or parking lot setbacks in order to 
benefit another abutting property for development purposes. This provision shall not apply to 
those instances where separate lots or properties are being assembled for purposes of new 
building construction where existing structures on the assembled lots will be removed in order 
to accommodate new building construction.  

j.  Site plan revisions/amendments. All changes, modifications, revisions and amendments made 
to development site plans that are deemed to be major or substantial by the city planner shall 
be resubmitted to the planning and zoning commission in the same manner as originally 
required in this section. Examples of major or substantial changes shall include, but are not 
limited to, changes in building location, building size, property size, parking arrangements, 
enlarged or modified parking lots, open green space or landscaping modifications, setback 
areas or changes in building design elements.  

k.  1.  Trash dumpster/trash disposal areas must be clearly marked and established on all site 
plans associated with new development or redevelopment projects. No required parking 
area or required parking stalls shall be encumbered by a trash disposal area.  

2.  Large commercial refuse dumpsters and recycling bins serving residential or commercial 
uses shall be located in areas of the property that are not readily visible from public 
streets. No such dumpster or bin shall be established within the public right-of-way. All 
dumpsters and bins shall be affixed with a solid lid covering and shall be screened for two 
purposes:  

(i)  Visual screening; and  

(ii)  Containing dispersal of loose trash due to over-filling. Screening materials shall 
match or be complementary to the prevailing building materials.  

(6)  Design review. Any new construction, building additions, facade renovations or structural 
alterations to commercial or residential structures, or substantial improvements to single-unit 
residences that, in the judgment of the city planner, substantially alters the exterior appearance or 

84



 12 

character of permitted structures shall require review and approval by the city planning and zoning 
commission and city council.  

a.  Criteria for review.  

1.  Applications involving building design review. Neighborhood character, as herein defined, 
shall be considered in all.  

2.  The architectural character, materials, textures of all buildings or building additions shall 
be compatible with those primary design elements on structures located on adjoining 
properties and also in consideration of said design elements commonly utilized on other 
nearby properties on the same block or within the immediate neighborhood.  

3.  Comparable scale and character in relation to adjoining properties and other nearby 
properties in the immediate neighborhood shall be maintained by reviewing features such 
as:  

(i)  Maintaining similar roof pitch.  

(ii)  Maintaining similar building height, building scale and building proportion.  

(iii)  Use of materials comparable and similar to other buildings on nearby properties in the 
immediate neighborhood.  

4.  Mandated second entrances or fire escapes established above grade shall not extend into 
the required front yard area.  

5.  Existing entrances and window openings on the front facades and side yard facades 
facing public streets shall be maintained in the same general location and at the same 
general scale as original openings or be consistent with neighboring properties.  

6.  Projects involving structural improvements or facade renovations to existing structures 
must provide structural detail and ornamentation that is consistent with the underlying 
design of the original building.  

7.  The primary front entrances of all residential buildings shall face toward the public street. 
Street frontage wall spaces shall provide visual relief to large blank wall areas with the use 
of windows or doorways and other architectural ornamentation.  

b.  Building entrances for multiple dwellings. Main entrances should be clearly demarcated by one 
of the following:  

1.  Covered porch or canopy.  

2.  Pilaster and pediment.  

3.  Other significant architectural treatment that emphasizes the main entrance. Simple "trim" 
around the doorway does not satisfy this requirement.  

c.  Building scale for multiple dwellings. Street facing walls that are greater than 50 feet in length 
shall be articulated with bays, projections or alternating recesses according to the following 
suggested guidelines:  

1.  Bays and projections should be at least six feet in width and at least 16 inches, but not 
more than six feet in depth. Recesses should be at least six feet in width and have a 
depth of at least 16 inches.  

2.  The bays, projections and recesses should have corresponding changes in roofline or, 
alternatively, should be distinguished by a corresponding change in some architectural 
elements of the building such as roof dormers, alternating exterior wall materials, a 
change in window patterns, the addition of balconies, variation in the building or parapet 

85



 13 

height or variation in architectural details such as decorative banding, reveals or stone 
accents.  

d.  Building scale for commercial buildings and mixed-use buildings. The width of the front façade 
of new commercial and mixed-use buildings shall be no more than 40 feet. Buildings may 
exceed this limitation if the horizontal plane of any street-facing façade of a building is broken 
into modules that give the appearance or illusion of smaller, individual buildings. Each module 
should satisfy the following suggested guidelines that give the appearance of separate, 
individual buildings:  

1.  Each module should be no greater than 30 feet and no less than ten feet in width and 
should be distinguished from adjacent modules by variation in the wall plane of at least 16 
inches depth. For buildings three or more stories in height the width module may be 
increased to 40 feet.  

2.  Each module should have a corresponding change in roof line for the purpose of separate 
architectural identity.  

3.  Each module should be distinguished from the adjacent module by at least one of the 
following means:  

(i)  Variation in material colors, types, textures.  

(ii)  Variation in the building and/or parapet height.  

(iii)   Variation in the architectural details such as decorative banding, reveals, stones or 
tile accent.  

(iv)   Variation in window pattern.  

(v)  Variation in the use of balconies and recesses.  

e.  Balconies and exterior walkways, corridors and lifts serving multi-unit residences.  

1.  Exterior stairways refer to stairways that lead to floors and dwelling units of a building 
above the first or ground level floor of a building. Exterior corridors refer to unenclosed 
corridors located above the first floor or ground level floor of a building. Balconies and 
exterior stairways, exterior corridors and exterior lifts must comply with the following:  

(i)  Materials must generally match or be complementary to the building materials utilized 
on that portion of a building where the exterior corridor or balcony is established.  

(ii)  Unpainted wooden materials are expressly prohibited.  

(iii)  Stained or painted wood materials may only be utilized if said material and coloration 
is guaranteed for long-term wear and the material is compatible with the principal 
building materials on that portion of the building where the exterior corridor is 
established.  

(iv) The design of any balcony, exterior stairway, exterior lift or exterior corridor must 
utilize columns, piers, supports, walls and railings that are designed and constructed 
of materials that are similar or complementary to the design and materials used on 
that portion of the building where the feature is established.  

(v)  Exterior stairways, exterior lifts, corridors and balconies must be covered with a roof 
similar in design and materials to the roof over the rest of the structure. Said roof shall 
be incorporated into the overall roof design for the structure. Alternatively, such 
features (stairways, lifts, corridors or balconies) may be recessed into the façade of 
the building.  

86



 14 

(vi)   Exterior corridors may not be located on a street-facing wall of the building.  

2.  Exterior fire egress stairways serving second floor or higher floors of multi-unit residences 
shall be allowed according to city requirements on existing buildings that otherwise are not 
able to reasonably satisfy city fire safety code requirements, provided the fire egress 
stairway or structure is not located on the front door wall of a building that faces a street. 
All such egress structures that are located on the front door wall of a building that faces a 
street, whether new or replacement of an existing egress structure, shall be subject to 
review by the commission and approval by the city council. Areas of review shall be 
general design, materials utilized and location of the proposed egress structure. On corner 
lots, if a side street-facing mandated access is necessary and other options are 
unavailable, the side-street facing wall shall be used for this egress structure. In any case, 
fire egress stairways must utilize similar materials as outlined above; i.e., no unpainted 
wooden material shall be allowed.  

f.  Building materials for multiple dwellings, commercial, and mixed-use buildings.  

1.  For multiple dwellings, at least 30 percent of the exterior walls of the front facade level of a 
building must be constructed with a masonry finish such as fired brick, stone or similar 
material, not to include concrete blocks and undressed poured concrete. Masonry may 
include stucco or similar material when used in combination with other masonry finishes. 
The following trim elements shall be incorporated into the exterior design and construction 
of the building, with the following recommended dimensions to be evaluated on a case-by-
case basis:  

(i)  Window and door trim that is not less than three inches wide.  

(ii)  Corner boards that are not less than three inches wide unless wood clapboards are 
used and mitered at the corners.  

(iii)  Frieze boards not less than five inches wide, located below the eaves.  

2.  For commercial and mixed-use buildings, street-facing facades shall be comprised of at 
least 30% brick, stone, or terra cotta. These high quality materials should be concentrated 
on the base of the building. In the C-3 District, on street-facing facades, a minimum of 
70% of the ground level floor between 2 and 10 feet in height above the adjacent ground 
level shall consist of clear and transparent storefront windows and doors that allow views 
into the interior of the store. Exceptions may be allowed for buildings on corner lots where 
window coverage should be concentrated at the corner, but may be reduced along the 
secondary street façade. The bottom of storefront windows shall be no more than 2 feet 
above the adjacent ground level, except along sloping sites, where this standard shall be 
met to the extent possible so that views into the interior of the store are maximized and 
blank walls are avoided. 

3. Any portion of a building with a side street façade must be constructed using similar 
materials and similar proportions and design as the front facade.  

4.  Exposed, unpainted or unstained lumber materials are prohibited along any facade that 
faces a street-side lot line (i.e., public street frontage).  

5.  Where an exterior wall material changes along the horizontal plane of a building, the 
material change must occur on an inside corner of the building.  

6.  For buildings where the exterior wall material on the side of the building is a different 
material than what is used on the street facing or wall front, the street facing or wall front 
material must wrap around the corners to the alternate material side of the building at 
least three additional feet.  

87



 15 

7.  Where an exterior wall material changes along the vertical plane of the building, the 
materials must be separated by a horizontal band such as a belt course, soldier course, 
band board or other trim to provide a transition from one material to another.  

(7) Commercial district. The College Hill neighborhood commercial district is defined by the boundaries 
of the C-3 Commercial District. The district is made up primarily of commercial buildings and 
mixed-use buildings. However, some properties are occupied or may be occupied in the future by 
residential buildings Residential buildings are to be discouraged due to the limited area available 
for commercial uses. Standards for residential buildings are set forth below. Dwelling units are 
permitted on upper floor(s) of mixed-use buildings, as set forth below. Certain uses are considered 
conditional uses or prohibited uses in the College Hill Neighborhood commercial district, as 
specified below.  

a.   Residential buildings. Residential buildings are allowable within the district subject to planning 
and zoning commission and city council review and approval. In general, residential buildings 
are to be discouraged within the commercial district due to the limited area available for 
commercial establishments. In those cases where a residential building is permitted, it will be 
governed by minimum lot area, lot width and building setback requirements as specified in the 
R-4 residential zoning district. In addition, all other applicable requirements pertaining to 
substantial improvements or new construction of any residential building shall conform to the 
requirements of this section, including on-site parking, landscaping, and building setbacks, 
with no vehicular parking allowed in the required front and side yards, said required yards 
being those as defined within the R-4 residential district.  

b.  Residential dwelling units within Mixed Use Buildings. Residential dwelling units are allowed 
on upper floors of a mixed-use building. No residential dwelling unit may be established on the 
main floor or street level floor of a mixed-use building within the C-3 Commercial District. To 
provide safe access for residents of the building, there must be at least one main entrance on 
the street-facing façade of the building that provides pedestrian access to dwelling units within 
the building. Access to dwelling units must not be solely through a parking garage or from a 
rear or side entrance. 

c. Additional Standards for mixed-use and non-residential buildings. To foster active street 
frontages, non-residential and mixed-use buildings must be placed to the front and corner of 
lots, and set back a minimum of 0 feet and maximum of 15 feet from street-side lot lines. The 
ground floor floor-to-structural ceiling height shall be 14 feet minimum. Entries to individual 
ground floor tenant spaces and entries to common lobbies accessing upper floor space shall 
open directly onto public sidewalks or publicly-accessible outdoor plazas. Thresholds at 
building entries shall match the grade of the adjacent sidewalk or plaza area. Entries on street-
facing facades shall be sheltered by awnings or canopies that project a minimum of four feet 
from the building façade and must be a minimum of 8 feet above the adjacent sidewalk. 

c.  Conditional uses. The following uses may be allowed as a conditional use subject to review 
and approval by the planning and zoning commission and the city council. The proposed use 
must conform to the prevailing character of the district and such use shall not necessitate the 
use of outdoor storage areas. In addition such conditional uses must not generate excessive 
amounts of noise, odor, vibrations, or fumes, or generate excessive amounts of truck traffic. 
Examples of uses that may be allowed subject to approval of a conditional use permit are:  

1.  Printing or publishing facility;  

2. Limited manufacturing activity that is directly related to the operation of a retail business 
conducted on the premises;  

3.  Home supply business.  

88



 16 

d.  Prohibited uses. In all cases the following uses will not be allowed within the C-3 Commercial 
District either as permitted or conditional uses:  

1.  Lumber yards;  

2.  Used or new auto sales lots and displays;  

3.  Auto body shop;  

4.  Storage warehouse or business;  

5.  Mini-storage warehouse;  

6.  Sheet metal shop;  

7.  Outdoor storage yard;  

8.  Billboard signs.  

e.  Signage.  

1.  Typical business signage shall be permitted without mandatory review by the planning 
and zoning commission and approval by the city council unless a proposed sign projects 
or extends over the public right-of-way, or a freestanding pole sign is proposed which is 
out of character with the prevailing height or size of similar signs, in which case planning 
and zoning commission review and approval by the city council shall be required. All 
signage within the district shall conform to the general requirements of this zoning 
chapter, with the exception that excessively tall freestanding signs (i.e., 30 feet or more in 
height) shall not be allowed.  

2.  Exterior mural wall drawings, painted artwork and exterior painting of any structure within 
the commercial district shall be subject to review by the planning and zoning commission 
and approval by the city council for the purpose of considering scale, context, coloration, 
and appropriateness of the proposal in relation to nearby facades and also in relation to 
the prevailing character of the commercial district.  

 
 
INTRODUCED:     April 1, 2019   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   April 1, 2019   

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 

 
____________________________ 

       James P. Brown, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

89



   MAYOR JIM BROWN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
M E M O R A N D U M 

Office of the Mayor 
  

 TO: City Council 

 FROM: Mayor Jim Brown 

 DATE: April 8, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Reappointments 

 

I am recommending the following reappointments: 

 

Name: Board/Commission: Term Ending: 
   
MaryJane McCollum Board of Rental Housing Appeals (reappointment) 05/01/2023 
Bruce Wingert Board of Rental Housing Appeals (reappointment) 05/01/2023 
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

   
 

 
 

90



COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
City Hall – Council Chambers  

April 1, 2019 
 

The Committee of the Whole met in the Council Chambers at 6:00 p.m. on April 1, 2019, with 
the following Committee persons in attendance:  Mayor Jim Brown, Tom Blanford, Frank 
Darrah, Susan deBuhr, Rob Green, Daryl Kruse, Mark Miller, and David Wieland.   Staff 
members attended from all City Departments. Kamyar Enshayan Center for Energy & 
Environmental Education (CEEE) Director at the University of Northern Iowa (UNI) and Tom 
Nelson with the Waterloo Courier also attended as well as members of the community.  

Mayor Brown called the meeting to order and introduced the first item on the agenda, 
Sustainability.  Kamyar Enshayan CEEE Director stated this same presentation was given to 
the Cedar Falls Utilities Board of Trustees.  He explained the Center at UNI is working with 
others for long-term energy plans to reduce emissions and make a plan for the future.    He 
explained community members such as the City and Cedar Falls Utilities may make a plan to 
control emissions through energy/climate action plans.  Mr. Enshayan explained the 
International Council for Local Environmental Initiatives (ICLEI) Regional Affiliate and the UNI 
Conservation Corps are working on the initiative.  He explained planning and monitoring are 
necessary, which Cedar Falls Utilities has started to do. He said it will take a community wide 
effort to review residential and commercial/industrial energies, transportation, water and 
wastewater and sold wastes and hopes the City will make a plan.  Mayor Brown opened it up 
for discussion.  Mr. Enshayan stated an example of a strategy would be for new buildings to 
require solar energy installed.  Ron Gaines, City Administrator stated this may be topic for 
Council Goal Setting in the fall.        

Mayor Brown introduced the final item on the agenda, bills and payroll. Rob Green moved to 
approve the bills as presented, Mark Miller seconded the motion.  The motion carried 
unanimously.  

There being no further discussion, Mayor Brown adjourned the meeting at 6:27 p.m. The 
motion carried unanimously.     

Minutes by Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

91



CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 
Cedar Falls Duke Young Conference Room  

April 1, 2019 
 

The City Council held a special work session in the Duke Young Conference room at 
5:00 p.m. on April 1, 2019, with the following persons in attendance:  Mayor Jim Brown, 
Tom Blanford, Susan deBuhr, Rob Green, Daryl Kruse, Mark Miller, and David Wieland. 
Staff members attended from all City Departments.  Carol Lilly with Cedar Falls 
Community Main Street, Mary Madden with Ferrell Madden, Elizabeth Garvin with 
Community ReCode, and Keith Covington with Common Ground attended.  

Mayor Brown then introduced the first item on the agenda, Downtown Visioning Project 
Priority Setting.  Ron Gaines, City Administrator, introduced  a few members of the 
consulting team; Mary Madden with Ferrell Madden, Elizabeth Garvin with Community 
ReCode, and Keith Covington with Common Ground.  He stated they have reviewed 
branding and the target area of the study.  He explained it will be an area larger than the 
downtown core area; extending from 1st Street to 18th Street and from the Cedar River 
west to into the residential area.   Mr. Gaines reviewed the project process, which 
includes a public kickoff meeting on April 2nd and city staff hopes to wrap up the 
implemental part of the process by early 2020.   He stated tonight’s review is to set 
‘over-arching’ priorities to help guide the project.  He reviewed the recommended 
priorities.  A brief discussion was held and the council was in consensus with the staff 
recommendations. 

There being no further discussion, Daryl Kruse motioned to adjourn the work session, 
Rob Green seconded the motion, and the motion carried unanimously. Mayor Brown 
adjourned the meeting at 5:55 p.m.  

 

Minutes by Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

92



City Council Project Priorities 
4/1/19 

1. Create a thoughtful vision plan to manage change in the community over time. 

 Reflect on the past, consider the present, look to the future. 

 Respect the rich history and culture of Downtown Cedar Falls. 

 Maintain authenticity.  
 
2. Vision will be based on broad community input, gathered through a robust community 
outreach process.  

 Re-affirm ongoing community efforts and explore new ideas. 
 
3. Create a safe and welcoming process to explore new ideas. 

 Feedback is appreciated… and essential! 

 All ideas are welcome. 

 Think forward, what is your version of downtown? 

 What do you like about the past? Going forward? 
 
4. Take into account market realities, changing demographics for all types of development, and 
diversity of uses. 

 Future Technology needs 

 Future Transportation needs 

 Future Housing needs 
 
5. Build on our success! Maintain/foster a unique sense of place. 

 Historic main street character 

 Pedestrian-oriented Design 

 Explore the desired character of streets (State Street, Washington Street, Clay Street, 
etc.) 

 
6. Encourage economic development based on the adapted vision. 

 Maintain/enhance existing properties 

 Encourage new development 

 Invest in public infrastructure to support the vision 

 Tailor financial incentives and economic development grants to support project that 
further public goals, provide elements of community benefit, or demonstrate 
exceptional design.  

 
7. Establish clear and objective zoning standards to achieve the adopted community vision.  

93



94



95



96



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  220 CLAY STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Brown and City Councilmembers 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Services Director/Chief of Police 

Date:  April 9, 2019 

Re:  Special Event Related Requests 

Police Operations has received the following special event related requests and 
recommends approval:  

a) Street closures, Shamrock Shuffle, April 27, 2019. 

b) Street closures, UNI Triathlon, April 28, 2019. 

c) Parking variance, Washington Street (Annual Friends of MercyOne Cedar Falls 
May Breakfast), May 14, 2019. 

d) Street closures, Iowa Shrine Bowl Parade, July 20, 2019. 

e) Street closures, College Hill Farmers Market, June 6, July 11, August 1, 
September 5 & October 3, 2019. 

97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  220 CLAY STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Brown and City Councilmembers 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Services Director/Chief of Police 

Date:  April 11, 2019 

Re:  Beer/Liquor License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for liquor licenses and/ or wine or beer 
permits. We find no records that would prohibit these license and permits and 
recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Hy-Vee Clubroom, 6301 University Avenue, Special Class C liquor - renewal. 

b) Jorgensen Plaza (Table 1912, Diamond Event Center and Gilmore's Pub), 5307 
Caraway Lane, Class C liquor, Class B wine & outdoor service - renewal. 

c) Mary Lou's Bar & Grill, 2719 Center Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 
 

d) The Horny Toad American Bar & Grille, 204 Main Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 
 

e) ZSAVOOZ, 206 Brandilynn Boulevard, Class C liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 

f) CVS/Pharmacy, 2302 West 1st Street, Class E liquor - renewal. 
 

g) Prime Mart, 2728 Center Street, Class E liquor - renewal. 

108



DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 

Information Systems Division 
 

 TO: Mayor Jim Brown and City Council Members 

 FROM: Julie Sorensen, Information Systems Manager 

 DATE: April 10, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Purchase of Phone System 

 
The City’s current Avaya phone system is ten years old and is currently end of support.  Therefore, we felt it best to investigate 
options to upgrade the phone system this year to replace the current system.  After investigation, we felt the RFP needed to include 
options like real-time communication tools (instant message) along with the traditional non real-time services (phone and fax).  
These new tools needed to incorporate options that allow our workers to work from anywhere (desk sharing and inspectors on the 
go).    
 
We sent the RFP out in December and planned for individual site visits for each vendor to come in and gather information needed to 
prepare their quote.   
 
We developed a score sheet to evaluate each vendor. I’ve included the score sheet as an attachment to make you aware of the 
items were looking at when we evaluated each vendor.  We received six bids back, and the network administrator and I scored all of 
the quotes.   
 
We asked the vendors with the two highest scores to give a demonstration to the administrative staff supervisor, finance director, 
network administrator and myself.  We narrowed the list to just two vendors because the third highest score was quoting a cloud 
based system. After investigation into whether we can have an exclusively cloud based system for the Criminal Justice Information 
Systems it was decided we could not, therefore, we didn’t ask for a demo from that vendor.   
 
Here are the top three average scores with their quotes:   
 

Vendor Ave Score  Cost 

Advanced Systems 106 Total cost of equipment, software and installation:  $101,977.50 

5 year cost of maintenance & support: $44,75.00 

Total 5 year cost of ownership:  $146,452.50 

Marco 109 Total cost of equipment, software and installation:  $100,155.78 

5 year cost of maintenance & support:  $41,720.00 

Total 5 year cost of ownership:  $141,875.78 

Carrier Access –cloud 

based option 

89.5 

 

Equipment and Installation:  $31,898.17 

5 year maintenance and service fee: $161,994.00 

Total 5 year cost of ownership:  $ 193,892.17  

 

After attending demos we met as a team and jointly agreed that Marco Mitel phones had the best options as far as the phones and 

features.  They were the highest average score and the lowest of the top three vendors in cost.  In addition to discussing which 

vendor had the best features, we also discussed the City’s policy for giving preference to local vendors.  The policy currently states 

that the quotes have to be the equal in order to implement the policy; the above quotes although very close are not equal.  

Therefore, we are suggesting that we go with Marco and the Mitel phone system as our next phone system.  

 

We would like to move forward by signing the attached relationship agreement. The relationship agreement has been reviewed by 

City Attorney Rogers and is attached for your approval.  

 
If you have any questions or concerns regarding this purchase, please feel free to contact me at 268-5111. 
 
Attachments:  City of Cedar Falls Phone System RFP Scoring Instrument 
                       Marco Relationship agreement 

109



City of Cedar Falls Phone System RFP Scoring Instrument 
 
Vendor:______________________  Date:_________________ 
System:______________________  Evaluator:_____________  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Technical Specifications / 
Scope of Services 

Points 
Awarded 

(1-5) Weight Total 

Capability to easily administer the system  

2 

 
Functionality of standard equipment and features to meet 
our specific needs: 

 Desk phones/find me follow me 

 Availability of soft phones 

 UCC 

 Conference phones 

 Dial in conference numbers 

  

3 

 
System can easily grow and expand for additional users 
and also for additional functionality. 

  

2 

 

Ability to save communications costs by using Internet 
Technologies  

3 

 

Ease of use for end users  

3 

 

Product quality, reliability, and warranty plan  

2 

 

Vendor Qualifications/overall reputation in the 
industry. 
  

3 

 

Experience and expertise with the product being 
offered  

2 

 
Service and support resources, including training by the 
vendor for installation and maintenance, and also 
availability of on demand training or training materials for 
new users and administration staff.   

3 

 

Certified vendor relationship with product manufacturer  
1 

 

Positive references where similar systems have been 
installed  

1 

 

TOTAL  

 

 

110



 

 

  

© 2017 MARCO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.    MARCONET.COM  | 1 

 

 

MARCO RELATIONSHIP AGREEMENT 
 
THIS RELATIONSHIP AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered into and effective as of the last date affixed to any 
signature hereto (“Effective Date”) by and between MARCO TECHNOLOGIES, LLC with a principal place of 
business at 4510 HEATHERWOOD ROAD, ST. CLOUD, MN (“Marco”) and CITY OF CEDAR FALLS with a principle 
place of business at 220 Clay St, Cedar Falls, IA 50613  (“Client”) (individually, “Party,” and collectively, 
“Parties”).  
 
This Agreement governs Marco’s relationship with Client for the provision of services (“Services”), Equipment 
and other goods (“Equipment”), Software (“Software”) and Incidentals (collectively, “Products”), as applicable, 
under certain Statement of Work Agreement(s) or other Addenda (“SOW(s)”) between the Parties. The term 
“SOW” also includes schedules to any SOW, including but not limited to, Change Orders, Schedule(s) of Products 
(“SOP”), Service Level Agreements (“SLA”) and Service Level Targets (“SLT”). This Agreement is incorporated by 
reference and made part of any SOW between the Parties. In the event of an express conflict between or among 
the provisions of this Agreement and any SOW, the inconsistency shall be resolved by giving precedence in the 
following order: (1) the SOW but solely with respect to the Products covered by that SOW; and (2) this 
Agreement. 

 
 
1 Purchases, Prices and Payment.   

 
1.1 Marco agrees to provide and Client agrees to purchase, lease or license (as applicable) the Services and 

Equipment (as applicable), as well as License(s) (as defined in the Product Agreement(s)) for any 
Software at the price stated in the SOP (“Price”). Client shall pay Marco’s then prevailing rates for any 
Incidentals as defined in the Product Agreement.  Marco’s right to increase the Price to Client is set forth 
in each Product Agreement (“Price Increase”).  

1.2 Client shall pay all invoices within thirty (30) days of the invoice date. Client shall pay a late fee of 1.5 
percent (or the highest rate permitted by law) per month on any amounts not paid in a timely manner. 
Client shall pay for all costs and expenses, including reasonable attorney and expert fees, incurred by 
Marco in enforcing its rights for payment under this Agreement and any SOW. Client shall pay all sales, 
use, excise, value added or other taxes; duties, levies or fees assessed by any government or other 
authority resulting from its relationship with Marco under this Agreement and any SOW, except for taxes 
imposed on Marco’s income. Client shall not withhold any Marco Property (defined below) or payment 
due under this Agreement, any SOW, or any other agreement or purchase order with Marco, for set off 
or reduction for any purpose whatsoever. 

1.3 In the event Client disputes any portion of an invoice in good faith, Client shall pay the undisputed 
portion of the invoice by the date the invoice is due, and shall submit to Marco a written explanation for 
the disputed amount, setting forth with specificity Client's grounds for such dispute. Client must submit 
its written dispute to Marco within thirty (30) days of receipt of the invoice or such dispute shall be 
deemed waived and invoices shall be deemed correct.  In the event that the dispute is resolved against 
Client, Client shall pay all outstanding amounts plus interest at the rate referenced in, and calculated in 
accordance with, subsection 1.2 above.   

1.4 If Client and Marco enter into a lease relating to any Equipment provided by Marco (an “Equipment 
Lease”), Client’s obligations with respect to the lease of such equipment shall be solely governed by the 
Equipment Lease. Marco may assign any Equipment Lease to a third party leasing company or require 
that the Client enter into a lease directly with such leasing company, if Client chooses to obtain financing 
through Marco. 
 

111



  

© 2017 MARCO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.   MARCONET.COM  | 2 

2 Marco Property. In addition to the Products, Marco may place at Client’s site or otherwise provide 
equipment, other goods, materials/supplies and/or similar items, software, information and Intellectual 
Property (defined below) owned by Marco or a third party, for the purposes of carrying out a SOW 
(collectively, “Marco Property”). Such placement or provision of Marco Property shall not create any 
rights of ownership in Client or any third party. Client shall use reasonable care with Marco Property, but 
no less care than Client uses with respect to its own property. Client shall protect Marco Intellectual 
Property (defined below) from infringement, misappropriation or other violation and/or damage. Client 
shall return Marco Property upon Marco request and in accordance with the requirements under the 
section titled, Effect of Termination or Expiration, below. 
 

3 Client Equipment. In the course of a SOW, certain parts, materials, equipment, computers, software, 
operating systems, switches, routers, drives, firewalls, databases, backup systems, networks, internet 
connectivity, information and other items owned by Client, or provided by a third party to Client, will be 
used or required for the effective and efficient provision or use of the Products (“Client Equipment”). 
Client agrees to maintain Client Equipment in good working order and repair, and in compliance, with 
applicable law and industry standards for the effective and efficient provision and use of the Products. If 
the Parties agree that certain Client Equipment will be removed in order for Marco to provide, and Client 
to use, the Products in an effective and efficient manner, Client shall not reinstall or redeploy such items.   
 

4 Use. Client agrees not to use or permit third parties to use the Product(s) and Marco Property, for any 

illegal purpose, or to achieve any kind of unauthorized access, such as to any computer systems, 

software, data, real, personal, or Intellectual Property, or other copyright or patent protected material.  

Client agrees not to interfere with other clients’ use of Marco provided services, equipment, other goods, 

or software and not to disrupt the Marco network, connectivity, infrastructure or other services whether 

provided directly by Marco or through Marco suppliers or contractors.  Marco authorizes Client’s use of 

the Products and any Marco Property subject to the terms of this Agreement and the SOW(s), and 

conditioned on Client’s performance of its obligations thereunder. This authorization is nontransferable. 

Client shall access and use (and shall cause its Representatives (as defined below) to access and use) the 

Products and Marco Property ONLY: a) as permitted by, and in accordance with its obligations under this 

Agreement and the applicable SOW and any License; b) for their intended purposes; c) in a manner which 

prohibits repeated negligent error; d) as permitted by, and in accordance with, the specifications of the 

manufacturer, publisher, or vendor of the Products; e) in a commercially reasonable manner for its own 

internal business; f) in a manner that does not violate any Intellectual Property right of Marco or any 

third party; g) for legitimate and lawful business purposes; and h) as permitted by law.  Client shall not 

alter, modify, tamper with, make derivative works from, license, distribute, rent, lend, publish, reverse 

engineer, decode, and attempt to derive the source code of or reproduce the Products or Marco 

Property. Client shall take all reasonable action necessary to stop the violation or threatened violation of 

this Section and cause its Representatives to be bound by and comply with this Section. Violation of any 

part of this section is grounds for Marco’s immediate termination of this Agreement and/or all SOWs in 

addition to any other rights or remedies Marco may have in law or equity.  

 

5 Client Content. Client acknowledges that Marco exercises no control whatsoever over the content of the 
information passing through Client’s equipment, network, and sites and that it is the sole responsibility of 
Client to ensure that the information it and its Representatives or any third party transmit(s) and 
receive(s), is for legitimate business purposes and complies with all applicable laws and regulations. 
 

6 Internet Services Provider. Unless otherwise indicated in a Marco Managed WAN SOW, Marco is not 
Client’s Internet Services Provider (ISP). At times, actions or inactions of third parties can impair or 
disrupt Client’s connections to the Internet (or portions thereof). Marco cannot guarantee that such 

112



  

© 2017 MARCO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.   MARCONET.COM  | 3 

events will not occur.  Accordingly, Client is solely responsible for all Losses (as defined below) resulting 
from or related to such event.  
 

7 Backup. Unless otherwise agreed in a Marco Managed Backup SOW, Marco’s provision of the Products 
does not replace the need for Customer to maintain reliable, regular data backups and redundant 
archives (“Reliable Backup”).  Client shall maintain such Reliable Backup during the Term and any 
Renewal Term of this Agreement and any SOW. 

 
8 Software Licenses and Other Agreements. Client shall enter into, maintain, comply with and be bound by 

such licenses, agreements or other prerequisites of third party software publishers/ vendors or 
equipment manufacturers for the Products (collectively, “Licenses”).  

 
9 Warranty. Marco represents and warrants that it will provide the Services in a good and workmanship-

like manner and that the Services will meet any applicable generally accepted industry standards. Client 
shall also be entitled to any warranty, which is extended to Marco by the Equipment manufacturer or 
Software publisher/vendor, and assigned by Marco to Client, in connection with this Agreement and the 
applicable SOW. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY STATED IN THIS SECTION, MARCO PROVIDES ALL THE PRODUCTS, 
MARCO PROPERTY AND REPAIRS “AS IS.” MARCO DOES NOT PROVIDE AND EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ANY 
WARRANTY OF ANY KIND RELATING TO THE PRODUCTS, MARCO PROPERTY AND REPAIRS, EXPRESS OR 
IMPLIED, STATUTORY OR OTHER, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, 
FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, TITLE, NONINFRINGEMENT AND ALL WARRANTIES WHICH ARISE 
FROM COURSE OF DEALING, USAGE OR TRADE PRACTICE. WITHOUT LIMITING THE FOREGOING, CLIENT 
ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT NO TECHNOLOGY IS FOOLPROOF OR IMMUNE FROM ATTACK. 
MARCO CANNOT MAKE AND EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ANY WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, THAT THE 
PRODUCTS, MARCO PROPERTY, THE REPAIRS, OR ANY RESULTS OR USE THEREOF WILL OPERATE 
WITHOUT INTERRUPTION, SECURELY, ERROR FREE, WITHOUT DEFECT, FREE OF HARMFUL CODE, THIRD 
PARTY DISRUPTION OR THAT MARCO WILL CORRECT ALL DEFECTS. No statement or writing of any Marco 
officers, directors, employees, agents or contractors (collectively, “Representatives”) will create any 
warranty or obligation whatsoever not set forth in this section.  
 

10 Incidental Services and Goods. Client may request that Marco perform services or provide goods outside 
the scope of a SOW or not meeting the Minimum Specifications (“Incidentals”). Marco may provide the 
Incidentals in its sole discretion. Such Incidentals are not part of the Price. Client shall pay Marco’s then 
current prices for Incidentals, including but not limited to: time, materials and labor, which shall be 
charged at a minimum of fifteen (15) minutes for each request. Marco shall respond to each Incidental 
requested on a onetime occasion limited to thirty (30) minutes. Marco provides any Incidentals “AS IS,” in 
accordance with the Agreement AND WITHOUT EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTY OF ANY KIND as a 
courtesy to Client. Client’s purchase and Marco’s provision of any Incidentals is subject to all of the Client 
obligations, but none of its rights, and all of the Marco rights, but none of its obligations, under this 
Agreement. 

 
11 Defects. Marco shall have no liability for any malfunction, deficiencies or defects (collectively, “Defects”) 

on any Equipment, Software, Incidentals or Losses resulting from such Defects. Unless otherwise 
expressly stated in a SOW, any and all rights or remedies Client may have regarding the ownership, 
licensing, performance, specification, legal or other compliance or warranty of the Equipment, Software 
or Incidentals, are limited to those rights set forth under the section titled, Warranty, and subject to the 
limitations of liability in this Agreement and the applicable SOW. 
 

12 Intellectual Property. Each Party is, and shall remain, the exclusive owner of its intellectual property 
(including patents, trademarks, copyrights, trade secrets, works of authorship, inventions and other 

113



  

© 2017 MARCO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.   MARCONET.COM  | 4 

proprietary information) (collectively, “Intellectual Property”) and Confidential Information (defined 
below), whether existing prior to or following the Effective Date of this Agreement. Marco hereby grants 
Client a non-exclusive, royalty-free license during the Term of this Agreement to use Marco Intellectual 
Property disclosed to it solely and only to the extent necessary for using the Services and Equipment. 
Except as provided herein, nothing in this Agreement or any SOW shall be construed as transferring the 
rights to ownership or use of either Party’s Intellectual Property or Confidential Information to the other 
Party, its Representatives or any third party.  
 

13 Confidential Information. Each Party shall maintain the confidentiality of and use the other’s 
Confidential Information only for carrying out its rights and performing its obligations under this 
Agreement and the applicable SOW(s).  The Party receiving Confidential Information shall disclose it only 
to its Representatives who need to know the information in order to carry out this Agreement and the 
applicable SOW(s).  The Party receiving Confidential Information shall cause its Representatives to be 
bound by and comply with this Section and shall be liable to the disclosing Party for such 
Representatives’ noncompliance.  Confidential Information includes, but is not limited to, trade secrets; 
technology;  financial information; know how; business plans; customer lists; Client data; works of 
authorship; inventions; research and development; information specific to the Company’s products (and 
applications thereof), operations, infrastructure,  network, systems, and related methods and plans; and 
any information disclosed in any manner which  is marked "Confidential” or a like designation, is 
disclosed in circumstances of confidence, or should be understood by the Parties, using commercially 
reasonable care, to be confidential.  Confidential Information does not include information that a) was 
known or possessed by the receiving Party before receipt from the disclosing Party; (b) is or becomes a 
matter of public knowledge through no breach of this Agreement; (c) is lawfully available or received 
from a third party without confidentiality obligation; (d) is authorized to be disclosed by a third party 
with the right to do so; (e) is independently developed by the receiving Party without the use of the 
disclosing Party’s Confidential Information; or (f) is required by law to be disclosed by the receiving 
Party, provided that the receiving Party shall give the disclosing Party immediate written notice of any 
efforts to compel disclosure and reasonable assistance in obtaining an order or other relief protecting 
the Confidential Information.  

 
14 Compliance with Laws. Each Party agrees to comply with all laws, ordinances, regulations and rules 

applicable to it relating to this Agreement and any SOW. Client shall not resell, transfer or export any of 
the Products, or any data derived therefrom, in violation of any United States or foreign law, including 
export laws. 
 

15 Communication and Notices. Notices, requests and consents under this Agreement shall be provided in 
writing to the Parties at the address(es) provided below, or to such other address(es) as is provided in 
writing, and are effective upon personal delivery; electronic confirmation of facsimile; or three (3) days’ 
after posting by certified mail, return receipt requested. 

 
MARCO:    STEVE KNUTSON, CTO/CIO  

MARCO TECHNOLOGIES, LLC 
4510 HEATHERWOOD RD 
ST. CLOUD, MN 56301 

 With a copy to: 
   ANGELA TYCZKOWSKI, GENERAL COUNSEL 
   MARCO TECHNOLOGIES, LLC 
   3000 N POINTER ROAD 
   APPLETON, WI 54911 

CLIENT:          Julie Sorenson 

114



  

© 2017 MARCO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.   MARCONET.COM  | 5 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
220 Clay St, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

 
16 Indemnification. Subject to the limitations set forth herein, each Party shall defend, indemnify and hold 

harmless the other and its Representatives from and against third party (other than an indemnitee 
affiliate) demands, claims, actions, suits, or similar proceedings (“Claim(s)”) for Losses, as defined below, 
to the extent caused by the indemnifying Party’s (a) material breach of this Agreement or any SOW; or (b) 
negligent, reckless, or willful acts or omissions; or c) allegations that the Services or the use thereof 
infringe on any U.S. intellectual property right. 
 
Loss or Losses means any and all costs, expenses, damages, liabilities, fees (including reasonable attorney 
and expert fees), penalties, fines, or judgments of any kind or nature whatsoever. The Party requesting 
indemnification shall promptly notify the indemnifying Party of its potential right to defense and 
indemnification in a writing detailing the basis for the request and the third party Claim. If it accepts the 
defense, the indemnifying Party shall control the defense and resolution of the Claim, including the 
selection and retention of counsel. The Party requesting indemnification shall cooperate in the defense 
and resolution of any Claim. Failure to provide such cooperation shall relieve the indemnifying Party of its 
obligations under this Section. The Party requesting indemnification may participate in and observe the 
defense and resolution of any Claim with its own counsel at its sole cost and expense. The indemnifying 
Party shall not settle the Claim in a manner that materially adversely affects the indemnified Party 
without its consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. 
 
The foregoing obligation shall not apply to the extent that (i) any alleged infringement is based upon any 
modification of the Services not made by Marco; (ii) use of the Services in combination with any third 
party products or services, if such infringement, misappropriation, or violation would not have happened 
but for such combination; or (iii) any use of the Services Client or its Representatives that is not expressly 
authorized by Marco.  In the event that a third party files a claim, suit, action or proceeding alleging that 
any Services infringes, misappropriates, or violates such third party’s intellectual property rights, or in the 
event Marco considers such a filing reasonably likely, Marco may, at its sole option, (a) modify such 
Service(s) to make it non-infringing, or replace the Service(s) with non-infringing alternative(s) of equal or 
greater functionality; (b) procure from the relevant third party the right for Client to continue to use the 
Service(s)  under the terms of this Agreement; or (c) immediately terminate this Agreement and/or any 
affected SOW(s) and SOP(s) upon written notice to Client, in which case Client shall (and shall cause its 
Representatives) to promptly cease all use of the Service(s).  THIS SECTION STATES THE ENTIRE LIABILITY 
OF MARCO, AND THE EXCLUSIVE REMEDY OF CLIENT, WITH RESPECT TO ANY ACTUAL OR ALLEGED 
INFRINGEMENT OF ANY THIRD PARTY INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS. 
 
 

17 Limitation of Liability. IN NO EVENT SHALL MARCO OR ITS REPRESENTATIVES BE LIABLE TO CLIENT, ITS 
REPRESENTATIVES OR ANY THIRD PARTY FOR (A) CLAIMS OR LOSSES RESULTING FROM CLIENT’S OR ITS 
REPRESENTATIVES’: VIOLATION OF THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY SOW, DELAY OR FAILURE TO PERFORM ANY 
OBLIGATIONS THEREUNDER, ACTIONS OR DIRECTIONS WHICH AFFECT MARCO’S ABILITY TO EFFECTIVELY 
AND EFFICIENTLY PROVIDE OR CLIENT AND ITS REPRESENTATIVES ABILITY TO USE THE PRODUCTS, ANY 
SUSPENSION, DOWNTIME, SERVICE LIMITATIONS, REMEDIATION, OR DEFECTS OR (B) ANY LOSS OF 
PRODUCTION, USE, DATA, BUSINESS, REVENUE, OR PROFIT; OR (C) ANY INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, 
CONSEQUENTIAL, SPECIAL, PUNITIVE, OR ENHANCED DAMAGES, WHETHER ARISING OUT OF CONTRACT, 
TORT, STRICT LIABILITY, OR OTHER LEGAL OR EQUITABLE THEORIES WHATSOEVER, AND REGARDLESS OF 
HAVING BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES OR WHETHER SUCH DAMAGES WERE 
FORESEEABLE.  WITH RESPECT TO PARAGRAPH 17(C), SUCH LIMITATION SHALL ONLY APPLY TO THOSE 
CLAIMS THAT ARE NOT LIMITED BY IOWA ADMINISTRATIVE CODE CHAPTER 120, 11-120.5(1)(a)-(d).  ALSO 

115



  

© 2017 MARCO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.   MARCONET.COM  | 6 

WITH RESPECT TO PARAGRAPH 17(C), SUCH LIMITATION SHALL APPLY TO BOTH MARCO AND CLIENT, 
AND THEIR RESPECTIVE REPRESENTATIVES.  NOTHING STATED IN THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE 
CONSTRUED AS A WAIVER OF CLIENT’S GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES. 

 
IN NO EVENT SHALL MARCO AND ITS REPRESENTATIVES’ COLLECTIVE AGGREGATE LIABILITY FOR ANY 
CLAIMS OR LOSSES (AS DEFINED ABOVE AND WHETHER IN CONTRACT, TORT, STRICT LIABILITY, OR ANY 
OTHER LEGAL OR EQUITABLE THEORY) EXCEED THE AMOUNT PAID OR PAYABLE TO MARCO IN THE 
TWELVE (12) MONTHS IMMEDIATELY PRECEDING THE WORK UNDER THE SOW WHICH GAVE RISE TO THE 
CLAIM(S).  
 
 

18 Term and Termination.  Unless terminated earlier as described below, this Agreement shall be in 
effect for three (3) years commencing on the Effective Date (“Term”), and shall automatically 
renew for successive one (1) month periods (each a “Renewal Term”) unless either party 
provides the other with at least sixty (60) days written notice of its intent not to renew prior to 
the end of the Term or Renewal Term. Either Party may terminate this Agreement and  any SOW if: 
(a) it is required by law to do so; or (b) if the other Party materially breaches this Agreement or a SOW 
and such breach (other than payment obligations) is not cured within thirty (30) business days or such 
longer period to which the Parties mutually agree; or (c) upon the institution by or against the other Party 
of insolvency, receivership, bankruptcy, assignment for the benefit of creditors, or similar proceedings. 
Any such termination shall not relieve Client from its payment obligations.   
 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that any SOW remains in effect following the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement, this Agreement shall continue to be in effect and govern such remaining 
SOWs until their expiration or termination. 

 
19 Suspension of Products or Credit. Marco may suspend, terminate, repossess or otherwise deny Client 

and any of its Representatives access to or use of the Products (collectively, “Suspension”) and suspend 
or terminate Client’s credit (“Credit Hold”) without liability if: a) it is required by law to do so; or b) if 
Client materially breaches this Agreement or any SOW. Client’s failure to timely pay shall be a material 
breach. Upon Suspension, Client shall immediately cease, and cause its Representatives to cease, access 
and use of the Products, until further notice from Marco. Any Suspension or Credit Hold shall not 
terminate this Agreement or any SOW, nor relieve Client from its payment obligations, which shall 
continue during any Suspension or Credit Hold.  
 

20 Effect of Termination or Expiration. Upon termination or expiration of this  Agreement or a SOW, except 
as expressly identified under, Term and Termination, above: (a) Client shall no longer have access rights, 
privileges, and authorizations to the Services; (b) at its sole expense, Client shall: (i) cease using Marco 
Property, the Services, Software, and any Incidentals (not owned by Client); (ii) uninstall and return the 
Software;  (iii)  return the Marco Property; and (c) following the disclosing Party’s request, the receiving 
Party shall return or destroy (and certify the return or destruction of) the disclosing Party’s Confidential 
Information and all copies or embodiments thereof, as directed by the disclosing Party. Client shall pay 
the published list price for any Marco Property which Client fails to timely return.  
 

21 Changes and Enhanced Services. Marco reserves the right in its sole discretion to make changes to the 
Products and Marco Property to maintain or enhance the quality, delivery, efficiency, effectiveness or 
performance thereof to its clients. Either Party may request changes to its rights or obligations under a 
SOW by providing the other a writing detailing the requested change through the project manager 
identified in the affected SOW. The Party receiving the request shall respond in a writing either  detailing 
the terms and conditions which apply to the requested change or denying the request.  

116



  

© 2017 MARCO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.   MARCONET.COM  | 7 

 
22 Dispute Resolution, Venue, and Governing Law.  If a dispute arises out of or relates to this Agreement or 

any SOW, the Parties agree to engage management in direct discussions in good faith to attempt to 
resolve the dispute.  If a resolution cannot be reached through such discussions, the parties agree to 
engage in nonbinding mediation to attempt to resolve the dispute. Client shall not bring, or join any class 
action of any kind in court or in arbitration. Nothing in this Section shall prohibit either party from 
seeking injunctive relief from any authority authorized by law to grant it. This Section does not prohibit 
Marco from enforcing any claim for payment in any court or other forum. This Agreement shall be 
governed and construed I accordance with the laws of the State of Iowa.  
 

23 Assignment, Successors, Beneficiaries. Neither party may transfer, sell, resell, export, or sublease the 
Products, this Agreement,  any SOW, or any right or obligation arising thereunder, in whole or in part, 
without the written consent of the other party, including, without limitation, by operation of law, upon 
plan of merger, or upon Client being acquired or selling substantially all of its assets. The Parties agree 
that there shall be no third party beneficiaries to this Agreement or any SOW. Subject to the foregoing, 
this Agreement, the SOW(s), and SOP(s) shall be binding on and inure to the benefit of the Parties 
successors and permitted assigns. 
 

24 Independent Contractors.  The relationship between the Parties is that of independent contractors. 
Nothing in this Agreement or any SOW shall be construed as creating any agency, partnership, joint 
venture or other form of joint enterprise, employment, or fiduciary relationship between the Parties. 
Unless expressly provided herein or in a SOW, neither Party shall have the authority to act on behalf of or 
to bind the other. 
 

25 Nonsolicitation. Client agrees not to solicit, hire, or otherwise engage in any like activity in any manner 
whatsoever, directly or indirectly, with any of Marco’s employees during the term of this Agreement or 
any SOW and for a period of one (1) year after it expiration or termination.  For each breach by Client of 
the forgoing restrictions, Client will pay Marco an amount equal to any recruitment or referral fees paid 
by Marco for such employee and the base salary and bonus earned by such employee during the twelve 
(12) months preceding Client’s breach of the forgoing restrictions. 
 

26 Force Majeure. Neither party shall be liable for or be in breach of this Agreement or any SOW, with the 
exception of the duty of the Client to make payment, for failure or delay in performance  caused by 
circumstances beyond its reasonable control, including, but not limited to, acts of God, flood, fire, 
earthquake, war, terrorism, strikes or other labor or  industrial disturbances, governmental action, or 
interruption of, delay in, or inability to obtain on reasonable terms and prices adequate power, 
telecommunications, transportation, raw materials, supplies, goods, equipment, Internet or other 
services.  
 

27 Severability. If any provision of the Agreement or any SOW is held invalid by any law, order or regulation 
of any government or other authority, or by the final determination of any court, such invalidity will not 
affect the enforceability of any other provisions not held to be invalid. 
 

28 Remedies. Unless and to the extent provided otherwise and subject to the limitations of liability herein, 
all remedies set forth in this Agreement will be cumulative, in addition to, and not in lieu of any other 
remedies available to either Party at law, in equity or otherwise, and may be enforced concurrently or 
from time to time.  
 

29 Headings, Survival, and No Waiver.  Headings are for convenience only and are not part of this 
Agreement.  Any term in this Agreement or any SOW by its nature designed to survive completion, 

117



  

© 2017 MARCO. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.   MARCONET.COM  | 8 

expiration, or termination of the Agreement or SOW shall so survive. The failure of Marco at any time to 
require performance by Client of any provisions of this Agreement or a SOW will in no way affect Marco’s 
right to require performance of that provision nor be construed as a waiver of any Marco right under this 
Agreement or the SOW. 
 

30 Counterparts. This Agreement and any SOW may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of 
which will be deemed to be an original, but all of which together will constitute one and the same 
instrument.  The execution and delivery of counterparts may be accomplished by email or tele facsimile.   
 

31 Entire Agreement and Amendment.  This Agreement and the applicable SOW(s) constitute the entire 
understanding between the Parties relating to the subject matter thereof and supersede and replace any 
and all prior discussions, agreements, understandings, promises, and representations whatsoever, 
whether oral or written, express or implied, between the Parties. Purchase or work orders or other 
similar writings (regardless of their date) of Client or a third party on Client’s behalf shall not change this 
Agreement or any SOW and shall not be binding on Marco or its Representatives whatsoever.  Except as 
expressly stated herein, no modification of or amendment to this Agreement or any SOW will be effective 
unless in writing and signed by a duly authorized representative of both Parties. 
 

32 This Agreement shall not be effective unless and until approved by the City Council of the City of Cedar 
Falls.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have each caused this Agreement to be signed and delivered by its duly 
authorized officer or representative on the date set forth at the beginning of this Agreement. 
 

    
 

MARCO TECHNOLOGIES, LLC  CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
 
By:   By:   

Name:   Name:   

Title:   Title:   

Date:   Date:   

 

Dan Urzendowski

Regional Sales Manager

4/10/19

118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Terra Ray, Engineer Technician II 
 
 DATE: April 9, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: Walnut Street Box Culvert Replacement 
  Project Number BR-106-3152 
 
 
The City of Cedar Falls is planning to reconstruct the Walnut Street Box Culvert, 
University Branch of Dry Run Creek. The project will require the acquisition of 
temporary easements and permanent easements along the corridor. Plans for the 
project shows the need for acquisitions from approximately four (4) properties. 
 
We recommend that the Council approve and execute Parcel 1-4 Purchase 
Agreements. Approve and execute Parcel 1 and 3, Easement Agreements to be 
recorded at the black hawk county courthouse.  
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 

154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Terra Ray, Engineer Technician II 
 
 DATE: April 9, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: Ridgeway Avenue Reconstruction 
  Project Number RC-293-3172 
 
 
The City of Cedar Falls is planning to reconstruct a portion of Ridgeway Avenue 
Chancellor Drive to Hwy 58. The project will require the acquisition of right of way and 
temporary easements along the corridor. Plans for the project shows the need for 
acquisitions from approximately four (4) properties. 
 
We recommend that the Council approve and execute the Purchase Agreements for 
Parcel 2 and 3. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 

189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: April 11th, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: 2019 Permeable Alley Project 
  Project No. ST-056-3149 
  Bid Opening 
 
On Tuesday, April 9, 2019 at 2:00 p.m., bids were received and opened for the 2019 
Permeable Alley Project. A total of four (4) bids were received, with Benton’s Sand & 
Gravel, Inc. of Cedar Falls, Iowa the low bidder: 
 

 
Bid Total 

Benton’s Sand & Gravel, Inc. $202,362.40 

K. Cunningham Construction Co. Inc. $209,543.00 

Lodge Construction, Inc. $215,181.25 

Vieth Construction Corporation $229,390.93 

 
The Engineer's Estimate for this project was $251,231.70. Benton’s Sand & Gravel, Inc. 
of Cedar Falls, Iowa submitted the low bid in the amount of $202,362.40, which is 19% 
below the Engineer's Estimate. Attached is a bid tab for your reference. 
 
As a result of the competitive bids, we recommend acceptance of the low bid from 
Benton’s Sand & Gravel, Inc. in the amount of $202,362.40. On May 6th, 2019, the 
Contract, Bonds and Insurance Certificate will be submitted for City Council approval. 
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
  
 
xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
 Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 
  
 

202



PROJECT BID TAB

PROJECT NAME: 2019 PERMEABLE ALLEY PROJECT

CITY PROJECT NUMBER:  ST-056-3149

BID OPENING: APRIL 9, 2019

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

ENGINEERING DIVISION

UNIT EXTENDED UNIT EXTENDED UNIT EXTENDED UNIT EXTENDED UNIT EXTENDED

PRICES PRICES PRICES PRICES PRICES PRICES PRICES PRICES PRICES PRICES

1 2010-1.08-A CLEARING & GRUBBING UNITS 55.0 $300.00 $16,500.00 $50.00 $2,750.00 $50.00 $2,750.00 $30.00 $1,650.00 $135.00 $7,425.00

2 2010-1.08-D TOPSOIL, FURNISH & SPREAD C.Y. 77.3 $50.00 $3,865.00 $40.00 $3,092.00 $40.00 $3,092.00 $42.00 $3,246.60 $40.00 $3,092.00

3 2010-1.08-E EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, ROADWAY WASTE C.Y. 711.3 $18.00 $12,803.40 $15.00 $10,669.50 $15.00 $10,669.50 $20.00 $14,226.00 $15.00 $10,669.50

4 4040-1.08-C SUBDRAIN CLEANOUT, TYPE A-1, 6" EACH 6.0 $250.00 $1,500.00 $500.00 $3,000.00 $500.00 $3,000.00 $500.00 $3,000.00 $425.00 $2,550.00

5 5020-1.08-E VALVE EXTENSION EACH 3.0 $260.00 $780.00 $175.00 $525.00 $175.00 $525.00 $500.00 $1,500.00 $225.00 $675.00

6 6010-1.08-H REMOVE INTAKE EACH 1.0 $600.00 $600.00 $500.00 $500.00 $500.00 $500.00 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 $1,250.00 $1,250.00

7 7010-1.08-A PAVEMENT, P.C.C., 12' WIDTH, 6" S.Y. 50.7 $50.00 $2,535.00 $58.75 $2,978.63 $57.00 $2,889.90 $47.00 $2,382.90 $62.00 $3,143.40

8 7010-1.08-E CURB & GUTTER, P.C.C., 2.5' WIDE L.F. 158.5 $50.00 $7,925.00 $31.25 $4,953.13 $30.25 $4,794.63 $30.00 $4,755.00 $33.00 $5,230.50

9 7030-1.08-A REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY S.Y. 167.3 $10.00 $1,673.00 $9.00 $1,505.70 $9.00 $1,505.70 $12.00 $2,007.60 $14.50 $2,425.85

10 7030-1.08-A REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK S.Y. 73.3 $10.00 $733.00 $9.00 $659.70 $9.00 $659.70 $12.00 $879.60 $19.00 $1,392.70

11 7030-1.08-E SIDEWALK, 6" P.C.C. S.Y. 85.9 $50.00 $4,295.00 $81.00 $6,957.90 $85.00 $7,301.50 $47.00 $4,037.30 $85.00 $7,301.50

12 7030-1.08-H DRIVEWAY, 6" P.C.C. S.Y. 173.3 $50.00 $8,665.00 $71.75 $12,434.28 $69.50 $12,044.35 $47.00 $8,145.10 $75.00 $12,997.50

13 7030-1.08-H DRIVEWAY, GRANULAR S.Y. 35.4 $35.00 $1,239.00 $6.75 $238.95 $6.75 $238.95 $10.00 $354.00 $21.00 $743.40

14 7040-1.08-A PATCH, FULL DEPTH, P.C.C. 'M' MIX S.Y. 33.0 $300.00 $9,900.00 $110.00 $3,630.00 $112.00 $3,696.00 $70.00 $2,310.00 $137.00 $4,521.00

15 7040-1.08-I REMOVAL OF CURB & GUTTER L.F. 158.5 $10.00 $1,585.00 $10.00 $1,585.00 $5.00 $792.50 $20.00 $3,170.00 $15.00 $2,377.50

16 7080-1.08-B ENGINEERING FABRIC S.Y. 2,185.2 $5.00 $10,926.00 $4.00 $8,740.80 $4.00 $8,740.80 $3.00 $6,555.60 $3.00 $6,555.60

17 7080-1.08-C UNDERDRAIN, 6" PLASTIC PERFORATED, TYPE S L.F. 1,087.0 $15.00 $16,305.00 $10.00 $10,870.00 $10.00 $10,870.00 $16.00 $17,392.00 $15.50 $16,848.50

18 7080-1.08-D STORAGE AGGREGATE, 8" S.Y. 1,416.8 $17.00 $24,085.60 $12.00 $17,001.60 $12.00 $17,001.60 $14.00 $19,835.20 $15.00 $21,252.00

19 7080-1.08-E FILTER AGGREGATE, 4" S.Y. 1,416.8 $12.00 $17,001.60 $6.00 $8,500.80 $6.00 $8,500.80 $7.00 $9,917.60 $8.00 $11,334.40

20 7080-1.08-F PERMEABLE INTERLOCKING PAVERS, CLAY BRICK S.F. 3,697.9 $12.00 $44,374.80 $10.50 $38,827.95 $10.19 $37,681.60 $12.00 $44,374.80 $11.00 $40,676.90

21 7080-1.08-G PCC EDGE RESTRAINT, 6" CONCRETE SLAB, 4' WIDE S.Y. 447.1 $50.00 $22,355.00 $58.75 $26,267.13 $57.00 $25,484.70 $52.00 $23,249.20 $61.00 $27,273.10

22 7080-1.08-G PCC EDGE RESTRAINT, 6" CONCRETE SLAB, 5' WIDE S.Y. 502.5 $50.00 $25,125.00 $52.50 $26,381.25 $51.00 $25,627.50 $52.00 $26,130.00 $55.00 $27,637.50

23 8030-1.08-A TRAFFIC CONTROL L.S. 1.0 $4,500.00 $4,500.00 $1,750.00 $1,750.00 $12,500.00 $12,500.00 $1,750.00 $1,750.00 $1,750.00 $1,750.00

24 9010-1.08-B HYDRAULIC SEEDING S.F. 4,170.2 $1.50 $6,255.30 $0.40 $1,668.08 $0.36 $1,501.27 $1.25 $5,212.75 $0.40 $1,668.08

25 9040-1.08-F WATTLE, STRAW, 9" L.F. 300.0 $5.00 $1,500.00 $5.00 $1,500.00 $6.00 $1,800.00 $5.00 $1,500.00 $5.50 $1,650.00

26 9040-1.08-T INLET PROTECTION DEVICE EACH 3.0 $220.00 $660.00 $325.00 $975.00 $300.00 $900.00 $350.00 $1,050.00 $250.00 $750.00

27 9040-1.08-T INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, MAINTENANCE EACH 3.0 $115.00 $345.00 $100.00 $300.00 $125.00 $375.00 $100.00 $300.00 $150.00 $450.00

28 CF DETAIL INTAKE, SINGLE FLAT EACH 1.0 $3,200.00 $3,200.00 $4,100.00 $4,100.00 $4,100.00 $4,100.00 $5,250.00 $5,250.00 $5,750.00 $5,750.00

TOTAL $251,231.70 TOTAL $202,362.40 TOTAL $209,543.00 TOTAL $215,181.25 TOTAL $229,390.93

Lodge Construction, Inc. Vieth Construction Corporation

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE Benton's Sand & Gravel, Inc. K Cunningham Construction Co., Inc.

ENGINEERING DIVISION

ITEM CODEITEM NO. DESCRIPTION UNITS
ESTIMATED 

QUANTITY

203



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: April 11th, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: Developmental Procedures Agreement 
  Park Ridge Estates Subdivision, BJW Holdings, LLC. 
  Storm Sewer Over-sizing 
  Project No. SU-345-3186 
  
As a part of the development of Park Ridge Estates Subdivision, the City will require 
installation of a storm sewer that is larger than necessary to meet the requirements of 
the platted area, but necessary to complete the City storm sewer system as it relates to 
both the area being platted and existing areas. The enclosed Developmental 
Procedures Agreement pays the Developer, BJW Holdings, LLC., the difference in the 
cost of the pipe and installation between the storm sewer structures required for the 
subdivision plat and the larger storm sewer structure necessary to serve the larger area 
beyond the boundaries of the plat as defined in the Lakeshore Dr. and Lilliput Ln. storm 
water report. The larger storm sewer structure is a 36-inch diameter pipe that will be 
used to reconstruct a new future storm sewer system along Lakeshore Drive in future 
improvements. The storm sewer structure needed to serve the Park Ridge Estates 
Subdivision currently without improvements would be an 18-inch diameter pipe. The 
larger storm sewer structure is projected to serve more than 16.1 acres of existing 
development of the Lakewood Hills and Lakewood Estates additions. The estimated 
increased cost of installing the larger storm sewer structure is $27,312.10; a breakdown 
of this cost is included within the Developmental Procedures Agreement as Exhibit A. 
 
The larger storm sewer structure has been designed and will be constructed as part of 
the public improvements in the Park Ridge Estates Subdivision. The City will reimburse 
the Developer when all of the public improvements are completed and accepted by the 
City Council. A location map of the larger storm sewer structure is included within the 
Developmental Procedures Agreement as Exhibit B for your reference. 
 
Local funding for this project is proposed to come from the Capitola Improvements 
Program, outlined by item no. 35: Industrial & City Development: Infrastructure 
Oversizing program. 

204



 
The Engineering Division recommends approving the Developmental Procedures If you 
have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
  
 
xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
 Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 
  
 

205



206



207



208



209



210



211



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 
 
 DATE: April 10, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement 
  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction 
  Snyder & Associates Inc. 
  Project No. RC-000-3171 
 
Please find attached the Professional Services Agreement with Snyder & Associates, 
Inc. that outlines the scope of services and costs for the Cedar Heights Drive 
Reconstruction Project.  
 
Request for proposals were sent out to various engineering firms and ranked by a 
selection committee on specific focuses. Snyder & Associates, Inc. was the firm 
selected by Community Development. The enclosed agreement with Snyder & 
Associates, Inc. provides for the design of Cedar Heights Drive from Viking Road to 
Greenhill Drive. The cost of this agreement is in the amount not to exceed $424,800.00.  
 
The Department of Community Development requests your consideration and approval 
of this Professional Service Agreement with Snyder & Associates, Inc. for the Cedar 
Heights Drive Reconstruction Project. 
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
 
xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
  
 

212



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls  
220 Clay Street  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613   
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

Administration Division  Planning & Community Services Division 
Phone: 319-273-8600  Fax: 319-273-8610 

 

Engineering Division  Inspection Services Division 
Phone: 319-268-5161  Fax: 319-268-5197 

 

Water Reclamation Division 

Phone: 319-273-8633  Fax: 319-268-5566 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT 
 

Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number: RC-000-3171 
 

 
This Agreement is made and entered by and between Snyder & Associates, Inc., 5005 Bowling Street SW 
Suite A, Cedar Rapids, IA 52404, hereinafter referred to as “CONSULTANT" and City of Cedar Falls, 220 
Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter referred to as "CLIENT.” 
 
IN CONSIDERATION of the covenants hereinafter set forth, the parties hereto mutually agree as follows: 
 
I.  SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
 CONSULTANT shall perform professional Services (the "Services") in connection with CLIENT's 

facilities in accordance with the Scope of Services set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto. 
 
II.  CONSULTANT'S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 CONSULTANT shall, subject to the terms and provisions of this Agreement: 
  
 (a) Appoint one or more individuals who shall be authorized to act on behalf of CONSULTANT 

and with whom CLIENT may consult at all reasonable times, and whose instructions, 
requests, and decisions will be binding upon CONSULTANT as to all matters pertaining to 
this Agreement and the performance of the parties hereunder. 

 
 (b) Use all reasonable efforts to complete the Services within the time period mutually agreed 

upon, except for reasons beyond its control, as set forth in Exhibit A. 
 
 (c) Perform the Services in accordance with generally accepted professional engineering 

standards in existence at the time of performance of the Services. If during the two year 
period following the completion of Services, it is shown that there is an error in the Services 
solely as a result of CONSULTANT's failure to meet these standards, CONSULTANT shall 
re-perform such substandard Services as may be necessary to remedy such error at no cost 
to CLIENT. Since CONSULTANT has no control over local conditions, the cost of labor and 
materials, or over competitive bidding and market conditions, CONSULTANT does not 
guarantee the accuracy of any construction cost estimates as compared to contractor's bids 
or the actual cost to the CLIENT. CONSULTANT makes no other warranties either express 
or implied and the parties’ rights, liabilities, responsibilities and remedies with respect to the 
quality of Services, including claims alleging negligence, breach of warranty and breach of 
contract, shall be exclusively those set forth herein. 

213



 
 (d) CONSULTANT shall, if requested in writing by CLIENT, for the protection of CLIENT, require 

from all vendors and subcontractors from which CONSULTANT procures equipment, 
materials or services for the project, guarantees with respect to such equipment, materials 
and services. All such guarantees shall be made available to CLIENT to the full extent of the 
terms thereof. CONSULTANT's liability with respect to such equipment, and materials 
obtained from vendors or services from subcontractors, shall be limited to procuring 
guarantees from such vendors or subcontractors and rendering all reasonable assistance to 
CLIENT for the purpose of enforcing the same. 

 
(e) CONSULTANT will be providing estimates of costs to the CLIENT covering an extended 

period of time. CONSULTANT does not have control over any such costs, including, but not 
limited to, costs of labor, material, equipment or services furnished by others or over 
competitive bidding, marketing or negotiating conditions, or construction contractors’ 
methods of determining their prices. Accordingly, it is acknowledged and understood that any 
estimates, projections or opinions of probable project costs provided herein by 
CONSULTANT are estimates only, made on the basis of CONSULTANT’s experience and 
represent CONSULTANT’s reasonable judgment as a qualified professional. CONSULTANT 
does not guarantee that proposals, bids or actual project costs will not vary from the opinions 
of probable costs prepared by CONSULTANT, and the CLIENT waives any and all claims 
that it may have against CONSULTANT as a result of any such variance.  

 
III. CLIENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 CLIENT shall at such times as may be required for the successful and expeditious completion of the 

Services: 
 
 (a) Provide all criteria and information as to CLIENT’s requirements; obtain all necessary 

approvals and permits required from all governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the 
project; and designate a person with authority to act on CLIENT’s behalf on all matters 
concerning the Services. 

  
 (b) Furnish to CONSULTANT all existing studies, reports and other available data pertinent to 

the Services, and obtain additional reports, data and services as may be required for the 
project. CONSULTANT shall be entitled to rely upon all such information, data and the results 
of such other services in performing its Services hereunder. 

 
IV. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
  

The provisions of the document entitled, "Insurance Requirements for Consultants for the City of 
Cedar Falls," which are attached hereto, marked Exhibit B, are hereby made a part of this 
Agreement as if set out word for word herein. 
  
CONSULTANT shall furnish to CLIENT a certificate or certificates of insurance containing all 
coverages, endorsements and other provisions required by the Insurance Requirements set forth 
in Exhibit B. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of Exhibit B and the other terms of 
this Agreement, the provisions of Exhibit B shall control. 
 

 CONSULTANT shall obtain and maintain an insurance policy or policies that meet the provisions 
set out in the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, attached hereto 
and marked Exhibit B. 

 
 
 
 
 

214



V. STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN CONTRACTORS WHO 
PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

 
 The provisions of the documents entitled “Standard Terms and Conditions for Contracts Between 

Contractors Who Perform Professional Services and the City of Cedar Falls,” consisting of two 
pages are incorporated into this Agreement by the Client and attached as Exhibit C. 

 
 
 
VI. COMPENSATION AND TERMS OF PAYMENT 
 
 Compensation for the services shall be on an hourly basis in accordance with the hourly fees and 

other direct expenses in effect at the time the services are performed. Total compensation is a not 
to exceed a fee of Four Hundred Twenty-Four Thousand Eight Hundred Dollars ($424,800). 
 
CONSULTANT may bill the CLIENT monthly for services completed at the time of billing. CLIENT 
agrees to pay CONSULTANT the full amount of such invoice within thirty (30) days after receipt 
thereof. In the event CLIENT disputes any invoice item, CLIENT shall give CONSULTANT written 
notice of such disputed item within ten (10) days after receipt of invoice and shall pay to 
CONSULTANT the undisputed portion of the invoice according to the provisions hereof. CLIENT 
agrees to abide by any applicable statutory prompt pay provisions currently in effect. 

 
VII. TERMINATION 
 
 CLIENT may, with or without cause, terminate the Services at any time upon fourteen (14) days 

written notice to CONSULTANT. The obligation to provide further Services under this Agreement may 
be terminated by either party upon fourteen (14) days' written notice in the event of substantial failure 
by the other party to perform in accordance with the terms hereof through no fault of the terminating 
party, providing such defaulting party has not cured such failure, or, in the event of a non-monetary 
default, commenced reasonable actions to cure such failure. In either case, CONSULTANT will be 
paid for all expenses incurred and Services rendered to the date of the termination in accordance 
with compensation terms of Article VI. 

 
VIII. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS 
 

(a) Sealed original drawings, specifications, final project specific calculations and other 
instruments of service which CONSULTANT prepares and delivers to CLIENT pursuant to 
this Agreement shall become the property of CLIENT when CONSULTANT has been 
compensated for Services rendered. CLIENT shall have the right to use such instruments of 
service solely for the purpose of the construction, operation and maintenance of the Facilities. 
Nothing contained in this paragraph shall be construed as limiting or depriving 
CONSULTANT of its rights to use its basic knowledge and skills to design or carry out other 
projects or work for itself or others, whether or not such other projects or work are similar to 
the work to be performed pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
(b) Any files delivered in electronic medium may not work on systems and software different than 

those with which they were originally produced and CONSULTANT makes no warranty as to 
the compatibility of these files with any other system or software. Because of the potential 
degradation of electronic medium over time, in the event of a conflict between the sealed 
original drawings and the electronic files, the sealed drawings will govern. 

 
IX. MEANS AND METHODS 
 

(a) CONSULTANT shall not have control or charge of and shall not be responsible for 
construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for safety measures 
and programs including enforcement of Federal and State safety requirements, in connection 

215



with construction work performed by CLIENT's construction contractors. Nor shall 
CONSULTANT be responsible for the supervision of CLIENT's construction contractors, 
subcontractors or of any of their employees, agents and representatives of such contractors; 
or for inspecting machinery, construction equipment and tools used and employed by 
contractors and subcontractors on CLIENT's construction projects and shall not have the 
right to stop or reject work without the thorough evaluation and approval of the CLIENT. In 
no event shall CONSULTANT be liable for the acts or omissions of CLIENT's construction 
contractors, subcontractors or any persons or entities performing any of the construction 
work, or for the failure of any of them to carry out construction work under contracts with 
CLIENT. 

 
X. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 
 
 CONSULTANT shall be an independent contractor with respect to the Services to be performed 

hereunder. Neither CONSULTANT nor its subcontractors, nor the employees of either, shall be 
deemed to be the servants, employees, or agents of CLIENT. 

 
XI. PRE-EXISTING CONDITIONS 
 
 Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, CONSULTANT shall have no legal responsibility or 

liability for any and all pre-existing contamination. "Pre-existing contamination" is any hazardous or 
toxic substance present at the site or sites concerned which was not brought onto such site or sites 
by CONSULTANT. CLIENT agrees to release CONSULTANT from and against any and all liability 
to the CLIENT which may in any manner arise in any way directly or indirectly caused by such pre-
existing contamination except if such liability arises from CONSULTANT's sole negligence or willful 
misconduct. 

 
 CLIENT shall, at CLIENT’s sole expense and risk, arrange for handling, storage, transportation, 

treatment and delivery for disposal of pre-existing contamination. CLIENT shall be solely responsible 
for obtaining a disposal site for such material. CLIENT shall look to the disposal facility and/or 
transporter for any responsibility or liability arising from improper disposal or transportation of such 
waste. CONSULTANT shall not have or exert any control over CLIENT in CLIENT’s obligations or 
responsibilities as a generator in the storage, transportation, treatment or disposal of any pre-existing 
contamination. CLIENT shall complete and execute any governmentally required forms relating to 
regulated activities including, but not limited to generation, storage, handling, treatment, 
transportation, or disposal of pre-existing contamination.  

 
 For CONSULTANT's Services requiring drilling, boring, excavation or soils sampling, CLIENT shall 

approve selection of the contractors to perform such services, all site locations, and provide 
CONSULTANT with all necessary information regarding the presence of underground hazards, 
utilities, structures and conditions at the site.  
 

XII. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
 
 If a dispute arises out of, or relates to, the breach of this Agreement and if the dispute cannot be 

settled through negotiation, then the CONSULTANT and the CLIENT agree to submit the dispute to 
mediation. In the event CONSULTANT or the CLIENT desires to mediate any dispute, that party shall 
notify the other party in writing of the dispute desired to be mediated. If the parties are unable to 
resolve their differences within 10 days of the receipt of such notice, such dispute shall be submitted 
for mediation in accordance with the procedures and rules of the American Arbitration Association (or 
any successor organization) then in effect. The deadline for submitting the dispute to mediation can 
be changed if the parties mutually agree in writing to extend the time between receipt of notice and 
submission to mediation. The expenses of the mediator shall be shared 50 percent by CONSULTANT 
and 50 percent by the CLIENT. This requirement to seek mediation shall be a condition required 
before filing an action at law or in equity. However, prior to or during the negotiations or the mediation 
either party may initiate litigation that would otherwise be barred by a statute of limitations, and 

216



217



Consultant  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Project No. 119.0263.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

A-1 
 

    

Exhibit A 
 

Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number: RC-000-3171 
 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

The Scope of Services to be performed by the CONSULTANT shall include the services and 
supplies to complete the following tasks: 

Objective: The CLIENT seeks to reconstruct Cedar Heights Drive from the intersection with 
E. Viking Road north and east through the intersection with E. Greenhill Road. The 
reconstruction of the Cedar Heights Drive and E. Greenhill Road intersection is to include 
replacement of the existing signals with a roundabout. Ancillary benefits will include 
improved street rideability, improved traffic flow and capacity, and bringing adjacent 
intersection pedestrian ramps and landings into compliance with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act. The Project includes:  

1. Reconstructed street segments 

2. Conversion from a rural two lane to an urban three lane section (with a center turn 
lane) 

3. New sidewalk design 

4. Upgrade of all existing non-conforming sidewalk ramps 

5. Water valve and hydrant adjustment and/or replacement 

6. Installation of storm sewer and intakes 

7. Traffic signal removal at the intersection of Cedar Heights Drive and E. Greenhill Road  

8. Roundabout at the intersection of Cedar Heights Drive and E. Greenhill Road 

The CONSULTANT will perform survey and mapping, including right-of-way survey, 
plats and exhibits, and locate and document existing monuments; develop 
preliminary, check and final plans, and provide assistance to the CLIENT during the 
DOT letting phase of the Project. One (1) construction package shall be administered.  

TASK A – CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 

1.0 Project Administration 

1.1 Monitoring Project Schedule 

The CONSULTANT shall prepare and submit monthly email updates (1-page), 
outlining the following: activities during the reporting period, activities planned for 
the following month, problems encountered and recommended solutions, and 
overall Project status. If design work is not progressing in a manner to comply with 

218



Consultant  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Project No. 119.0263.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

 

A-2 
 

the anticipated completion date, the CONSULTANT shall provide a brief summary of 
the actions to be taken to reduce or eliminate any delays in completing the design in 
accordance with the agreed upon schedule. The monthly update shall include a list 
of requested information from the CLIENT with a desired response date noted to 
avoid delay of the CONSULTANT’s services.   

1.2 Monitoring Project Scope 

This includes task identification, scheduling, task assignment, and coordination with 
other members of the Project team. The CONSULTANT shall inform the CLIENT of any 
services required which may not be included in the scope of the design services 
contract approved by the CLIENT for this Project. It will be the responsibility of the 
CONSULTANT to make the CLIENT aware of any potential amendments to the 
contract before the services are rendered. This notice must occur prior to any extra 
services being performed. Only those services approved by the CLIENT are eligible 
for compensation. 

1.3 Project Management Team (PMT) Meetings 

The CONSULTANT shall meet with the CLIENT, or its designated representative, to 
review progress and to discuss specific elements of the Project design. The meetings 
will also serve to establish schedules, develop Project goals, establish design 
parameters, promote a dialog between the various entities, improve the decision-
making process, and expedite design development. The CONSULTANT shall keep 
documentation of all communications.    

The following meetings are included with the scope of work: 

1. Kickoff Meeting 

2. Preliminary Design (60% level) 

3. Check Plans Design (95% level) 

4. Other Miscellaneous Design Meetings (3) 

1.4 Quality Control Plan 

The Consultant shall establish review and checking procedures for Project 
deliverables. The CONSULTANT shall be responsible for implementation of the plan. 

1.5 Invoice Processing and Review 

The CONSULTANT shall create, process, and review invoices to ensure these meet 
CLIENT standards and all necessary information is included. Coordinate with CLIENT 
staff as necessary and answer any questions. Verify percent work complete on 
Project is in line with percent billed. Includes all other general Project administration 
necessary to complete the Project. 

 

 

219



Consultant  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Project No. 119.0263.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

 

A-3 
 

2.0 Communication Plan 

The CONSULTANT will implement a Project Communication Plan. The Communication 
Plan will include public notices, one-on-one meetings and public meetings. 

2.1 Property Owner Coordination – Public Notices 

The following Public Notices are anticipated as part of this Project: 

1. Open House Invitation letters 

2. Post Open House letters 

3. Incidental letters (tree removals, Orangeburg, Project schedule update) 

The CONSULTANT shall prepare templates and draft letters to be provided to the 
CLIENT for them to mail. Property Owners will be encouraged to respond directly to 
the CLIENT with comments and concerns. The CONSULTANT shall assist in tracking 
public comments and incorporate suggestions into the Project, as appropriate.  

2.2 Property Owner Coordination – Public Meetings 

The CONSULTANT will attend three (3) public informational meetings. The purpose 
of the meetings will be to provide a brief overview of the proposed improvements to 
the surrounding property owners/businesses, and stakeholders, and a discussion of 
the improvement plan, as well as gather information on the concerns, priorities and 
specific issues of the adjacent property owners and other affected parties. The 
CONSULTANT shall provide the following services: 

1. Participation in one (1) pre-planning Skype meeting approximately one week prior to 
the public meeting. 

2. Preparation of a Power Point presentation for the public meeting. 

3. Preparation of 1-2 strip maps showing the proposed improvements. 

4. Preparation of a Project Fact Sheet. 

5. Attendance at and participation in presentation at meetings. 

2.3 One-on-One Meetings 

Meetings with individual property owners and the CONSULTANT are not included with 
this scope of services. If these services are deemed necessary by the CONSULTANT and 
the CLIENT during the Project then these will be added by a supplemental agreement.   

TASK B – DESIGN SURVEY, ENVIRONMENTAL AND OUTSIDE 

1.0 Design Surveys 

The CONSULTANT shall perform field and office tasks required to collect topographic 
information deemed necessary to complete the Project. The CLIENT shall provide 
aerial photographic and other available mapping, including utilities, of the Project 
area. The specific survey tasks to be performed include the following: 

220



Consultant  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Project No. 119.0263.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

 

A-4 
 

1.1 Control Surveys 

The CONSULTANT will establish horizontal and vertical control for the Project area in 
accordance with industry standards. Each permanent control point or benchmark 
shall have horizontal coordinates or elevation, and shall provide monument tie notes 
including monument descriptions. Accurate descriptions of the horizontal control 
points and benchmarks will be created and recorded on the plan sheets. Horizontal 
control shall be in state-plane coordinates and vertical control per USGS datum. 
CONSULTANT shall provide sufficient control for construction. If it is determined by 
the CLIENT that control is insufficient, the CONSULTANT shall add control points. 

1.2 Topographic Survey 

The CONSULTANT will perform topographic surveys required for the development of 
the Project. Topographic surveys are anticipated to require detailed elevation 
information for proper construction installation, including, but not limited to: 

1. Full width of the Public right-of-way 

2. Private properties as determined by the CONSULTANT 

3. Driveway elevations where rehabilitation presents elevation concerns 

4. Gutter and/or roadway profiles as necessary for drainage concerns or ultimate 
roadway profile condition needs 

5. Sidewalk ramps and landings within the public right-of-way 

6. Fences, signs, buildings, retaining walls, etc. 

7. Vegetation 4” diameter and larger 

8. Utility appurtenances likely to be impacted by the Project 

9. Sanitary and storm sewer above ground structures and invert elevations 

10. Water main above ground appurtenances  

1.3 Utility Surveys 

Public and private utility facilities will be identified through the Iowa One Call 
process. The CONSULTANT shall perform utility surveys required for the 
development of the Project and shall establish coordinates and elevations (if 
possible) for utilities that fall within the limits of the Project and are visible. 

This task consists of field survey indicating the location of utilities within the existing 
right-of-way for the Project. The CONSULTANT shall field locate visible valves and 
utility access within the Project limits to accurately account for adjustment and/or 
replacement. Underground utilities will be incorporated into the Project through 
map requests to the utility companies and drawn into the design file. Utilities include 
phone, gas, fiber optic, water main, overhead/underground electrical, sanitary 
sewer, storm sewer, and in-pavement traffic control equipment (including power 
poles, pedestals, valves and manholes). 

221



Consultant  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Project No. 119.0263.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

 

A-5 
 

To minimize potholing needs (refer to 1.4), CONSULTANT shall remove existing water 
main valve covers and measure from the surface to the valve stem to estimate water 
main depth. 

1.4 Subsurface Utility Investigation 

Subsurface Utility Investigation (i.e. potholing) is not included with this scope of 
services. If these services are deemed necessary by the CONSULTANT and the CLIENT 
during the Project then these will be added by a supplemental agreement. 

1.5 Right-of-Way Surveys, Plats and Exhibits 

The CONSULTANT shall determine the location of existing Right-of-Way (ROW) and 
identify property owners adjacent to the Project. This task consists of researching 
record documents at the City and County and locating existing monumentation 
(including, but not limited to, property pins, government corners, and other 
monuments) along the corridor. All found monuments shall be shown in contract 
drawings. 

The following lists the estimated number of acquisition documents. The 
CONSULTANT shall provide 6 signed copies of each. 

1. Right-of-way (fee title; plat signed by an LS) – 2 

2. Permanent easement (plat signed by an LS) – 0 

3. Temporary easement (exhibit; no signature required) – 19 

The CONSULTANT will provide State of Iowa licensed real estate agents who will 
negotiate and endeavor to acquire for the CLIENT all of the necessary easements 
and/or real property parcels needed for the Project. Mary Ann Carnock and Brian 
DePrez are employees of CONSULTANT, and are state of Iowa licensed real estate 
sales persons with SNYDER & ASSOCIATES RIGHT-OF-WAY SERVICES, LLC, Ankeny, 
Iowa, a State of Iowa licensed real estate broker and a wholly owned subsidiary of 
CONSULTANT. Mary Ann Carnock and Brian DePrez will be designated as “Appointed 
Agents” and will represent the CLIENT in a “Buyer Exclusive Agency” capacity in all 
matters pertaining to the negotiation and acquisition of easements and/or real 
property for said public improvement project. CLIENT shall also be a CLIENT of 
Appointed Agent. 

The CLIENT does hereby request Appointed Agent to select, prepare and complete 
form documents for use incidental to a residential real estate transaction of four 
units or less, as provided by the CLIENT. Such documents shall be limited to those 
listed in Section 1.5, provided the parties are given written notice that these are 
binding legal documents and competent legal advice should be sought before 
signing. 

The CLIENT and CONSULTANT acknowledge and agree that the Appointed Agents are 
required to adhere to Federal and State of Iowa statutes; the rules of the Supreme 
Court of Iowa, as they may pertain to real estate agents; the rules and regulations 

222



Consultant  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Project No. 119.0263.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

 

A-6 
 

promulgated by the Iowa Real Estate Commission; and the Iowa Administrative Rules 
and regulations in regards to real estate agents’ conduct, responsibilities, and duties. 
Said statutes, rules, and regulations will supersede and be paramount to any 
provision contained herein, anything to the contrary notwithstanding. 

In regards to acquisitions, the CONSULTANT will: 
 

1. Attend initial project meetings with the representatives of the CLIENT to establish 
lines of communication regarding elements of the scope and schedule and to set 
property acquisition parameters for the Project;  

2. Complete a parcel file for each property involved with the Project in accordance with 
the needs of the CLIENT and/or the Project requirements; 

3. Prepare legal descriptions and acquisition plats for each easement and/or fee title 
acquisition, if requested by the CLIENT; 

4. Retain and coordinate the services of a licensed, certified appraiser (hereinafter 
referred to as “Appraiser”) who, subject to the approval of the CLIENT, will be a 
subconsultant to the CONSULTANT. The Appraiser will prepare appraisals and/or 
Project Data Books, as needed. The Appraisers’ work will be reviewed by a second 
party as approved by the CLIENT and as required by Local, State and /or Federal Right-
of-Way acquisition procedures. The Appraiser will prepare, sign and furnish to the 
CONSULTANT and CLIENT appraisal documentation following accepted appraisal 
principles and techniques in accordance with the Iowa DOT “Appraisal Policy & 
Procedures Manual”. The CLIENT will review and forward written approval of all 
findings by the Appraiser; 

5. Retain and coordinate the services of an abstractor, who will be a Subconsultant to 
the CONSULTANT, who will prepare Certificates of Title for parcels where fee title and 
permanent easements are required. 

6. Use acquisition forms and documents provided by the CLIENT or prepare acquisition 
documents under the direction, review and approval of the CLIENT’s legal 
department. Acquisition documents may include, but not be limited to: (1) Offer to 
Purchase, (2) 10 day-waiver, (3) real estate purchase agreement, (4) Easements, (5) 
title clearing documents as directed by CLIENT’s attorney, and (6) release of tenant 
interest and leasehold claims; (7) Warranty Deed would be prepared by the CLIENT’s 
attorney and facilitated through the CLIENT’s staff. 

7. Make (through the Appointed Agent) personal and private contacts with each 
property owner and tenant (the Parties) or their representative to explain the effect 
of the acquisition, answer questions, present a written offer, and consider counter 
offers and to make approved offers for administrative settlements. Non-resident 
property owners will be contacted by certified or registered mail or by U.P.S. 

8. Make a good faith effort to acquire the necessary property within 90 days after a 
written offer has been submitted to the owner and tenant. Negotiations will be 
considered complete upon occurrence of one of the following: (1) the parties accept 
the offer, (2) the parties accept an administrative settlement, (3) the parties fail or 

223



Consultant  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Project No. 119.0263.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

 

A-7 
 

refuse to accept the offer or administrative settlement, and/or (4) in the judgment of 
the CONSULTANT, negotiations have reached an impasse; 

9. Notify the CLIENT of every parcel on which negotiations have reached an impasse or 
which cannot be acquired by negotiated Agreement at the completion of the 
negotiations phase of the work. If the CLIENT is to condemn, the CONSULTANT will 
deliver as much of the file to the CLIENT as is necessary for the CLIENT’s 
condemnation attorneys to begin preparation for the condemnation of the parcel. 
The CLIENT will provide written notice to the parties that the parcel is being prepared 
for condemnation. The CONSULTANT, when notified in writing by the CLIENT, will 
continue in an attempt to negotiate an Agreement after notice has been sent that 
condemnation is being prepared, but before notice of condemnation has been 
served. Once notice of condemnation has been served, negotiations will cease unless 
requested by the CLIENT to continue as additional services. 

10. Deliver all signed acquisition documents and title clearing (as directed by the CLIENT’s 
attorney), to the CLIENT for payment and closing tasks. 

11. No relocation services are included by the CONSULTANT. 

CLIENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES. The CLIENT understands and agrees that it will be 
responsible for and will provide the following, in a timely manner: 

1. Provide all licenses, permits, and government or agency approvals that may be 
necessary to complete the Work and/or Project; 

2. Provide all necessary forms and/or documents to complete each acquisition and/or 
provide the services of the CLIENT’S attorney to supervise, review and approve any 
and all legal documents prepared by the CONSULTANT.  

3. Coordinate the timing and sequence of the CONSULTANT’s Services with the Services 
of others to the Project;  

4. Make interim and final decisions utilizing information supplied by the CONSULTANT. 

5. Process Council Roll Calls/Requisitions. 

6. Perform the following task for closings: Provide title opinions; prepare and distribute 
proceed checks to owners and tenants; prepare closing statements; prepare 1099 tax 
forms; update abstracts; record all pertinent documents. 

The CONSULTANT shall provide plats and/or exhibits for each acquisition required. 
Temporary Easement Exhibits shall be prepared to clearly depict the areas required 
on the property. No legal descriptions should be included with temporary 
easements. The submission of these documents will be completed following the 
Acquisition & Utility Submittal and incorporation of the CLIENT’s review comments.  

Utilize Iowa Department of Transportation (DOT) style symbols when preparing ROW 
and property boundary exhibits for use during design and easement acquisitions. 

 

 

224



Consultant  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Project No. 119.0263.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

 

A-8 
 

2.0 Environmental Analysis 

The CONSULTANT shall perform field and office tasks required for collecting 
environmental information necessary for permitting of the project. The specific 
environmental analysis items to be performed include the following: 

2.1 Wetland and Stream Delineation 

The CONSULTANT will provide Wetland and Stream Delineation for the above 
referenced project. The Delineation will be performed to determine the upper 
boundaries of wetland and stream areas at the project site. The CONSULTANT will 
review United States Geological Survey topographic maps, National Wetland 
Inventory maps, Soil Survey, and aerial photographs as part of a preliminary data 
search. On-site visits will be performed to gather data pertaining to wetland 
vegetation, wetland hydrology, and hydric soils. The boundary of each wetland and 
stream located within the project limits will be surveyed. Field work will be 
conducted in accordance with procedures outlined in the 1987 US Army Corps of 
Engineers Wetland Delineation Manual and Midwest Supplement. The CONSULTANT 
will provide copies of the Wetland and Stream Delineation Report summarizing the 
findings of the data searches and the on-site wetland delineation. 

The CLIENT will coordinate with the landowners prior to the site visit to ensure access 
to properties required for field investigation. A report summarizing the findings of 
the field delineation will be prepared. 

2.2  Wetland and Stream Permitting  

A permit application will be submitted to the US Army Corps of Engineers (USACE). 
The CONSULTANT will act as the Authorized Agent throughout the permitting 
process. During this process, the CONSULTANT’s staff will respond to inquiries from 
USACE. It is assumed that a Nationwide Permit will be obtained for this project. An 
Individual Permit is beyond the scope of services. The CONSULTANT assumes that 
wetland and stream credits will be purchased as mitigation. Development of a 
mitigation design plan is beyond the scope of services. 

2.3 Bat Habitat Survey 

The CONSULTANT will evaluate potential Indiana and northern long-eared bat 
habitat at the project site. The CONSULTANT will conduct a web search for all 
pertinent information regarding the bat species and their potential for roosting 
within the proposed project area. The CONSULTANT will also contact local species 
specialists, if they are known, to inquire about the specialty areas of the identified 
specialists. Reference to all identified sources will be included in an all-inclusive 
bibliography in a final report provided by the CONSULTANT. 

Environmental staff will complete a site visit to identify potential roost trees for 
Indiana bats within the project area. Trees meeting the guidelines will be measured 
at breast height and the locations recorded with a handheld GPS Receiver. 

225



Consultant  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Project No. 119.0263.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

 

A-9 
 

A report documenting the findings and all pertinent information identified during the 
research period will be provided to the CLIENT. The CONSULTANT will also provide a 
Section 7 Memo documenting its finding of no effect, may affect but not adversely, 
or will adversely affect. 

2.4 Threatened and Endangered Species Review 

The CONSULTANT will coordinate with the Iowa Department of Natural Resources 
(DNR) and US Fish and Wildlife Service to determine which state and federally listed 
species may be present, are known to be present, or have potential habitat at or near 
the project sites. Using current aerial photography, the CONSULTANT will develop a 
map identifying potential habitat areas within the project limits. The maps and data 
from the state and federal agencies will be provided to the CLIENT for review. 

A windshield survey will be completed in the spring, or earlier at the CLIENT’s 
request, to determine the potential for suitable habitat. The survey will also include 
an inventory of natural and manmade areas. A report summarizing the findings of 
the site visit, including locations and descriptions of sensitive habitats, habitats with 
potential for listed species, and listed species identified at the sites will be provided. 
The report will also include photos and maps of potential habitat and listed species 
observed. 

The Threatened and Endangered Species Review is not intended to be an exhaustive 
survey identifying state and federally listed species at the project site. The survey will 
identify areas within the project sites that have the potential for use by state and 
federally listed species. The report will make recommendations on additional 
species-specific surveys that should be completed to properly document the 
presence or absence of listed species. The additional species-specific surveys are 
beyond the scope of this proposal. 

2.5  Phase I Environmental Site Assessment 

The CONSULTANT will complete a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) for 
the project site. The Phase I ESA will include a review of state and federal 
environmental record sources and site history, along with a visual inspection of the 
site to identify any recognized environmental conditions associated with the subject 
property. Review of environmental record sources shall include information provided 
by the Environmental Protection Agency Region VII through the Freedom of 
Information Act. These records include the National Priority List, Comprehensive 
Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Information System, and 
Resource Conservation and Recovery Information System. The review shall include a 
search for any information related to the subject properties and surrounding area. 
The CONSULTANT shall review data provided by the Iowa DNR for any information 
concerning underground storage tank registration or removal, leaking underground 
storage tanks, permitted sanitary landfills, hazardous substance disposal sites, RCRIS 
compliance violators, and emergency response actions. For the site history review, 

226



Consultant  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Project No. 119.0263.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

 

A-10 
 

available aerial photographs, topographic maps, fire insurance maps, historic street 
directories, and chain of title (if available) for the subject properties shall be 
examined. 

The CONSULTANT will perform a site reconnaissance at the locations to investigate 
each building, current uses, and to identify conditions or activities related to the 
treatment, storage, disposal, or generation of hazardous substances or petroleum 
products on the subject sites. Interviews not already completed with persons familiar 
with the use or prior use of the properties shall be included in the assessment. 

The CONSULTANT will provide to the CLIENT written reports for the Phase I ESA to 
include discussion on the site history, environmental record source review, geology 
and hydrogeology, site reconnaissance, interviews, and recommendations. The 
CLIENT will provide landowner information including, names, addresses, and phone 
numbers.  

The Phase I EASA will conform to ASTM Practice E 1527-13 and the All Appropriate 
Inquiries Act under the Small Business Relief and Brownfields Revitalization Act of 
2002. 

3.0 Outside Services 

3.1 Borings 

CONSULTANT’s Subconsultant shall perform borings at five (5) street locations and 
provide the CONSULTANT with a geotechnical engineering report. The 
CONSULTANT’s subconsultant shall perform laboratory testing on the samples to 
evaluate site conditions and develop engineering recommendations for the 
Project. This information will be used as part of the street design. The 
CONSULTANT shall survey the location of the borings.  

Based on the results of the geotechnical evaluation, the CONSULTANT’s 
subconsultant will prepare an engineering report that details the results of the 
testing performed, provides logs of the borings, and a diagram of the site/boring 
layout. The report will include the following: 

1. Computer generated boring logs with soil stratification based on visual soil 
classification. 

2. Summarized laboratory data. 

3. Groundwater levels observed during drilling and sampling. 

4. Boring location plan. 

5. Subsurface exploration procedures. 

6. Existing pavement thicknesses, if boring obtained in roadway. 

7. Encountered soils conditions. 

8. Soil subgrade parameters for pavement design. 

227



Consultant  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Project No. 119.0263.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

 

A-11 
 

9. Pavement thickness recommendations (design traffic required). 

10. Subgrade preparation/ earthwork recommendations. 

11. Trench excavation considerations. 

A digital PDF copy of the geotechnical report will be given to the CLIENT. 

Iowa DOT S3 and S4 submittals are not included with this scope of services. If these 
submittals are deemed necessary they should be added by a supplemental  

3.2 Pavement Design 

The CONSULTANT shall perform pavement design and provide the CLIENT with 
data. 

TASK C – PLAN DESIGN DEVELOPMENT 

1.0 Design Sheet Criteria  

The Sheet Numbering System should generally follow Iowa DOT Design Manual Chapter 
1, Section 1F-1, Plan Sheets – General Information for this Project. 

2.0 Acquisition & Utility Submittal (20%) 

The CONSULTANT shall develop a plan submittal for utility, easements, and right-of-
way needs.  

The following specific design items are to be included: 

1. Pavement reconstruction/rehabilitation limits, profile and typical section 

2. Preliminary analysis of storm water system to ensure the corridor meets typical 
design standards including, but not limited to, intakes, storm pipes, and overland 
relief along with identification of any surface and parkway drainage concerns 

3. Preliminary roundabout layout 

4. Preliminary identification of property owner impacts: access, parkway grading, 
impacted landscaping, trees, mailboxes, driveway concerns, etc.  

5. Identification of utility conflicts 

6. Identification of easement and right-of-way needs  

2.1  Utility Coordination 

Utility coordination includes meetings with the utility company representatives 
during the preliminary and final design phases to identify conflicts, review of utility 
relocation plans prepared by the utility companies, and help facilitate a schedule with 
the CLIENT and utility companies to perform relocations prior to the PROJECT 
construction. 

228



Consultant  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Project No. 119.0263.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

 

A-12 
 

3.0 Preliminary Plans (60%) 

3.1 Preliminary Plan Preparation 

The CONSULTANT shall develop Preliminary Design Plans for an Iowa DOT Project 
letting. Upon completion, the design plans will be approximately 60% complete.  

The following specific design items are to be included:  

1. Layout of sidewalk, including ADA compliant sidewalk ramps  

2. Additional analysis of storm water system to ensure the corridor meets typical design 
standards including, but not limited to, intakes, storm pipes, and overland relief, 
along with identification of any surface and parkway drainage concerns. (is a drainage 
report needed for City review) 

3. Storm sewer system layout 

4. Water main adjustment (as necessary) 

5. Replacement of impacted sanitary sewer services 

6. Roundabout layout 

7. Corridor lighting improvements 

8. Refinement of property owner impacts: access, parkway grading, impacted 
landscaping, trees, mailboxes, driveway concerns, etc.  

9. Preliminary construction staging and detour 

10. Design Exceptions 

11. Anticipated regulatory permit needs (e.g. NPDES, DNR water and/or sewer 
construction permits) 

Preliminary Plans shall be completed to provide the CLIENT the level of detail 
necessary to evaluate and budget for ultimate Project improvement goals including 
pavement rehabilitation, ADA sidewalk ramp compliance, and an understanding of 
property owner impacts. 

3.2 Preliminary Opinion of Probable Construction Cost 

The CONSULTANT shall prepare a preliminary opinion of probable construction cost 
for the Project. Preliminary cost estimates shall be based on representative major 
Project elements and based on recent bid information. Detailed quantity takeoffs will 
not be developed for the preliminary cost estimate. 

3.3 Quality Control - Plan Set 

Involve ongoing quality control input from the Project Team and the CONSULTANT’s 
senior technical staff throughout the development of preliminary plans and 
documents for each Project segment. The CONSULTANT is responsible for making 
specific recommendations and ensuring that critical issues are discussed and 
resolved prior to submittal of the preliminary plan set to the PMT. 

229



Consultant  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Project No. 119.0263.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

 

A-13 
 

3.4 Field Exam 

A Field Exam will be held with the PMT to discuss key issues and design concepts, 
with the main emphasis focused on access control and traffic control/stage 
construction. The review will determine the completion of the plan design, identify 
needed adjustments to minimize potential property impact and confirm the 
proposed staging plans. Revisions will be noted for preparation of the final design. 

3.5 Deliverables 

1. Electronic set of 60% plans  

2. Cover sheet with designer and reviewer initials after completion of Quality Control 

3. Cost Opinion 

4.0 Check Plans (95%) 

After written authorization of approval from the CLIENT of the Preliminary Plans, the 
CONSULTANT shall proceed with the development of Check Plans. Upon completion, 
the design plans will be approximately 95% complete. It is assumed that no 
geometric revisions to the roadway design will occur after the start of the 
development of the Check Plans. Check Plans shall be completed in preparation of 
the letting.  

4.1 Incorporate Comments from Intermediate Plan Review 

The CONSULTANT will respond to comments resulting from the CLIENT’s plan review. 
Recommended modifications will be incorporated into the plan set.  

4.2 Opinion of Probable Construction Cost 

The CONSULTANT shall prepare an opinion of probable construction cost for the 
Project. The cost estimates shall be based on representative major Project elements 
and recent bid information.  

4.3 Quality Control Review 

Involve ongoing quality control input from the PMT and the CONSULTANT’s senior 
technical staff throughout the development of Check Plans and documents for each 
Project segment including roadway and traffic phasing. The CONSULTANT is 
responsible for making specific recommendations and ensuring that critical issues 
are discussed and resolved prior to submittal of the Check Plan set to the Project 
Team. Review the Check Plan set for technical accuracy, as well as for general 
constructability and conformance with the Project design criteria. 

4.4 Deliverables 

1. Electronic set of 95% plans 

2. Cover sheet with designer initials and reviewer initials after completion of Quality 
Control 

230



Consultant  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Project No. 119.0263.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

 

A-14 
 

3. Electronic copy of CLIENT 60% design comments 

4. Cost Opinion 

5. Special Provisions 

6. Notice of Intent and Public Notice for NPDES permit 

5.0 Print Documents 

After approval of the Check Plans by the CLIENT, the CONSULTANT shall proceed with the 
development of Final Plans for the Project. Upon completion, the design plans will be 
ready for Council approval and the DOT letting process.  

5.1 Incorporate Comments from Check Plan Review 

The CONSULTANT will respond to comments resulting from the Check Plan Review. 
Recommended modifications will be incorporated into the final plan set. 

5.2 Opinion of Probable Construction Cost 

The CONSULTANT shall prepare opinion of probable construction cost for the Project. 
Final cost opinion shall include all Project elements. Quantity takeoffs will be 
developed for the final cost estimate. Published cost opinion should be rounded to 
the nearest $10,000. 

5.3 Deliverables 

1.  Copies of Print Documents (Signed plans) 

2. Cost Opinion 

3.  Permit Applications 

TASK D - Assessments 

1.0 Assessment Services 

Assessments are not included with this scope of services. If such services are 
deemed necessary they should be added by a supplemental agreement.  

TASK E – DOT Letting Services 

1.0 Letting Services 

The work tasks to be performed or coordinated by the CONSULTANT during the Bid 
Period Services are based on a single DOT bid letting and shall include the following: 

1.1 Plan Clarification and Addenda 

The Consultant shall assist during the bid periods in responding to questions provided 
from the DOT regarding the design intent. The Consultant shall address questions 
presented by the CLIENT and/or DOT and prepare addendum. 

 

 

231



Consultant  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Project No. 119.0263.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

 

A-15 
 

1.2 Recommendation of Award 

The CONSULTANT shall review the bids for the Project following the letting and 
provide the CLIENT with recommendations of award regarding the construction 
contracts.  

TASK F – Construction Phase 

It is anticipated that the reconstruction of Cedar Heights Drive will occur over two 
construction seasons.  

1.0  Construction Administration 

1.1 Preconstruction Conference  

The CONSULTANT shall attend a pre-construction meeting scheduled and held by the 
CLIENT to review the contract requirements, details of construction, utility conflicts 
and work schedule prior to construction. The CONSULTANT shall be responsible for 
the meeting notices, facilitating the meeting, and meeting minutes.  

1.2 Contractor Payment Requests  

The CONSULTANT shall review the requests of the contractor for progress payments 
and shall approve a request, based on site observations, which recommends 
payments and is a declaration that the contractor's work has progressed to the point 
indicated. 

1.3 Notification of Nonconformance  

The CONSULTANT shall notify the CLIENT of any known work which does not 
generally conform to the construction contract, make recommendations to the 
CLIENT for the correction of nonconforming work and, at the request of the CLIENT, 
see that these recommendations are implemented by the contractor. 

1.4 Shop Drawings  

The CONSULTANT shall review shop drawings and other submissions of the 
Contractor for general compliance with the construction contract. 

1.5 Change Orders  

The CONSULTANT shall negotiate and prepare change orders for approval by the 
CLIENT. 

1.6 Pre-Pour Meeting  

The CONSULTANT shall schedule and coordinate pre-pour meeting/s to review 
project. 

 

 

 

232



Consultant  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Project No. 119.0263.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

 

A-16 
 

1.7 General Coordination 

The CONSULTANT shall assist with property owner coordination, assist with 
organizing and scheduling as well as attend bi-weekly construction meetings, and 
provide monthly project updates for the City’s website as requested by the CLIENT. 

1.8 Spring 2021 Kickoff Meeting 

The CONSULTANT shall schedule and coordinate a spring 2021 construction kickoff 
meeting following winter shutdown. This meeting shall take place prior to 
construction beginning in the spring. Schedules and remaining construction activities 
shall be discussed.  

1.9 Substantially Complete and Final Site Observation  

The CONSULTANT shall perform a site observation to determine if the Project is 
substantially complete according to the plans and specifications and make a 
recommendation on final payment. This shall include the development of a punch 
list of items to be completed by the contractor for completion along with subsequent 
site review and correspondence.  

1.10 Completion Period  

If the Contractor does not meet the completion period requirements, or if change 
orders or Project additions require additional construction time, the CONSULTANT 
will be compensated for any additional administration, construction observation and 
staking services when authorized by the CLIENT. 

1.11 Final Acceptance  

It is understood that the CLIENT will accept any portion of a Project only after 
recommendation by the CONSULTANT. Final acceptance of a Project by the CLIENT 
shall not release the Contractor from responsibility that the work is free of defects in 
materials and workmanship. 

1.12 Record Drawings 

The CONSULTANT shall furnish reproducible record drawings for the PROJECT 
according to CLIENT requirements. Such record drawings may contain a waiver of 
liability phrase in regard to unknown changes made by the Contractor without 
CLIENT/CONSULTANT approval. 

The record drawings will include new water main fittings and valve locations and 
elevations, new storm sewer pipe flowline elevations and slopes, and new sanitary 
sewer main flowline elevations and slopes. 

1.13 Assessment Documentation  

No assessment documentation is anticipated. If it is needed it should be added to the 
scope of services by a supplemental agreement.  

 

233



Consultant  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Project No. 119.0263.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

 

A-17 
 

2.0  Construction Staking 

The CONSULTANT shall be responsible for providing construction staking for the Project. 
The construction documents will contain a provision that the CONSULTANT will provide 
one set of stakes for each construction operation of the Project. Any staking that is 
destroyed due to construction will be replaced at the Contractor's expense. 

2.1 Reestablishment of Monuments  

After completion of construction, the CONSULTANT shall perform field survey as 
required to verify which monuments found during the original survey and identified 
in the construction plans, if any, were disturbed or removed during construction. All 
disturbed or missing monuments shall be reset at their original location and a 
Monumentation Preservation Certificate in accordance with Iowa Code Section 
355.6A shall be prepared and filed with the Black Hawk County Recorder. 

3.0 Construction Observation 

The CONSULTANT will provide periodic site observation for the Project during the 
Construction Phase. The time spent on site is dependent upon the Contractor’s schedule, 
rate of progress, and type of work. It is estimated that fulltime observation services will 
be provided. If a Contractor requests a waiver of any provisions of the plans and 
specifications, the CONSULTANT will make a recommendation to the CLIENT on the 
request. The CONSULTANT will give guidance to the Project during the construction 
period, including the following: 

3.1 Observation 

 Observation of the work for general compliance with plans and specifications. 

3.2 Record/Log 

Keep a record of Contractor's activities throughout construction, including notation 
on the nature and cost of any extra work or changes ordered during construction. 

3.3 Resident Construction Services  

Provide the Owner with representation at the job site during the Construction Phase 
of the Project, which results in an increase in the probability that the Project will be 
constructed in substantial compliance with the plans and specifications. However, 
such Resident Services do not guarantee the Contractor's performance. Nor do such 
Resident Services include responsibility for construction means, techniques, 
procedures or safety used in constructing the work described in this agreement. 

3.4 Testing/Monitoring 

The CONSULTANT will coordinate the acceptance testing and monitoring according 
to the specifications, including the services provided by an independent testing 
laboratory. Testing services by an independent laboratory may be performed on 
behalf of the CONSULTANT and included with subsequent invoices. The 
CONSULTANT shall provide PCC air, slump testing and strength (if maturity is not 

234



Consultant  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Project No. 119.0263.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

 

A-18 
 

utilized), certified plant monitoring, and aggregate testing. It is anticipated that the 
Contractor will be responsible for compaction, moisture and density, and special 
compaction testing. 

WORK SCHEDULE 

This PROJECT, from design through the project letting period, shall be performed by the 
CONSULTANT in accordance with a schedule mutually developed by the CLIENT and the 
CONSULTANT. The milestone schedule shall generally be as follows and could be modified 
as the project progresses: 

 Notice to Proceed      April 2, 2019 
 Kick-off PMT Meeting      March 29, 2019 
 Topo and Boundary Survey   May 15, 2019 
 Preliminary Design Completion    August 16, 2019 
 Check Plan Completion     November 20, 2019 
 Council Meeting & Hearing Date   February 3, 2020 
 Bid Letting      February 11, 2020 
 Commence Construction (Early Start)    September 3, 2019 
 Complete Construction    Summer 2021 
 Project Closeout     Fall 2021 

COMPENSATION AND TERMS OF PAYMENT 

The CLIENT shall pay the CONSULTANT in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 
Agreement. Fees will be on the basis of the then current hourly rates and fixed expenses 
(current CONSULTANT Fee Schedule is included). Total fees shall not exceed the following 
unless Additional Services are added by a written change order, amendment, or 
supplemental agreement signed by both parties. The table below provides an estimated 
budget summary.  

Estimated Budget Summary 

The estimated budgets for each task listed below could vary. The 
total not to exceed project cost shall be the total listed below. 

Tasks Base 
Project Administration $                            46,900 

Survey, Field & Geotechnical Services  $                            62,507 

Environmental Services $                            21,193 

Acquisition & Utility Submittal $                            60,800 

Preliminary Plans $                            78,600 

Utility Coordination $                              9,000 

ROW Acquisition $                            40,000 

Check Plans  $                            89,500 

Print Documents $                              8,800 

Letting Services $                              7,500 

Construction Services  To be added at a later date  

Total:  $                         424,800 

235



Consultant  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Project No. 119.0263.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

 

A-19 
 

 

 

SNYDER & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
2019-20 

STANDARD FEE SCHEDULE 
 
 

 

Billing Classification/Level 
 

Billing Rate 

Professional 

Engineer, Landscape Architect, Land Surveyor, GIS, Environmental Scientist 
Project Manager, Planner, Right-of-Way, Graphic Designer 

Principal II $208.00 /hour 

Principal I $197.00 /hour 

Senior $177.00 /hour 

VIII $163.00 /hour 

VII $155.00 /hour 

VI $148.00 /hour 

V $138.00 /hour 

IV $128.00 /hour 

III $116.00 /hour 

II $106.00 /hour 

I $93.00 /hour 

Technical 

Technicians--CADD, Survey, Construction Observation 

Lead $125.00 /hour 

Senior $119.00 /hour 

VIII $111.00 /hour 

VII $103.00 /hour 

VI $92.00 /hour 

V $82.00 /hour 

IV $76.00 /hour 

III $64.00 /hour 

II $56.00 /hour 

I $48.00 /hour 

Administrative 

II $64.00 /hour 

I $52.00 /hour 

Reimbursables 

Mileage Current IRS standard rate 

Outside Services As Invoiced 

 

236



    

Exhibit B 
 

Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number RC-000-3171 
 

  03-27-2019 
 

    INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR  
CONSULTANTS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

 
*** This document outlines the insurance requirements for all Contractors who 
perform work for the City of Cedar Falls. The term “contractor” as used in this 
document shall be defined as the general contractor, artisan contractor, or design 
contractor that will be performing work for the City of Cedar Falls under contract. 
 
 
1.  All policies of insurance required hereunder shall be with an insurer 
authorized by law to do business in Iowa.  All insurance policies shall be 
companies satisfactory to the City and have a rating of A-, VII or better in the 
current A.M. Best Rating Guide.   
 
2. All Certificates of Insurance required hereunder shall include the 
Cancellation & Material Change Endorsement.  A copy of this endorsement is 
attached in Exhibit 1. 
 
3.  Contractor shall furnish a signed Certificate of Insurance to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa for the coverage required in Exhibit 1.  Such Certificates shall 
include copies of the following endorsements: 
 

a) Commercial General Liability policy is primary and non-contributing 
b) Commercial General Liability additional insured endorsement – See 

Exhibit 1 
c) Governmental Immunities Endorsement – See Exhibit 1 

 
Copies of additional insured endorsements, executed by an authorized 
representative from an Insurer duly authorized to transact business at the 
location of the jobsite, must be provided prior to the first payment.    
 
Contractor shall, upon request by the City, provide Certificates of Insurance for 
all subcontractors and sub-sub contractors who perform work or services 
pursuant to the provisions of this contract. 
 
4. Each certificate shall be submitted to the City of Cedar Falls. 
 

237



 
Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 
5. Failure to provide minimum coverage shall not be deemed a waiver of 
these requirements by the City of Cedar Falls. Failure to obtain or maintain the 
required insurance shall be considered a material breach of this agreement.   
 
6. Failure of the Contractor to maintain the required insurance shall 
constitute a default under this Contract, and at City’s option, shall allow City to 
terminate this Contract for cause and/or purchase said insurance at Contractor’s 
expense. 
 
7. Contractor shall be required to carry the following minimum 
coverage/limits or greater, if required by law or other legal agreement; as per 
Exhibit 1: 
 
 This coverage shall be written on an occurrence, not claims made form. 

All deviations or exclusions from the standard ISO commercial general 
liability form CG 001 shall be clearly identified and shall be subject to the 
review and approval of the City.  

 
 Contractor shall maintain ongoing CGL coverage for at least 2 years 

following substantial completion of the Work to cover liability arising from 
the products-completed operations hazard and liability assumed under an 
insured contract.    

 
 Governmental Immunity endorsement identical or equivalent to form 

attached. 
 
 Additional Insured Requirement – See Exhibit 1. 

The City of Cedar Falls, including all its elected and appointed officials, all 
its employees, its boards, commissions and/or authorities and their board 
members, employees shall be named as an additional insured on General 
Liability Policies for all classes of contractors. 
 
Contractors shall include coverage for the City of Cedar Falls as an 
additional insured including ongoing and completed operations coverage 
equivalent to: ISO CG 20 10 07 04* and ISO CG 20 37 07 04** 
 

*  ISO CG 20 10 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or 
Contractors – Scheduled Person or Organization” 

  
 ** ISO CG 20 37 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or 

Contractors – Completed Operations”  
 
 
 
 

238



 
Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 
8. Errors & Omissions:  If the contract’s scope of services includes design 
work or other professional services, then Contractor shall maintain insurance 
coverage for errors, omissions and other negligent acts or omissions (except for 
intentional acts or omissions), arising out of the professional services performed 
by Contractor. Contractor shall maintain continuous Errors & Omissions 
coverage for a period commencing no later than the date of the contract, and 
continuing for a period of no less than 2 years from the date of completion of all 
work completed or services performed under the contract.  The limit of liability 
shall not be less than $1,000,000. 
 
9. Separation of Insured’s Provision: If Contractor’s liability policies do not 
contain the standard ISO separation of insured’s provision, or a substantially 
similar clause, they shall be endorsed to provide cross-liability coverage. 
 
10. Limits: By requiring the insurance as set out in this Contract, City does not 
represent that coverage and limits will necessarily be adequate to protect 
Contractor and such coverage and limits shall not be deemed as a limitation on 
Contractor’s liability under the indemnities provided to City in this Contract.  The 
City will have the right at any time to require liability insurance greater than that 
otherwise specified in Exhibit 1. If required, the additional premium or premiums 
payable shall be added to the bid price. 
 
11. Indemnification (Hold Harmless) Provision:  To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, the Contractor agrees to defend (for all non-professional claims), 
indemnify, and hold harmless the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and 
appointed officials, directors, employees, and agents working on behalf of the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa against any and all claims, demands, suits or loss, 
including any and all outlay and expense connected therewith, and for damages 
which may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, directors, employees, and agents 
working on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including, but not limited to, 
damages arising by reason of personal injury, including bodily injury or death, 
and property damages, which arises out of or is in any way connected or 
associated with the work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa pursuant to the provisions of this contract to the extent arising 
out of the errors, omissions or negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, 
employees, subcontractors or others working on behalf of the Contractor.  It is 
the intention of the parties that the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and 
appointed officials, directors, employees, and agents working on behalf of the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall not be liable or in any way responsible for the 
injury, damage, liability, loss or expense incurred by the Contractor, its officers, 
employees, subcontractors, and others affiliated with the Contractor due to 
accidents, mishaps, misconduct, negligence or injuries either in person or 
property resulting from the work and/or services performed by the Contractor 
pursuant to the provisions of this contract, except for and to the extent caused by 
the negligence of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.   

239



 
Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 
The Contractor expressly assumes full responsibility for damages or injuries 
which may result to any person or property by reason of or in connection with the 
work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
pursuant to this contract to the extent arising out of the errors, omissions or 
negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, employees, subcontractors or others 
working on behalf of the Contractor, and agrees to pay the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa for all damages caused to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa premises resulting 
from the work and/or services of the Contractor, its officers, employees, 
subcontractors, and others affiliated with the Contractor to the extent arising out 
of such errors, omissions or negligent acts. 
 
The Contractor represents that its activities pursuant to the provisions of this 
contract will be performed and supervised by adequately trained and qualified 
personnel, and the Contractor will observe, and cause its officers, employees, 
subcontractors and others affiliated with the Contractor to observe all applicable 
safety rules. 
 
12. Waiver of Subrogation: To the extent permitted by law, Contractor hereby 
releases the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, its 
directors, employees, and agents working on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, from and against any and all liability or responsibility to the Contractor or 
anyone claiming through or under the Contractor by way of subrogation or 
otherwise, for any loss or damage to property caused by fire or any other 
casualty and for any loss due to bodily injury to Contractor’s employees. This 
provision shall be applicable and in full force and effect only with respect to loss 
or damage occurring during the time of this contract or arising out of the work 
performed under this contract. The Contractor’s policies of insurance (except for 
Professional Liability) shall contain a clause or endorsement to the effect that 
such release shall not adversely affect or impair such policies or prejudice the 
right of the Contractor to recover thereunder. 
 
 
Completion Checklist 
 

 Certificate of Liability Insurance (2 pages) 
 Additional Insured CG 20 10 07 04 
 Additional Insured CG 20 37 07 04 
 Governmental Immunities Endorsement 

 
 
 
  

240



 
Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

EXHIBIT 1 – INSURANCE SCHEDULE 
 
 
General Liability (Occurrence Form Only): 
 Commercial General Liability 
  General Aggregate  $2,000,000 
  Products-Completed Operations Aggregate Limit $2,000,000 
  Personal and Advertising Injury Limit $1,000,000 
  Each Occurrence Limit  $1,000,000 
  Fire Damage Limit (any one occurrence) $     50,000 
  Medical Payments  $       5,000 
  
 
Automobile: (Combined Single Limit)     
$1,000,000
 
 
 
      
             
 
 
 
   
If the Contractor does not own any vehicles, coverage is required on non-owned 
and hired vehicles. 
 
 
Standard Workers Compensation  
 Statutory for Coverage A 
 Employers Liability:  
 Each Accident $  500,000 
 Each Employee – Disease $  500,000 
 Policy Limit – Disease $  500,000 
 
 
Umbrella:  $3,000,000 
The Umbrella/Excess Insurance shall be written on a per occurrence basis and if 
the Umbrella/Excess is not written on a follow form basis it shall have the same 
endorsements as required of the primary policy(ies). 
 
 
Errors & Omissions: $1,000,000 
 

 
  

241



 
Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT 

 
The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all 
its employees, its boards, commissions and/or authorities and their board 
members, employees, are included as Additional Insureds, including ongoing 
operations CG 2010 07 04 or equivalent, and completed operations CG 2037 07 
04 or equivalent. See Specimens. 
 
This coverage shall be primary to the Additional Insureds, and not contributing 
with any other insurance or similar protection available to the Additional Insureds, 
whether other available coverage be primary, contributing or excess. 

 
 
 

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT 
(For use when including the City as an Additional Insured) 

 
1. Nonwaiver of Government Immunity. The insurance carrier expressly 
agrees and states that the purchase of this policy and the including of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa as an Additional Insured does not waive any of the defenses of 
governmental immunity available to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under Code of 
Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
2. Claims Coverage. The insurance carrier further agrees that this policy of 
insurance shall cover only those claims not subject to the defense of 
governmental immunity under the Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists 
and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
3. Assertion of Government Immunity. The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall be 
responsible for asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do so 
at any time and shall do so upon the timely written request of the insurance 
carrier. Nothing contained in this endorsement shall prevent the carrier from 
asserting the defense of governmental immunity on behalf of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa. 
 
4. Non-Denial of Coverage. The insurance carrier shall not deny coverage 
under this policy and the insurance carrier shall not deny any of the rights and 
benefits accruing to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under this policy for reasons of 
governmental immunity unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction has 
ruled in favor of the defense(s) of governmental immunity asserted by the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
5. No Other Change in Policy. The insurance carrier and the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa agree that the above preservation of governmental immunities shall 
not otherwise change or alter the coverage available under the policy. 

242



 
Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 
  

 

243



 
Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 
  

244



 
Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 
 

245



 
Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 
 

246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



257



258



259



260



261



262



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)
© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

37885

09/24/18DPR9932456

201 First Street SE, Suite 700

Paula Dixon

USA

A 30 day notice of cancellation endorsement is included on the policies noted above.
Project: 119.0263.08. Cedar Falls project number is RC-000-3171.

800-527-9049

09/24/19

220 Clay Street

Cedar Rapids, IA 52401

1-800-300-0325

Ankeny, IA 50023
P.O. Box 1159
2727 Southwest Snyder Blvd

Snyder & Associates, Inc.

Cedar Falls, IA 50613

Claims Made

Professional Liability

Aggregate

Per Claim

Holmes Murphy & Assoc - CR

XL SPECIALTY INS CO

rjustcr

4,000,000

2,000,000

55614380

55614380

03/13/2019

City of Cedar Falls

A

263



 

Consultant  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Project No. 119.0263.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

 

    

Exhibit C 
 

Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number: RC-000-3171  
 

  2/9/12 
 

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN 
CONTRACTORS WHO PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS 
 

 This document outlines the Standard Terms and Conditions for all Contractors 
who perform work or services for the City of Cedar Falls under a contract.  The term, 
“Contractor,” as used in this document, includes an engineer, an architect, and any other 
design professional providing professional services to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
under a contract (but excludes construction contractors). 
 
 1. This Contract may not be modified or amended except by a writing signed 
by an authorized representative of the City of Cedar Falls and of the Contractor. 
 
 2. Time is of the essence of this Contract. 
 
 3. Contractor shall be an independent contractor with respect to the services 
to be performed under this Contract.  Neither Contractor nor its subcontractors, agents, 
or employees, shall be deemed to be employees or agents of the City. 
 
 4. Contractor shall perform all duties in accordance with all applicable 
federal, state and local laws and regulations. 
 
 5. If Contractor breaches this Contract, the City shall have all remedies 
available to it at law or in equity. 
 
 6. Severability.  If any provision of this Contract is declared invalid, illegal, or 
incapable of being enforced by any court of competent jurisdiction, all of the remaining 
provisions of this Contract shall nevertheless continue in full force and effect, and no 
provision shall be deemed dependent upon any other provision unless so expressed 
herein. 
 
 7. Assignment.  Contractor may not assign this Contract or any of its rights 
or obligations hereunder, without the prior written consent of the City, which consent 
may be withheld in the sole and absolute discretion of the City. 
 
 8. Survival of Obligations.  All obligations and duties which by their nature 
extend beyond the term of this Contract shall survive the expiration or termination of this 
Contract. 
 

264



 

Consultant  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Project No. 119.0263.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

 

 9. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Venue and Trial.  This Contract shall be 
construed in accordance with, and all disputes hereunder shall be governed by, the laws 
of the State of Iowa, excluding its conflicts of law rules.  The parties hereto agree that 
the exclusive jurisdiction and venue shall be in the Iowa District Court for Black Hawk 
County, and in no other jurisdiction or location, and shall not be removed to federal 
court.  The parties hereby agree to waive the right to trial by jury and agree to submit all 
disputes to a trial by judge alone.  The parties agree that no disputes under this Contract 
shall be submitted to binding arbitration, but may be submitted to mediation by mutual 
consent of both parties. 
 
 10. Any failure of Contractor to comply with the Insurance Requirements for 
Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls set forth on Attachment A, shall constitute a 
default under this Contract. 
 
 11. Attorneys’ Fees.  In the event of litigation, the City shall under no 
circumstances be obligated for payment of any attorneys’ fees of Contractor or any other 
party, arising out of such litigation. 
 
 12. Payment.  Payment of Contractor’s invoices shall be due no sooner than 
thirty (30) days from the date of invoice.  In the event any invoices are not paid within 
thirty (30) days, the City shall pay interest thereon at the rate provided for by 
Section 668.13(3), Code of Iowa, computed monthly. 
 
 13. The City shall not be obligated to maintain confidentiality of Contractor 
documents or records that are furnished to the City if such documents are public records 
under the Iowa Open Records Law, Chapter 22, Code of Iowa, and the City shall have 
no responsibility to Contractor for disclosure of such records. 
 
 14. Under no circumstances shall the City waive any damages against the 
Contractor or any other party arising out of any breach of this Contract, whether 
consequential, indirect, special, or punitive damages. 
 
 15. Under no circumstances shall the Contractor’s liability to the City be 
limited to any specific amount or sum, whether that amount is the compensation paid by 
the City to the Contractor under this Contract, or the dollar amount of coverage provided 
for in the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, Attachment 
A. 
 
 16. No waiver of the City’s subrogation rights against the Contractor or any 
other party shall conflict with the provisions of the City Insurance Requirements, 
Attachment A. 
 
 17. Limitations Period.  There shall be no limitation, except as provided for by 
Iowa law, on the period of time within which the City may make any claim against the 
Contractor or other party under the provisions of this Contract. 
 
 18. This Contract shall not be binding on the City unless and until approved 
by the City Council of the City at a duly constituted meeting, and signed by the Mayor 
and City Clerk of the City. 
 

265



 

Consultant  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Project No. 119.0263.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

 

 19. Warranties.  Contractor represents and warrants that all services 
furnished to the City under this Contract shall be furnished in a skilled and workmanlike 
manner, in accordance with the degree of skill and care that is required by current, good 
and sound practices applicable to the Contractor’s industry or profession, and as 
otherwise required by applicable law. 
 
 20. Force Majeure.  Neither party to this Contract shall be liable to the other 
party for delays in performing the services, or for the direct or indirect cost resulting from 
such delays, that may result from acts of God, acts of governmental authorities, 
extraordinary weather conditions or other natural catastrophes, or any other cause 
beyond the reasonable control or contemplation of either party.  Each party will take 
reasonable steps to mitigate the impact of any force majeure. 

266



 

Consultant  Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Project No. 119.0263.08  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

 

    

Exhibit D 
 

Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number: RC-000-3171  
 

   
 

See the next page for an Exhibit with the approximate project limits.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

267



268



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council  

 FROM: Iris Lehmann, Planner II 

 DATE: April 10, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Rental to Single Family Owner Conversion Incentive Program: 1026 W 8th St. 
 
The Rental to Single Family Owner Conversion Incentive Program was adopted by City 
Council on December 21, 2015.  The program offers a Forgivable Loan of up to $10,000 for 
exterior improvements to a residential rental property being purchased and converted to a 
single family owner occupied residence.  The goal is to improve and positively impact 
neighborhood character and encourage private improvements to rental properties converting to 
owner occupied. The concept of the Rental to Single Family Owner Conversion Incentive 
Program was developed initially through the City established Rental Task Force. 
 
Callie Osborn purchased 1026 W 8th Street in December 2018. The new owner has submitted 
an application, attached, to be considered for the Rental to Single Family Owner Conversion 
Incentive Program. The property meets the requirements for the program: has been a rental for 
at least the past three years (since 2005), is located in the R-2 zoning district, falls within the 
program’s geographical boundaries, and is in a block with less than 75% rentals.  
 
Callie Osborn is proposing to reside the property and install new windows. Based on the 
submitted bids by QUEGG, the actual cost of the improvement listed is $11,700.  
 
The Community Development Department recommends adopting a resolution approving this 
property for a forgivable loan of up to $10,000 with the placement of a lien on the property for 
which 20% will be forgiven each year for five years with prorated payback if sold prior to the 
end of five years. Half of the forgivable loan will be paid upon City Council approval with the 
balance paid upon completion of the improvements, inspections by the City of the 
improvements, and verification of the actual costs of the improvements. This approval is 
subject to the property passing a major system evaluation (city inspection). 
 
If you have any questions, please contact the Community Development Department. 
 
Xc:  Stephanie Sheetz, Community Development Director 
       Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 

269



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
This instrument was drafted by:  Iris Lehmann, Community Development Department, 
City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA  50613, Phone:  319-268-5185. 

 
 

LIEN NOTICE AND SPECIAL PROMISSORY NOTE 
 

 
Account No. 101-2245-44-89.79 Amount  $ 10,000.00 

 
Date:    

 
RE: Property located at: 1026 W 8th Street 

and legally described as LINCOLN PARK N 75 FT LOT 7 BLK 2 
 

 
(hereinafter the “Rehabilitated Property”). 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, has advanced certain sums to the following owner or 
owners: Callie Osborn (hereinafter referred to as “Owner”), under the a Rental to Owner 
Conversion Program, which Program requires that an encumbrance be placed upon the above-
described Property, upon the terms and conditions set forth below.  
 
IT IS AGREED by the Owner as follows: 
 
FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned Owner, jointly and severally promises to pay to the 
order of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, or its successors or assigns (hereinafter the “City”), the 
sum of ten thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($10,000.00) (hereinafter the “Loan”), as follows: 
 

A. If the Property is sold or transferred within twelve (12) months of the date of this 
agreement, one hundred (100) percent of the Loan shall become due and 
payable to the City; 

 
B. If the Rehabilitated Property is sold or transferred any time between the 13th and 

24th month from the date of this agreement, eighty (80) percent of the Loan shall 
become due and payable to the City; 

 
C. If the Rehabilitated Property is sold or transferred any time between the 25th and 

36th month from the date of this agreement, sixty (60) percent of the Loan shall 
become due and payable to the City: 

 
D. If the Rehabilitated Property is sold or transferred any time between the 37th and 

48th month from the date of this agreement, forty (40) percent of the Loan shall 
become due and payable to the City: 

 
 

270



E. If the Rehabilitated Property is sold or transferred any time between the 49th and 
60th month from the date of this agreement, twenty (20) percent of the Loan shall 
become due and payable to the City: 

 
F. After the sixtieth (60) month from the date of this instrument, the entire amount of 

the Loan is forgiven and no money will be due and payable to the City; 
 
G. Owner shall own and occupy the Property as the Owner’s principal residence at 

all times during the sixty (60) month period described herein. In the event the 
Owner fails to occupy the Rehabilitated Property as the Owner’s principal 
residence for any period of two (2) consecutive months, for any reason, or sells, 
transfers, rents, abandons, vacates or otherwise in any manner fails to occupy 
the Property, whether voluntarily or involuntarily, prior to the termination of the 
sixty (60) month period described herein, Owner shall immediately notify the City 
thereof. If during said sixty (60) month period, Owner shall violate the foregoing 
requirements, Owner shall immediately pay to the City the percentage of the 
unforgiven principal amount of the Loan, based upon the foregoing schedule, for 
the period between the date of this agreement and the date Owner fails to meet 
the foregoing requirements. 

 
H. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph G. above, if the failure of Owner to 

comply with the requirements of paragraph G. is due to medical circumstances 
beyond the reasonable control of Owner as defined in this paragraph, the entire 
amount of the Loan shall be forgiven, and no money will be due and payable to 
the City. For purposes of this agreement, “medical circumstances beyond the 
reasonable control of the Owner” shall include, without limitation, the death of the 
Owner, and the relocation of the Owner if prescribed by a medical doctor for 
health or disability reasons, with said relocation being to another climate, to a 
nursing or other care facility, or to an apartment or other facility, if deemed by 
Owner’s medical doctor as more suitable for the health and care of the Owner. 

 
 
   

   
Callie Osborn   

OWNER  OWNER 
   

 
 
STATE OF IOWA  ) 
    ) ss: 
COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 
 
This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ___ day of ________, 2019, by Callie 
Osborn. 
 
 
      _________________________________________ 
      Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

271



272



273



274



275



276



277



278



279



 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls  
220 Clay Street  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613   
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

Administration Division  Planning & Community Services Division 
Phone: 319-273-8600  Fax: 319-273-8610 

 

Engineering Division  Inspection Services Division 
Phone: 319-268-5161  Fax: 319-268-5197 

 

Water Reclamation Division 

Phone: 319-273-8633  Fax: 319-273-8610 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

             TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Iris Lehmann, Planner II 
 
 DATE: April 12, 2019  
 
 SUBJECT: Cedar Falls Wild Historic District Nomination 
  
     
The City Council approved an application to the State Historic Preservation Office on 
August 21st, 2017 requesting a Certified Local Government (CLG) grant to hire a 
professional to prepare a nomination of the Wild Historic District to the National Register 
of Historic Places. The application was submitted by the Historic Preservation 
Commission in partnership with community volunteers and City staff. The State 
approved the grant request. With the approval of City Council, the City entered into a 
CLG Project Agreement on January 15th, 2018 and a consultant was hired. The City’s 
contribution to the project is through staff time which can be part of the required match. 
Additional matching funds will be covered by in-kind time from volunteers and 
Commission members. 
 
The proposed Wild Historic District is comprised of 423, 501, and 509 W 1st Street. 
These three homes were determined by an IDOT Environmental Report to be eligible to 
the National Register because of their connection to Daniel and Margaret Wild. If the 
nomination is successful, this would be the first recognized residential historic district in 
the City of Cedar Falls. The designation would also provide the opportunity for property 
owners within the district to apply for tax credits for rehabilitation projects. 
 
The process of nominating a district involves research and compiling a Federally-
compliant proposal.  Once the proposal is done, public meetings are required in order 
for it to proceed, including at least one Open House. The nomination is also reviewed 
and approved by the Historic Preservation Commission. Following the Historic 
Preservation Commission’s approval, the completed proposal must be submitted to City 
Council for consideration. At that point the nomination moves on for additional State and 
Federal reviews.   
 
An Open House for the nomination was held on April 11, 2019 at the Cedar Falls 

280



Community Center. The property owners of the three homes voiced their support for the 
project. At the Historic Preservation Commission meeting on April 10, 2019 the 
Commission reviewed the nomination for the Wild Historic District Nomination to the 
National Register of Historic Places.  The Iowa Department of Cultural Affairs requires 
approval from the Historic Preservation Commission as well as the signature of our 
chief local elected official before they can consider the registration. Attached for your 
review is the registration form for the potential district. 
 
The main question that was considered was whether the nominated district meets the 
National Register of Historic Places criteria for the significance of integrity. It was found 
that the district meets Criterion A (Historic Events). Upon review, the Historic 
Preservation Commission unanimously recommended approval of the Cedar Falls Wild 
Historic District nomination subject to the Open House. 
 
Below is a map showing the proposed boundaries of the historic district. 
 

 
 
The Community Development Department recommends that City Council adopt the 
following: 
 

1. Resolution approving the Cedar Falls Wild Historic District National Register 
Nomination. 

 
Please feel free to contact the Community Development Department if you have any 
questions.  
 
XC: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director 
 Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 
 Julie Etheredge, Chair, Historic Preservation Commission       

   

281



282



NPS Form 10-900                                                                                                                               OMB No. 1024-0018 
                 

 Sections 1 – 4 page 1  

United States Department of the Interior 

National Park Service 
 

National Register of Historic Places 
Registration Form 
 

This form is for use in nominating or requesting determinations for individual properties and districts.  See instructions in National Register Bulletin, How 
to Complete the National Register of Historic Places Registration Form.  If any item does not apply to the property being documented, enter "N/A" for 
"not applicable."  For functions, architectural classification, materials, and areas of significance, enter only categories and subcategories from the 
instructions.  Place additional certification comments, entries, and narrative items on continuation sheets if needed (NPS Form 10-900a).   
 

1.  Name of Property 

historic name   Wild Historic District 

other names/site number    

Name of Multiple Property Listing  N/A 
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing) 

2.  Location 

street & number   423, 501 & 509 W. 1st Street   not for publication 

city or town   Cedar Falls   vicinity 

state  Iowa     county  Black Hawk  zip code  50613 

3. State/Federal Agency Certification  
 

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended,  

I hereby certify that this    X    nomination       request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards 
for registering properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional 
requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.  

In my opinion, the property   X    meets       does not meet the National Register Criteria.  I recommend that this property 

be considered significant at the following level(s) of significance:          national           statewide        X    local  

Applicable National Register Criteria:    X     A            B           C           D         
 

    
Signature of certifying official/Title: Deputy State Historic Preservation Officer                     Date 

State Historical Society of Iowa  
State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government 

In my opinion, the property        meets        does not meet the National Register criteria.   

    
Signature of commenting official                                                                        Date 
 

    
Title                                                                                                  State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government 
 

4.  National Park Service Certification  

I hereby certify that this property is:   

 

       entered in the National Register                                                                 determined eligible for the National Register             
           

       determined not eligible for the National Register                                        removed from the National Register  
    

       other (explain:)                                                                                                 
                                                                                                                      

   

  Signature of the Keeper                                                                                                         Date of Action  

 

 

283



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

                  

 

Section 7 page 2 
 

5.  Classification  
 

Ownership of Property 
(Check as many boxes as apply.) 

Category of Property 
(Check only one box.) 

Number of Resources within Property 
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count.) 
 

    Contributing Noncontributing  

X private  building(s) 2 1 buildings 

 public - Local X district   site 

 public - State  site   structure 

 public - Federal  structure 0 0 object 

   object 2 1 Total 

 
 
 

Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register: 2 
  

 
  

6. Function or Use                                                                      

Historic Functions 

(Enter categories from instructions.)  

Current Functions 

(Enter categories from instructions.) 

DOMESTIC/single dwelling  DOMESTIC/single dwelling 

  DOMESTIC/secondary structure 

   

   

   

   

   
 
   
 

7. Description 

Architectural Classification 

(Enter categories from instructions.) 
 Materials  

(Enter categories from instructions.) 

LATE VICTORIAN/Queen Anne  foundation: STONE 

Other: hipped cottage  walls: WOOD/Weatherboard 

Other: hipped with cross gables   BRICK 

  roof: ASPHALT 

  other: STUCCO 

   WOOD/Shingle 
 
 
  

284



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 

Section 7 page 3 
 

Narrative Description 

Summary Paragraph (Briefly describe the current, general characteristics of the property, such as its location, type, style, method of 
construction, setting, size, and significant features. Indicate whether the property has historic integrity.) 

 
The Wild Historic District includes three houses set on the north side of W. 1st Street, in the City of Cedar 
Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa. The houses face W. 1st Street, with their lots rising slightly from street level 
and stay fairly level around the houses before steeply sloping toward the railroad tracks and the Cedar River 
to the north. All three houses were built in the 1880s-1890s by Daniel Wild for his own home and those of 
some of his children, who lived in these homes at different times. The house at 423 W. 1st Street is a two-
story, vernacular cross-gabled house with stylistic influence from the Late Victorian Queen Anne. This house 
was built circa 1891. The house at 501 W. 1st Street is individually listed in the National Register of Historic 
Places (NRHP) and is an elaborate, high-style example of the Queen Anne style. This house was built in 1895 
by Daniel and Margaret Wild to replace their older home on this lot. The third house at 509 W. 1st Street is a 
one-story hipped cottage, much smaller than the other two houses, that was built circa 1888. It is of frame 
construction with a brick veneer whereas the other two houses are of frame construction. All three houses 
have stone foundations, with the brick cottage having been coated in stucco on the exterior after the 1920s. 
Each of these three houses are contributing buildings to the Wild Historic District, which encompasses four 
city lots, three where the houses were built and the fourth being a street extension that once existed between 
423 and 501 W. 1st Street and is now the shared driveway between the two houses. The house at 501 W. 1st 
Street retains a very high degree of historic integrity and is the anchor building of this district. The houses at 
423 and 509 W. 1st Street retain fair to good historic integrity.  
___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Narrative Description (Describe the historic and current physical appearance and condition of the property.  Describe contributing and 
noncontributing resources if applicable.) 
 
(Iowa SHPO Additional Instructions: After the main Narrative Description, discuss any physical alterations since the period of significance under 
the subheading Alterations, and the seven aspects of integrity as it applies to the resource in a Statement of Integrity with each aspect discussed in 
its own paragraph.)   

 

The Wild Historic District encompasses three residential properties on the north side of W. 1st Street in the 
northeast part of the City of Cedar Falls in Black Hawk County, Iowa (Figure 1). Cedar Falls is located along 
the south bank of the Cedar River, which anchored the city’s early industrial development.1 Cedar Falls is just 
upriver from the other early industrial center in the county--Waterloo (see Figure 1). The three houses of the 
Wild Historic District are located just south of the Cedar River, separated from the river by the berm of the 
Illinois Central Railroad and a small creek (Figure 2). A scenic river and wooded vista can be seen behind the 
houses, overlooking the river, marina, and several city parks (Figure 3). To the east and south are former 
industrial properties and modern commercial businesses and offices, with the neighborhood to the west 
largely residential. The Wild Historic District is at the east end of the residential neighborhood on the north 
side of W. 1st Street. The district encompasses four nearly equal-sized lots although one lot has a reduced 
northern boundary because of the curve in the nearby railroad grade (Figure 4). The houses occupy three of 
the lots, with the fourth now a shared driveway between two of the houses. Historically, the shared driveway 
was an extension of Tremont Street on the north side of W. 1st Street (see Figure 4). The lots feature grassy 
lawns, planted shrubbery, flowering plants, and mature shade trees including: original lilac bushes, Sugar 
Maple, Ash, Sumac, and Sapling as well as several very old Black Walnut trees. The house at 501 W. 1st 
Street, and an associated object (a stone hitching post in the front yard of this house), are listed in the NRHP. 
The houses at 509 and 423 W. 1st Street are counted as contributing buildings to the district. The 
noncontributing building is the detached garage on the west side of the house at 509 W. 1st Street. This 
garage was built outside of the district’s period of significance.  

                         

1 In the modern era, Cedar Falls is best known as the home of the University of Northern Iowa.  285



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 

Section 7 page 4 
 

 
Figure 1. Topographic map showing location of the Wild Historic District in the City of Cedar Falls and in relation 

to the Cedar River Valley and the City of Waterloo. Inset map shows the general location (black dot) in Black Hawk 
County and the State of Iowa. Source: UGSG New Hartford, Waterloo North and South, and Hudson Quadrangles 

obtained from ExpertGPS mapping software, 2018. 

Wild Historic District 

 

286



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 

Section 7 page 5 
 

 
Figure 2. Color LiDAR image of the Wild Historic District (white dashed outline) showing the terrain in the 

vicinity. Source: ArcGIS - Iowa Geographic Map Server 2018. 
 

 
Figure 3. Scenic view from the north (back yards) of the Wild Historic District looking North. 

Photograph taken 08-07-2018 by Tallgrass Archaeology LLC. 
 

N 

Cedar River 

creek valley railroad berm 

Ice 
House 

Museum 

ra
ilro

a
d
 b

e
rm

 

287



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 

Section 7 page 6 
 

 

Figure 4. Aerial map showing the boundary of Wild Historic District (black dashed outline) and the location of 
423, 501, and 509 W. 1st Street. Source: Black Hawk County Assessor website, accessed October 2018. 

 
Though not as large as the nearby city of Waterloo, Cedar Falls has a significant history of commercial and 
industrial importance to the region and the state. The Wild family, with whom these homes are associated, are 
a part of that commercial and industrial history by virtue of the successful brick manufacturing business 
located at various sites throughout the city. They also operated a wholesale and retail building materials 
business in downtown Cedar Falls. Because of this, they had access to the best materials and best builders in 
the area. The homes are largely reflective of that circumstance, in their design, materials, and finely-appointed 
exterior and interior details. In addition, three of the Wild’s sons, Charles J., Jacob D., and Joseph W. had a 
successful shoe store known as The Leader in Cedar Falls. Charles J. was the proprietor and Jacob and 
Joseph were salesmen.  
 
Daniel and Margaret Wild’s large and stylish Queen Anne house is located in the center of the district at 501 
W. 1st Street. This house is the largest and most elaborate of the three houses. The house at 423 W. 1st 
Street appears to have been built circa 1891 for one of Daniel and Margaret’s sons, Daniel N. Wild and his 
wife, Mae M. Brodie, with another of Daniel and Margaret’s sons, Jacob Wild and his wife Eleanor M. Lumpe 
owning and occupying the property from 1897 to 1946. The house at 509 W. 1st Street appears to have built 
circa 1888 by Daniel Wild using bricks from his brick manufactory.  
 
The location of the district on the north side of W. 1st Street was the very north edge of Cedar Falls in the late 
19th century. The nearby residential neighborhoods are composed of homes built largely between 1900 and 
1930, though some infill buildings are more recent. The city has since expanded, and W. 1st Street is now a 
major thoroughfare (Iowa Highway 57) connecting downtown to the west-side commercial areas and the 
interstate highway system. Low-density commercial properties have been developed along the south side of 
the W. 1st Street, including fast food restaurants, an animal clinic, and other offices. These modern 

509 
501 

35 ft 

railroad berm and tracks 

N 

W 1st Street 

423 

288



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 

Section 7 page 7 
 

developments detract slightly from the district’s setting, although the valley vista to the north and other historic 
homes in the vicinity maintain integrity of setting. Other nearby historic buildings include the Cedar Falls Ice 
House Museum, the Main Street Commercial Historic District, and the Overman Park neighborhood, among 
others.  
 
The three homes in the Wild Historic District are all frame construction, although 509 W. 1st Street has a brick 
exterior veneer that was covered in stucco after the 1920s and 501 W. 1st Street has some brick interior 
walls. The houses represent different house types. The house at 509 W. 1st Street is a hipped cottage with 
some Late Victorian stylistic influence in the use of brackets under the eave overhang. The house at 501 W. 
1st Street is a high-style Late Victorian Queen Anne house with elaborate exterior and interior decorative 
details. This house is individually listed in the NRHP (Card 2017). The house at 423 W. 1st Street is a two-
story vernacular cross-gabled house that has some Queen Anne stylistic details on the exterior and interior. 
The roofs of all three houses are covered in asphalt shingles. The foundations of all three are built of stone, 
with the foundation of 501 W. 1st Street built of granite blocks and the foundations of 423 and 509 built of 
locally-quarried limestone. There is a large garage attached to the rear of 501 W. 1st Street that is a modern 
construction but, because it is attached to the house, it was not counted as a separate resource when listed in 
the NRHP. The only detached outbuilding for all three of the houses is the garage associated with 509 W. 1st 
Street located on its west side. This building is considered noncontributing to the district because it was built 
circa 1975, outside of the district’s period of significance.  
 
423 W. 1st Street (Contributing Building) 
Historic Name: Wild, Daniel N. & Mae M., House; Wild, Jacob & Eleanor, House 
Year Built: circa 1891 
 
This two-story L-shaped house was built circa 1891 for Daniel and Mae Wild (Figure 5). The house has a 
hipped roof with cross-gabled ells. It is built on a limestone foundation made of coarsely-worked limestone 
blocks that have beaded mortar joints. The exterior siding is narrow-reveal wooden clapboard siding with 
narrow vertical corner boards and a wide frieze board under the boxed eaves. There is wooden fish-scale 
shingle siding in the east gable end (Figure 6). The north gable end has only clapboard siding but would likely 
have had fish-scale siding originally. The gable end eaves have decorative vergeboards that feature a center 
groove the length of each board and circular 
shaped ends with a center incised circle 
(Figure 7). The eaves flare slightly in the 
gable ends. The windows all have plain 
board surrounds.             
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 5. Façade of 423 W 1st Street looking 
North. Photograph obtained from Black Hawk 

County Assessor, accessed at 
http://www2.co.black-hawk.ia.us/, 2018. 

 

289



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 

Section 7 page 8 
 

 
Figure 7. East gable of 423 W. 1st Street showing the fish-scale siding and decorative vergeboards and flared 

eaves. Photograph taken 08-07-2018 by Tallgrass. 

 

 
Figure 8. Front gable end of 423 W 1st Street looking NNE. Photograph taken 08-07-2018 by Tallgrass. 

 

The majority of the windows are single 1/1 double-hung, wooden-sash windows. One window on the façade of 
the front-gabled ell is a wide window that has a single fixed, wooden-frame window that features 20 square 
panes (see Figure 5). This window is of historic age and may be original. Decorative green shutters are a 
modern addition to some of the windows. Other windows include paired 1/1 double-hung, wooden-sash 
windows on the north side of the rear ell and on the bay window on the east side of the house. This bay 

290



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 

Section 7 page 9 
 

window is rectangular in shape, is built on a limestone foundation, has clapboard siding, and a shed roof 
overhang (Figure 9).  
 

 
Figure 9. East side of 423 W. 1st Street looking West. Photograph taken 08-07-2018 by Tallgrass.  

 
 
The inside of the ell on the façade had an open, 
wooden porch that was removed in the late 20th 
century (Figure 10). It was replaced with a small 
modern wooden landing with a wooden board 
railing with two wooden steps up to the front 
door, which is offset to the left side of the 
facade. There are no windows on the south side 
of the façade above the former porch. The 
interior staircase to the second floor and a 
second-floor closet occupy the area to the north 
side of the front door explaining why there are 
no windows on that wall of the façade.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 10. 423 W. 1st Street looking WNW 
showing area where original front porch was 

once located.  
Photograph taken 08-07-2018 by Tallgrass. 

 
 
 

291



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 

Section 7 page 10 
 

There is a one-story gabled ell on the rear (north side) of the house part of which is original to the house 
construction (Figure 11). The 1900 Sanborn fire insurance map shows that there was then also a small bump-
out on north side of the original ell that may have been a rear entry vestibule or small porch. Circa 2005, this 
ell was enlarged for a larger modern kitchen. This area was clad with the same type of clapboard siding as the 
main body of the house, with the paired windows added to the north wall and the wooden decks added at the 
rear entry door and the east-side door on this ell. Historically, there was an open porch at the east-side door 
location. Both doors lead directly into the kitchen.   
 

 
Figure 11. 423 W 1st Street looking SW. Photograph taken 08-07-2018 by Tallgrass.  

 
Some clapboards were replaced as needed with red cedar siding when the house was painted before 2013, 
with the wood trim boards at the base of the walls replaced in 2017. Otherwise, the siding on the main body of 
the house is of historic age if not original. However, there may be some areas on the house, such as the front 
gable end where shingle siding may have been originally and on the façade where the front porch was 
removed, that were repaired with clapboard siding in the modern era.   
 
The home’s interior is finely appointed with original wood trim, narrow hardwood flooring, and original 
hardware. Of special note are the wooden banister leading to the second-story and decorative corner blocks 
that grace the upper corners of doorway casings throughout the house (Figures 12-13). The front door leads 
from the inside of the ell to a small vestibule. From the vestibule, one has access to the parlor (in the south 
wing of the house), a formal sitting room (in the east wing of the house), the stairway to the second floor, or a 
closet under the stairway. Double doors lead from both the formal sitting room and the parlor into a formal 
dining area, and a modern updated bathroom is beyond that. From the formal sitting area, one can follow 
northward into the rear addition that has been renovated into modern kitchen. At the top of the stairway is an 
angled hallway from which three doors each enter into a bedroom on the second floor.   
 

 
 

292



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 

Section 7 page 11 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 12. 423 W. 1st Street, interior showing 
staircase. Photograph taken 08-07-2017 by 

Tallgrass. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 13. 423 W. 1st Street, interior 
showing built-in cabinet and 

decorative woodwork. Photograph 
taken 08-07-2018 by Tallgrass. 

293



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 

Section 7 page 12 
 

501 W 1st Street (Individually Listed in NRHP) 
Historic Name: Wild, Daniel & Margaret House 
Year Built: 1895 
 

This Queen Anne spindlework-type house was 
built in 1895 as the home for Daniel and Margaret 
Wild (Figure 14). The house is appointed with 
elaborate decorative details. The house is built on 
a pink granite foundation and has wooden 
weatherboard siding on the main body of the 
house but features siding in the gable ends 
placed on the diagonal and in faux half-timber 
arrangements. The home was built on the site of 
the Wild’s earlier residence and may have some 
interior brick walls either from that residence or 
built from bricks salvaged from the earlier house. 
The house is listed individually in the NRHP 
(Card 2017). 
 

Figure 14. Façade of 501 W. 1st Street looking 
North. Photograph taken 08-07-2017 by Tallgrass 

Archaeology LLC. 
 

The house has a broad, crested hip roof, with a number of lower gabled dormers and cross gabled ells. The 
center of the façade is dominated by a front gabled dormer that covers inset porches on its second and first 
stories. The angled front-gabled ells on the southeast and southwest corners of the façade are set at an angle 
from the main body of the house and have canted corners that form the outer walls of the porches. Both 
porches have wooden balusters and railings and are supported by four turned spindle posts. Sometime 
around 1925-1930, the porches had been rebuilt with weatherboard-sided railings and Classical square 
columns (Figure 15). In the 1980s, the third owner of the house “salvaged the porch columns and spindles 
and balustrades and these now have been restored to their approximate original appearance” (Card 2017:8).  
 

 
Figure 15. Circa 1925 photograph of 501 W. 1st Street, Cedar Falls, looking North. 

Photo Source: Personal Collection of Susan Card, Cedar Falls, IA. 

294



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 

Section 7 page 13 
 

Decorative exterior details of note include: the wooden sunburst in the front gable peak above the Palladian-
like attic window, with the sunburst detail repeated on other gable ends; a variety of windows shapes and 
sizes (rectangular, segmental arched, and rectangular); the rows of faceted wooden block tiles above the 
inset front porch on the second story and the other gabled dormers; and the rear and east-side porches, one 
as a rear entry porch and the other as an east-side, second-story porch with turret, with both porches 
featuring Queen Anne spindle posts and decorative details, among many other Queen Anne details that are 
described in detail in the NRHP nomination of this house (Card 2017). The windows are largely original and 
include 1/1 double-hung windows, fixed pane windows, and leaded glass windows. 
 
The interior is as finely-appointed in decorative details as the exterior, with a variety of imported and native 
wood used in the doors, flooring, and other woodwork (Figures 16-17). The wood types include: Circassian 
Walnut, Oak, Red Pine, heart pine, and Douglas fir (Card 2017). Even the basement was finished with details 
that enabled use for servants’ quarters, a summer kitchen, and a root cellar.  

 

 
Figure 16. Door, wood paneling, hardwood floors and other original details in dining room at 501 W. 1st Street, 

facing East. Photo taken 08-07-2018 by Tallgrass. 

295



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 

Section 7 page 14 
 

 
Figure 17. Front entry hall of 501 W. 1st Street looking south toward front door with elaborate staircase to right. 

Photograph taken 08-07-2018 by Tallgrass. 
 

 

The design plans for this house were obtained by Daniel Wild while visiting friends in Florida. Wild then hired 
architect, William A. Robinson, of Cedar Falls to “revise and enhance the plans to meet the needs of his 
client” (Card 2017:18). Robinson also served as the general contractor for the build of the home. The 
woodwork would have been obtained from Abraham Wild & Co. in Cedar Falls. Abraham appears to have 
been a cousin to Daniel, and Daniel was a partner in Abraham’s lumber and coal business and later became 
sole owner of that business. Historically, a large barn once sat to the north of the house and was demolished 
around the middle of the 20th century. The large attached garage and breezeway addition sit partially on the 
site of this former agricultural building.  
 

296



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 

Section 7 page 15 
 

509 W. 1st Street (Contributing Building) 
Historic Name: Zager, Carrie Wild, House; Wild, Joseph & Rose House 
Year Built: circa 1888 
 
This appears to be the oldest of the three 
Wild houses in this district having been 
built circa 1888 (Figure 18). This home 
has a relatively small footprint, roughly 
27 feet wide and 30 feet deep. It is 
constructed on a limestone foundation. 
The original construction of the house is 
frame with a brick veneer that was 
covered in stucco in the late 1920s or 
1930s.2 The roof is pyramidal in form, 
truncated at the top and steeply-pitched, 
with wide eave overhangs and small 
gabled dormers on the roof slope on the 
south (façade) and east sides. The 
dormers have wooden clapboard siding,  
cornice-molded eaves, and wooden            Figure 18. 509 W. 1st Street looking North with modern garage (left). 
window surrounds.    Photograph taken 08-07-2018 by Tallgrass. 
 
There are decorative scroll-cut brackets placed under the eaves along the wide frieze board around the 
house, with those on the west and east sides still fully in place (Figure 19). It is suspected that there were 
brackets on the façade before the porch was added.  
 

 
Figure 19. Detail of brackets under the eaves of 509 W. 1st Street facing West.  

Photograph taken 08-07-2018 by Tallgrass. 

                         

2 A circa 1925 photograph showing this house in the background, shows the brick still exposed at that time (see page 44).  297



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 

Section 7 page 16 
 

The façade of this home faces W. 1st Street to the south and has a slightly off-center entry door covered by a 
modern storm door. The interior door is a late 20th century replacement door. There are two 1/1 double-hung 
windows flanking the door. A Craftsman-style porch extends nearly the full width of the façade and was added 
in the early 20th century, possibly circa 1916 when a front porch was first depicted on this house on the 
Sanborn fire insurance map of that year (Figure 20). The porch has a very low-pitched hipped roof and wide 
eave overhang. The porch roof is supported in part by four 3/4-height square, wooden posts that sit on 
rusticated concrete block piers. The wood on the posts has vertical grooves on each face of the posts (see 
Figure 18). The floor of the porch is poured concrete, with the foundation made of rusticated concrete blocks. 
The concrete blocks in the piers and foundation have beaded mortar joints. There is no railing around the 
porch. Two cast concrete steps have  iron handrails.  

 

 
Figure20. Detail of the front porch posts and piers/ foundation looking NE.  

Photograph taken 08-07-2018 by Tallgrass. 

 
The windows on the body of the house have segmental-arched lintels (Figure 21). These windows are all 1/1 
double-hung wooden-sash windows with modern metal-framed storm windows on the exterior. The northmost 
window on the east side was shortened to accommodate a later kitchen remodel on the interior. This side also 
has a door, between the middle and northernmost window. This door is a late 20th century replacement door 
and has a modern storm door on the exterior. This door enters into the kitchen. There was once a small  
porch over this entry (Sanborn 1916).  
 
The rear (north side) of the house of the house has a one-story frame ell that may be original to the house but 
has been remodeled in the mid-to- late 20th century on the interior and exterior (Figure 22). The ell is only 
three-quarters of the width of the house and has a door on the east side that is no longer in use. The Sanborn 
fire insurance maps show a porch on this side from circa 1916 into at least the late 1950s . The windows on 
this ell are all 2/2 double-hung windows. There is also a door on the west side that is still in use and opens 
into the stairway that accesses the basement below the main body of the house but also accesses a door into 
the ell. The rear ell is covered with asbestos shingle siding. 
 
 

298



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 

Section 7 page 17 
 

 
Figure 21. East side of 509 W. 1st Street looking NW. Photograph taken 08-07-2018 by Tallgrass. 

 

 
Figure 22. Rear and West side of 509 W. 1st Street looking SSE. Photograph taken 08-07-2018 by Tallgrass. 

299



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 

Section 7 page 18 
 

This area of Cedar Falls was not mapped in the Sanborn fire insurance maps until 1900, but by that time the 
rear frame ell was present, but the map showed no indication of a front porch other than a dashed line 
indicating a wooden cornice and probably referring to the bracketed eave overhang. This remained the 
footprint of the house through 1909; however, by 1916, a frame front porch had been added as well as the 
small frame porch on the east side of the rear ell (Sanborn 1900, 1909, 1916). This remained the footprint of 
the house through at least 1956 except for the addition of a small frame porch over the east side doorway of 
the main body of the house (Sanborn 1956).  
 
Notable details on the interior of the house include: French doors that separate the two front rooms; an oak 
colonnade between the living room and the kitchen; oak woodwork with egg-and-dart molding (door and 
window surrounds); and a rounded wall that covers the chimney stack in the southwest corner of the kitchen 
(Figures 23-25).  
 

 
Figure 23. Interior of front rooms of 509 W. 1st Street showing French doors that have oak woodwork including 

egg-and-dart molding on the lintel. Photograph is looking WSW; taken 08-07-2018 by Tallgrass. 
 

 
Figure 24. Example of egg-and-dart molding on lintel boards on interior of 509 W. 1st Street.  

Photograph taken 08-07-2018 by Tallgrass. 

300



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 

Section 7 page 19 
 

 
Figure 25. Colonnade between the front room and the kitchen looking North.  

Photograph taken 08-07-2018 by Tallgrass. 
 

Garage (noncontributing building) 
 
The house at 509 W. 1st Street has a detached garage off the west side of the house that was built circa 1975 
(see Figures 18 and 26). This garage is considered noncontributing to the district because it was built outside 
of the period of significance. This frame garage has a low-pitched front-gabled roofline, wide wood siding, and 
a poured concrete slab foundation. The facade has a slightly off-center, double-wide overhead garage door. 
There is a door on the east side near the southeast corner that provides access to the rear door on the west 
side of the house. The windows in the garage are small and square in shape. The gable ends are clad with 
vertical board siding that have slightly scalloped ends.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 26. Rear of detached garage at 509 
W. 1st Street looking SSW.  

Photograph taken 08-07-2018 by Tallgrass. 

301



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 

Section 7 page 20 
 

Statement of Integrity of District 
 
The Wild Historic District as a whole retains good to excellent historic integrity in the aspects of location, 
design, materials, workmanship, and association and fair integrity in the aspects of setting and feeling. All 
three houses in the district are on their original locations along the north side of W. 1st Street and south of the 
Cedar River. The integrity of setting and feeling is fair for the district as a whole given the progression of 
development along W. 1st Street in the modern era that has changed somewhat the historic look and feel of 
the neighborhood immediately to the east and south of the district.  
 
The district has good to excellent integrity of design, with all three houses retaining their original form, 
function, and architectural design, with the house at 501 W. 1st Street having been designed by a local 
architect and all three built for members of the Wild family in Late Victorian architectural styles. With the 
exception of the Daniel and Margaret Wild House at 501 W. 1st Street, which is a high-style Queen Anne 
spindlework style, the houses at 509 and 423 are vernacular house types.  
 
The district has good to excellent integrity of materials with all three houses built using materials made or 
accessed by the Wild family businesses including Daniel Wild’s brickyard and the Wild & Co. lumber yard. 
The house at 509 W. 1st was later covered with stucco diminishing somewhat its integrity of materials. The 
interiors of all three houses show decorative woodwork and exterior decorative wooden details obtained 
through the Wild & Co. lumber business. Daniel and Margaret Wild also imported non-local woodwork for the 
elaborate interior appointments of their own home at 501 W. 1st Street. Their house was also the only one to 
use granite blocks in the foundation/basement construction, with the other two (423 and 501 W. 1st Street) 
having foundations/basements built of local limestone.  
 
The district has good to excellent integrity of workmanship, particularly evidenced in the Queen Anne 
spindlework house of Daniel and Margaret Wild at 501 W. 1st Street but also in the masonry and carpentry 
work in all three houses inside and out.  
 
The district has excellent integrity of association because all three houses were built by and for members of 
the Daniel and Margaret Wild family in the 1880s-1890s and continued to be associated with this family into 
the early 20th century.  
 
Modifications have been minimal for the house at 501 W. 1st Street, with the circa 1930 modification to the 
two front porches restored to their historic look in the 1980s. The owner at the time was able to salvage and 
restore the porch to its original design.  
 
The modifications to the house at 423 W. 1st Street have included the removal of the front porch, some siding 
repair but with appropriate clapboard siding, and enlargement of the rear ell including the addition of two 
wooden decks. These modifications date from the from the mid to late 20th century.  
 
The modifications to the house at 509 W. 1st Street have included: the addition of a front porch circa 1916; 
the application of stucco over the brick exterior in the late 1920s-1930s; remodeling of the rear ell in the mid-
to-late 20th century; removal of two porches on the east side of the house; and the replacement of the front 
and side doors in the mid-20th century. However, both of the houses at 423 and 509 W. 1st Street would 
certainly be recognizable to the Wild family if they were to see these houses today and retain sufficient 
original exterior and interior details to contribute substantially to the historic district.  
 

302



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Section 8 page 21 

8. Statement of Significance 

Applicable National Register Criteria  
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for 
National Register listing.) 

 

X A Property is associated with events that have made a 
significant contribution to the broad patterns of our 
history. 
  

 B Property is associated with the lives of persons  
significant in our past. 
  

   

 C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics  
of a type, period, or method of construction or represents 
the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values,  
or represents a significant and distinguishable entity 
whose components lack individual distinction.  

   

 D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information 
important in prehistory or history. 

 

 
  

 
 

Criteria Considerations  
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.) 
 

Property is: 

 
A 
 

 
Owned by a religious institution or used for religious 
purposes.  

  
B 

 
removed from its original location. 

  
C 

 
a birthplace or grave. 

  
D 

 
a cemetery. 

  
E 

 
a reconstructed building, object, or structure. 

  
F 

 
a commemorative property. 

  
G 

 
less than 50 years old or achieving significance 

 
 within the past 50 years. 

Areas of Significance  

(Enter categories from instructions.) 

INDUSTRY 

COMMERCE 

 

 

 
 

Period of Significance  

circa 1888-1901 

 

Significant Dates 

circa 1888 

1895 

circa 1891 
 

Significant Person  

(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.) 

 

 

Cultural Affiliation (if applicable) 

 

 

 

Architect/Builder 

Robinson, William A. 

Wild, Abraham 

Wild, Daniel 
 

 
  

 
 
 
 

303



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Section 8 page 22 

Statement of Significance 

Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph (Provide a summary paragraph that includes level of significance, applicable criteria, 
justification for the period of significance, and any applicable criteria considerations). 

 
The Wild Historic District is locally significant under Criterion A for its representation of the important 
contributions that Daniel Wild and his family made to the development of the industry and commerce of Cedar 
Falls in the late 19th century. Daniel Wild’s house at 501 W. 1st Street is individually listed in the NRHP under 
Criteria B and C, for its association with Daniel Wild as a significant person in the community and for the 
architectural significance of his high-style, architect-designed house at 501 W. 1st Street. This house is the 
center piece of the Wild Historic District, and its individual significance under B and C certainly contributes to 
the historical significance of the district. Daniel Wild was a farmer, brickmaker, and retail/wholesale dealer of 
construction materials used in building construction throughout Cedar Falls and surrounding communities. 
The businesses of Daniel Wild played an important role in the development of the city, not only as an 
important commercial enterprise and employer, but also as a source for the materials of which many buildings 
in the city and the region were physically built. All of his sons were successful businessmen in Cedar Falls, 
with sons Charles, Joseph, and Jacob associated with the houses at 423 and 509 W. 1st Street in their adult 
lives. The homes in the district reflect the Wild family’s industrial and commercial success in the Cedar Falls 
community. Significant dates are circa 1888 when the house at 509 W. 1st Street was built, circa 1891 when 
the house at 423 W. 1st Street was built, and 1895 when the house at 501 W. 1st Street was built. The period 
of significance begins with the circa 1888 construction of 509 W. 1st Street by Daniel Wild using bricks from 
his manufactory and ends in 1901 when the Wild’s Cedar Falls Brick and Tile Company was sold out of the 
family. 
 
Narrative Statement of Significance (Provide at least one paragraph for each area of significance.)  
 
(Iowa SHPO Additional Instructions: For properties not nominated under Criterion D, include a statement about whether any archaeological remains 
within or beyond the footprint of the property were assessed as part of this nomination under the subheading Archaeological Assessment.)   

 
Criterion A: Historical Significance of the Wild Historic District in Cedar Fall’s Industry and Commerce  
 
Early Settlement of Cedar Falls 
 
The first permanent Euro-American settlers in the vicinity of Cedar Falls were the families of William Sturgis 
and his brother-in-law Erasmus Adams. They arrived in 1845. Sturgis’ claim became what is now the northern 
part of Cedar Falls, and Adams’ claim became what is now southern Cedar Falls. In 1845 it was reported that 
the families of William Sturgis, George W. Hanna, John Hamilton, and William Virden were the only families in 
this area. William Sturgis worked on constructing a dam at Cedar Falls. His efforts to do so were never 
completed (Hartman 1915:315-316). The first store in Black Hawk county was opened at Cedar Falls circa 
1850 on the north side of 1st Street (Hartman 1915:315-316; Van Metre 1904). The settlement platted by 
Sturgis and Adams took on the name Sturgis Falls, a name it kept until about 1850, after Sturgis was bought 
out by John Overman, Dempsey Overman, and John Barrick. In 1847, these men purchased his 280 acres, 
mill site, and all improvements associated with them. They changed the name to Cedar Falls, and the 
county’s first post office was established soon after. They completed Sturgis’ unfinished mill in 1848 and the 
county’s first grist mill in 1850. The city was platted in 1851, and the first railroad reached Cedar Falls in 1861 
(Hartman 1915:310-313; City of Cedar Falls official website, accessed October 2018).  
 

In 1853, the same year Daniel Wild arrived here, the first county government was convened in Cedar Falls, 
even though the city’s population of was still a meager 40 people. The county seat remained in the city for 
some time, even though the people of Waterloo lobbied for it to be relocated to their town, with consideration 
that it is more centrally located within the county. In April of 1855, the State of Iowa ordered a referendum be 
held in consideration of where to set the county seat; the citizens of the county voted to move it to Waterloo, 
where it has remained ever since. Cedar Falls was compensated in a way by the state’s establishment of the 304



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Section 8 page 23 

Civil War Soldier’s Orphan Home in the city in 1863. That institution changed its mission and was rebranded 
as the Iowa State Normal School in 1876, the Iowa State Teacher’s College in 1909, the State College of 
Iowa in 1961, and the University of Northern Iowa in 1967, which is remains to the present day. 
 
As the community began to develop, it became a hub for both agricultural activities in western Black Hawk 
County and as a prominent milling center. Local entrepreneurs found their niches producing brooms, pottery, 
and the like. From a need for bricks and other construction materials, sprang the Cedar Falls Brick & Tile Co., 
which Daniel Wild would take over shortly thereafter. In the early settlement era, the Cedar River provided the 
motive power for the mills that defined the city’s early industrial growth, and as a means of transportation, 
although the river did not prove to be a reliable source for steamboat navigation and the railroads and road 
travel soon dominated transportation and the import and export of material and goods in the community 
(Hartman 1915:374-377; Van Metre 1904).  
 
An 1868 birds-eye illustration of Cedar Falls shows the rail line extending into the city from the west-
southwest and to the northeast-east crossing the river not far from the location of the Wild Historic District 
(Figure 27). In this illustration, one can see several buildings on that site and the extension of Tremont Street 
to the north of W. 1st Street into the historic district. At the time, most of the land between N. 1st Street and 
the Cedar River from around Franklin Street west into the wooded area several blocks past the district on the 
north side of W. 1st Street was owned by Daniel Wild. While not represented on this illustration, local tradition 
holds that a brickyard of Wild’s was on the edge of the wooded area to the west of his house. Wild did own a 
great deal of land to the west and northwest of his home property, and the current owner of the parcel in 
question reports finding bricks every time he digs a hole in the open grassy area to the east of his house 
(Figure 28) (Dan Jordan, Sr. personal communication, 08-07-2018). This parcel is approximately 500 feet to 
the west-northwest of Wild’s house (Figure 29). However, the main commercial brick manufactory of Daniel 
Wild was located in the southeast portion of the city. Thus, it remains unknown whether bricks were actually 
manufactured at the location now owned by Jordan or if this parcel was used for brick storage given the 
proximity to the railroad. This question remains for future archaeological investigation to determine.  
 
 
 
 

305



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Section 8 page 24 

 
Figure 27. 1868 Birds-eye view of Cedar Falls, with the approximate location of the Wild Historic District (circled) 

and the possible location of a brickyard of Daniel Wild, although none was depicted at that time  
(arrow). Source: Cedar Falls History Booklet, Cedar Falls Historical Society. 

House at corner of W. 1st and Tremont 
streets would have been Daniel and 

Margaret Wild’s first house (nonextant). 

N 

306



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Section 8 page 25 

 
Figure 28. Location of possible early brickyard of Daniel Wild looking East to the railroad tracks. 

Photograph taken 08-07-2018 by Tallgrass.  

 

 

Figure 29. Modern aerial of Wild Historic District (dashed outline) in relation to the possible location of Daniel 
Wild’s brick yard reported to the west (circle). Aerial obtained from Iowa Geographic Map Server, 2018. 

 

N 

W. 1st Street 

307



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Section 8 page 26 

Daniel Wild and the Cedar Falls Brick & Tile Co. 
 

Daniel Wild (1828-1903) was among the early settlers of Cedar Falls arriving in 1853 having emigrated from 
Bavaria. He and his wife Margaret (Glasser) were married in that same year. Margaret had emigrated from 
Baden. Soon after arrival, Daniel purchased land between W. 1st Street and the Cedar River inside and 
outside of the city limits. The family farmed and began several businesses in the fledgling town of Cedar Falls 
(Iowa State Reporter, September 1, 1903). The 1896 plat map shows the extent of Daniel Wild’s holdings in 
the north part of Cedar Falls by that time (Figure 30). This included the land where the three houses of the 
Wild Historic District were built in the 1880s-1890s and where he and Margaret had their first home. That first 
home is nonextant and was on the site of 501 W. 1st Street, which is the extant Queen Anne house they built 
in 1895.  
 

 

Figure 30. 1896 plat of Cedar Falls; properties owned by Daniel Wild—two city lots where 423 and 501 W. 1st 
Street stand and two large agricultural parcels—highlighted in gray. Source: Kace 1896. 

 

Wild’s first significant business purchase was what would become the Cedar Falls Brick & Tile Company. A.M. 
Dixter had started the brick manufactory in 1852, and it is believed that he sold his operation to Daniel Wild 
circa 1853. It is not yet known exactly where Dixter’s brick operation was located in Cedar Falls. By 1866, it 
was noted that Daniel Wild’s brick yard employed about ten men and would manufacture at least $75,000 
worth of brick in the coming season (Cedar Falls Gazette 18 March 1866). In 1868, he employed seven men 
and supplied “brick for building purposes at Waterloo, and other adjoining towns” (Cedar Falls Gazette 18 
September 1868). An interesting item in the local newspaper in 1873 showed that Daniel Wild was also still in 
the business of farming, when he was asking for help in locating four calves that had strayed, but signed his 
name as Daniel Wild, “the Brick Maker” signifying what he was best known for in the community (Cedar Falls 
Gazette, 21 November 1873). By 1883, the Iowa State Reporter noted that the company produced 300,000 
bricks over the course of a year, and for the year prior, the company had been the fourth highest tax-payer in 
Cedar Falls Township (Iowa State Reporter, January 3, 1883 and 29 November 1883).  
 

In 1893, a historical record of Cedar Falls reported that Wild’s brick business was the longest continually 
running in the county (Melendy 1893:99). According to the same record, Daniel Wild’s brick-making plant was: 
 

N 

308



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Section 8 page 27 

located in the city limits, southeast part. Their machinery is run by steam, have a 35 horse-power boiler 
30 horse-power engine in a building 32 x 28 feet in size, machine house 28 x 38 in size. They have six 
dry sheds 8 x 100 feet in size each. They manufacture 6 months in the year 18,000 brick per day or 
2,808,000 for the season. They supply the home demand and ship large lots by rail car to the adjoining 
towns. Their pressed brick is of excellent quality. They employ 20 hands. City headquarters for Wild & 
Co’s Brick & Tile Works have been located on the east side of Main, between 3rd and 4th streets – in a 
one-story building 25x120 feet in size – where they have plenty of room to show their line of goods. 

 
The Cedar Falls Brick & Tile Company—sometimes referred to as Wild & Co. after it absorbed the coal and 
lumber business of Abraham Wild—also produced cement and quarried stone.  
 
By 1898, the company was making 250,000 bricks every two weeks (Cedar Falls Semi Weekly Gazette). In 
1899, it was reported that the company was expanding their capacity by adding a brick dryer, which would 
increase their capacity to 15,000 to 20,000 bricks per day.  
 
The bricks manufactured by Wild’s plant were vital in the construction of buildings in the community and the 
region. Among the local examples of Wild’s brick making is a block building located on Cedar Fall’s Main 
Street. In February 1898, a “new brick block” was constructed on the 300 block of Main Street. The bricks 
used in its construction came from Wild’s brick plant. This building is extant and now a part of Cedar Falls’ 
Commercial Historic District. At the time of its construction, the building was listed as the home of W.A. 
McIntosh’s furniture and undertaking business. Although renovated facades have masked the front side of this 
row, the historic bricks produced by Cedar Falls Brick & Tile/Wild & Co. are still visible on the alley side 
(Figure 31) (Sweet research notes; Susan Card personal interview) 

 

    

Figure 31. Left: Photo of the “New Brick Block,” a known example of Wild & Co. bricks looking west, in alley 
behind 314 and 316 Main Street in Cedar Falls. Photograph taken 08-07-2018 by Tallgrass. 

Right: 1909 Sanborn map showing location of the “New Brick Block” on Main Street (outlined). 
 

 

N 

309



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Section 8 page 28 

Another example of Wild’s bricks was in the large Grace Methodist Episcopal Church built in 1877-78 in 
downtown Waterloo, Iowa (Figure 32). Over 200,000 bricks were used in its construction. This church appears 
to be nonextant. 
 

    

Figure 32. Grace Methodist Episcopal Church in Waterloo, Iowa, erected 1877-78 of Wild & Co. bricks.  
Photo Source: hippostcard.com user Pixielovespostcards 

 

Other significant brick orders included, but were not limited to the following (Cedar Falls Semi Weekly 
Gazette): 
 

October 1898  400,000 bricks  Waterloo, Iowa Masonic Temple 
August 1898  67,0000 bricks  brick block in Fairbanks, Iowa 
“ “  200,000 bricks  Waterloo, Iowa YMCA 
August 1897  500,000 bricks  delivered to New Hartford, Iowa 
July 1897  3 carloads of brick delivered to Nashua, Iowa 
 

 
Cedar Falls Brick & Tile Co. locations: 
 

Brick Works. Wild’s extensive operations had several locations throughout Cedar Falls over his nearly fifty-
year career. One of these locations was the “Works” as it was called in the index to the 1900 and 1909 
Sanborn fire insurance maps. It was located in the southeast part of Cedar Falls “1 mile SE of P.O.” Though 
the brickyard is no longer extant, an approximate location can be found by measuring the distance from the 
post office of that time (at the corner of Main and 2nd Streets) and triangulating that with the north-to-south 
Chicago, Great Western Railroad spur visible in the 1900 Sanborn map. This exercise places the probable 
location of the Cedar Falls Brick & Tile Company works near the current Cedar Falls Utilities power plant, in 
the vicinity of 16th street. This location is corroborated by a building visible in the 1930s aerial imagery that 
bares resemblance to the Brick & Tile Co. building as depicted on the 1900 and 1909 Sanborn maps. The 
aerial imagery also shows several circular structures that may conform to the location of the kilns depicted on 
the 1909 Sanborn map (Figures 33-34). The 1909 map identifies the factory as “not in operation” and the 
buildings as “old & dilapidated.” 
 

310



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Section 8 page 29 

  
Figure 33. 1900 Sanborn map (left) and 1909 Sanborn map (right) showing the layout of the Cedar Falls Brick & 

Tile Company. Source: Sanborn 1900, 1909. 
 

 

Figure 34. 1930s aerial image that may show remnants of the Cedar Falls Brick & Tile Co. Compare circled building 
to circled buildings on above Sanborn maps. Source: Iowa Geographic Map Server 2018. 

 

The 1897 Sanborn map also shows an earlier configuration of the brick yard suggesting that the building 
highlighted in Figures 33 and 34 was added onto by the early 1900s (Figure 35). It is likely that this site was 
originally selected for a brick yard because there was suitable clay for brick making at this location. This is 
evidenced on the 1897 and 1900 Sanborns by the large “clay pit” on the southwest side of the brickyard.  

 

N 

311



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Section 8 page 30 

 

Figure 35. 1897 Sanborn map of the Cedar Falls Brick and Tile Co. Brick Yard. Source: Sanborn 1897. 
 

Brick Yard. Another location was the brick “yard” in downtown Cedar Falls. In 1895, Daniel Wild purchased a 
lot that the newspapers said was near the Burlington Depot. He bought it for $1,000. The local newspaper 
reported that: “it is known as the G.N. Miner lot and lies directly east of the Bryant Neely office. It will be used 
for the present as a storage lot for the brickyard, and the barn for teams” (Cedar Falls Semi Weekly Gazette, 
July 2,1895). The 1897 Sanborn map lists it as a “tile and wood yard,” meaning it was mostly used for storage 
purposes and was an easily accessible in-town location for customers (Figure 36). The “brick & tile yard” was 
also depicted on the 1900 Sanborn map.  

 

 
Figure 36. 1897 Sanborn Map showing Daniel Wild’s new location for the Cedar Falls Brick & Tile Company 

(outlined). The small lumber yard across Water Street was once operated by Abraham Wild. Source: Sanborn 1897. 

N 

312



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Section 8 page 31 

Other Business Ventures of Daniel Wild and Sons 
 
Daniel Wild also became a partner in the business of his distant relative Abraham Wild, who supplied lumber 
and coal from a store at 1524 Main Street. Daniel was listed as a partner in this business in the 1896 Black 
Hawk County Atlas (Figure 37). It was noted in the March 27, 1896 Cedar Falls Gazette, that “Daniel Wild, Jr.” 
(i.e., Daniel N.) and W.T.M. Aitkin will have charge of the yard and office work.  
 

 
Figure 37. 1896 listing for “Abr. Wild & Co.,” dealer of lumber and coal on the corner of Fourth and Water 

Streets. Owners were listed as Abraham, Charles J., Daniel N., and Daniel Wild. Source: Kace 1896. 

 
However, this partnership did not last long, as the January 13, 1897 Waterloo Courier reported that the firm 
was dissolving. The article mentioned that Abraham, Charles J., Daniel, and Daniel N., (father and sons), 
were not working “harmoniously” and thus agreed to the dissolution of the lumber business. But after 
Abraham incurred financial difficulties around 1900, Daniel Wild took over the business and absorbed it into 
his brick and tile company, thus consolidating his share and dominance in the local building materials market. 
 
Daniel’s son, Charles, was partner in another business by 1894, the “fine footwear” store of “Wild & Rall.” This 
firm along with “Abr. Wild & Co. Lumber & Coal” and his father’s “Wild & Co.” brick yard offering “all kinds of 
building brick,” were advertised on the same page in 
the 1894 Cedar Falls city directory (Figure 38). The 
firm of Wild & Rall dissolved in 1895, with Charles the 
receiver and in charge of selling the stock (Cedar 
Falls Semi-Weekly Gazette, 14 May 1895). However, 
by the early 1900s, Charles J. Wild was advertising as 
the proprietor of his own shoe store known as “The 
Leader,” with his brothers Joseph and Jacob both 
working as salesmen (Figure 39). While the June 
1947 obituary for Charles Wild stated that “from 1886 
to 1916, along with his two brothers Joseph and 
Jacob, he operated a shoe store on Main street called 
‘The Leader,’” this chronology is incorrect since he 
was a partner in Wild & Rall up to 1895 (Waterloo 
Daily Courier, June 5, 1947). The end date may be 
correct because it was further stated that “in June of 
1916 the store was sold to three nephews, who are 
brothers Reuben, Carl, and Joseph Miller, who still 
operate the store” (Waterloo Daily Courier, June 5, 
1947). Charles’ brothers Joseph and Jacob had 
preceded him in death, with Joseph passing in 1945 
and Jacob in 1946. During their ownership and 
occupation of their respective homes at 423 (Jacob) 
and 509 (Joseph), these two brothers were working 
with Charles in his shoe store business. Charles also 
lived at 509 circa 1888. 

 
Figure 38. 1894 Cedar Falls City Directory ads for the Wild family enterprises in the city.  

313



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Section 8 page 32 

 
Figure 39. 1906 ad for “The Leader” shoe store of Charles J. Wild listing at the bottom the salesmen as Charles 

and his brothers Jacob and Joseph Wild. Source: Cedar Falls Gazette, December 1906.  
 

Daniel N. Wild, also sometimes referenced as “Daniel Wild, Jr.” was the third son of Daniel and Margaret 
Wild. Among his other business interests, was the Cedar Falls Creamery. The family also participated in a 
number of other lesser businesses in town. The Wild family as a whole was also very active in the United 
Brethren Church in Cedar Falls (now the Cedar Falls Mennonite Church) and social and business 
organizations in the city.  
 
In 1901, it was noted that the stockholding board of directors was taking the brick and tile company in a 
different direction. By this time, only George Wild held an officer position and Daniel Wild as elderly and likely 
no longer involved in the day-to-day operations. In 1901, the business was sold to a trio of out-of-town 
businessmen, who vowed to make more and better bricks on site than ever before. The Cedar Falls and 
Waterloo newspapers enthusiastically heralded the new direction (Waterloo Semi Weekly Reporter May 21 
1901; Waterloo Daily Courier May 24, 1901 and February 8, 1901). However, by the time of the 1909 Sanborn 
map, the Cedar Falls Brick & Tile Co. was shown as “not in operation” and the buildings deteriorating (see 
Figure 33). Therefore, the sale of the brick and tile company out of the Wild family in 1901 marks the end of 

314



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Section 8 page 33 

the family’s dominance of Cedar Falls’ building industry. Daniel N. Wild’s creamery business continued until 
1903, the same year that his father passed away. However, the shoe store of Charles J. Wild continued to 
operate until 1916 when it was sold to the next generation of family members, who continued its operation into 
the mid-20th century. 
 
The History of the Wild Historic District as a Family Enclave 
 
The first house that Daniel and Margaret Wild built within the district boundaries was a two-story brick house 
that was located at the northwest corner of W. 1st and Tremont streets. This house  was shown on both the 
1868 and 1880 birds-eye illustrations of Cedar Falls sited very near the street corner (see Figures 27 and 40). 
The 1880 illustration shows a two-story side gable with rear one-story ell and the two story section fronting W. 
1st Street. An outbuilding is shown to the northeast corner of the lot. The placement of this house so close to 
W. 1st Street suggests that at the time of the construction of their large Queen Anne house in 1895, which is 
set back from the street, meant that they could have continued living in the brick house until the new house 
was completed and then the brick house was torn down. However, it is also possible that the brick interior 
walls of the house at 501 W. 1st Street are remnants of the older house around which the larger frame house 
was built, or that those interior walls were built using bricks salvaged from the older house. It should be noted 
that W. 1st Street was not as wide as it is today; therefore, there would have been more room on this lot for 
the older house in the late 19th century. Notably, this illustration does not depict the small house yet at 509 W. 
1st Street. 
 

 
Figure 40. 1880 Birdseye illustration of Cedar Falls showing location of Daniel and Margaret Wild’s first house at 
the northwest corner of W. 1st and Tremont streets (circled). At this time, there were no other houses shown to the 

west or east of this house, just commercial-type buildings. Source: Hageboeck 1880. 

N 

315



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Section 8 page 34 

As the Wild family grew, they left the family home (for the most part) and established their own households in 
their married lives.3 However, some returned to the family home at 501 W. 1st Street following the death of 
their spouses or after divorce. This was the case with Carrie Wild Zager, Rose Wild Higby, and Daniel N. 
Wild.  
 
When Carrie Zager’s husband Louis F. Zager died in 1895, his obituary stated that the couple had been “living 
on First Street near Franklin,” which would be east of this house and that of Daniel and Margaret Wild (Semi-
Weekly Cedar Falls Gazette, 5 November 1895). If they had been living at 509, it would be more likely that the 
location would have been referenced as near “Tremont” since this house is just west of that intersection. 
However, according to Louis and Carrie’s daughter, Clara Zager Houghton, in a letter dated 1975, her uncle 
Charles Wild and his wife Rose lived in this house “when first married,” which took place in October 25, 1888. 
While they lived at 509 circa 1888, the property abstract indicates that Daniel Wild remained in possession of 
the property. Therefore, it appears that Daniel Wild had built this house by at least 1888, perhaps for Charles 
and Rose. It may also be that between Charles and Rose’s occupation and Carrie Wild Zager’s ownership in 
1896 that the house might have been rented out for a time. It was certainly rented out after Carrie purchased 
it from her father. The 1900 Federal Population Census listed Carrie and her daughter Clara then living at 501 
W. 1st Street in her parents’ household, with Carrie’s house at 509 rented out to Francis and Ida M. Vance. 
Carrie Zager retained ownership of the 509 property until 1909 when it was transferred to her brother Joseph 
Wild. The 1910 Federal Census listed the household of owner Joseph Wild at 509, with his sisters Carrie 
Zager and Rose Higby both living with him in the house. In 1911, Joseph married Rosa (aka, Rose) Esther 
Sparr in St. Paul, Minnesota, with the couple then making their home in Cedar Falls at 509 W. 1st Street 
where they would live until their deaths in the 1940s. The house address was listed in the probate records for 
both as their place of residence (Census and marriage data accessed at www.ancestry.com, December 2018; 
Property Abstract). 
 
The house at 423 W. 1st Street was built circa 1891 by Daniel N. Wild. It was built while his parents’ old brick 
house was still standing on the northwest corner of the Tremont Street intersection with W. 1st Street, with the 
423 house built on the northeast corner. The construction of Daniel N.’s house was prompted by his marriage 
in 1890 to Mae M. Brodie. However, the marriage was a tumultuous one, with the couple divorcing in 1897 but 
then later remarried. After their divorce, Daniel N. Wild went to live in his parents’ house next door where he 
was living at the time of the 1900 Federal Census. Mae (Brodie) Wild also went to live with her parents by 
1900 at a house located elsewhere in the city. Mae retained ownership in 1897 but transferred it that same 
year to her former brother-in-law, Jacob Wild and his wife Eleanor M. Lumpe, who would reside in this house 
until their deaths in the 1940s (Census data accessed at www.ancestry.com, December 2018; Property 
Abstract). 
 
Following the deaths of Daniel and Margaret Wild in 1903 and 1905, respectively, their house at 501 W. 1st 
Street was sold out of the family. Specifically, the children, as the heirs of Margaret Wild, conveyed the 
property to L.G. Ronquest on May 16, 1907. Other owners would follow, with the Strothman, Pillsbury, and 
Wood families of note. Joseph Wild owned the house at 509 W. 1st Street from 1909 until his death in 1945, 
along with his wife, Rose Esther (Sparr) from their marriage in 1911 until her death in 1946. Jacob Wild and 
his wife, Eleanor M. (Lumpe) lived at 423 W. 1st Street until their respective deaths, in 1946 and 1943. The 
deaths of Jacob Wild and Rose (Sparr) Wild both in 1946 marked the end of the Wild family occupation of 
these properties.  
 
Therefore, the three houses that comprise the Wild Historic District were all built by and for the family of 
Daniel and Margaret Wild. The three houses together were a distinct unit along W. 1st Street, with the large 
Queen Anne house serving as the center focal point and homestead for this family grouping. While this may 

                         

3 Daniel and Margaret Wild had ten children: Emma, Caroline (aka, Carrie), Charles, George, Jacob, Daniel N., Joseph, Flora, Rose, 
and Helen. 316



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Section 8 page 35 

not be unique in Cedar Falls, it would certainly have been uncommon and notable to have so many family 
members living in houses next to one another. Thus, the three houses came to function as something of a 
family enclave from circa 1888 until 1946 when the last of the Wild family members died and others were now 
owning and occupying all three houses. This was definitely a family that lived together, worked together, and 
most were even buried together in the family plot in the nearby Greenwood Cemetery (Figure 41).  
 

 
Figure 41. Wild family plot and individual gravesites in the Greenwood Cemetery. 

Source: https://www.findagrave.com/, December 2018. 

 
In 2017, the house at 501 W. 1st Street was listed in the NRHP under Criterion B for its association with 
Daniel Wild as a significant person in Cedar Falls’ history. Susan Card, property owner of 423 and 501 W. 1st 
Street and the preparer of the NRHP nomination for 501 W. 1st Street, noted the following:  
 

The narrative establishes that Daniel Wild clearly meets a test of significance in multiple forms: 
early settler in the undeveloped Cedar Valley, journeyman tradesman growing prosperous by 
building sustainable thriving businesses, land acquisitions which created viable economic 
streams of revenue through farming, leasing of land, and the eventual selling of cemetery plots, 
and by involving offspring in businesses both retail and wholesale (Leader Shoe Store and 
Cedar Falls Dairy). His significance is exemplified by the structures which still exist; his 3 
homes, and at least two brick buildings within Cedar Falls. While he was not a statesman, or 
college president, or mayor, these are not the only measures of significance. Daniel was a man 
who spent his life achieving success in his business ventures in order to provide for and 
sustain his growing family. His impact is undeniable, and the City would not be the same 
without him. The Daniel Wild home showcases his brick (interior walls), cement (basement 
floor), the fancy woodwork certainly obtained by connection with Abraham Wild & Co., Lumber 
and Coal, but it is also a lasting tribute to him and his family (Card 2017). 
 

The design of Daniel and Margaret’s 1895 house had been inspired after a house they had seen and admired 
on a trip to Florida. A Cedar Falls architect adapted the plans for the Wild’s large new home. Soon after 
completion, Daniel and Margaret, their newly-widowed daughter Carrie and her daughter Clara Zager moved 
into the new house. They would be joined by son Daniel N. when he became divorced in 1897. Son Joseph 
W. also lived in the 1895 house for a time before he purchased the brick cottage from Carrie and moved there 
in 1909. Clara Zager Houghton, granddaughter of Daniel and Margaret Wild and daughter of Carrie (Wild) 
Zager, wrote of these two homes: 

317



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Section 8 page 36 

The home [501] was built in 1895, and as I recall, (I was only 6 years old) the family moved in about 
Thanksgiving time. Daniel Wild and wife had spent the previous winter in Eustis, Florida. Friends down 
there had just finished building a new house. Mr. Wild liked the set of plans so well, he brought them 
home with him, and started things moving immediately, to have a replica of this house for his new home. 
The two story brick house, which had formerly been the home, was made from brick from the Wild Brick 
Yard, which was my Grandfather’s business. The brick bungalow [509] directly west of the Wild 
residence is also made from brick fired in the Wild Brick Yard. This house is still standing. The type of 
the Wild House [i.e., 501] is southern; the front door opening in the middle, with the sitting room on the 
right and parlor on the left. From the outside, both sides look the same. The woodwork in the dining 
room is Georgia curly pine. These curls are not painted on the wood, but are in the wood. I think the 
wood is varnished. I used to think the sliding doors that opened into the library were so beautiful. While 
in the south, Grandfather had this wood shipped to Cedar Falls.  

 
Hertha Strothman’s family owned and occupied the house at 501 in the 1920s. In her memoirs, she wrote 
about the house and her early memories of this house and the property: 
 

[A “tremendous barn”] stood behind the house, with a couple of black walnut trees. The yard had 
several huge maples and a garden with a big asparagus bed and a trellis of perennial sweet peas. The 
house had five porches, 3 downstairs and two on the upper floor. It had two stairways to the basement, 
plus another through a slanted cyclone door from the back yard, as well as two stairways to the second 
floor and a narrow flight to the unfinished attic. The first floor had a wide center hall, four large rooms 
plus a powder room and a huge kitchen with a wood burning range. Mama kept her electric wringer 
washing machine in a corner. The second floor had a bathroom and four spacious bed rooms and a 
sunny study that became the nursery when Franklin Allen was born. The big, pale yellow house 
occupied the northwest corner of West First Street and Tremont Avenue, but Tremont ended there, 
giving us the width of the street in lawn for carefree play. The lawn extended down to the Illinois Central 
Railroad tracks. Beyond the tracks flowed the Cedar River, and across the river we could see the 
Bathing Beach House and the Bath house. We could watch the huge blocks of ice being cut and 
pushed through a channel to the Ice House where they were layered with straw for next summer’s use 
(Hertha Strothman Memoir). 

 
The house at 501 W. 1st Street is an elaborate spindlework example of the Queen Anne style, which was 
popular in the United States and Iowa in the 1880s-1910s (McAlester 2017). Daniel retained the services of 
architect and builder, W.A. Robinson of Cedar Falls to execute the plans for his new home. The materials 
used to build the house came from Abraham Wild & Co.’s lumber yard. Its architectural significance qualified 
the house for individual listing in the NRHP under Criterion C as well (Card 2017).  
 
The two houses at 423 and 509 W. 1st Street are vernacular expressions of Late Victorian styles. These are 
modest-sized homes but are still appointed on the interior with decorative woodwork and other details such as 
built-ins, staircases, and colonnades, that reflect the family’s financial standing in the 1890s and their 
association with the lumber and brick industries in Cedar Falls. The house at 509 is the smallest of the three 
and functioned at times as a rental property but was always owned by the Wilds during the period of 
significance. However, following Daniel and Margaret’s deaths in the early 1900s, the family’s occupation of 
these properties focused on the two smaller houses since the large Queen Anne home was sold out of the 
family in 1907. The two smaller houses continued to be occupied by sons of Daniel and Margaret into the 
1940s.  
 
Statement on Archaeological Potential of the Wild Historic District 
 
A Phase I archaeological investigation was conducted along W. 1st Street in 2014, with subsurface testing 
conducted in the rear and side yards of 423 and 501 W. 1st Street. At the time, the Daniel and Margaret Wild 
House had been identified as a historic property but was not yet listed in the NRHP. It was found that the yard 
areas within that project area had been disturbed by underground utilities lines, the rip-rapping of the adjacent 

318



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Section 8 page 37 

ravine slope, and the construction of the modern garage on the rear of the house at 501. As a result, any 
archaeological potential at these locations had been greatly impacted. No archaeological sites were 
encountered and no further archaeological investigation was recommended (Rogers 2014). Therefore, for the 
current district nomination significance under Criterion D is not claimed.  
 
There remains some archaeological potential that should be examined on the reported location of either a 
brick yard of Daniel Wild’s or a storage yard for his company’s bricks to the west of the historic district. The 
current owner has reported finding bricks in the grassy parcel near his home every time he digs a hole. It is 
recommended that this parcel be examined by historical research and archaeological investigation to either 
confirm or refute such an association. Furthermore, the location of the Cedar Falls Brick & Tile Co. is a 
potential archaeological site that should be identified and evaluated.  
 
Recommendations for Future Studies 
 
There are a number of properties in Cedar Falls, including commercial, religious, and residential properties  
built with Cedar Falls Brick & Tile Co. bricks and/or associated with members of the Wild family. These 
properties, if they retain sufficient integrity and significance, may be eligible for inclusion in the NRHP under a 
Multiple Property Cover Document related to the Wild Family’s significance in Cedar Fall’s industrial, 
commercial, social, and religious history.  

 
Acknowledgments 
 
A number of individuals contributed to the completion of this nomination including property owners, Susan E. 
Card and Marianne Hartz, who graciously allowed access to the interior of their homes and provided their 
property abstracts for review. Susan Card also provided historical photographs, historical accounts from Wild 
family members, and oral history about the various properties from previous owners and occupants. The City 
of Cedar Falls and the Cedar Falls Historic Preservation Commission, including Project Director Iris Lehmann, 
provided support throughout the project and assistance with coordination and reviewing the drafts of the 
nominations.  
 
Disclaimer 
 
The activity that is the subject of a National Register nomination has been financed in part with Federal funds 
from the National Park Service, U.S. Department of the Interior. However, the contents and opinions do not 
necessarily reflect the view or policies of the Department of the Interior, nor does the mention of trade names 
or commercial products constitute endorsement or recommendation by the Department of the Interior. 
 

 
 

 

319



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Sections 9 – 11 page 38 

9.  Major Bibliographical References  

Bibliography (Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form.)      

 
Black Hawk County Assessor, online property records. Accessed 2018. 
 
Card, Susan. Personal Interview conducted by Tallgrass Archaeology LLC, 2018 
 
Card, Susan. Daniel and Margaret Wild House. National Register of Historic Places Registration Form, 2017. 

On file State Historic Preservation Office, Des Moines. 
 
Cedar Falls Historical Society. Historical Record of Cedar Falls, The Garden City of Iowa, Containing A Brief 

History of Iowa, of Black Hawk County, and a Full and Complete Description of Industrial and Picturesque 
Cedar Falls. Originally published in 1893 by Peter Melendy of Cedar Falls. Reprinted in 1981 by Congdon 
Printing Company, Cedar Falls, Iowa, for the Cedar Falls Historical Society.  

 
Cedar Falls Semi Weekly Gazette, Cedar Falls Gazette, and Waterloo Courier. Accessed at 

Newspaperarchive.com, September-December, 2018.  
 
Full, Jan Olive. Iowa Site Inventory forms for 423, 501 and 509 W. 1st Street. On file State Historic 

Preservation Office, Des Moines. 
 
Genealogical data including census, city directories, obituaries, and family histories accessed at Ancestry.com, 

November-December 2018.  
 
Green, Erica Adelmind. Greenwood Cemetery. Cedar Falls Historical Society.  
 
Hageboeck, A., designer and lithographer. Birds-eye View of Cedar Falls, Blackhawk Co., Iowa, 1880. 
 
Hartman, John C. History of Black Hawk County, Iowa and its People. Chicago: S.J. Clarke Publishing 

Company, 1915. 
 
Houghton, Clara Zager. Personal notes, granddaughter of Daniel and Margaret Wild, 1974. 
 
Iowa Geographic Map Server accessed at http://ortho.gis.iastate.edu/, September-December 2018. 
 
Jordan, Dan, Sr. Personal Interview conducted by Tallgrass Archaeology LLC, 2018. 
 
Kace. Illustrated Atlas of Black Hawk County, Iowa. Racine, Wisconsin: Kace Publishing Company, 1896.  
 
Melendy, Peter. Historical Record of Cedar Falls, the Garden City of Iowa, of Black Hawk County, and a Full 

and Complete Description of Industrial and Picturesque Cedar Falls. Cedar Falls, 1893. 
 
McAlester, Virginia Savage. A Field Guide to American Houses. New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 2017. 
 
Rogers, Leah D. Iowa 57/West 1st Street Study from Hudson Road to Franklin Street: Phase I Archaeological 

Investigation, City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa, Tallgrass Historians L.C., Iowa City, Iowa, 
2014. 

 
Sanborn fire insurance maps of the City of Cedar Falls, 1885-1956. Accessed at the Library of Congress, 

https://loc.gov/, November 2018. 
 320



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Sections 9 – 11 page 39 

Strothman, Hertha. Memoir.  
 
Sweet, Cynthia R. Sweet. Research notes, Cedar Falls Historic Preservation Commission, 2013-2016 and 

Research on West First Street Addresses, October 2013. On file Tallgrass Archaeology LLC, Iowa City. 
 
Van Metre, Isaiah. History of Black Hawk County, Iowa and Representative Citizens. Chicago: Biographical 

Publishing Company, 1904. 
 
Previous documentation on file (NPS):  

 
 preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been requested 

 previously listed in the National Register  

 previously determined eligible by the National Register  

 designated a National Historic Landmark  

 recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey    # 

 recorded by Historic American Engineering Record # 

 recorded by Historic American Landscape Survey # 

 
 

Primary location of additional data:  

 

X State Historic Preservation Office 

 Other State Agency 

 Federal Agency 

 Local Government 

 University 

 Other 

 Name of repository:  

 
 

Historic Resources Survey Number (if assigned):  07-13237 

 

321



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Sections 9 – 11 page 40 

 

10.  Geographical Data                                                               
 

Acreage of Property F Less than one 
(Do not include previously listed resource acreage; enter “Less than one” if the acreage is .99 or less) 
 
Latitude/Longitude Coordinates 

Datum if other than WGS84: F  
(enter coordinates to 6 decimal places) 

 
 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property.) 

 
The boundary of the Wild Historic District is shown as the dashed line on the accompanying map entitled 
“Aerial Map showing the NRHP Boundary of the Wild Historic District.” 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected.) 

 
The district boundary encompasses the four lots historically associated with the Wild Family properties at 423, 
501, and 509 W. 1st Street in the City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa. 
 

11. Form Prepared By  

name/title Leah Rogers, Principal Investigator, and Ray Werner, Project Historian  date  April 1, 2019 

organization  Tallgrass Archaeology LLC telephone  319-354-6722 

street & number   2460 S. Riverside Drive email  lrogerstallgrass@gmail.com 

city or town    Iowa City state  IA zip code  52246 

 

Additional Documentation 

Submit the following items with the completed form: 
 

 GIS Location Map (Google Earth or BING) 
 

 Local Location Map 
 
 Site Plan 

 
 Floor Plans (As Applicable) 
 
 Photo Location Map (Key all photographs to this map and insert immediately after the photo log and before the list of figures). 

 

1  42.538160   -92.451490  3  42.538200   -92.450450 
 Latitude   Longitude   Latitude 

 
 Longitude 

2  42.538260   -92.450680  4  42.537970   -92450450 
 Latitude 

 
 Longitude    

 
Latitude  Longitude 

5  42.537920   -92451490 
 
 

Latitude  Longitude 

322



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Sections 9 – 11 page 41 

 
Aerial Map showing the NRHP Boundary of the Wild Historic District as a black dashed line.  

Source for base map: 2015 aerial image 
 

 
Closer aerial showing the NRHP boundary (black dashed line) and contributing (C), individually listed (IL) and 
noncontributing (NC) resources. White dot is the stone hitching post, which is a contributing object to the Daniel and 

Margaret Wild House NRHP nomination (Card 2017).   
Source for base map: Black Hawk County Assessor website, accessed October 2018 

N 
W. 1st Street  

Tremont 
Street 

509 
501 423 

N W. 1st Street  

Tremont 
Street 

C 
IL 

C NC 

323



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Sections 9 – 11 page 42 

 
Aerial map showing boundary of Wild Historic District (white dashed line) and the Latitude/Longitude coordinates 

of the boundary. Source of base aerial: ExpertGPS mapping software, 2018.  
 
 
 

324



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Sections 9 – 11 page 43 

 1900 Sanborn map of Wild Historic District                  1909 Sanborn map of Wild Historic District (red outline) 

 

 
1916 Sanborn map of Wild Historic District. 

 

N 

509 501 423 
509 501 423 

509 
501 

423 

325



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Sections 9 – 11 page 44 

 
Circa 1925 photograph of 501 W. 1st Street looking NW and showing 509 W. 1st Street at the far left. This is the 
only known historic photograph of 509 W. 1st Street and shows the brick exterior then exposed and the porch on the 

façade. Also visible in the far right is the large barn that once stood behind 501 W. Street.  
Source: Personal collection of Susan Card, Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

326



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018    

 

 Wild Historic District   Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Sections 9 – 11 page 45 

 

 
Aerial Map Showing Direction of Photographs 

Source for base map: 2016 orthophoto obtained from ArcGIS - Iowa Geographic Map Server, 2019 
 
 
 

 

N 

1 3 

4 

6 

5 

  7 

  9 

10 

13 

11 

8 

2 

12 

327



United States Department of the Interior  
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                                     OMB No. 1024-0018   
                  

 

 Wild Historic District    Black Hawk, Iowa 
Name of Property                   County and State 

 

 
Sections 9 – 11 page 46 

Photographs:  

Submit clear and descriptive photographs under separate cover. The size of each image must be 3000x2000 pixels, at 300 ppi (pixels per inch) or larger. 
Key all photographs to the sketch map. Each photograph must be numbered and that number must correspond to the photograph number on the photo 
log. For simplicity, the name of the photographer, photo date, etc. may be listed once on the photograph log and does not need to be labeled on every 
photograph.  
 

Photo Log  

  Name of Property:  Wild Historic District 

  City or Vicinity:  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  County: Black Hawk State:  Iowa 

  Photographer: Ray Werner, Tallgrass Archaeology LLC 

  Date Photographed: March 22, 2019 

Description of Photograph(s) and number, include description of view indicating direction of camera: 

 
Photo 1 of 13: General view of Wild Historic District looking ENE from W. 1st Street 
Photo 2 of 13: General view of Wild Historic District looking WNW from W. 1st Street 
Photo 3 of 13: Façade of 509 W. 1st Street and Garage looking N from W. 1st Street 
Photo 4 of 13: SW Corner of 509 W. 1st Street looking NE from W. 1st Street 
Photo 5 of 13: N side of 509 W. 1st Street looking S from back yard 
Photo 6 of 13: E Side of 509 W. 1st Street looking WNW from side yard 
Photo 7 of 13: Façade of 501 W. 1st Street looking N from W. 1st Street 
Photo 8 of 13: East Side and Rear of 501 W. 1st Street looking WSW 
Photo 9 of 13: Façade of 423 W. 1st Street looking N from W. 1st Street 
Photo 10 of 13: Façade and E Side of 423 W. 1st Street looking NNW from W. 1st Street 
Photo 11 of 13: East Side of 423 W. 1st Street looking W 
Photo 12 of 13: E side and Rear of 423 W. 1st Street looking SSW 
Photo 13 of 13: West Side of 423 W. 1st Street looking ENE 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Paperwork Reduction Act Statement:  This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate 
properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings.  Response to this request is required to obtain a 
benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C.460 et seq.). 
Estimated Burden Statement:  Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 100 hours per response including time for reviewing 
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form.  Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of 
this form to the Office of Planning and Performance Management. U.S. Dept. of the Interior, 1849 C. Street, NW, Washington, DC.  

328



Photo 1

Photo 2

329



Photo 3

Photo 4
330



Photo 5

Photo 6
331



Photo 7

Photo 8
332



Photo 9

Photo 10

333



Photo 11

Photo 12

334



Photo 13

335



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Iris Lehmann, Planner II 

 DATE: April 11, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Sign review of property in the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay 
 

 
REQUEST: 

 
New projecting sign on storefront 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Oh My Grill, Omer Noorwala; Contractor: Signs & Designs  

LOCATION: 
 

PROJECT #: 

2020 College Street 
 
DR19-001 
 

 
PROPOSAL  
The applicant is requesting a façade review for a new projecting sign at 2020 College Street to 
advertise the building’s new tenant, Oh My Grill. 2020 College Street is located in the College 
Hill Neighborhood Overlay.  
 
BACKGROUND 
The College Hill Neighborhood district requires a site plan review 
(i.e. design review) by the Planning & Zoning Commission and the 
City Council for any substantial improvement to an exterior 
façade. A substantial improvement to properties in the College Hill 
Neighborhood is defined in Section 26-181 (3) and includes: “any 
new, modified or replacement awnings, signs or similar 
projections over public sidewalk areas.” Typically signage is not 
part of the review process unless the review is mandated by 
Ordinance Section 26-181. In this case, when a new projecting 
sign is installed that overhangs the public right-of-way the 
Planning & Zoning Commission and City Council must review and 
approve the request (26-181(7)(e)).   
 
ANALYSIS 
The projecting sign will be placed on the west elevation of the building above the store’s 
entrance on College Street. The proposed sign will be constructed out of aluminum, will be 
lighted, is 25 square feet (5’ x 5’) in size, and will be elevated more than 20 feet above the 

336



sidewalk. City code Section 3-58 requires projecting signs over the right-of-way to have a 
minimum clearance of 10 feet. The size and placement of the proposed sign meets city code 
and height clearances. The proposal includes recovering the existing awning over the building’s 
entrance.  
 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
No comments. 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion/Vote 
4/10/2019 

Planner Lehmann presented the request to the Planning and Zoning 
Commission. There were no questions or comments. The proposal was 
unanimously approved by the Commission. 

  
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Planning and Zoning Commission and the Community Development Department 
recommend approval of the submitted facade plan for 2020 College Street. 
 
Attachments:    

Details of proposed signage 
Letter of Intent 

337



338



339



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Iris Lehmann, Planner II 

 DATE: April 11, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Sign review of property in the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay 
 

 
REQUEST: 

 
New signage on storefront 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Buzz, Usman Chatha; Contractor: Signs & Designs  

LOCATION: 
 

PROJECT #: 
 

2125 College Street, Suite A 
 
DR19-002 
 

 
PROPOSAL  
The applicant is requesting a façade review for a new wall sign and projecting sign at 2125 
College Street to advertise the building’s new tenant, Buzz. 2125 College Street is located in the 
College Hill Neighborhood Overlay.  
 
BACKGROUND 
The College Hill Neighborhood Overlay district requires 
a site plan review (i.e. design review) by the Planning & 
Zoning Commission and the City Council for any 
substantial improvement to an exterior façade. A 
substantial improvement to properties in the College 
Hill Neighborhood is defined in Section 26-181(3) and 
includes: “any new, modified or replacement awnings, 
signs or similar projections over public sidewalk 
areas.” Typically signage is not part of the review 
process unless the review is mandated by Ordinance 
Section 26-181. In this case, when a new projecting 
sign is installed that overhangs the public right-of-way 
the Planning & Zoning Commission and City Council 
must review and approve the request (26-181(7)(e)).   
 
ANALYSIS 
The proposed signage will be placed on the east 

340



elevation of the building above the store’s entrance on College Street. The proposed wall sign is 
comprised of LED lighted channel letters and is approximately 40 square feet in size. City Code 
Section 26-259 requires wall signs in the C-3 zoning district to not exceed one-third of the 
surface area of the wall to which the signs are affixed. The proposed projecting sign is a lighted 
two sided digital message center. This sign is approximately 12.5 square feet in size and would 
be elevated 12 feet above the sidewalk. City code Section 3-58 requires projecting signs over 
the right-of-way to have a minimum clearance of 10 feet. The sizes and placement of the 
proposed signs meet city code size requirements and height clearances. 
 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
No comments. 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion/Vote 
4/10/2019 

Planner Lehmann presented the request to the Planning and Zoning 
Commission. There were no questions or comments. The proposal was 
unanimously approved by the Commission. 

  
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Planning and Zoning Commission and Community Development Department recommend 
approval of the submitted facade plan for 2125 College Street. 
 
Attachments:    

Details of proposed signage 
Letter of Intent 

341



342



343



344



1 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Iris Lehmann, Planner II 

  Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: April 11, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Site Plan Review: 302 Main Street and 123 E 3rd Street/305 State Street  
 

PROJECT:  SP19-003 
 

 

REQUEST: 
 

Request to approve the Site Plan for 302 Main Street and 123 E 3rd 
Street/305 State Street 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

River Place Properties II, LC – owner; AXIOM Consultants;  Shive-Hattery 
 

LOCATION: 
 

302 Main Street and 123 E 3rd Street/305 State Street – Former Wells Fargo 
Site 

 

PROPOSAL 
The applicant proposes to redevelop the former Wells Fargo site at the corner of Main Street 
and 3rd Street into two new mixed-use buildings. The property is just over 0.5 acres in area and 
is located in the C-3, commercial zoning district and is also located within the Central Business 
District Overlay Zoning District (CBD).  
 
The proposal includes a three-story building and a six-story building.  The three-story building, 
302 Main Street, has approximately 6,600 square feet of commercial space with a drive-through 
on the first floor and approximately 15,200 square feet of office space proposed on the second 
and third floors. The six story building, 123 E 3rd Street/305 State Street, will include below-
grade structured parking, approximately 9,200 square feet of first floor commercial space, 
second floor structured parking with the potential for some additional office space, and a total of 
25 residential units on the third through sixth floors. A one-way city alley separates the two 
proposed buildings. See images below for existing and proposed site layouts. 
 

 
 
 
 
           

 
 

Existing  Proposed  345



2 
 

BACKGROUND 
The Wells Fargo building was built in 1910 as a two-story building in the Colonial Revival style. 
The Wells Fargo building was significantly modified in 1963 when the second floor was 
removed. Through this remodel the building lost its historic identity and was thereafter out of 
character with the rest of the district reading visually as modern infill. The former bank had a 
private surface parking lot and drive-through on the lot across the alley to the east. The building, 
which is currently being demolished, was not eligible for the National Register of Historic Places 
either individually or as a contributing building in the Cedar Falls Downtown Historic District 
(State Inventory Form 01-13391). The demolition of this building and redevelopment of this site 
will not detract from the Downtown’s National Historic District status. The site was purchased by 
River Place Properties II, LC in June of 2018.  
 
A courtesy mailing was sent to neighboring property owners on Tuesday, March 5th, 2019.  
 
ANALYSIS 
All new building construction on properties located in the Central Business District must be 
reviewed by the Planning & Zoning Commission and approved by the City Council. This 
proposal qualifies as a substantial improvement under Section 26-189 CBD, Central Business 
District Overlay. This review entails a site plan review and an architectural design review for 
architectural compatibility with surrounding structures. Following is a review of proposed 
buildings according to the zoning ordinance standards: 
 
a) Proposed Use: The proposed commercial, office, and residential uses are permitted in the 

C-3 Commercial district. Uses permitted. 
 

b) Setbacks: There are no building setbacks in the C-3 Commercial district. Both proposed 
buildings will be built to their property lines with the exception of the west side of 123 E 3rd 
Street/305 State Street, the first floor of which will be setback 4 feet from the alley. The 
second story is proposed to cantilever over this setback area, but must maintain a 
minimum 14-foot clearance from grade. This 4-foot setback effectively increases the alley 
width from 16 to 20 feet, which would create a space wide enough to allow for two-way 
traffic along this section, provided that the property owner grants a no-build easement for 
the four-foot setback area. Setbacks satisfied. 

 
c) Parking/Access:  

 
302 Main Street is comprised of commercial and office spaces. 
This building is not required to provide on-site parking and no 
private off-street parking is being proposed on the property at 
302 Main Street. Parking requirements are met for the 302 
Main Street building.  

 
Proposed Drive-through: The applicant is proposing a drive-
through off of the alley to serve the financial institution use 
anticipated in one of the ground floor commercial spaces (see 
image of the proposal to the right). The Central Business 
District Overlay and C-3 zoning district allows drive-through 
facilities. Per city code a bank drive-through must “provide three 
stacking spaces per teller” (Sec. 26-220, 4). The proposal 

346



3 
 

meets that requirement. However, the drive-through can only function in this location by 
utilizing the public alley for access. The alley in question is a one-way, 16-foot-wide alley 
that circulates traffic from north to south, similar to the other alleys located in the first block 
east of Main Street. To access the proposed drive-through, customers will have to drive 
south off of 3rd Street and loop back north through the drive-through to access the service 
window. Drivers would then need to loop back south along the alley to exit.  

 
Staff had concerns about potential congestion and traffic circulation issues on this narrow 
one-way alley with the added traffic from a drive-through and from the underground parking 
level for the 123 E 3rd Street/305 State Street building. To provide for better traffic 
circulation for both buildings the applicant is proposing to set back the first floor of the 123 
E 3rd Street building four feet from the alley and grant a no-build easement/public access 
easement for this area. This would effectively create a 20-foot wide section of the alley 
between the new buildings that could accommodate two-way traffic. Staff is open to 
permitting two-way traffic along the north half of the alley with appropriate directional 
signage and the no-build/public access easement to accommodate the drive-through and 
to allow better traffic circulation for the resident parking in the lower level of the 123 E 3rd 
Street building. However, staff recommends that language be added to the development 
agreement with the property owner that would allow the City to impose additional 
conditions or modifications to the drive-through, such as time restrictions, additional 
signage, or design modifications, if traffic congestion from the drive-through poses a safety 
issue for pedestrians or undue traffic congestion in the future. In addition, if the use of the 
ground floor space ever changes, staff recommends that the drive-through use be 
discontinued, unless subsequently reviewed and approved by the City Council for the new 
use. With these terms in the agreement staff would support the drive-through as proposed.  

 
123 E 3rd Street/305 State Street is comprised of commercial, office, and residential uses. 
No parking is required for the commercial and office portions of the building but parking for 
the residential units is required. The off-street parking requirement for the residential use is 
two parking spaces per dwelling unit, plus one additional parking space for each bedroom 
in each dwelling unit in excess of two bedrooms. One additional stall must be provided for 
every five units in excess of five units for visitor parking (Sec. 26-220, 12B). The applicant 
is proposing 25 two-bedroom condominiums. Per city code 50 parking spaces are required 
for the residents and 4 spaces for visitors. The applicant is proposing to provide 50 on-site 
parking stalls. All parking spaces will be located within the building with 31 in an 
underground garage and 19 on the second floor. These numbers include two ADA 
compliant stalls in each parking area. The parking spaces will each be 8’ x18’ with access 
from a 24-foot wide two-way aisle within the structure. The minimum size requirements for 
residential parking areas are met. In addition, the applicant is proposing to add 11 on-street 
parking spaces along the south side of E 3rd Street, directly north of the building, and two 
on-street parking spaces along the west side of State Street next to the building. This 
would create 11 new public parking spaces for the downtown district, which more than 
accommodates the visitor parking requirements for the site.  Access to the underground 
parking garage will be from the alley while access to the second floor parking garage will 
be from State Street. See cross-section illustration below. For safety both parking 
entrances will be equipped with audible and visual warnings when doors are in the open 
position. Mirrors will also be installed to help vehicles see passing pedestrians.  Parking 
requirements are met for the 123 E. 3rd Street/305 State Street Building. 

347



4 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
As noted in the earlier parking analysis of 302 Main Street, there is concern from staff 
regarding the potential congestion in the alley. In addition to the drive-through, the entrance 
to the underground garage will be accessed from the alley. Previously, the alley was open 
to the parking area and drive-through for Wells Fargo, so traffic circulation was not as 
constrained as it will be with the proposed buildings. A common use for alleys in 
commercial areas is to provide a place for trucks to deliver goods to businesses so not to 
interrupt traffic flow on main streets. With commercial businesses like Pablo’s Mexican Grill 
directly to the south of this site, this phenomenon occurs quite frequently at this location. 
The increase in the alley width with the no-build easement proposed by the applicant will 
allow two-way traffic along the north half of the alley, which will help to mitigate potential 
conflicts if the alley is blocked by delivery trucks on the southern portion of the alley.  
However, all future users of the alley will need to make an effort to be “good neighbors” to 
ensure that adequate traffic circulation is maintained.  
 
Parking Impact Analysis: A parking study was recently completed for the downtown district 
by WGI. Since this project was under review by City staff, the City requested that the 
parking consultant provide a parking impact analysis for the project. This report is attached 
to this staff report. In the analysis, the consultant reports that at the seasonal peak demand 
hour during the holiday shopping season in mid-December, the proposed uses within the 
building may generate parking demand for approximately 82 parking spaces (93 parking 
spaces, if a restaurant locates in the larger space in the 123 E. 3rd Street/305 State Street 
building). While on these peak dates, the parking demand may exceed the 61 parking 
spaces provided for the proposed project, the report notes that the parking demand model 
projects maximum demand on the busiest days of the year, which may only happen a few 
times per year. The report also notes that the downtown parking study documented that 
“the existing River Place surface parking lot shows consistent parking availability during all 
times of the day and on weekends. The average parking availability in the River Place lot 
was 89 open parking spaces during the typical lunch period and an average of 60 spaces 
open during typical evening periods.” The consultant concludes that there is sufficient 
developer-controlled private parking to support the proposed project on the former Wells 
Fargo site. In addition, the report notes that the net gain of 11 public parking spaces along 
3rd and State Streets will benefit the entire area.  

348



5 
 

 
Staff notes that in addition to the private off-street parking in the area controlled by the 
developer, there are public parking lots and on-street parking in the downtown area that are 
intended to provide for the parking needs of the district. As shown in the larger parking 
study completed by the consultant, which has been posted on the City’s website, there are 
currently a significant number of additional long-term parking spaces available even during 
peak times within 2 blocks of Main Street. As the City implements the recommendations of 
the parking study to more carefully manage the public parking, it will become more difficult 
for long term parkers, such as employees, to utilize the prime on-street parking spaces 
intended for customers. They will be more likely to take advantage of the free 24-hour 
parking located within 2 blocks of their workplace. Staff finds that the significant captive 
market benefits of additional employees and residents that will result from the 
development of these new buildings will be a significant benefit to the downtown 
area with little impact to parking availability.   
 

d) Open Space/Landscaping: There are no open green space requirements in the C-3 
Commercial district. Although both buildings utilize the entirety of their site, both provide 
open roof spaces for tenant usage through both balconies and green roofs. In addition, the 
applicant will replace the three street trees along Main Street, add one tree along E 3rd 
Street, and replace one street tree along State Street. Open Space/Landscaping 
requirement satisfied. 

 
e) Sidewalks/Recreational Accommodations: With construction of the new buildings, it is 

anticipated that the alley and the public sidewalks will need to be reconstructed. The 
applicant will be responsible for replacing sections of the sidewalks and portions of the 
alley that are damaged due to construction of the site. Engineering plans for this work have 
been submitted with this proposal. The replacement of the sidewalk along Main Street and 
the addition of the public parking spaces along 3rd street will be coordinated with the City 
and will be consistent with the planned streetscape design for the area, including 
decorative paving and lighting. Reconstruction of 3rd Street is in the City’s Capital 
Improvements Program and planned in 2020, so ideally street reconstruction will coincide 
with construction of the 123 E. 3rd Street/305 State Street building. Bike racks will be 
provided near the State Street entrance to the residential units of 123 E 3rd Street/305 
State Street. Sidewalk/Recreational Accommodations satisfied. 
 

f) Building Design: Section 26-189(i), Central Business Overlay District requires a design 
review of various elements to ensure that the proposed improvements are architecturally 
compatibility with surrounding structures.  

 
a) Proportion: “The relationship of width and height of the front elevations of adjacent 

buildings shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building. An effort 
should be made to generally align horizontal elements along a street frontage, such as 
cornice lines, windows, awnings and canopies. The relationship of width and height of 
windows and doors of adjacent buildings shall be considered in the construction or 
alteration of a building. Particular attention must be given to the scale of street level 
doors, walls and windows. Blank walls at the street level are to be discouraged. 
Elements such as windows, doors, columns, pilasters, and changes in materials, 
artwork, or other architectural details that provide visual interest must be distributed 
across the façade in a manner consistent with the overall design of the building.” 

349



6 
 

The C-3 Commercial District has a building height limitation of 165 feet or three times 
the width of the road the building faces, whichever is greater. 302 Main Street is 
proposed to be approximately 42 feet in height (at the tallest point) and 123 E 3rd 
Street/305 State Street is proposed to be 78 feet tall. These buildings meet the height 
requirement of the C-3 Zoning District. This property is also located within the 
Central Business Overlay Zoning District. The overlay district does not have a specific 
height limitation for buildings, but it does call for reviewing the scale of a proposed 
building in relation to nearby properties. Most of the buildings along the “parkade” are 
two or three stories in height. Recent buildings along State Street are 3 to 4-stories in 
height. The Hampton Inn under construction along 1st Street will be 6 stories in height.  

West Elevation 
 
302 Main Street is located along the historic spine of the downtown district. As shown in 
the illustration above, the building will be three stories tall with a portion of the building’s 
third story, along Main Street, stepped back approximately 10 feet from the lower story 
façade. In keeping with traditional Main Street character, the corner of the block is 
anchored by a taller façade. The step back visually reduces the scale of the remainder 
of the façade along Main Street to two stories as the 3rd story will recede from view at 
the pedestrian level. The proposed design does an admirable job of aligning the 
horizontal elements along the Main Street frontage, with cornice lines and windows 
creating a consistent rhythm along the street frontage. The 3rd Street façade of this 
building will be three stories tall. This additional height will create a good transition to 
the taller building proposed at 123 E 3rd Street/305 State Street.  
 
The proposed 123 E 3rd St/305 State 
Street building is a six-story building 
approximately 78 feet tall. To visually 
reduce the scale of the building, the 
applicant is proposing two stepbacks: 
a 10-foot stepback above the 2nd floor 
and another 10-foot stepback above 
the 5th floor. This technique is a 
common practice used to help taller 
buildings blend into street frontages 
with lower scale buildings. From a 
pedestrian perspective walking along 
3rd or State Street (see perspective 
drawing one the next page), the floors 

350



7 
 

above the second story will recede from view, giving the general feel of a two-story 
building. The 6th floor of the building will be setback another 10 feet so that at street 
level (see image below), the 6th story will not be visible at all and even from a distance 
will recede from view. It should be noted that the step backs create the possibility for 
upper floor terraces that can become attractive outdoor amenities for building residents. 
This will be the tallest building in this area of the downtown. The next largest buildings 
being 401 Main Street and several of the other River Place buildings located further to 
the north along State Street. Although the proposed building will be taller than 
neighboring buildings, particularly the one-story veterinary clinic, which is a unique 
standalone building located to the south and setback from the street, the applicant has 
made efforts to align horizontal elements and visually reduce the height of the building 
with the upper floor step backs. Staff notes that with this new building, State Street will 
begin to fill in with a more consistent and attractive street wall with active storefronts, 
similar to Main Street, which will create a more pleasant and interesting place to walk 
and do business.  Staff finds that overall the proposed building designs will create 
well proportioned and visually interesting street frontages. The proposed design 
meets the intent of the design standard for building proportion.  

 
b) Roof shape, pitch, and direction: The similarity or compatibility of the shape, pitch, 

and direction of roofs in the immediate area shall be considered in the construction or 
alteration of a building. 
 
Both proposed buildings are designed with flat roofs which are consistent with the 
existing downtown roof shapes, pitches, and directions. The roof shape, pitch, and 
direction criterion is met. 
 

c) Pattern: Alternating solid surfaces and openings (wall surface versus doors and 
windows) in the front facade, sides and rear of a building create a rhythm observable to 
viewers. This pattern of solid surfaces and openings shall be considered in the 
construction or alteration of a building. 
 
The façades of both 302 Main Street and 123 E 3rd Street/305 State Street are 
designed with a pattern of alternating solid surfaces and window and door openings. 
The pattern of openings varies between the buildings storefronts from bay to bay to 

351



8 
 

create separate storefront identities. The street facing facades include raised and 
recessed portions of the facade wall to interrupt the massing of the wall.  The pattern 
criterion is met. 
 

d) Building Composition: 
a. To create visual interest and visually break up long building walls, facades on 

buildings greater than 50 feet in length shall be divided vertically into bays. Façade 
bays shall be a minimum of 20 feet wide and a maximum 40 feet wide. The bays 
shall be distinctive but tied visually together by a rhythm of repeating vertical 
elements, such as window groupings, pilasters, window bays, balconies, changes 
in building materials and textures, and/or by varying the wall plane of the façade. 

 
Both 302 Main Street and 123 E 3rd Street/305 State Street have divided their 
facades into discernible bays according to the code standards. The repeating 
rhythm of the storefront bays is particularly attractive and is consistent with the 
predominant mainstreet character of downtown. The upper floor windows align but 
create a distinctive pattern within each module across the façade. The change in 
materials and colors helps to further define the bays.  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

The building proposed at 123 E 3rd Street/305 State Street also has distinguishable 
bays. The storefront bays are generally wider than the Main Street building, but seem 
appropriately scaled for this larger building. Staff finds that the modulation of the base 
of the building coincides well with the modulation in the upper floor facades, giving the 
building a very symmetrical feel with the cream-colored center bay a bit narrower with 
equal width bays on either side. The upper floor balconies align vertically with the 
changes in wall plane along the base of the building. Staff notes that the westernmost 

West Elevation (along Main St) – 302 Main St 
North Elevation (along E 3rd St) – 302 Main St 

North Elevation (along E 3rd St) – 123 E 3rd St East Elevation (along State St) – 123 E 3
rd

 St. 

352



9 
 

bay located along the alley is narrower than the required 20 feet, but creates a bay of 
similar width to match the attractive chamfered (angled) corner on the northeast corner 
of the building. If changed, the symmetry would be lost, so staff finds that this minor 
variation from the standard is appropriate to the design of the building.  
 
For both buildings the storefront level is distinguished from the upper floors by various 
horizontal elements, including canopies, horizontal banding, and other architectural 
elements. In addition, the floor-to-structural ceiling heights of the ground-level floors of 
both buildings meet the minimum 14-foot requirement.  
 
Based on all these factors, staff finds the building composition criteria are met 
for both buildings.  
 

e) Windows and Transparency: The size, proportion, and type of windows need to be 
compatible with existing neighboring buildings. A minimum of 70% of the storefront area 
between 2 and 10 feet in height above the adjacent ground level shall consist of clear 
and transparent storefront windows and doors that allow views into the interior of the 
store. The bottom of storefront windows shall be no more than 2 feet above the 
adjacent ground level, except along sloping sites, where this standard shall be met to 
the extent possible so that views into the interior of the store are maximized and blank 
walls are avoided. Exceptions may be allowed for buildings on corner lots where 
window coverage should be concentrated at the corner, but may be reduced along the 
secondary street façade, and for repurposing of buildings not originally designed as 
storefront buildings (e.g. re-purposing of an industrial or institutional building). Transom 
windows are encouraged above storefront display windows. Glazing should be clear 
and transparent.  
 
73% of the storefront level of the Main Street façade of the proposed buildings at 302 
Main Street will be comprised of clear and transparent glass, in a traditional storefront 
configuration with a short knee wall and large display windows and transom windows 
above. On the 3rd Street side of the building, the storefront window coverage is 60%, 
which is short of the 70% requirement. However, other than the stair and elevator 
towers, the glazed storefront area is maximized along this secondary façade. 
Therefore, staff finds that the criterion is met.  
 
On the proposed building at 123 E. 3rd Street/305 State Street, 72% of the storefront 
level of the building is comprised of clear and transparent glass. The windows are in a 
modern storefront window configuration that extends all the way to the base of the 
building with large display windows and transom windows above. The criterion is met.  
 

f) Materials and texture: The similarity or compatibility of existing materials and texture 
on the exterior walls and roofs of the buildings in the immediate area shall be 
considered in the construction or alteration of a building. A building or alteration will be 
considered compatible if the materials and texture used are appropriate in the context 
of other buildings in the immediate area. Street-facing facades shall be comprised of at 
least 50% brick, stone, or terra cotta. Side and rear walls shall be comprised of at least 
25% brick, stone, or terra cotta. These high quality materials should be concentrated on 
the base of the building.   
 

353



10 
 

The solid portion (not including window area) of the street-facing facades of the 
proposed building at 302 Main Street is comprised almost entirely of brick and 
limestone, with the storefront insets comprised of metal and clear and transparent 
glass. On the alley side of the building, the majority of the solid area of the façade is 
comprised of brick and the remainder with metal panels. Criterion is met.  
 
54.4% of the solid portion of the 3rd Street side and 53% of the State Street façade of 
the proposed building at 123 E. 3rd Street/305 State Street will be comprised of 
terracotta (two colors) and limestone panels. These materials are concentrated on the 
base of the building, although a significant portion of the upper floor façade (not 
including the windows) will be black terracotta. The remainder of the upper stories will 
be clad in dark gray metal panels and lighter colored wood panels. The alley side of this 
building will be 25% terracotta. This higher quality material will be concentrated at the 
corner of 3rd Street and the alley, which is the most visible portion of that façade. The 
upper floors will be largely glass surrounded by wood and metal panels. The visible 
portion of the south side of the building will be comprised of terracotta panels that wrap 
the corner. The remainder will be concrete, which will provide the “canvas” for a future 
painted mural (see below). Criterion is met, provided the proposal for a mural on 
the south side of the building is approved.  
 

g) Color: The similarity or compatibility of existing colors of exterior walls and roofs of 
buildings in the area shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building. 
Buildings in the CBD utilize earth and neutral tones; however, other colors can highlight 
the architectural features of a building and are acceptable as accents. Accents 
generally include trim areas and comprise up to 15% of the façade. 

Both buildings utilize a variety of earth and neutral colors to create a visually interesting 
façade that is consistent with the colors found in downtown Cedar Falls. Criterion is 
met.  

h) Architectural features: Architectural features, including but not limited to, cornices, 
entablatures, doors, windows, shutters, and fanlights, prevailing in the immediate area, 
shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building. It is not intended that 
the details of existing buildings be duplicated precisely, but those features should be 
regarded as suggestive of the extent, nature, and scale of details that would be 
appropriate on new buildings or alterations. 

The proposed buildings are more modern in design with fewer architectural 
embellishments than some of the more distinctive historic facades in the district. 
However, there are architectural elements that provide visual relief and interest to the 
building facades, including raised cornices, variation in brick pattern, variation in 
material textures, decorative metal elements, and distinctive horizontal banding. Staff 
finds that the criterion is met.   

i) Building Entries:  

(i) Primary entries to ground floor building space and to common lobbies accessing 
upper floor building space shall be located along street-facing facades. For buildings 
with more than one street-facing façade, entries along facades facing primary streets 
are preferred. Building entries along rear and side facades or from parking garages 

354



11 
 

may not serve as principal building entries. Buildings with more than three street-facing 
facades shall have building entries on at least two street-facing sides. There are 
numerous building entries to the storefront commercial spaces located along the street-
facing facades of both buildings. The primary entrances for the 302 Main Street building 
are located along and oriented toward Main Street. Additional entrances are located 
along 3rd Street that provide access to stair and elevator towers for the building. There 
are also multiple storefront entrances proposed for the building at 123 E. 3rd Street/305 
State Street along both 3rd Street and State Street. Criterion is met.   

(ii) For buildings that contain residential dwelling units, there must be at least one main 
entrance on the street-facing façade that provides pedestrian access to dwelling units 
within the building. Access to dwelling units must not be solely through a parking 
garage or from a rear or side entrance. The building at 123 E. 3rd Street/305 State 
Street contains upper floor residential dwellings. The main entrance to the lobby that 
accesses the upper floor dwelling units is located on State Street.    

(ii) For storefronts with frontage of 100 feet or more, a visible entryway shall be 
provided a minimum of every 50 feet. Both buildings have frontages greater than 100 
feet. There are visible entrances for both buildings at least every 50 feet along Main 
Street, 3rd Street, and along State Street. Criterion is met.   

(iii) Entryways into a storefront will be at grade with the fronting sidewalks. All building 
entries are at grade. Criterion is met.  

(iv) Entryways shall be designed to be a prominent feature of the building. The use of 
architectural features such as awnings, canopies, and recessed entries are 
encouraged. Most of the building entries for both buildings are distinguished by and 
sheltered by flat canopies. A number of the entries are recessed. Staff finds that 
building entries along street-facing facades are designed to be prominent features of 
the façade. Criterion is met.  

j) Exterior mural wall drawings, painted artwork, exterior painting: These elements 
shall be reviewed to consider the scale, context, coloration and appropriateness of the 
proposal in relation to nearby facades and also in relation to the prevailing character of 
the downtown area.  
 
An area of the south 
façade of the building at 
123 E. 3rd Street/305 
State Street will be 
visible, since the 
veterinary clinic is 
setback from the 
sidewalk with the street-
fronting surface parking 
lot. As this wall is located 
on the lot line, window 
openings are not allowed 
due to Building Code 
requirements. To create 
a more visually 

355



12 
 

interesting façade, the applicant is proposing to commission an artist to paint a mural in 
this location. This will be a unique feature of the building. The Development Agreement 
will establish a reasonable timetable for completion of the mural after the building is 
constructed. Once the developer has chosen a mural design it will need to be reviewed 
and approved by the Planning & Zoning Commission and City Council prior to 
installation. 

g) Trash Dumpsters: Due to the changed drive-through layout, 302 Main Street and 123 E 
3rd Street/305 State Street will share a dumpster and recycling area which is recessed 
within the 123 E 3rd Street/305 State Street building walls along the alley. For the 
residential tenants of the 123 E. 3rd Street/305 State Street building, access to the 
dumpster will be provided from the main elevator lobby. It appears that other tenants of 
both the 302 Main Street building and the 123 E. 3rd Street/305 State Street building will 
have to transport waste around the building to the alley. This may be problematic and staff 
encourages the developer to consider internal circulation options for all the commercial 
tenant spaces to the alley. The Development Agreement will have a clause noting the 
shared dumpster and recycling area.  
 

h) Storm Water Management: A preliminary storm water report for both buildings has been 
submitted and reviewed by the City’s Engineering Division. While detention is not required, 
water quality requirements apply. The proposal is to install one or more hydrodynamic 
separators to filter the stormwater prior to release into the City storm sewer. The final 
stormwater management plan and design may integrate green roof water quality practices 
in addition to mechanical water quality treatment units to satisfy water quality volume 
according to code requirements. If it is determined that the green roof features are not 
included or are designed primarily for aesthetics, the final mechanical units will be sized to 
address all water quality requirements per code. The final stormwater quality plans will be 
required prior to issuance of building permits. 

 
i) Signage: Wall signs shall not exceed 10% of the total wall area, and in no case shall 

exceed 10% of the area of the storefront. Wall signs on storefronts shall not extend beyond 
or above an existing sign band or extend over or detract from the architectural features of 
the building facade, such as cornices, pilasters, transoms, window trim, and similar. 
 
Placeholders for wall signs for future tenants in both proposed buildings are included on 
the attached building elevation drawings. The percentages and locations meet the 
requirements listed above. Permits will be required prior to installation. Criterion met. 

 

j) Utility Easement Vacation: The proposed site plan shows the transformer for this site 
being relocated on the east side of the 302 Main Street building tucked into the drive-
through area. The utility easement where the transformer was located, on the west side of 
the alley, will be vacated. After review by CFU, to meet code requirements, the applicant 
has recessed the second and third floors above the drive-through area by seven feet. This 
ensures that the area above the transformer is left open, with no building above. This 
change does not affect the appearance of the building’s façade along E 3rd Street.  

 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
City technical staff, including Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) personnel, has reviewed the proposed 
site plans. All technical comments have been addressed.  

356



13 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Planning and Zoning Commission and City Staff recommend approval of the proposed site 
plan and building designs for 302 Main Street and 123 E 3rd Street/305 State Street. Subject to 
the following conditions: 

1. To meet the requirements of Section 26-189(i)(6), materials and texture, a mural will be 
installed on the south wall of the 123 E 3rd Street/305 State Street. A timeline for 
installation to be determined prior to issuance of the building permit.   

2. Since different uses have different drive- through stacking requirements, if the use 
utilizing the drive-through in the 302 Main Street building changes from a financial 
institution, the drive-through shall be discontinued unless subsequently approved for the 
new use by City Council.  

3. The City reserves the right to impose additional conditions or modifications to the drive-
through, such as time restrictions, additional signage, or design modifications, if it is 
determined by the City that the traffic congestion from the drive-through is causing a 
safety hazard within the public right-of-way.  

4. A shared use agreement for the trash/recycling facilities, to be located as indicated on the 
site plan, shall be established prior to the issuance of an occupancy permit for the first 
building constructed on the site.  

5. Installation of streetscape improvements according to the City’s adopted streetscape 
plan.  

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Introduction 
and 
Discussion 
3/13/2019 

Acting Chair Leeper introduced the item and Ms. Howard provided background 
information. She noted that the applicant has worked with staff to meet the 
recently adopted downtown design standards in the code and has met twice with 
the Community Main Street Design Committee review and also participated in a 
conference call with the Iowa Main Street office regarding the design. She noted 
that the applicant had refined the design based on the input received from staff 
and from Community Main Street. Ms. Howard described the uses and parking 
proposed for the new buildings at 302 Main Street and 123 E. 3rd Street. She 
noted that the building proposed for 302 Main Street will be three stories tall, 
have 1st floor retail space and two floors of office. The proposed building at 123 
E. 3rd Street will be a 6-story building with underground parking accessed from 
the alley, 1st floor retail space, 2nd floor parking and office, and 4 floors of 
residential condominiums. The building will have 50 structured parking spaces, 
which satisfies the parking requirement for 2 parking spaces per dwelling unit.  
Eleven additional on-street public parking spaces will be created for visitor 
parking. Howard also summarized the parking impact analysis completed by 
WGI, the parking consultant. WGI concluded in their report that there will be 
sufficient developer-controlled private parking to serve all the proposed uses in 
the two buildings and that the 11 additional on-street parking spaces will benefit 
the entire area. 
 
Ms. Howard discussed other requirements including open space/landscaping, 
sidewalks and streetscape, as well as the proposed drive-through. She covered 
staff concerns regarding additional traffic in the alley and potential mitigation 
options and additional conditions to be added to the Development Agreement. 
She also showed images of the proposed building and spoke to the design 
standards, including building height and how the upper floor stepbacks would 

357



14 
 

help to visually reduce the perceived height from a pedestrian perspective. She 
described how the proposed building designs meet the design standard in the 
code for building proportion.  
 
Ms. Howard provided building composition details and provided drawings of the 
proposed layout for each building. She discussed design standards, the proposed 
colors, architectural features, and building entries. Requirements for trash 
dumpsters, stormwater management, signage and utility easement vacations 
have been considered and will be met. Staff recommends review and discussion 
of the site plan and continuation to the March 27 meeting for final review. 
 
Taylor Morris, Eagle View Partners, 200 State Street is the project manager. He 
read a statement describing the project and the demand for the mixed use 
buildings. He noted that previously the area has catered to millennials, but he 
noted there is a significant demand for for-sale units by the 50+ age population, 
which they are trying to meet with the proposed building.  
 
Tim Schilling, 3434 Tucson Drive, stated that he has no issues with the mix of the 
buildings, but he feels the building is too tall. He feels it will not be within the 
character of downtown and the residential use will take up too many parking 
spaces. 
 
Jenny Bagenstos, 220 Main Street, the owner of Here’s What’s Poppin, stated 
her concern with the office uses creating parking issues. She believes that 
employees will use the parking spaces for long periods of time preventing 
customers from parking. 
 
Ivan Wieland, 2216 W. 3rd Street, noted his parking concerns in the area, as well 
as his belief that this kind of building doesn’t fit downtown. He feels that it doesn’t 
have the small town feel that has always been in that area. 
 
Chad Smith, Taylor Veterinary Hospital, thanked the Commission for hearing his 
concerns. He noted his concerns with the parking issues that will be created. He 
explained that there are already problems with people parking in their parking lot, 
which makes it difficult for clients to get their pets into the office. He also noted 
issues with pet elimination as there will not be adequate space. He doesn’t feel 
the building blends in with the surrounding buildings and it will be forcing out non-
traditional buildings. He stated his desire to have input on the mural that is 
proposed for the south side of the building since it will be highly visible from their 
property.  
 
Ms. Oberle asked Ms. Howard to speak to the parking study and address 
questions regarding business use and how it plays into the calculations for retail 
versus residential space. Ms. Howard stated that there is no parking requirement 
downtown for commercial uses, however the parking consultant used a 
compilation of other parking studies to estimate parking demand from both the 
commercial and residential uses proposed in the building. They used shared 
factors for downtown locations to estimate the maximum amount at peak times. 
They also studied the existing River Place private parking lots during different 

358



15 
 

times and different days to determine how much parking is available that could 
help serve the needs for commercial tenants of the new buildings. Ms. Giarusso 
asked if the study provided for the current buildings on State Street as well as this 
proposed building. Ms. Howard stated that it was considered. Mr. Leeper asked 
about the timing for the proposed changes with the parking study. Ms. Howard 
summarized a number of the recommendations from the parking study in the 
short term. She noted that all the parking consultant’s recommendations and the 
final study report is available on the City’s website.  She noted that one of the 
recommendations was to add on-street parking spaces wherever possible 
downtown in the near future.  A primary recommendation is also to make 
arrangements with private lot owners for sharing their lots in the evening. There 
are currently discussions are in the works, but will depend on the private owners. 
There will also be increased enforcement in public lots, which will be metered and 
also provide opportunities for long term parkers to purchase permits.  
 
Acting Chair Leeper expressed concerns with the potential drive through and the 
stacking space requirements. Mr. Wingert stated that he has the same concerns. 
He feels it is a beautiful building but thinks that there will be traffic issues with the 
drive through. Ms. Howard discussed the compromise made for the current plan 
and that staff is also concerned and will include provisions in the Development 
Agreement that would allow the City to impose additional conditions or 
modifications to the drive through in the future if it causes traffic circulation or 
safety issues.  
 
Mr. Wingert asked if there is a system in place for parking for the office spaces. 
Mr. Morris stated that they have extra parking in their existing River Place lot and 
would offer permits for business owners and employees. There are also 
requirements in the commercial and residential leases that specify that tenants 
should park in their provided parking lot. There was further, brief discussion 
regarding drive through and the parking issues. The item was continued to the 
March 27, 2019 meeting.  

  
Discussion 
and Vote 
3/27/2019 

Chair Holst introduced the item and Ms. Lehmann provided background 
information. She explained that the proposal is to build two new mixed-use 
buildings at the former Wells Fargo site located at the intersection of East 3rd 
Street and Main Street, as well as the East 3rd Street and State Street 
intersection. As the project is located in the Central Business District Overlay, the 
project requires Commission and Council review and approval. The item was 
introduced at the last Planning and Zoning meeting. 
 
Ms. Lehmann recapped that two new buildings are being proposed, one on each 
side of the alley. The building at 302 Main Street is a proposed three-story 
building with commercial and office on the main floor and office space on the 
second floor. The building at 123 E. 3rd Street is a proposed six-story building 
with underground parking, commercial on the first floor, office space and parking 
on the second floor, and residential on the third through sixth floors. The buildings 
meet the C-3 Zoning requirements, including setbacks, open space/landscaping, 
and sidewalks/streetscape. Ms. Lehmann also discussed the parking 
requirements and the parking proposed by the developer, noting that the proposal 

359



16 
 

meets and exceeds those requirements. A parking Impact Analysis was done by 
WGI and it was found that there is sufficient developer controlled private parking 
to support the project.  
 
Ms. Lehmann reviewed the proposed drive-through in the alley for a financial 
institution at 302 Main Street. The applicant has provided a four foot setback with 
a no build easement to allow for two-way traffic circulation. Staff is still concerned 
with the potential traffic issues from the buildings. To address staff concerns, the 
applicant agreed to include conditions regarding the drive-through in the 
Development Agreement to allow the City to impose additional modifications to 
the drive-through if issues arise. There is also an understanding that the drive-
through will be discontinued if there is a change of use, unless reviewed and 
approved by the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council.  
 
Ms. Lehmann discussed the proportion of the buildings as well as the proposed 
stepbacks that were included in the designs to visually reduce the heights of the 
buildings. She displayed renderings of the proposed buildings to show how they 
relate to the existing fabric of the downtown. Staff feels that the proposed design 
creates well-proportioned and visually interesting buildings that meet the intent of 
the design standards for building proportion. Ms. Lehmann summarized the other 
design standards and noted that they have all been met. Staff recommends 
approval of both buildings. 
 
Mark Kittrell, Eagle View Partners, spoke on behalf of the project and thanked 
Community Main Street for their input and the Commission and the community for 
all their work. Mr. Leeper stated that he believes this is a good community project. 
Mr. Wingert asked how Community Main Street feels about this project. Ty 
Kimble stated that he believes that the Community Main Street Board is behind 
economic development and are conscious of comments made by the 
Commission, developers and the citizens. Mr. Wingert asked if he personally 
feels there is enough parking and Mr. Kimble stated he does.  
 
Mr. Holst commented on the parking concerns and noted that it seems that 
everything is in compliance with the Ordinances. Ms. Giarusso also voiced her 
thoughts on the parking issues noting that she feels that existing customers and 
clients need to be protected and ensured parking. Ms. Howard stated that the 
parking impact study took into account the existing private parking area at River 
Place and noted that the parking study indicated that the residential parking 
requirement in the zoning code over-prescribes parking for the residents, so there 
is considerable available parking that can then be utilized by the commercial 
tenants (owners and employees) within the proposed buildings.  
 
Ms. Saul asked about future parking concerns. She stated that she loves the 
project but is concerned about other potential projects down the road that may 
not be required to provide parking and won’t have other private spots to offer. 
She asked what would happen at that time. Ms. Howard stated that the parking 
study was done to look at short-term and long term-parking concerns and 
solutions. This will include a partnership between the City and the stakeholders in 
the downtown area. Ms. Saul asked about the proposed agreements with 

360



17 
 

business owners to share private parking spaces. Ms. Howard stated that 
working with private property owners would provide additional parking during 
evening peak times, but is not considered a long term permanent solution for 
more public parking in the downtown area. Ms. Saul asked about the long-term 
solutions to ensure that there is enough parking to support current retail and 
commercial businesses. Ms. Howard stated that these are important questions, 
but are a separate topic for discussion than the item on the agenda, which is site 
plan review for the River Place II development.  She asked the Commission if 
they would like an informational session to be added to a future agenda regarding 
the parking study results and recommendations.  She also noted that the parking 
study and recommendations are posted on the City’s website for review. The 
Commission in general agreed that that would be helpful to have a presentation 
and informal discussion at a future meeting.  
 
Chair Holst asked about storm water quality management requirements. Ms. 
Howard stated that the plan is to install hydrodynamic separators to filter the 
water before it gets to the storm sewer.  
 
Mr. Wingert asked about the total office space that is being proposed. Ms. 
Lehmann stated that there is approximately 20,000 square feet proposed. 
Wingert noted that his parking concerns are with the office spaces as the 
employees will be parked for the majority of the day. Kayla Toale, Products and 
Services Director at Eagle View Partners, shared the tenant parking policies that 
would be in place and showed examples of the parking passes that would be 
used.  
 
Mr. Larson noted that he shared the concern with the office spaces and parking 
requirements, but that he felt those concerns were addressed. He also shared 
concerns with the alley and the drive through. Ms. Howard said that if this project 
were approved, part of the agreement will be to add signage to the alley to help 
navigate traffic. She also noted that many of the traffic congestion concerns will 
be addressed by making the north portion of the alley two way which creates 
alternative traffic flow options. Mr. Leeper added that he is also concerned with 
the drive through and what happens if the setup doesn’t work. He stated that he 
would like to see language in the Development Agreement that will allow for the 
City to make adjustments if it doesn’t work. Jesse Lizer with Emergent 
Architecture, spoke to the information used in creating the drive-through.  
 
Mr. Wingert asked who patrols and enforces the stickers that will be used in the 
lots. Ms. Toale explained that their maintenance staff patrols all of River Place’s 
parking lots and they have tickets that they issue for improper parking.   
 
Ms. Saul made a motion to approve. Mr. Wingert seconded the motion. The 
motion was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Adkins, Giarusso, Hartley, Holst, 
Larson, Leeper, Saul and Wingert), and 0 nays. 

 

361



River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
302 Main Street - preliminary design concept 362



River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
302 Main Street - preliminary design concept

site plan
existing public parking

363



River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
302 Main Street - preliminary design concept

site plan
proposed public parking

364



River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
302 Main Street - preliminary design concept

ground floor retail and commercial - 9,039 SF

365



River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
302 Main Street - preliminary design concept

second floor commercial - 10,870 SF

366



River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
302 Main Street - preliminary design concept

third floor commercial - 7,800 SF

367



River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
302 Main Street - preliminary design concept

north elevation with heights

3rd Street Facade
-Glazed Area: 2,837 SF (50%) 
 1st Floor glazing: Not less than 75% VTE
 2nd & 3rd Floor glazing: Not less than 45% VTE

-Solid Area: 2,824 SF (50%)
 Lime Stone: 24%
 Brick: 22% 
 Metal Panel: 4%

2 @ 15 sf Signage = 1.7% of wall 1 @ 34 sf Signage = 7.7% of wall 3 @ 24 sf Signage = 6.5% of wall 1 @ 24 sf Signage = 2.5% of wall

-Signage - 5.4% of total wall 
surface 
-Clear and Transparent Store 
front on first floor: 62%

Facebrick, final selection TBD

368



River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
302 Main Street - preliminary design concept

west elevation with heights

Main Street Facade
-Glazed Area: 1,712 SF (49%) 
 1st Floor glazing: Not less than 75% VTE
 2nd & 3rd Floor glazing: Not less than 45% VTE

-Solid Area: 1,638 SF (51%)
 Lime Stone: 19%
 Brick: 31% 
 Metal Panel: 1%

1 @ 24 sf Signage = 3.25% of wall 1 @ 37 sf Signage = 6% of wall 2 @ 17 sf Signage = 2.7% of wall

-Signage - 4.7% of total wall 
surface 
-Clear and Transparent Store 
front on first floor: 73%

Limestone, final selection TBD

369



River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
302 Main Street - preliminary design concept

east elevation with heights

Metal Panels, final selection TBD

Alley Facade
-Glazed Area: 505 SF (14%) 
 1st Floor glazing: Not less than 75% VTE
 2nd & 3rd Floor glazing: Not less than 45% VTE

-Solid Area: 2,898 SF (86%)
 Lime Stone: 2%
 Brick: 51% 
 Metal Panel: 34%

dumpster enclosure: buff CMU wall 8’-O” high. Black 
bi-parting sliding doors on the front. 

370



River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
302 Main Street - preliminary design concept

north elevation with material designations

371



River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
302 Main Street - preliminary design concept

concept rendering from corner of Main and 3rd Street

372



River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
302 Main Street - preliminary design concept

Main Street context

373



River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
302 Main Street - preliminary design concept

Main Street context

374












     



375



ST ST

W W W

SS SS
E

W

0 10 20

SH
EE

T 
N

U
M

BE
R:

SH
EE

T 
N

AM
E:

DR
AW

IN
G 

LO
G

EN
GI

N
EE

R:

RE
V

DA
TE

DE
SC

RI
PT

IO
N

 O
F 

CH
AN

GE
S

PR
O

JE
CT

 N
AM

E:

CL
IE

N
T 

N
AM

E:

IS
SU

ED
 F

O
R:

PR
O

JE
CT

 N
0.

:
DA

TE
 IS

SU
ED

:
PR

O
JE

CT
 M

AN
AG

ER
:

CU
RR

EN
T 

RE
V:

W
W

W
.A

XI
O

M
-C

O
N

.C
O

M
 |

 (3
19

) 5
19

-6
22

0

 Mar 29, 2019 - 7:35am S:\PROJECTS\180067\05 Design\Civil-Survey\Sheets\180067 - Combined Site Plan.dwg

18
-0

06
7

C1
.0

0
DE

CK
ER

EM
ER

GE
N

T

SI
TE

 P
LA

N
30

2 
M

AI
N

 S
TR

EE
T

M
AR

CH
 8

, 2
01

9

RI
VE

R 
PL

AC
E 

PR
O

PE
RT

IE
S 

II
CL

IE
N

T 
RE

VI
SI

O
N

A

N
O

T 
FO

R 
CO

N
ST

RU
CT

IO
N302 MAIN STREET

305 EAST 3RD STREET

PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS FOR
CEDAR FALLS SITE DEVELOPMENT
IN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS
BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA

PROJECT VICINITY MAP

NOT TO SCALE

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IA

PROJECT

LOCATION

218

NICK BETTIS, P.E.
AXIOM CONSULTANTS
60 E. COURT STREET, UNIT 3
IOWA CITY, IOWA 52240
PHONE: 319.519.6220
NBETTIS@AXIOM-CON.COM

CONTACT PERSON (302 MAIN STREET)

RIVERPLACE PROPERTIES II LC
200 STATE STREET, #202Z
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613-0000

TITLEHOLDER

SEE AXIOM CONSULTANTS
PLANS FOR 302 MAIN

STREET AND ALLEY
IMPROVEMENTS

SEE SHIVE-HATTERY PLANS
FOR 305 STATE STREET

IMPROVEMENTS

83'

131.8'
107'

20' ALLEY

M
AI

N 
ST

RE
ET

EAST 3RD STREET

ST
AT

E 
ST

RE
ET

7"
6"

APPROX. 8 FT. APPROX. 12 FT.

20' ALLEY

TYPICAL ALLEY SECTION

NOT TO SCALE

1

C1.00

SIDEWALK
SIDEWALK

SI
DE

W
AL

K

AXIOM CONSULTANTS PLANS SHIVE-HATTERY PLANS

4' ACCESS, UTILITY, AND NO-BUILD EASEMENT
(NO-BUILD AREA IS A 14-FT HIGH AREA ABOVE ALLEY GRADE)

CI
TY

 R
EV

IE
W

A
2/

15
/2

01
9

SHIVE- HATTERY, INC.
2839 NORTHGATE DRIVE
IOWA CITY, IOWA 52245
PHONE: 319.354.3040

CONTACT PERSON (305 STATE STREET)

376



SS

ST ST ST ST ST

W W W W W W

E E E

G

FO

860861

859

86
1

SH
EE

T 
N

U
M

BE
R:

SH
EE

T 
N

AM
E:

DR
AW

IN
G 

LO
G

EN
GI

N
EE

R:

RE
V

DA
TE

DE
SC

RI
PT

IO
N

 O
F 

CH
AN

GE
S

PR
O

JE
CT

 N
AM

E:

CL
IE

N
T 

N
AM

E:

IS
SU

ED
 F

O
R:

PR
O

JE
CT

 N
0.

:
DA

TE
 IS

SU
ED

:
PR

O
JE

CT
 M

AN
AG

ER
:

CU
RR

EN
T 

RE
V:

W
W

W
.A

XI
O

M
-C

O
N

.C
O

M
 |

 (3
19

) 5
19

-6
22

0

 Mar 29, 2019 - 7:34am S:\PROJECTS\180067\05 Design\Civil-Survey\Sheets\C2.00.dwg

18
-0

06
7

C2
.0

0
DE

CK
ER

EM
ER

GE
N

T

SI
TE

 P
LA

N
30

2 
M

AI
N

 S
TR

EE
T

M
AR

CH
 8

, 2
01

9

RI
VE

R 
PL

AC
E 

PR
O

PE
RT

IE
S 

II
CL

IE
N

T 
RE

VI
SI

O
N

A

0 5 10

PROPOSED BUILDING
FFE = 861.60

SITE PLAN KEYNOTES:

EXISTING TREE GRATE. PROVIDE PROTECTION DURING CONSTRUCTION.
SEE DETAIL 2/C9.01 & DETAIL 3/C9.01.

CONCRETE STOOP. SEE ARCHITECTURAL PLANS.

CONCRETE PAVEMENT DUMPSTER ENCLOSURE.

6" PVC SANITARY SERVICE. USE CITY APPROVED WYE CONNECTION TO
EXISTING 12" PVC MAIN. SEE PLUMBING PLAN FOR SERVICE
CONTINUATION.

6" WATER SERVICE. USE CITY APPROVED TAPPING SLEEVE & VALVE. SEE
PLUMBING PLAN FOR SERVICE CONTINUATION.

41 LF OF 10" HDPE STORM SERVICE. CONNECT TO EXISTING STORM
GRATE. INV 10" HDPE 854.52 (W).

SEE DETAIL FOR NEW PAVEMENT CONSTRUCTION AGAINST A BUILDING
FACE.

EXISTING BIKE RACK.

NOT USED

SITE TRIANGLE FROM ALLEY DRIVEWAY.

PROPOSED TRANSFORMER RELOCATION AND ASSOCIATED EASEMENT.

EXISTING STREET LIGHTS TO BE PRESERVED.

R6-6, BEGIN ONEWAY, 24X30

2

1

LEGEND:

EXISTING BUILDING

EXISTING BRICK PAVER

PROPOSED BUILDING

6" PCC ON 6" 
AGGREGATE.

5" PCC SIDEWALK ON 4"
AGGREGATE.

MODULAR BRICK PAVER.
SEE DETAIL 4/C9.00.

7" PCC ON 6" 
AGGREGATE.

83'

131.8'

1

1

1

2

2

2

2

3

3

4

4

5

6

2

PROPOSED BUILDING
FFE = 859.75

6

7

8

8

8

7

9

10

10

10

11 11

12

2

2

18.4'

R3'
R3'

15.7'

14'

5

6'

23'

PROPERTY LOCATION 302 MAIN STREET

PROPOSED PARKING NONE (EXISTING 9 ONSITE PARKING SPACES WILL BE
MAINTAINED).

EXISTING SITE 11,616 SF 0.27 AC (100%)
BUILDING AREA = 10,043 SF 0.23 AC (85%)
PAVEMENT = 1,573  SF 0.04 AC (15%)
OPEN SPACE = 0 SF 0 AC (0%)

PROPOSED SITE 11,616 SF 0.27 AC (100%)
BUILDING AREA = 11,054 SF 0.25 AC (93%)
PAVEMENT = 562  SF 0.02 AC (07%)
OPEN SPACE = 0  SF 0       AC (0%)

*DOES NOT INCLUDE AREA WITHIN ROW.

ZONING INFORMATION C-3: HIGH DENSITY COMMERCIAL DISTRICT

USE COMMERCIAL

FEMA FLOODWAY INFORMATIOIN NO FLOODPLAIN PRESENT PER FIRM PANEL
#19013C0162F.

YARD SETBACKS
FRONT NONE
SIDE NONE
REAR NONE

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
MAXIMUM HEIGHT 165 FEET
PROPOSED HEIGHT 40 FT

EAST 3RD STREET

M
AI

N 
ST

RE
ET

TE
LL

ER
 W

IN
DOW

4' ACCESS, UTILITY, AND NO-BUILD EASEMENT
(NO-BUILD AREA IS A 14-FT HIGH AREA ABOVE ALLEY GRADE)

12
12

12

1.47'

0.42'

1.73'

CI
TY

 R
EV

IE
W

A
2/

15
/2

01
9

2.5'

IN
ST

AL
LA

TI
O

IN
 O

F 
BR

IC
K 

PA
VE

RS
 A

LO
N

G 
M

AI
N

ST
RE

ET
 W

IL
L 

BE
 D

O
N

E 
IN

 C
O

O
RD

IN
AT

IO
N

 A
N

D
FI

N
AL

IZ
ED

 W
IT

H 
TH

E 
CI

TY
'S

 P
AR

KA
DE

IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
.

INSTALLATION AND DESIGN OF THE ONSITE PARKING WILL BE IN
COORDINATION WITH THE CITY.

18'

13

13

NOTES

1. WATER QUALITY TO BE PROVIDED IN CONJUNCTION WITH 305 STATE STREET.

305 STATE
STREET

2

3

3

3

R5'

377



-1
.5

8%

ST ST ST ST ST

-1
.5

8%

86
1

86
0

86
1

860861

86
1

SH
EE

T 
N

U
M

BE
R:

SH
EE

T 
N

AM
E:

DR
AW

IN
G 

LO
G

EN
GI

N
EE

R:

RE
V

DA
TE

DE
SC

RI
PT

IO
N

 O
F 

CH
AN

GE
S

PR
O

JE
CT

 N
AM

E:

CL
IE

N
T 

N
AM

E:

IS
SU

ED
 F

O
R:

PR
O

JE
CT

 N
0.

:
DA

TE
 IS

SU
ED

:
PR

O
JE

CT
 M

AN
AG

ER
:

CU
RR

EN
T 

RE
V:

W
W

W
.A

XI
O

M
-C

O
N

.C
O

M
 |

 (3
19

) 5
19

-6
22

0

 Mar 29, 2019 - 7:35am S:\PROJECTS\180067\05 Design\Civil-Survey\Sheets\C3.00.dwg

18
-0

06
7

C3
.0

0
DE

CK
ER

EM
ER

GE
N

T

SI
TE

 P
LA

N
30

2 
M

AI
N

 S
TR

EE
T

M
AR

CH
 8

, 2
01

9

RI
VE

R 
PL

AC
E 

PR
O

PE
RT

IE
S 

II
CL

IE
N

T 
RE

VI
SI

O
N

A

0 5 10

SWPPP PLAN KEY NOTES:

INSTALL STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE. SEE
DETAIL 6/C9.00.

PROVIDE SANITATION FACILITY (PORTABLE
RESTROOM).

PROVIDE CONCRETE WASHOUT.

PROVIDE ENCLOSURE FOR STORAGE OF DOCUMENTS
(PERMITS, SWPPP, INSPECTION FORMS, ETC., IF
APPLICABLE).

PROVIDE INLET PROTECTION PRIOR TO GRADING
ACTIVITIES.

INSTALL PERIMETER MEASURES PRIOR TO STARTING
CONSTRUCTION.

JOB TRAILER, IF APPLICABLE.

KEEP FILL MINIMUM OF 5' AWAY FROM EXISTING
STRUCTURE.

B

D

E

F

G

H

A

C

A

F

F

F

F F

F

B

C

D

E

E

E

E

G

H

PROPOSED BUILDING
FFE = 861.60

PROPOSED BUILDING
FFE = 859.75

EAST 3RD STREET

M
AI

N 
ST

RE
ET

LEGEND:

EXISTING BUILDING

EXISTING BRICK PAVER

PROPOSED BUILDING

6" PCC ON 6" AGGREGATE.

5" PCC SIDEWALK ON 4" AGGREGATE.

MODULAR BRICK PAVER. SEE DETAIL
4/C9.00.

7" PCC ON 6" AGGREGATE.

CI
TY

 R
EV

IE
W

A
2/

15
/2

01
9

305 STATE
STREET

378



SS

ST ST ST ST ST

W W W W W

E E E

G

FO

861

PROPOSED BUILDING
FFE = 859.75

SH
EE

T 
N

U
M

BE
R:

SH
EE

T 
N

AM
E:

DR
AW

IN
G 

LO
G

EN
GI

N
EE

R:

RE
V

DA
TE

DE
SC

RI
PT

IO
N

 O
F 

CH
AN

GE
S

PR
O

JE
CT

 N
AM

E:

CL
IE

N
T 

N
AM

E:

IS
SU

ED
 F

O
R:

PR
O

JE
CT

 N
0.

:
DA

TE
 IS

SU
ED

:
PR

O
JE

CT
 M

AN
AG

ER
:

CU
RR

EN
T 

RE
V:

W
W

W
.A

XI
O

M
-C

O
N

.C
O

M
 |

 (3
19

) 5
19

-6
22

0

 Mar 29, 2019 - 7:12am S:\PROJECTS\180067\05 Design\Civil-Survey\Sheets\Drainage Exhibit.dwg

18
-0

06
7

DR
 E

X1
DE

CK
ER

EM
ER

GE
N

T

DR
AI

N
AG

E 
EX

HI
BI

T

M
AR

CH
 2

9,
 2

01
9

30
2 

M
AI

N
 S

TR
EE

T
CL

IE
N

T 
RE

VI
SI

O
N

A

0 5 10

PROPOSED BUILDING
FFE = 861.60

LEGEND:

8

39'

PROPERTY LOCATION 302 MAIN STREET

ZONING INFORMATION C-3: HIGH DENSITY COMMERCIAL DISTRICT

USE COMMERCIAL

PROPOSED PARKING EXISTING 9 SPOTS

EXISTING SITE 11,616 SF 0.27 AC (100%)
BUILDING AREA = 10,043 SF 0.23 AC (85%)
PAVEMENT = 1,573  SF 0.04 AC (15%)
OPEN SPACE = 0 SF 0 AC (0%)

PROPOSED SITE 11,616 SF 0.27 AC (100%)
BUILDING AREA = 11,054 SF 0.25 AC (93%)
PAVEMENT = 562  SF 0.02 AC (07%)
OPEN SPACE = 0  SF 0       AC (0%)

*DOES NOT INCLUDE AREA WITHIN ROW.

YARD SETBACKS
FRONT NONE
SIDE NONE
REAR NONE

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
MAXIMUM HEIGHT 165 FEET
PROPOSED HEIGHT 40 FT

FEMA FLOODWAY INFORMATIOIN NO FLOODPLAIN PRESENT PER FIRM PANEL
#19013C0162F.

EAST 3RD STREET

M
AI

N 
ST

RE
ET

TE
LL

ER
 W

IN
DOW

DRAINAGE AREA: 11,616 SF (0.27 AC)

IMPERVIOUS AREA: 100% OF DRAINAGE AREA (0.31 AC)

RATIONAL METHOD RUNOFF COEFFICIENT PER SUDAS: 0.95

TIME OF CONCENTRATION: 5 MIN.

10 YEAR RAINFALL INTENSITY:  7.86 IN/HR
2 YEAR RAINFALL INTENSITY: 5.47 IN/HR

TOTAL REQUIRED WATER QUALITY VOLUME:
WQv=[(P)(Rv)(A)]/12

Rv=0.05+0.009(I)
P=1.25 INCHES
A=AREA (SQ. FT)

WQv=1,150 CU. FT.

10-YR POST-DEVELOPED RUNOFF:
Q10=(C)(i)(A)

C=RUNOFF COEFFICIENT
i= RAINFALL INTENSITY (IN/HR)
A=AREA (AC)

Q10=2.02 CFS

2-YR PRE-DEVELOPED RUNOFF
Q2=1.40 CFS

DIFFERENCE
(Q10-Q2)=0.52 CFS < 1.00 CFS

EXISTING BUILDING

PROPOSED BUILDING

6" PCC ON 6" AGGREGATE.

5" PCC SIDEWALK ON 4" AGGREGATE.

MODULAR BRICK PAVER. SEE DETAIL
4/C9.00

7" PCC ON 6" AGGREGATE
MODIFIED 
SUBBASE IDOT GRADATION 14.

PERMEABLE PAVERS.

EXISTING BRICK PAVER

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT NOTE:

FINAL STORMWATER MANAGEMENT PLAN AND DESIGN MAY INTEGRATE GREEN ROOF WATER QUALITY
PRACTICES IN ADDITION TO MECHANICAL WATER QUALITY TREATMENT UNITS PER ISWMM TO SATISFY
WATER QUALITY VOLUME.  IN THE EVENT GREEN ROOF IS EITHER AESTHETIC IN NATURE ONLY OR NOT
INCLUDED IN THE FINAL PRODUCT, MECHANICAL UNITS WILL BE SIZED SUFFICIENTLY TO ADDRESS ALL
WATER QUALITY.  THE MECHANICAL UNIT TO BE USED IS PLANNED TO BE SHARED BETWEEN 302 MAIN
STREET AND 305 STATE STREET.  IN THE EVENT THAT THE UNIT SHOWN ON THE SHIVE-HATTERY PLAN IS
NOT ABLE TO BE UTILIZED, AN APPROPRIATELY SIZED MECHANICAL UNIT WILL BE USED FOR THIS SITE
ONLY.

THE PROVIDED STORMWATER MANAGMENT EXHIBIT MAY BE MODIFIED WITH FURTHER DESIGN
PROGRESSION AND PERMITTING APPROVAL FEEDBACK FROM THE CITY.

PER SHIVE-HATTERY PLAN
PROPOSED WATER QUALITY
UNIT LOCATION.

IF REQUIRED FOR 302 MAIN
STREET ONLY, PROPOSED

LOCATION OF WATER
QUALITY UNIT.

379



31.6'

132.0'

1
2
4
.
0
'

2
2
.
0
'

2
4
.
0
'

PROPERTY LINE, TYP.

EXISTING FIRE HYDRANT

NEIGHBORING

LOT LINE, TYP.

PROPOSED ACCESS TO

INTERNAL PARKING.

SEE BUILDING PLANS

PROPOSED

BUILDING, TYP.

PROPERTY

LINE, TYP.

PROPOSED ACCESS TO

INTERNAL PARKING.

SEE BUILDING PLANS

PROPOSED GREEN

ROOF ±5800 SF

SEE BUILDING PLANS

PROPOSED SIDEWALK, TYP.

PROPOSED FIRE AND

DOMESTIC SERVICE

PROPOSED FIBER, GAS,

AND ELECTRIC SERVICE

PROPOSED STORM

SEWER CONNECTION

PROPOSED SANITARY

SEWER CONNECTION

PROPOSED PCC PAVEMENT, TYP.

INSTALLATION AND DESIGN OF

THE ONSITE PARKING WILL BE IN

COORDINATION WITH THE CITY

EAST 3RD STREET

S
T

A
T

E
 
S

T
R

E
E

T

EXISTING

BUILDING

EXISTING

TAYLOR

VETERINARY

HOSPITAL

BUILDING

R

=

1

0

.

0

'

11

2

6.9'
9.0'

3
9
.
0
'

34.7'

8

5

9

859

8

5

9

8

5

9

8

5

9

8
6

0

8

5

9

8

5

9

8

5

9

8
5
8

8

5

7

8

5

8

8
5
8

8
5
8

8

5

8

8

5

8

858

3.0'

3
.
0
'

3
2
.
3
'

1
7
.
0
'

10.4'

8
.
3
'

1
2
4
.
0
'

EXISTING MUNICIPAL

UTILITY EASEMENT.

TO BE VACATED

2
5
.
0
'

13.0'

1
5
.
0
'

1
9
.
0
'

128.0'

8
.
5
'

8.5'

16.5'

8

5

9

858

8

5

8

8
5
9

8
5
8

RETAIL/ APARTMENTS

9,030 SQ. FT. RETAIL

25 DWELLING UNITS

50 INTERNAL PARKING

STALLS PROVIDED

(4 ADA)

REMOVE AND REPLACE EXISTING

STREET LIGHT  PER NOTE 1

(22) ELY BLU

(20) ELY BLU

(1) SYR SNO

R

=

2

.
5

'

R

=

2

.

5

'

4.0'

2
4
.
0
'

8
.
0
'

2
2
.
0
'

10.0'

20.0'

PROPOSED MECHANICAL WATER QUALITY

UNIT. CONTECH CDS3030 TREATMENT

FLOW RATE 3 CFS PER PROJECT OR

CONTECH CDS4040 TREATMENT FLOW

RATE 6 CFS ENTIRE PROJECT OR

APPROVED EQUALS TO BE FINALIZED

WITH CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTATION

8.0'

6.0'

8.0'

1
3
.
0
'

4 LF NO-BUILD/ UTILITY/

PUBLIC ACCESS EASEMENT

INCLUDES 14 LF VERTICAL

CLEARANCE FROM ALLEY

GRADE TO BE PROVIDED

PROPOSED

APPROX.

METER

LOCATION

PROPOSED PCC PAVEMENT, TYP.

INSTALLATION AND DESIGN OF

THE ONSITE PARKING WILL BE IN

COORDINATION WITH THE CITY

PROP. BOLLARDS (3) TO

BE PAINTED BLACK, TYP.

U-SHAPED BIKE

RACK, TYP.

4.0' 6.0'

4 LF NO-BUILD/ UTILITY/

PUBLIC ACCESS EASEMENT

INCLUDES 14 LF VERTICAL

CLEARANCE FROM ALLEY

GRADE TO BE PROVIDED

BUILDING EDGE, TYP.

SEE BUILDING PLANS

27

57

58

27

57

58

Label contains broken referenceLabel contains broken referenceLabel contains broken referenceLabel contains broken referenceLabel contains broken referenceLabel contains broken referenceLabel contains broken referenceLabel contains broken referenceLabel contains broken referenceLabel contains broken referenceLabel contains broken referenceLabel contains broken referenceLabel contains broken referenceLabel contains broken referenceLabel contains broken referenceLabel contains broken referenceLabel contains broken referenceLabel contains broken referenceLabel contains broken reference

E 1ST ST.

S
T

A
T

E
 
S

T
.

WATERLOO RD.

E 1ST ST.

S
T

A
T

E
 
S

T
.

WATERLOO RD.

TREES QTY BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME ROOT SIZE REMARKS

SYR SNO 1 Syringa reticulata `China Snow` Japanese Tree Lilac B & B 1.5"Cal

GROUND COVERS QTY BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE SPACING REMARKS

42 Elymus arenarius Blue Dune Blue Dune Lyme Grass 1 GAL. 24" o.c.

OWNER OF RECORD

RIVER PLACE PROPERTIES II, LC

APPLICANT INFORMATION

RIVER PLACE PROPERTIES II, LC

200 STATE STREET, #202Z

CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613-0000

TOTAL PROJECT AREA

16,368 SQUARE FT  =  0.38 ACRES (100% OF SITE)

EXISTING COVERED AREA

     16,368 SQUARE FT  =  0.38 ACRES (100% OF SITE)

PROPOSED COVERED AREA

16,368 SQUARE FT  =  0.38 ACRES (100% OF SITE)

EXISTING OPEN AREA

0 SQUARE FT  =  0.00 ACRES (0.0% OF SITE)

PROPOSED OPEN AREA

0 SQUARE FT  =  0.00 ACRES (0.0% OF SITE)

PROPOSED BUILDING AREA

16,368 SQUARE FEET - UNDERGROUND PARKING

11,764 SQUARE FEET - FIRST FLOOR

16,368 SQUARE FEET - SECOND FLOOR

11,516 SQUARE FEET - THIRD FLOOR

11,516 SQUARE FEET - FOURTH FLOOR

11,516 SQUARE FEET - FIFTH FLOOR

7,900 SQUARE FEET- SIXTH FLOOR

86,948 SQUARE FEET - TOTAL

HEIGHT: 78'-0"

FLOOD ZONE

   NO FLOODPLAIN PRESENT PER FIRM PANEL

#19013C0162F.

ADDRESS

305 STATE STREET

CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613

EXISTING ZONING AND USE

ZONING:C-3

USE: COMMERCIAL

PROPOSED ZONING AND USE

ZONING:C-3

USE: COMMERCIAL

BUILDING SETBACKS

FRONT: 0 FEET

SIDES: 0 FEET

REAR: 0 FEET

EXISTING EASEMENTS

EXISTING MUNICIPAL UTILITY EASEMENT AT SW

CORNER OF PROPERTY (TO BE VACATED)

PROPOSED EASEMENTS

NONE

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT TO BE PROVIDED BY

MECHANICAL UNIT

PARKING REQUIREMENTS

REQUIRED PROVIDED

DWELLING UNITS 25 2 STALLS/ UNIT = 50 STALLS

BEDROOMS >2 0 1 STALL/ROOM = 0 STALLS

VISITORS 1 1 STALL/5 UNITS = 9 STALL

REQUIRED PROVIDED

ONSITE 50 50

ACCESSIBLE 2 4

REQUIRED PROVIDED

PUBLIC 9 13

     ACCESSIBLE 1 4 (ONSITE)

4

A B D E FC

3

2

1

A B D E FC

4

3

2

1

I
o
w

a
 
 
|
 
 
I
l
l
i
n
o
i
s
 
 
|
 
 
I
n
d
i
a
n
a

2
8
3
9
 
N

o
r
t
h
g
a
t
e
 
D

r
i
v
e
 
 
|
 
 
I
o
w

a
 
C

i
t
y
,
 
I
o
w

a
 
 
5
2
2
4
5

3
1
9
.
3
5
4
.
3
0
4
0
 
 
|
 
 
f
a
x
:
 
3
1
9
.
3
5
4
.
6
9
2
1
 
 
|
 
 
w

w
w

.
s
h
i
v
e
-
h
a
t
t
e
r
y
.
c
o
m

P
R

E
L
I
M

I
N

A
R

Y

-
 
N

O
T

 
F

O
R

C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
I
O

N

N.T.S.

CONTACT PERSON

NICK HATZ

SHIVE-HATTERY INC.

222 THIRD AVE. SE, SUITE 300

P.O. BOX 1599

CEDAR RAPIDS, IA 52406-1599

PH (319) 364-0227

FAX (319) 364-4251

NHATZ@SHIVE-HATTERY.COM

VICINITY MAP

PROJECT LOCATION

D
R

A
W

N
:

A
P

P
R

O
V

E
D

:

I
S

S
U

E
D

 
F

O
R

:

D
A

T
E

:

F
I
E

L
D

 
B

O
O

K
:

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

 
N

O
:

C
L
I
E

N
T

 
N

O
:

P
r
i
n
t
e
d
:

C101

S
I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N

P
E

S

C
N

H

S
I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N

0
4

/
1

5
/
2

0
1

9

1
1

8
1

4
1

0

-
-
-

-
-
-

C
E

D
A

R
 
F

A
L
L
S

 
E

A
G

L
E

V
I
E

W

R
I
V

E
R

 
P

L
A

C
E

 
P

R
O

P
E

R
T

I
E

S
 
I
I
,
 
L
C

3
0
5
 
S

T
A

T
E

 
S

T
R

E
E

T
,
 
C

E
D

A
R

 
F

A
L
L
S

,
 
I
A
 
5
0
6
1
3

P
:
\
P

r
o

j
e

c
t
s
\
I
C

\
1

1
8

1
4

1
0

\
D

e
l
i
v
e

r
a

b
l
e

s
\
D

r
a

w
i
n

g
s
\
1

_
C

i
v
i
l
\
C

1
0

1
 
S

i
t
e

 
P

l
a

n
.
d

w
g

3
/
2

6
/
2

0
1

9
 
4

:
0

7
:
5

6
 
P

M

SITE PLAN NOTES

1. EXISTING STREETS LIGHTS TO BE PRESERVED OR 

REPLACED WITH WITH DECORATIVE STREET LIGHTS AS

APPROVED BY THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS. FINAL 

LOCATIONS TO BE COORDINATED WITH CONSTRUCTION

DOCUMENTS.

2. UTILITY LOCATIONS WILL NEED TO BE REVIEWED AS

CONSTRUCTION PLANS ARE SUBMITTED

380



River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
305 State Street - preliminary design concept

02.18.2019

381



ramp up

11

17 16 15 14 13 1218192021

1
0

9
8

7
6

5
4

3
2

1
2
2

2
3

2
4

2
5

2
6

2
7

2
8

2
9

3
0 3

1

31 total residential parking spaces
spaces are 18’ x 8’ typical

132’-0”

36’-8”36’-8” 36’-8” 11’-0”11’-0”

11
’-0

”
2
4
’-0

”
3
4
’-0

”
3
4
’-0

”

1
2
4
’-0

”

under building parking - 16,368 SF

2
1
’-0

”

ADA ADA

Z

Z

north

24’-0”18’-0” 24’-0” 18’-0”

1
8
’-0

”
2
4
’-0

”

sump pump and redundant 
de-watering system to be installed

8
’-0

”

20’-0”

9
’-0

”
5
’-0

”m
in

.

River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
305 State Street - preliminary design concept

382



S
ta

te
 S

tr
ee

t

3rd Street

ramp up

ramp down

ground floor commercial - 11,764 SF

2,584 SF

Z

Z

Z

Z

132’-0”

34’-8”38’-8” 40’-0”

3
9
’-0

”
3
6
’-4

”

1
2
4
’-0

”

4
0
’-0

”

north

dumpster/
recycling/
deliveries
w/ roll up
door

3’-0” typ.

6’-0” 8’-8”

8
’-8

”

1,430 SF 1,430 SF 2,335 SF

2,060 SF

1,775 SF

T1 T2 T3

T4

T5

4’-0”

River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
305 State Street - preliminary design concept

383



ramp down

16 1715141312

11
1
0

9
8

7
6

5
4

18

3
2

1

second level parking/ commercial office - 16,368 SF

c c c

Commercial Office 5,000 SF 

19
ADA ADA

Z

Z

north

19 total residential parking spaces
spaces are 18’ x 8’ typical
compact spaces are 16’ x 8’ typical

24’-0”18’-0”

8
’-0

”

1
6
’-0

”

9’-0” 5’-0”min 9’-0”

2
4
’-0

”
1
9
’-0

”

River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
305 State Street - preliminary design concept

384



UNIT 1

third level residential - 11,516 SF

UNIT 2 UNIT 3 UNIT 4

UNIT 5UNIT 6UNIT 7

unit deck

green roof

10’-0”

10’-0”

1
0
’-
0
”

1
0
’-
0
”

north

River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
305 State Street - preliminary design concept

385



fourth level residential - 11,516 SF
north

UNIT 1 UNIT 2 UNIT 3 UNIT 4

UNIT 5UNIT 6UNIT 7

unit deck

River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
305 State Street - preliminary design concept

386



fifth level residential - 11,516 SF
north

UNIT 1 UNIT 2 UNIT 3 UNIT 4

UNIT 5UNIT 6UNIT 7

unit deck

River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
305 State Street - preliminary design concept

387



sixth level residential/ roof top - 7,900 SF

UNIT 22

UNIT 25 UNIT 23

UNIT 24
community
deck

north

River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
305 State Street - preliminary design concept

388



east/ west building section looking north through ramped parking access
north

-12’-0”

0’-0”

16’-0”

30’-0”

42’-0”

54’-0”

66’-0”

78’-0”

67’-0”

9% transition

1
4
’-2

”

67’-0”

1
0
’-7

.5
”

interior ramp slope = 21%

interior ramp slope = 15%

residential

residential

residential

residential

parking/
commercial office

retail/ condo access

under building parking

State Streetalley

10’ set back10’ set back

10’-0”

9% transition10’-0”

varies - 10’ 
set back min.

6’ balcony

R
.O

.W
.

R
.O

.W
.

9% transition10’-0”

9% transition10’-0”

14’-0”
parking entrance with audible and 
visual warnings when door is in open 
position.  mirrors to be installed for 
vehicles to view for potential pedestrians

parking entrance with audible and 
visual warnings when door is in open 
position.  mirrors to be installed for 
vehicles to view for potential vehicles

River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
305 State Street - preliminary design concept

389



north elevation with material designations
River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
305 State Street - preliminary design concept

390



east elevation with material designations
River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
305 State Street - preliminary design concept

391



west elevation with material designations

(25%)
(11.1%)

River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
305 State Street - preliminary design concept

392



south elevation showing context with existing building

future public art
mural location

Taylor Veterinary Hospital

River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
305 State Street - preliminary design concept

393



concept rendering from corner of 3rd and State Street

River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
305 State Street - preliminary design concept

394



concept rendering from State Street

River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
305 State Street - preliminary design concept

395



concept renderingconcept rendering across 3rd Street

River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
305 State Street - preliminary design concept

396



concept renderingstreet view rendering along 3rd street

River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
305 State Street - preliminary design concept

397



concept renderingconcept rendering aerial view

River Place Properties II - Cedar Falls, Iowa
305 State Street - preliminary design concept

398



SS

ST ST ST ST ST

W W W W W

E E E

G

FO

861

PROPOSED BUILDING
FFE = 859.75

SH
EE

T 
N

U
M

BE
R:

SH
EE

T 
N

AM
E:

DR
AW

IN
G 

LO
G

EN
GI

N
EE

R:

RE
V

DA
TE

DE
SC

RI
PT

IO
N

 O
F 

CH
AN

GE
S

PR
O

JE
CT

 N
AM

E:

CL
IE

N
T 

N
AM

E:

IS
SU

ED
 F

O
R:

PR
O

JE
CT

 N
0.

:
DA

TE
 IS

SU
ED

:
PR

O
JE

CT
 M

AN
AG

ER
:

CU
RR

EN
T 

RE
V:

W
W

W
.A

XI
O

M
-C

O
N

.C
O

M
 |

 (3
19

) 5
19

-6
22

0

 Mar 29, 2019 - 7:12am S:\PROJECTS\180067\05 Design\Civil-Survey\Sheets\Drainage Exhibit.dwg

18
-0

06
7

DR
 E

X1
DE

CK
ER

EM
ER

GE
N

T

DR
AI

N
AG

E 
EX

HI
BI

T

M
AR

CH
 2

9,
 2

01
9

30
2 

M
AI

N
 S

TR
EE

T
CL

IE
N

T 
RE

VI
SI

O
N

A

0 5 10

PROPOSED BUILDING
FFE = 861.60

LEGEND:

8

39'

PROPERTY LOCATION 302 MAIN STREET

ZONING INFORMATION C-3: HIGH DENSITY COMMERCIAL DISTRICT

USE COMMERCIAL

PROPOSED PARKING EXISTING 9 SPOTS

EXISTING SITE 11,616 SF 0.27 AC (100%)
BUILDING AREA = 10,043 SF 0.23 AC (85%)
PAVEMENT = 1,573  SF 0.04 AC (15%)
OPEN SPACE = 0 SF 0 AC (0%)

PROPOSED SITE 11,616 SF 0.27 AC (100%)
BUILDING AREA = 11,054 SF 0.25 AC (93%)
PAVEMENT = 562  SF 0.02 AC (07%)
OPEN SPACE = 0  SF 0       AC (0%)

*DOES NOT INCLUDE AREA WITHIN ROW.

YARD SETBACKS
FRONT NONE
SIDE NONE
REAR NONE

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
MAXIMUM HEIGHT 165 FEET
PROPOSED HEIGHT 40 FT

FEMA FLOODWAY INFORMATIOIN NO FLOODPLAIN PRESENT PER FIRM PANEL
#19013C0162F.

EAST 3RD STREET

M
AI

N 
ST

RE
ET

TE
LL

ER
 W

IN
DOW

DRAINAGE AREA: 11,616 SF (0.27 AC)

IMPERVIOUS AREA: 100% OF DRAINAGE AREA (0.31 AC)

RATIONAL METHOD RUNOFF COEFFICIENT PER SUDAS: 0.95

TIME OF CONCENTRATION: 5 MIN.

10 YEAR RAINFALL INTENSITY:  7.86 IN/HR
2 YEAR RAINFALL INTENSITY: 5.47 IN/HR

TOTAL REQUIRED WATER QUALITY VOLUME:
WQv=[(P)(Rv)(A)]/12

Rv=0.05+0.009(I)
P=1.25 INCHES
A=AREA (SQ. FT)

WQv=1,150 CU. FT.

10-YR POST-DEVELOPED RUNOFF:
Q10=(C)(i)(A)

C=RUNOFF COEFFICIENT
i= RAINFALL INTENSITY (IN/HR)
A=AREA (AC)

Q10=2.02 CFS

2-YR PRE-DEVELOPED RUNOFF
Q2=1.40 CFS

DIFFERENCE
(Q10-Q2)=0.52 CFS < 1.00 CFS

EXISTING BUILDING

PROPOSED BUILDING

6" PCC ON 6" AGGREGATE.

5" PCC SIDEWALK ON 4" AGGREGATE.

MODULAR BRICK PAVER. SEE DETAIL
4/C9.00

7" PCC ON 6" AGGREGATE
MODIFIED 
SUBBASE IDOT GRADATION 14.

PERMEABLE PAVERS.

EXISTING BRICK PAVER

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT NOTE:

FINAL STORMWATER MANAGEMENT PLAN AND DESIGN MAY INTEGRATE GREEN ROOF WATER QUALITY
PRACTICES IN ADDITION TO MECHANICAL WATER QUALITY TREATMENT UNITS PER ISWMM TO SATISFY
WATER QUALITY VOLUME.  IN THE EVENT GREEN ROOF IS EITHER AESTHETIC IN NATURE ONLY OR NOT
INCLUDED IN THE FINAL PRODUCT, MECHANICAL UNITS WILL BE SIZED SUFFICIENTLY TO ADDRESS ALL
WATER QUALITY.  THE MECHANICAL UNIT TO BE USED IS PLANNED TO BE SHARED BETWEEN 302 MAIN
STREET AND 305 STATE STREET.  IN THE EVENT THAT THE UNIT SHOWN ON THE SHIVE-HATTERY PLAN IS
NOT ABLE TO BE UTILIZED, AN APPROPRIATELY SIZED MECHANICAL UNIT WILL BE USED FOR THIS SITE
ONLY.

THE PROVIDED STORMWATER MANAGMENT EXHIBIT MAY BE MODIFIED WITH FURTHER DESIGN
PROGRESSION AND PERMITTING APPROVAL FEEDBACK FROM THE CITY.

PER SHIVE-HATTERY PLAN
PROPOSED WATER QUALITY
UNIT LOCATION.

IF REQUIRED FOR 302 MAIN
STREET ONLY, PROPOSED

LOCATION OF WATER
QUALITY UNIT.

399



PROPERTY LINE AND

DRAINAGE AREA, TYP.

PROPOSED

BUILDING, TYP.

PROPERTY LINE AND

DRAINAGE AREA, TYP.

PROPOSED GREEN

ROOF ±5800 SF

SEE STORMWATER

MANAGEMENT NOTE

THIS SHEET

PROPOSED STORM

SEWER CONNECTION

EAST 3RD STREET

S
T

A
T

E
 
S

T
R

E
E

T

8

5

9

859

8

5

9

8

5

9

8

5

9

8
6

0

8

5

9

8

5

9

8

5

9

8
5
8

8

5

7

8

5

8

8
5
8

8
5
8

8

5

8

8

5

8

858

1
2
4
.
0
'

128.0'

8

5

9

858

8

5

8

8
5
9

8
5
8

PROPOSED MECHANICAL WATER QUALITY

UNIT. CONTECH CDS3030 TREATMENT

FLOW RATE 3 CFS PER PROJECT OR

CONTECH CDS4040 TREATMENT FLOW

RATE 6 CFS ENTIRE PROJECT OR

APPROVED EQUALS TO BE FINALIZED

WITH CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTATION

4

A B D E FC

3

2

1

A B D E FC

4

3

2

1

I
o
w

a
 
 
|
 
 
I
l
l
i
n
o
i
s
 
 
|
 
 
I
n
d
i
a
n
a

2
8
3
9
 
N

o
r
t
h
g
a
t
e
 
D

r
i
v
e
 
 
|
 
 
I
o
w

a
 
C

i
t
y
,
 
I
o
w

a
 
 
5
2
2
4
5

3
1
9
.
3
5
4
.
3
0
4
0
 
 
|
 
 
f
a
x
:
 
3
1
9
.
3
5
4
.
6
9
2
1
 
 
|
 
 
w

w
w

.
s
h
i
v
e
-
h
a
t
t
e
r
y
.
c
o
m

P
R

E
L
I
M

I
N

A
R

Y

-
 
N

O
T

 
F

O
R

C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
I
O

N

D
R

A
W

N
:

A
P

P
R

O
V

E
D

:

I
S

S
U

E
D

 
F

O
R

:

D
A

T
E

:

F
I
E

L
D

 
B

O
O

K
:

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

 
N

O
:

C
L
I
E

N
T

 
N

O
:

P
r
i
n
t
e
d
:

EX. 1

S
T

O
R

M
W

A
T

E
R

M
A

N
A

G
E

M
E

N
T

E
X

H
I
B

I
T

P
E

S

C
N

H

S
I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N

0
2

/
1

8
/
2

0
1

9

1
1

8
1

4
1

0

-
-
-

-
-
-

C
E

D
A

R
 
F

A
L
L
S

 
E

A
G

L
E

V
I
E

W

R
I
V

E
R

 
P

L
A

C
E

 
P

R
O

P
E

R
T

I
E

S
 
I
I
,
 
L
C

3
0
5
 
S

T
A

T
E

 
S

T
R

E
E

T
,
 
C

E
D

A
R

 
F

A
L
L
S

,
 
I
A
 
5
0
6
1
3

P
:
\
P

r
o

j
e

c
t
s
\
I
C

\
1

1
8

1
4

1
0

\
D

e
l
i
v
e

r
a

b
l
e

s
\
D

r
a

w
i
n

g
s
\
1

_
C

i
v
i
l
\
E

x
h

i
b

i
t
s
\
S

t
o

r
m

w
a

t
e

r
 
E

x
h

i
b

i
t
.
d

w
g

2
/
1

8
/
2

0
1

9
 
9

:
4

7
:
5

7
 
A

M

DRAINAGE AREA

16,368 SF = 0.376 ACRES

IMPERVIOUS AREA

100% OF DRAINAGE AREA = 0.376 ACRES

RATIONAL METHOD RUNOFF COEFFICIENT PER SUDAS

0.95

TIME OF CONCENTRATION

5 MINUTES

10 YEAR RAINFALL INTENSITY

7.86 IN/HR

2 YEAR RAINFALL INTENSITY

5.47 IN/HR

TOTAL REQ. WATER QUALITY VOLUME

1620 CF

10-YEAR POST-DEVELOPED RUNOFF

2.89 CFS

2 -YEAR PRE-DEVELOPED RUNOFF

2.01 CFS

DIFFERENCE

0.88 CFS < 1 CFS

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT NOTE:

FINAL STORMWATER MANAGEMENT PLAN AND DESIGN

MAY INTEGRATE GREEN ROOF WATER QUALITY

PRACTICES IN ADDITION TO MECHANICAL WATER

QUALITY TREATMENT UNITS PER ISWMM TO SATISFY

WATER QUALITY VOLUME.  IN THE EVENT GREEN

ROOF IS EITHER AESTHETIC IN NATURE ONLY OR NOT

INCLUDED IN THE FINAL PRODUCT MECHANICAL UNITS

WILL BE SIZED SUFFICIENTLY TO ADDRESS ALL

WATER QUALITY.  PLEASE NOTE MECHANICAL UNITS

PRELIMINARILY SPECIFIED IN THIS DOCUMENT ARE

SIZED TO HANDLE ALL WATER QUALITY FOR 305

STATE STREET.  IN THE EVENT IT CAN BE

ENGINEERED TO COMBINE BOTH PROJECTS

OUTFALLS INTO A COMMON MECHANICAL

SEPARATOR, SIZED ACCORDINGLY, OWNER WILL

COORDINATE WITH CITY STAFF ON AN APPROPRIATE

MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT.

THE PROVIDED STORMWATER MANAGEMENT EXHIBIT

MAY BE MODIFIED WITH FURTHER DESIGN

PROGRESSION AND PERMITTING APPROVAL

FEEDBACK FROM THE CITY.

400



401



402



 

5136 Lovers Lane, Suite 200, Kalamazoo, MI 49002   t: 269.381.2222   f: 269.349.4656   www.WGInc.com 

 

 

 

Parking Impact Analysis for the River Place Developments 

302 Main Street and 123 3rd Street 

The River Place development project currently 

under construction is located at the former 

Wells Fargo bank site. The site is located on the 

south side of 3rd Street between Main and State 

Streets. The approved site plan shows two 

mixed-use structures with different street 

addresses of 302 Main Street and 123 3rd 

Street. The 302 Main building will be three 

stories that will include 2,224SF of storefront 

retail and 4,410SF of banking services on the 

first floor; 10,870SF of second floor bank 

offices; and a third story that includes 7,800SF of office use. The 123 3rd Street building will include 9,260SF of 

ground floor commercial space, 25 residential apartment units, and structured parking with 50 parking spaces. 

Our parking demand modeling includes both buildings as a single development project. 

The subject property is located in a C-3 zoning district, which has no parking requirement for commercial uses, 

but which does require on-site residential parking at a ratio of 2 stalls per residential unit. The current site 

condition includes nine (9) angled parking spaces on 3rd Street between Main Street and the service alley; and 

two (2) spaces of parallel parking between the alley and State Street. The proposed site plan replaces the 

existing two parallel spaces between the alley and State Street with thirteen (13) angled on-street parking 

spaces, resulting in a net gain of eleven (11) spaces on 3rd Street. For our analysis, we are including these 11 

new on-street spaces with the 50 structured parking spaces for a total of 61 new parking stalls created by the 

River Place development project. 

In estimating parking demand that will likely result from this project, we utilize recommended parking ratios 

published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE); and shared demand modeling as published by the 

Urban Land Institute (ULI). The ITE recommended parking ratios are listed below for each land use. To reflect 

the mixed-use aspect of this project located in a high-density urban downtown, we used a captive market 

reduction factor of 30% for our shared demand modeling. In other words, we are assuming that 30% of the 

parking demand generated by this development will be employee and/or downtown residents already parked 

in the downtown area. In high-density urban areas that are well served by public transit we have used reduction 

factors of much as 60% in other cities. However, due to the lack of public transit options in Black Hawk County, 

we are limiting our reduction factor to 30%.    

 

Land Use   Recommended ITE Parking Ratio per 1,000SF 

 Residential Rental (Unit)  1.5 stalls per unit + 0.15 stalls for visitors = 1.65 stalls/unit 

 Retail     2.9 customer + 0.70 employee = 3.6 stalls/1,000SF 

 Office     3.5 employee + 0.30 visitor = 3.8 stalls/1,000SF 

 Family Restaurant  9.0 customer + 1.5 employee = 10.5/1,000SF 

403



   

Scenario #1 Land Use Breakdown – All Retail 

For the 123 3rd Street portion of the project, the concept plan includes 9,260SF of ground floor commercial 

space. This commercial space is sub-divided into five (5) storefront units that range in size from 1,660SF to 

2,060SF. For our demand modeling we included two different scenarios. The first model treats the entire 

9,260SF of ground floor space at 123 3rd Street as retail. The second model includes part of the ground floor 

area as restaurant use with the following breakdown: 3,835SF restaurant; 5,425SF retail. Based on the ground 

floor storefront layout of the 302 Main Street building, we do not believe restaurant use is intended for this 

portion of the project. 

 

    Residential (Units) Retail (SF) Office (SF) Restaurant (SF) 

123 3rd Street             25                9,260             ---             --- 

302 Main Street            ---     8,980     18,670            ---            _    

TOTALS             25   18,240     18,670 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

As the graph above illustrates, the shared demand modeling indicates a peak parking demand day of 82 

parking spaces that would occur at 2:00pm on a weekday afternoon in December. It is important to understand 

that this modeling assumes full occupancies and it estimates parking demand on the busiest day of the year. 

When we look at the full year, the modeling indicates a “normal” or average peak demand of 72 parking 

spaces. Nonetheless, for this analysis we will use the “worst case scenario” number of 82 parking spaces needed 

at full demand. 

 

Scenario #1 Results:  Estimated Peak Demand =  82 Spaces 

   New Parking Provided =  61 Spaces 

   Difference =             (21 Spaces) 

21

31

50

65

74
78 76

79

82
80

77

66

60
57

52

41

33

25
20

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

December - Weekday Shared Parking Accumulation

Residential 

Retail Office 

404



   

Scenario #2 Land Use Breakdown – With Potential Restaurant Use 

This second scenario of demand modeling replaces 3,835SF of retail 

with a restaurant use on the ground floor of 123 3rd Street. For 

modeling purposes, we included spaces T1, T2, and T3 as retail; and 

spaces T4 and T5 as restaurant. We did not include the common area 

space in our parking calculations. We selected spaces T4 and T5 as 

possible restaurant space due to the “square” configuration of the 

spaces, which makes them more conducive for restaurant uses. We 

felt it was important to include a possible restaurant use in scenario 

#2 because restaurants are permitted by right in the C – 3 zoning 

district, and as such the City cannot prohibit a potential restaurant 

use in this development project.  

 

 

    Residential (Units) Retail (SF) Office (SF) Restaurant (SF) 

123 3rd Street             25                 5,425           ---       3,835 

302 Main Street            ---      8,980   18,670      _            _    

TOTALS             25    14,405   18,670      3,835 

 

Scenario #1 Results:  Estimated Peak Demand =  93 Spaces 

   New Parking Provided =  61 Spaces 

   Difference =             (32 Spaces) 

27

42

63

79

89
93 91

93

88
85

82
77

72
69

65

51

43

35

26

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

December - Weekday Shared Parking Accumulation

Residential

Resturant

Retail

Office 

405



   

 

Summary and Conclusions 

As the two charts above indicate, the estimated peak seasonal demand is projected to occur on a weekday in 

December. One difference between the two scenarios is that the retail only use is projected to peak at 2:00pm 

in the afternoon; whereas the restaurant use is projected to peak at 11:00am on a weekday in December. Both 

scenarios result in parking “deficits”, with a retail only deficit of (21) spaces compared to a restaurant deficit of 

(32) spaces. To reiterate, these parking demand models project maximum demand on the busiest days of the 

year, which may only happen a few times per year. 

As noted in our downtown parking study and based upon the car counts conducted by the River Place property 

manager, the existing River Place surface parking lot shows consistent parking availability during all times of 

the day and on weekends. The average parking availability in the River Place lot was 89 open parking spaces 

during the typical lunch period; and an average of 60 spaces open during typical evening periods. The aerial 

image on the left of the slide below was taken on Saturday April 28, 2018 at 11:30am. As you can see from the 

image, the River Place parking lot shows ample parking availability at lunchtime on a Saturday in late April.  

Considering that the existing River Place parking lot is owned by the same developer for the 123 3rd Street/302 

Main Street development project, we believe there is sufficient developer-controlled private parking to support 

the project currently under construction on the former Wells Fargo site. We further believe the net gain of 11 

angled parking spaces on 3rd Street will benefit the entire area, and not just the development site. On a final 

note, we would encourage retail over restaurant uses in the new buildings. However, the City has no way to 

dictate land uses that are permitted by-right in the C-3 zone. 

 

 

**END OF REPORT** 

 

 

406



206 Main Street, Suite B
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613

Phone: 319-277-0213
communitymainst@cfu.net
www.communitymainstreet.org

310 East 4th Street
Cedar Falls, IA 50613

Phone: 319-277-0213
www.communitymainstreet.org

March 22, 2019

Members of the Planning and Zoning Commission,

The discussion during the last P & Z meeting regarding the new downtown 
development brought up some very good points by those in attendance. As 
you make decisions regarding the future of downtown, your role as commission 
members is important to the continued success of the district. We appreciate 
your willingness to ask questions, and consider the ordinances as well as various 
viewpoints to make thoughtful decisions. 

During the past 31 years, the investments made – both financial and through sweat 
equity - has created our vibrant, magnetic downtown community. This collective 
effort produced an atmosphere where investing in the restored center of the city 
has become highly desirable. Parking, often times, has been part of the discussion. 
Since some of you are newer to the commission, I am providing a short background 
of Community Main Street’s effort to improve parking in recent years.

Since early 2012, when significant construction projects in the downtown district 
were announced, members of the downtown community recognized the positive 
impact the projects would bring to the district and wholeheartedly welcomed the 
news. Community Main Street soon recognized that along with the growth, there 
would be challenges to face, including parking availability. In May of that year, 
CMS sent a letter to the City supporting the economic development in the district. 
In it, we respectfully requested that throughout the planning process for future 
development, consideration would be taken for the increased burden on existing 
public parking facilities and how such large-scale development would affect the 
district. Lack of available parking would not only impact the existing businesses, 
which have collectively invested millions of dollars in our downtown, but could 
negatively affect the success of the proposed developments themselves.  

Although not part of the City’s actual parking inventory, the lots along State Street 
were frequently full and used regularly by downtown patrons. Privately held lots 
were also used after hours, a practice that continues today. After sharing concerns 
and submitting a request to council and staff to jointly fund a professional parking 
study in 2012, it was determined a more cost-effective route would be to conduct 
the study internally.  At the direction of the City Council, members of city staff 
were asked to work with representatives from Community Main Street to research 
parking trends and to develop a set of recommendations to improve downtown 
parking.  

The result of the task force was the 2015 Parking Study Report, a year-long 
assessment of parking conditions in the district. Following the report results, 
Community Main Street volunteers and staff spent 2 years been actively addressing 
the short term priorities identified in the report and funded all costs associated 
with the recommendations.

2018-2019
Board of Directors:

Ty Kimble - President
Crystal Ford
Jessica Marsh
Dan Lynch
Ty Kimble
Audrey Dodd
Matt Dunning
WynetteFroehner
Amy Mohr
Clark Rickard
Stephanie Sheetz
Julie Shimek
Brad Strouse
Pam Taylor
Dawn Wilson

407



Fast-forward to late 2018 and downtown development projects are going strong, with more on the 
horizon. A new parking study was recently completed, and Community Main Street is pleased the city 
is moving forward with improvements to the parking system. It is important to note, shared parking in 
private lots is one of the recommendations. This practice has been underway for many years due to the 
generosity of the private lot owners. Shared parking is often referenced during Planning and Zoning 
meetings. During the Planning & Zoning meeting on March 13, one of the commission members asked 
about the number of parking spots that would be lost when the Wells Fargo lot is no longer available. 
The city staff response was a bit confusing. Since it was not part of the public parking system, the loss 
of those spots was not of consideration. How can one consider private lot parking as favorable in once 
instance, but when it is no longer available, the parking loss is not to be considered? In our opinion, if 
private parking is going to be considered as part of the parking system, both gains and losses due to the 
private sharing agreements must be carefully considered. 

One of the strengths of our downtown community is the business mix.  The balance of retail, dining, 
nightlife, office, service, and residential makes our downtown a destination and community asset. 
Parking is a major component of the equation, for without adequate parking availability there cannot 
be a sufficient number of patrons to allow success of downtown businesses, both new and existing.  
Well-identified available parking options and safe secure walkability is of upmost importance to the 
retail and restaurant sectors. Community Main Street continues to fully support economic development 
projects within the district, but as development continues, protecting the opportunity for all business 
types to succeed is of essential for Cedar Falls to retain its unique personality and thriving city center. 
And we all know that successful businesses are what drive associated property and sales tax revenue.

The current, professionally done parking study has provided an updated set of recommendations, for 
which we are extremely grateful. We look forward to the establishment of the parking committee as 
recommended and hope that Planning and Zoning members and representatives from Community 
Main Street are included on the team. To provide a successful conclusion, we believe the expertise both 
CMS and P & Z participation would provide would be of great value to city staff. 

We are confident that if we, working together, use the data collected in the parking study and carefully 
weigh the pros and cons of the recommendations we can develop a district-wide plan that adequately 
addresses the needs of both our current and future customers, employees and residents.

In conclusion, Community Main Street remains hopeful that you will continue to consider the serious 
concerns about parking availability in your role as a commissioner. We greatly appreciate your 
willingness to serve as a Planning and Zoning Commissioner and for the ongoing support of the 
Downtown District by the City of Cedar Falls and the role it plays in making the district a Great American 
Main Street!

Regards,

Carol Lilly
Executive Director

408



206 Main Street, Suite B
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613

Phone: 319-277-0213
communitymainst@cfu.net
www.communitymainstreet.org

310 East 4th Street
Cedar Falls, IA 50613

Phone: 319-277-0213
www.communitymainstreet.org

February 5, 2019

Planning and Zoning 
City of Cedar Falls
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls, IA 50613

Dear Iris, Karen and planning and zoning commission members, 

Community Main Street was established over 30 years ago to foster economic vitality 
and to promote and preserve the historic image and character of our downtown.  
The Main Street approach to economic development has been used strategically 
to transform the neighborhood and we have a proven track record of successful 
revitalization efforts.  

The Cedar Falls Downtown District is booming. New developments have begun to 
transform our district into an urban neighborhood complimentary to our thriving 
historic core. Representatives from Eagle View Partners recently presented plans for 
a proposed project at 302 Main St. and 123 State Street (previously Wells Fargo) to 
the Community Main Street Design Committee. A project of such scale in the heart 
of the district is something of great importance to the entirety of Cedar Falls as it 
directly impacts the character of our nationally recognized, award winning, Great 
American Main Street. Due to the importance of the project, the Design Committee 
consulted the Design Specialists at Main Street Iowa for guidance. As downtown 
continues to transform into an urban scale neighborhood, their perspective was very 
helpful. 

We appreciate the efforts of the planning team to consider our feedback after 
meeting with the Design Committee on January 4th, several of which were 
addressed prior to final submission for Planning and Zoning consideration.  The 
following recommendations remain: 
• Historically corner buildings are typically stately and anchor the ends of the 
block. At 302 Main Street, a three-story façade rather than a set back with a “pasted 
on 3rd floor” would be more complimentary and in keeping with the historical 
character of the central core of the district. If a set back is approved, material choice 
should be reconsidered to include materials other than all glass. 
• Building height of 123 State Street was discussed. At six stories, it will be 
the tallest building in the core. A reduction in height by at least one floor would be 
preferred, but not at the cost of losing valuable tenant parking. 

In addition, we are grateful for the city’s investment in a traffic/parking impact study 
on the proposed project. Throughout the planning process, we encourage the City 
to consider how such a large scale development will increase the burden on existing 
public parking facilities, impacting the existing businesses who have collectively 
invested millions of dollars in our downtown, and potentially may negatively affect 
the success of the proposed development itself. 

2018-2019
Board of Directors:

Ty Kimble - President
Crystal Ford
Jessica Marsh
Dan Lynch
Ty Kimble
Audrey Dodd
Matt Dunning
WynetteFroehner
Amy Mohr
Clark Rickard
Stephanie Sheetz
Julie Shimek
Brad Strouse
Pam Taylor
Dawn Wilson

409



The Cedar Falls Downtown District is a special neighborhood because of the people and partnerships 
that have worked diligently to build a successful community.  In the spirit of continued success and 
partnership, we respectfully request the City consider the recommendations of the Design Committee 
and wait until the traffic study is complete so the results can be taken into consideration prior to 
making a decision on this project.

Respectfully,

Carol Lilly, On behalf of Community Main Street

cc Mark Kittrell

410



411



 

 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 

  

 
 
  

 TO: Mayor Brown & City Council  

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development 

 DATE: April 8, 2019 

 SUBJECT: CDBG Banking Service Agreement for Lump Sum Drawdown 

 
Cedar Falls receives approximately $248,000 in Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) funds each year, as an entitlement community.  These funds primarily support 
several programs: housing rehabilitations or housing repairs for income-qualifying 
residents; financial support to several service agencies such as Visiting Nurses, 
Northeast Iowa Food Bank, Consumer Credit Counseling, etc.   
 
May 2nd of every year, Cedar Falls must meet a timeliness test.  At that point, the 
maximum in unspent funds is 1.5 times its annual award.  We estimate Cedar Falls will 
have 1.6 times our annual award.  Therefore, as permitted by HUD, we are proposing a 
lump sum draw down into a separate account, of $35,500.   
 
The attached Service Agreement is similar to last year’s lump sum agreement.  We 
have advised HUD of our intent to complete this.  There are several provisions staff will 
be sure to meet, as provided in the agreement: 1) first expenditure of the lump sum 
funds must occur within 45 days of the deposit and 2) substantial use of lump sum 
funds must occur within 180 days.  We have several open rehabilitation projects that 
needed the spring weather to continue forward.  These requirements can be met. 
 
Please contact me with any questions.  Thank you. 
 

412



413



414



415



416



417



418



 

 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 

  

 
 
  

 TO: Mayor Brown & City Council  

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development 

 DATE: April 8, 2019 

 SUBJECT: 2019 Street Construction: Cedar Heights Sidewalk Impact 
 Project Number: RC-000-3153 
 
 
The reconstruction of Cedar Heights Drive also includes adding a storm sewer to 
address a drainage issue the neighborhood made the City aware of a number of years 
ago.  This is the best time to add that work, however doing so means the sidewalk that 
is located along the west side of the street is being impacted.  Reconstruction projects 
typically work within the existing curb lines and don’t impact existing sidewalks.  
However, with the need to add storm sewer within the right of way and fact that the 
sidewalk is only three feet west of the curb, total removal of the sidewalk will be 
occurring.   
 
Two years ago the City marked deficient sidewalks in Zone 9, which included this area 
of sidewalk.  Residents either completed the repairs, paid the City for the repair, or in 
one case an assessment was filed for the cost to repair the sidewalk.   Due to the 
unusual circumstance of the City’s reconstruction and drainage improvement projects 
impacting repaired sidewalks within two years of the sidewalk zone inspection, staff 
recommends rescinding the Cedar Heights Drive assessment and reimbursing the 
property owners for their expense.  Staff estimates the total reimbursement to be 
$10,500.  All property owners have been contacted. 
 
The sidewalk will be entirely replaced after the storm sewer and roadway construction 
project is completed. 
 
 
Attachment: Map of Impact Area 
 
CC:  Ron Gaines, PE, City Administrator 

Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 

419



420



421



 

 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 

  

 
 
  

 TO: Mayor Brown & City Council  

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development 

 DATE: April 10, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Small Cell Facility  

 
In September 2018, the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) adopted a Small 
Cell Order.  It is a result of explosive growth in wireless data usage and the nation’s 
goal to have 5G Technology (5G FAST Plan).  There were two parts to the Order: (1) a 
new set of regulations governing the rollout of small wireless facilities including shot 
clocks and (2) interpretations of sections of the Communications Act that limit local 
regulations that “effectively prohibit” implementing small wireless facilities.  Next 
Century Cities created a summary of the Order and its impact.  It is attached to this 
memo. 
 
Historically, wireless facilities have been located outside of the right of way and the City 
has a section in its zoning ordinance regulating this.  The Small Cell Order allows use of 
the public right of way, similar to other utilities.  Several Iowa communities have adopted 
Small Cell Design Guidelines in an effort to ensure the primary purpose of right of way 
is maintained, preserve the character of our neighborhoods, and achieve important 
aesthetic goals.  Cedar Falls further wishes to avoid being counterproductive to the 
City’s overhead to underground ordinance adopted in 2010. 
 
There have been different opinions about the deadlines to enact local policy.  At the 
same time, the FCC Small Cell Order is being challenged and rules may change in the 
future.  For these reasons, staff is proposing the adoption of guidelines rather than an 
ordinance. Following adoption, staff would develop an application form to ensure 
appropriate review occurs prior to permitting a small cell facility in Cedar Falls.  Staff will 
monitor changes in the regulation and responses of other Iowa communities, to 
determine any recommendations for future actions. 
 
The City & CFU have been working together on these guidelines and right of way 
agreements related to small cell wireless deployment.  Staff recommends the following: 

1. Resolution approving the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa Small Cell Design Guidelines 
2. Resolution adopting: 

422



 

 

a. $500 application fee Small Wireless Facility (However, when 5 or more 
submitted at the same time, for the same provider and with the same 
information, then the first is $500 and other applications are $100 each.) 

b. $270 per year per Small Wireless Facility annual usage fee, unless 
otherwise established by a Master Wireless Facility Siting Agreement. 

   
Please contact me with any questions.  Thank you. 
 
 
 
Attachments: 

1. City of Cedar Falls Small Cell Design Guidelines 
2. FCC 5G FAST Plan 
3. Next Century Cities information: 

a. Information Sheet 
b. Summary of Final FCC Small Cell Order 

 
 
CC: Ron Gaines, City Administrator 
 Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 
 Susan Abernathy, Director Employee & Legal Services 
 Bill Skubal, Director Electric, Gas & Water Operations 

423



4/8/19 
 

Page 1 of 12 
 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa  
Small Cell Design Guidelines 

 
SECTION I: PURPOSE 
The purpose of these guidelines is to establish general procedures and standards, consistent with all 
applicable federal and state laws, for the siting, construction, installation, collocation, modification, 
relocation, operation and removal of small cell wireless technology within the City’s right of way.  The 
goals of these guidelines are to: 

A. Provide standards, technical criteria and details for small cell facilities in the City’s right of way 
to be uniformly applied to all applicants and owners of small cell facilities or support structures 
for such facilities. 

B. Enhance the ability of wireless communications carriers to deploy small cell wireless technology 
in the City quickly, effectively and efficiently so that residents, businesses and visitors benefit 
from wireless service availability. 

C. Preserve the character of the City’s neighborhoods and corridors. 
D. Ensure that small cell facilities and support structures conform with all applicable health and 

safety regulations and will blend into their environment to the greatest extent possible. 
E. Achieve the City’s goals as stated in the overhead to underground ordinance (City of Cedar Falls 

Ordinance 2717). 
F. Comply with, and not conflict with or preempt, all applicable state and federal laws. 

 
 

SECTION II: DEFINITIONS 
Abandoned means any small cell facilities or wireless support structures that are not operational or are 
unused for a period of three hundred sixty-five (365) days without the operator otherwise notifying the 
City and receiving the City’s approval. 
 
Antenna means communications equipment that transmits or receives radio frequency signals in the 
provision of wireless service. 
 
Applicant means any Person applying for a Permit hereunder. 
 
Architectural Review District means City-designated historic districts, landmark sites and conservation 
districts, National Register of Historic Places historic districts and sites, and the Cedar Falls Central 
Business District Overlay Zoning District or College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District defined in 
the City of Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances Chapter 26, Zoning. 
 
Block An area of land within a subdivision that is entirely bounded by sxtreets, railroad rights-of-way, 
rivers, tracts or public land, or the boundary of the subdivision.  A typical block length is 300 feet. 
 
City means the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
City property means property other than Right of Way owned by the City. 
 
Collocation or Collocate means to install, mount, maintain, modify, operate, or replace small cell 
wireless facilities on a wireless support structure. 
 
County means Black Hawk County, Iowa. 

424



2 
 

 
Decorative Pole means a pole, arch, or structure other than a street light pole placed in the right of way 
specifically designed and placed for aesthetic purposes and on which no appurtenances or attachments 
have been placed except for any of the following (a) electric lighting; (b) specially designed informational 
or directional signage; (c) temporary holiday or special event attachments; and (d) appurtenances or 
attachments such as flags, banners, planters, and/or other aesthetic features. 
 
Decorative Street Light means any street light or traffic signal other than a standard street light or traffic 
signal. Typically, it is specifically designed and placed for aesthetic purposes.   
 
Industrial Area means an industrially-zoned area on the Official Zoning Map of the City of Cedar Falls. 
 
Non-decorative municipal service poles means standard metal Cedar Falls Utilities-owned street lights 
and City-owned traffic signal structures.  
 
Operator means a wireless service provider, cable operator, or a video service provider that operates a 
small cell facility and provides wireless service.  Operator includes a wireless service provider, cable 
operator, or a video service provider that provides information services as defined in the 
Telecommunications Act of 1996, 110 Stat. 59, 47 U.S.C. § 153, and services that are fixed in nature or 
use unlicensed spectrum. 
 
Permit means the non-exclusive grant of authority issued by the City of Cedar Falls to install a small cell 
facility and/or a wireless support structure in a portion of the Right of Way in accordance with these 
guidelines. 
 
Permittee means the owner and/or operator issued a Permit pursuant to these guidelines. 
 
Person means any natural person or any association, firm, partnership, joint venture, corporation, or 
other legally recognized entity, whether for-profit or not-for-profit. 
 
Retail and Commercial Areas means a commercially-zoned area on the Official Zoning Map of the City of 
Cedar Falls. 
 
Residential Area means a residentially-zoned area on the Official Zoning Map of the City of Cedar Falls. 
 
Right of Way means the surface of, and the space within, through, on, across, above, or below, any 
public street, public road, public highway, public freeway, public lane, public alley, public court, public 
boulevard, public parkway, public drive, public utility easement, and any other land dedicated or 
otherwise designated for a compatible public use, which is owned or controlled by the City of Cedar 
Falls.  Recreational trails, bike trails, and any other pathways on any portion of the City of Cedar Falls 
flood control system are specifically excluded from the definition of Right of Way, and no small cell 
facilities or supporting structures or appurtenances shall be located thereon. 
 
Small Cell Facility means a wireless facility that meets both of the following requirements: (1) Each 
antenna is located inside an enclosure of not more than six (6) cubic feet in volume or, in the case of an 
antenna that has exposed elements, the antenna and all of its exposed elements could fit within an 
enclosure of not more than six (6) cubic feet in volume, and (2) All other wireless equipment associated 
with the facility is cumulatively not more than twenty-eight (28) cubic feet in volume.  The calculation of 
equipment volume shall not include electric meters, concealment elements, telecommunications 

425



3 
 

demarcation boxes, grounding equipment, power transfer switches, cut-off switches, and vertical cable 
runs for the connection of power and other services. 
 
State means the State of Iowa. 
 
Toll means the pause or delay of the running of the required time period. 
 
Utility Pole means a structure that is designed for, or used for the purpose of, carrying lines, cables, or 
wires for electric or telecommunications service.  Or any other pole not specifically described in these 
guidelines.  “Utility pole” excludes street signs, non-decorative municipal service poles, decorative poles, 
and decorative street light. 
 
Wireless Support Structure means a pole, such as a monopole, either guyed or self-supporting, street 
light pole, traffic signal pole, or a fifteen (15) foot or taller sign pole capable of supporting small cell 
facilities.   
 
 
SECTION III: REQUIREMENT TO COMPLY 
Placement, modification, operation, relocation and removal of a small cell facility and/or wireless 
support structure shall comply with these Design Guidelines, as may be amended from time to time, at 
the time the permit for installation, modification, relocation or removal is submitted for approval. 
 
 
SECTION IV: LOCATIONS OF SMALL CELL FACILITIES, RELATED GROUND EQUIPMENT, AND WIRELESS 
SUPPORT STRUCTURES 
 
Most Preferable Locations 
The following are the most preferred areas for new small cell facilities: 

A. Industrial Areas if not adjacent to a municipal park, residential area, or architectural review 
district. 

B. Highway Rights of Way areas if not adjacent to a municipal park, residential area or architectural 
review district. 

C. Retail and Commercial Areas if not adjacent to a municipal park, residential area or architectural 
review district. 
 

Collocation Preference 
It is the City’s strong preference that whenever an applicant proposes to place a new wireless support 
structure with a small cell facility within two hundred fifty (250) feet from an existing wireless support 
structure, the applicant either collocate with the existing facility or demonstrate that collocation is 
either not technically feasible or is aesthetically undesirable.  The City reserves the discretion to 
determine collocation feasibility and aesthetics.  
 
Least Preferable Locations 
The following are the least preferred areas for new small cell facilities: 

A. Residential Areas 
B. Municipal Parks 
C. Architectural Review Districts 

 
Order of Preference for Wireless Support Structures 

426



4 
 

The following list indicates the order of preference for wireless support structures for small cell facilities: 
A. Non-decorative municipal service poles: It is the City’s preference that small cell facilities be 

installed on existing non-decorative municipal service poles. Placement on non-decorative street 
lights shall be preferred over placement on traffic signal structures.   

B. Wood street light:  It is the City’s preference that small cell facilities be placed in a location 
where a street light presently exists.  If the street light is on a wood pole, it shall be replaced 
with a new metal pole.  

C. New poles: If the first two (2) options above have proven to be unavailable, the City prefers the 
installation of a new pole to serve as a wireless support structure. 

D. Decorative municipal service poles: The use of decorative municipal street lights, traffic signals 
or poles as wireless support structures is strongly discouraged.  These should only be proposed 
if the three (3) options above are unavailable or when requested by the City based on the 
proposed location.  Use of decorative traffic signal mast arms is preferred over use of decorative 
street lights. 

E. Sign poles (15 feet or taller): The only sign poles that may be considered are those that are at 
least fifteen (15) feet tall.  These are the least preferred option for a wireless support structure. 

F. Furniture: Other infrastructure in the Right of Way such as bus shelters, benches, trash cans, or 
mast arms without signals or street lights.  These are the least preferred option for a wireless 
support structure. 

G. Utility pole: Not preferred. 
 
 
SECTION V: CONSIDERATION OF ALTERNATE LOCATIONS 
The City reserves the right to propose an alternate wireless support structure to the one proposed in the 
application.  The City may also propose an alternate location for a new wireless support structure within 
one hundred (100) feet of the proposed location or within a distance that is equivalent to the width of 
the Right of Way in or on which the new wireless support structure is proposed, whichever is greater, 
which the operator shall use if it has the right to use the alternate location on reasonable terms and 
conditions and the alternate location does not impose technical limits or additional costs. 
 
 
SECTION VI: GUIDELINES ON PLACEMENT 
Generally, an applicant shall construct and maintain small cell facilities and wireless support structures 
in a manner that does not (1) obstruct, impede or hinder the usual travel or public safety on a Right of 
Way; (2) obstruct the legal use of a Right of Way by other utility providers; (3) violate nondiscriminatory 
applicable codes; (4) violate or conflict with the City of Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances or these Design 
Guidelines; and (5) violate the federal Americans with Disabilities Act. 
 
All small cell facilities must be connected to infrastructure such that they will be fully operable upon 
installation of the wireless support structure. 
 
The City desires to promote cleanly organized and streamlined facilities using the smallest and least 
intrusive means available to provide wireless services to the community.  Generally, a small cell facility 
and/or wireless support structure shall match and be consistent with the materials and finish of the 
adjacent municipal poles of the surrounding area adjacent to their location.  Within an Architectural 
Review District, all small cell facilities and wireless support structures shall match the color and style of 
existing decorative poles.   
 
Antennas on Existing or Replaced Utility Poles or Municipal Poles 

427



5 
 

The antenna(s) associated with collocation on existing or replaced utility poles or municipal poles must 
have concealed cable connections, antenna mount and other hardware.  The maximum dimensions for 
antennas shall not be more than six (6) cubic feet in volume, including any enclosure for the antenna.  
Any replaced utility poles or municipal poles within an Architectural Review District shall match the color 
and style of existing decorative poles, unless deemed infeasible by the owner of the utility pole or the 
City. 
 
Right of Way 
Small cell facilities and wireless support structures and related equipment shall be placed, as much as 
possible, in line with other utility features and in a location that minimizes any obstruction, impediment 
or hindrance to the usual travel or public safety on a Right of Way.  Small cell facilities and wireless 
support structures shall not project over the traveled roadway, and shall not project beyond the Right of 
Way. 
 
Height Above Ground 
Small cell facilities: Small cell facilities shall be installed at least eight (8) feet above the ground.  If a 
small cell facility attachment is projecting toward the street, for the safety and protection of the public 
and vehicular traffic the City may require the attachment to be installed no less than sixteen (16) feet 
above the ground. 
 
New wireless support structures: In areas where there are no wireless support structures, utility poles, or 
municipal poles taller than thirty-five (35) feet in height above ground level and the maximum allowable 
height for building construction in the underlying zoning district is thirty-five (35) feet in height above 
ground level or less, the overall height of a new wireless support structure and any collocated antennas 
shall not be more than thirty-five (35) feet in height above ground level. 
 
In all other areas, the overall height of a new wireless support structure and any collocated antennas 
shall not be more than fifty (50) feet in height above ground level. 
 
Existing wireless support structures: For an existing wireless support structure, the antenna and any 
associated shroud or concealment material are permitted to be collocated at the top of the existing 
wireless support structure and shall not increase the height of the existing wireless support structure by 
more than five (5) feet. 
 
Protrusion 
Other than the antenna, which may protrude up to twenty-four (24) inches, no other protrusions from 
the outer circumference of the existing or new structure or pole shall exceed twelve (12) inches.  The 
pole and all attachments to the pole that are projecting, or any equipment or appurtenance mounted on 
the ground, shall comply with Americans with Disabilities Act and shall not obstruct an existing or 
planned sidewalk or walkway.  The City, at its option, may waive the requirement to limit the protrusion 
to no more than twenty-four (24) inches. 
 
Location of Equipment – General 
Small cell facilities and related equipment shall not impede pedestrian or vehicular traffic in the Right of 
Way.  If any small cell facility or wireless support structure is installed in a location that is not in 
accordance with the plans approved by the City, impedes pedestrian or vehicular traffic and/or does not 
comply or otherwise renders the Right of Way non-compliant with applicable laws, including the 
Americans with Disabilities Act, then the operator shall promptly remove the small cell facilities and/or 

428



6 
 

wireless support structure.  If the operator does not complete removal in a reasonable timeframe, the 
City will remove it and bill the operator for the cost of the removal. 
 
In an Architectural Review District, small cell facilities and related equipment must be located such that 
its appearance does not detract from aesthetic goals of said District, as established in plans or 
ordinances related to such districts.  Such items should complement and enhance the design and 
character; at a minimum such items shall have a neutral effect on the overall aesthetics of the District.  
In addition, such districts are primarily pedestrian and may have wider sidewalks and other established 
or planned pedestrian enhancements in the public Right of Way to serve that.  The small cell facilities 
and related equipment should respect this and locate in areas where more than 5’ wide sidewalks are 
provided and locate to the street side of the pedestrian way.      
 
The applicant is required to incorporate ambient noise suppression measures and/or to place the 
equipment in locations less likely to impact adjacent residences or businesses to ensure compliance with 
all applicable noise regulations and so as not to create a nuisance. 
 
Utility lines: Service lines must be undergrounded whenever feasible to avoid additional overhead lines, 
as determined by the City and Cedar Falls Utilities.  For metal poles, undergrounded cables and wires 
must transition directly into the pole base without any external junction box. 
 
Spools and coils: To reduce clutter and deter vandalism, excess fiber optic or coaxial cables for small cell 
facilities shall not be spooled, coiled or otherwise stored on the pole except within the approved 
enclosure such as a cage or cabinet. 
 
Above-ground conduit: All above-ground wires, cables and connections shall be encased in the smallest 
section or smallest diameter PVC channel, conduit, u-guard, or shroud feasible, with a maximum 
dimension of four (4) inches in diameter.  Such conduit shall be finished in zinc, aluminum or stainless 
steel, or colored to match those metal finishes. 
 
Location of Ground Mounted Equipment 
Ground equipment should be minimal and the least intrusive.  It should be placed to minimize any 
obstruction, impediment, or hindrance to the usual travel or public safety on a Right of Way, maximize 
the line of sight required to add to safe travel of vehicular and pedestrian traffic and maximize that line 
of sight at street corners and intersections and minimize hazards at those locations.  The City may deny 
a request that negatively impacts vehicular and/or pedestrian safety. 
 
The equipment shroud or cabinet must contain all the equipment associated with the facility other than 
the antenna.  All cables and conduits associated with the equipment must be concealed from view, 
routed directly through the metal pole (with the exception of wood power poles) and undergrounded 
between the pole and the ground-mounted cabinet. 
 
 
Location of Pole Mounted Equipment 
All pole-mounted equipment must be installed as flush to the pole as possible.  Equipment attached to 
metal poles must be installed using stainless steel banding straps or use integral brackets as designed 
and provided by the pole manufacturer and match the pole’s color.  Through-bolting or use of lag bolts 
is prohibited on metal or laminated wood poles.  All pole mounted equipment shall be located as close 
together as technically possible and if possible, on the same side of the pole. 
 

429



7 
 

When pole-mounted equipment is either permitted or required, all equipment other than the 
antenna(s), electric meter and disconnect switch must be concealed within an equipment cage.  
Equipment cabinet may not extend more than twelve (12) inches from the face of the pole, unless the 
City determines at its sole discretion, to waive that requirement.  The equipment cabinet must be non-
reflective, colored to match the pole.  Equipment cabinets should be mounted as flush to the pole as 
possible.  Any standoff mount for the equipment cabinet may not exceed four (4) inches. 
 
Electric meter: Metering requirements and their location will be determined by Cedar Falls Utilities.  
 
Telephone/fiber optic utilities: Cabinets for telephone and/or fiber optic utilities may not extend more 
than twelve (12) inches from the face of the pole, and must be painted, wrapped or otherwise colored 
to match the pole.   The City, at its option, may waive the requirement to limit the protrusion to no 
more than twelve (12) inches. 
 
Undergrounded Equipment Vaults 
Equipment in an environmentally controlled underground vault may be required in some areas where 
technologically feasible and appropriate for the location. 
 
New Wireless Support Structures 
Spacing: The City strongly discourages more than one (1) new wireless support structure per block and 
will not approve more than one (1) per two hundred fifty (250) feet on each side of the street to 
minimize the hazard of poles adjacent to roadways and minimize visual clutter and distractions to 
vehicular traffic.  An exemption may be granted if the applicant can demonstrate that this restriction has 
the effect of preventing wireless service to this location.  Wireless support structures shall be spaced 
apart from utility poles or wireless support structures supporting small cell facilities at the same spacing 
between utility poles in the immediate proximity. 
 
If multiple requests are received to install two (2) or more poles that would violate the spacing 
requirement or to collocate two (2) or more small cell facilities on the same wireless support structure, 
priority will be given to the first request received that meets these guidelines. 
 
Alignment with other poles: The centerline of any new wireless support structure must be aligned, as 
much as possible, with the centerlines of existing poles on the same street segment, but only if the new 
structure’s height does not conflict with overhead power utility lines and facilities, and the pole may be 
offset sufficiently to avoid such conflict. 
  
Metal pole footings and foundations: The design including the pier, footings and anchor bolts shall be 
stamped, sealed and signed by a professional engineer licensed and registered by the State of Iowa, and 
subject to the City’s review and approval.  Based on the specific design of the small cell facility proposed, 
new metal poles may be required to be installed with reinforced concrete piers.   All anchor bolts must 
be concealed from public view with an appropriate pole boot or cover subject to the City’s prior 
approval. 
 
Metal pole material:  All new metal poles must be constructed from hot-dip galvanized steel or other 
corrosion-resistant materials approved by the City and finished in accordance with these guidelines to 
avoid rust stains on adjacent sidewalks, buildings or other improvements. 
 
Metal pole finish: All new metal poles must match the finish of nearby poles and be in compliance with 
ATSM standards. 

430



8 
 

 
Metal pole design:  All new metal poles must match the design of nearby poles.  For example, 
Architectural Design Districts must have a decorative pole, street light or traffic signal. 
 
Lighting, planters, flags, banners: The City may require the applicant to install functional streetlights 
and/or brackets to hold hanging flower planters, flags and/or banners when technically feasible and the 
City determines that such additions will enhance the overall appearance and usefulness of the proposed 
facility.  The City may install hanging flower planters, flags and/or banners or similar enhancement 
features utilizing the brackets, at any time. 
 
Equipment and cabinets located at ground level in an Architectural Review District that has brick, 
colored concrete or other public Right of Way enhancements shall replace or repair any such impacted 
items.  In the case of brick areas, the ground mounted items shall have a concrete foundation 
underneath the brick, designed to prevent frost heaving, drainage or trip hazards.  
 
City-Owned Wireless Support Structures 
Required load analysis: Installations on all City-owned poles, including traffic signals, sign poles, and 
Cedar Falls Utilities-owned street lights, shall have an industry standard pole load analysis completed, 
sealed and signed by a professional engineer licensed and registered by the State of Iowa and submitted 
to the City with each permit application indicating that the City-owned pole to which the small cell 
facility will be attached will safely support the load. 
 
Height of attachments: All attachments on all City-owned poles or Cedar Falls Utilities-owned street light 
poles shall be at least eight (8) feet above grade and if a small cell facility is projecting toward the street, 
for the safety and protection of the public and vehicular traffic, the City may require the attachment to 
be installed no less than sixteen (16) feet above the ground. 
 
Power source:  The power source and associated metering must be determined and approved by Cedar 
Falls Utilities.  
 
Installations on traffic signals and street lights: Installations on all traffic signal structures or street lights 
must not interfere with the integrity of the facility in any way that may compromise the safety of the 
public.  The installation must not interfere with other existing uses (seasonal or permanent) on the pole 
such as traffic signals, street lights, hanging flower planters, flags, and/or banners or similar 
enhancements.  Installation of small cell facilities on any traffic signal structure or street light shall (a) be 
encased in a separate conduit than the traffic light electronics; (b) have a separate electric power 
connection than the traffic signal/street light structure; and (c) have a separate access point than the 
traffic signal/street light structure. 
 
Reservation of space for future public safety or transportation uses: An application for space on a City 
owned or operated wireless support structure that conflicts with space reserved for future public safety, 
utility, communication or transportation uses will be denied unless the operator pays for the 
replacement of the pole or wireless support structure and the replaced pole or wireless support 
structure will accommodate the future use and the small cell facility. 
 
 
SECTION VII: UNDERGROUNDING REQUIREMENTS 
The City may deny requests to install structures and facilities in the Right of Way or on City property in 
an area where the City has required all structures and facilities except those owned by the City to be 

431



9 
 

placed underground or elsewhere in the Right of Way or a utility easement.  These areas are easily 
identifiable as those locations where electric has been placed underground; however, if an applicant is 
uncertain as to whether such facilities have been placed underground in the area, the applicant should 
contact the City for clarification before applying for or installing any wireless support structures and/or 
small cell facilities in the area.  The applicant may request a waiver if the operator is unable to achieve 
its service objective using a location in the Right of Way or on City property where the prohibition does 
not apply, in a utility easement the operator has the right to access, or in or on other suitable locations 
or structures made available by the City at reasonable lease rates, fees and terms. 
 
 
SECTION VIII: GENERAL AESTHETIC REQUIREMENTS 
 
Concealment 
New wireless support structures: It is the City’s preference that all new wireless support structures be 
camouflaged.  The applicant shall submit its proposal for camouflage with the permit application. 
 
Small cell facilities: Small cell facilities shall be concealed or enclosed as much as possible in an 
equipment box, cabinet, or other unit that may include ventilation openings.  Unless approved by the 
City in writing, there shall be no external cables and wires hanging off a pole.  The approved ones shall 
be sheathed or enclosed in a conduit, so that wires are protected and not visible or visually minimized to 
the extent possible.  
 
Equipment enclosures: Equipment enclosures, including electric meters, shall be as small as possible.  
Ground-mounted equipment shall incorporate concealment elements into the proposed design.  
Concealment may include, but shall not be limited to, landscaping, strategic placement in less obtrusive 
locations and placement within existing or replacement street furniture. 
 
Landscaping: Landscape screening shall be provided and maintained around ground mounted 
equipment enclosures.  The planting quantity and size should be such that 100% screening is achieved 
within two (2) years of installation.  The City may grant an exemption from this landscaping requirement 
based on the characteristics of the specific location for the equipment enclosure, alternative aesthetic 
enhancements proposed with the enclosure or other ordinances that may be in place to ensure safety in 
the Right of Way.  Tree “topping” or the improper pruning of trees is prohibited.  Any proposed pruning 
or removal of trees, shrubs or other landscaping already existing in the Right of Way, or proposed root 
pruning or other impacts to underground vegetation, must be noted in the application and must be 
approved by the City Arborist.  Removal shall be strongly discouraged, and shall only be allowed when 
there are no other feasible alternatives. 
 
When underground vaults are proposed, they shall be located to minimize disruption to the placement 
of street trees.  Adequate planting depth shall be provided between the top of the vault and the finished 
grade to allow plants to grow in a healthy condition. 
 
Underground service lines: The electrical and fiber lines to each facility must be underground, unless 
overhead service is deemed beneficial by the City of Cedar Falls and Cedar Falls Utilities.  
 
Allowed Colors 
All colors shall match the background of any wireless support structure that the facilities are located 
upon.  In the case of existing wood poles, finishes of conduit shall be zinc, aluminum or stainless steel, or 
colored to match those metal finishes, and equipment cabinets shall be the color of brushed aluminum.  

432



10 
 

Ground mounted equipment cabinets shall be the color of brushed aluminum or match the color of the 
pole. 
 
Signage/Lights/Logos/Decals/Cooling Fans 
Signage: Any signage related to the new small cell facility is not intended to be for advertisement 
purposes.  The operator shall post its name, location identifying information, and emergency telephone 
number in an area on the cabinet of the small cell facility.  It should be visible but not distracting to Right 
of Way users.  Signage required under this section shall not exceed 4” x 6”, unless otherwise required by 
law (e.g., RF ground notification signs) or the City.  If no cabinet exists, the signage shall be placed at the 
base of the pole.  In no case shall signage, logos, decals or similar items exceed a total of 24 square 
inches. 
 
Lights: New small cell facilities and wireless support structures shall not be illuminated, except in accord 
with state or federal regulations, or unless illumination is integral to the camouflaging strategy such as a 
design intended to look like a street light pole. 
 
Logos/Decals: Remove and paint over unnecessary equipment manufacturer decals.  New small cell 
facilities and wireless support structures shall not include advertisements and may only display 
information required by a federal, state or local agency.  Utilize the smallest and lowest visibility radio-
frequency (RF) warning sticker required by government or electric utility regulations.  Place the RF 
sticker as close to the antenna as possible. 
 
Cooling fans: In residential areas, use a passive cooling system.  In the event that a fan is needed, use a 
cooling fan with a low noise profile. 
 
 
SECTION IX: AESTHETIC REQUIREMENTS 
As noted in Section IV, the City’s preference for wireless support structures is non-decorative municipal 
services poles.  Decorative municipal poles should be avoided. 
 
When collocating on decorative traffic signal mast arms, the preferred collocation spot is on the traffic 
signal pole without attached street signs, with the antenna placed at the top of the vertical pole 
immediately below the finial.  Each proposed collocation will be subject to a site-specific review to 
include a to-scale drawing of all elements of the small cell facility proposed, including but not limited to 
electric meters, concealment elements, telecommunications demarcation boxes, grounding equipment, 
power transfer switches, cut-off switches, and vertical cable runs for the connection of power. 
 
The City strongly discourages the use of the City’s decorative street lights as wireless support structures.  
They should be used only when no other options exist for providing service to a location, including the 
ability to install a new wireless support structure.  If an existing decorative street light is used, a vertical 
extension shall not increase the height of the existing street light more than five (5) feet.  If a 
replacement decorative street light must be used, then the height thereof shall not exceed the height of 
the original street light by more than five (5) feet.  In either event, the light fixture must be located at 
the top of the pole, and the small cell facility must not interfere with the attachment of flags, hanging 
planters and/or banners or similar enhancements.  
 
If existing non-decorative municipal service poles are not available for collocation, operators may 
propose a new wireless support structure.  New wireless support structures shall match the design in 

433



11 
 

place for the area it is proposed.  Information on the manufacturer and model identification and 
detailed drawings of these support structures are available from Cedar Falls Utilities. 
 
New Wireless Support Structures 
Residential areas: In residential areas, new wireless support structures should be located to avoid 
obstructing the view of building facades by placing the wireless support structure at a corner, 
intersection or along a lot line.  However, the safety of vehicles and pedestrians is paramount, therefore 
any placements near or on corners must not obscure the sight distance to vehicles approaching the 
intersection.  New wireless support structures should be located in the yard location where other 
overhead utilities are located unless it is not technically feasible to do so.  Applicants shall clearly explain 
the rationale for requests that deviate from this expectation. 
 
In order to meet the service needs of operators, the City will consider requests to locate small cell 
facilities on other City property, such as municipal parking lots, at reasonable lease rates, fees and 
terms. 
 
 
SECTION X: GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
Permit 
In conjunction with the application for required Right of Way permit, any small cell facility proposed 
shall include sufficient information to demonstrate all of the guidelines herein are met.  City and Cedar 
Falls Utilities, as appropriate, shall review and determine if the application is complete and guidelines 
are met.   
 
In addition to the Right of Way permit, any electrical equipment or footings must obtain a building 
permit and an inspection must be completed by the City and Cedar Falls Utilities, as appropriate. 
 
Engineering Standards 
Permittee and Operator must adhere to all generally accepted Engineering standards and practices, 
including the Statewide Urban Design Manual. 
 
Compliance with Laws 
Permittee and Operator must comply with all ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, as well as State and 
Federal laws, rules, and regulations.  
 
Tree Maintenance 
Operator, its contractors, and agents shall obtain written permission from the City Arborist before 
trimming trees in the Right of Way hanging over its small cell facility and/or wireless support structure 
to prevent branches of such trees from contacting an attached small cell facility.  When trimming such 
trees on private property is desired, then before commencing any such work the operator, its 
contractors, and agents shall notify the property owner and the City Arborist, and obtain the owner’s 
permission.  When directed by the City, operator shall trim under the supervision and direction of the 
City Arborist.  The City shall not be liable for any damages, injuries, or claims arising from operator’s 
actions under this section. 
 
Graffiti Abatement 
As soon as practical, but not later than fourteen (14) calendar days from the date operator receives 
notice thereof, operator shall remove all graffiti on any of its small cell facilities and/or wireless support 

434



12 
 

structures located in the Right of Way.  The City may agree to an extension of time for abatement when 
necessitated by the need to order replacement equipment when such equipment is ordered in a timely 
manner. 
 
Minor Technical Exceptions 
The City recognizes that in some circumstances strict compliance with these guidelines may result in 
undesirable aesthetic outcomes and that minor deviations should be granted when the need for such 
deviation arises from circumstances outside the applicant’s control. 
 
Waivers if requirements have the effect of prohibiting the provision of wireless service to a location 
In the event that any applicant asserts that strict compliance with any provision in these guidelines, as 
applied to a specific proposed small cell facility, would effectively prohibit the provision of personal 
wireless services, the City may grant limited waivers from strict compliance. 
 
Effective Date 
These Guidelines shall take effect on the date approved by the City Council and shall apply to all 
applications for small cell siting, construction, installation, collocation, modification, relocation, 
operation and removal filed after the effective date. 
 
=    =    =    =    =    =    =    =    =    =    =    =   =    =    =    =    =    =    =    =    =    =    =    =    =    =    =    =    =   =   = 

 

Approved by Cedar Falls City Council on ____________________ by Resolution No. ___________. 
 
 
Authorized by: ___________________ Attest: ___________________ Date Approved: _____________ 
  (Mayor)   (City Clerk) 

435



4/7/2019 The FCC's 5G FAST Plan |  Federal Communications Commission

https://www.fcc.gov/5G 1/6

Home / About the FCC / FCC Initiatives /

The FCC's 5G FAST Plan
The United States is moving swiftly to lead the world in the

next generation of wireless connectivity—or 5G. These new

networks and technologies will enable faster speeds and low-

latency wireless broadband services, cultivating the Internet of

Things and innovations not yet imagined.

Under Chairman Pai, the FCC is pursuing a comprehensive

strategy to Facilitate America's Superiority in 5G Technology

(the 5G FAST Plan). The Chairman's strategy includes three key

components: (1) pushing more spectrum into the marketplace;

(2) updating infrastructure policy; and (3) modernizing

outdated regulations.
 

"Forward-thinking spectrum policy, modern infrastructure policy, and market-based
network regulation form the heart of our strategy for realizing the promise of the 5G

future." – FCC Chairman Pai

Spectrum
Forward-thinking spectrum policy is critical for next generation wireless networks. The FCC is focused on
making additional low-, mid-, and high-band spectrum available for 5G services.

High-band: The FCC has made auctioning high-band, millimeter-wave spectrum a priority. The FCC held

(https://docs.fcc.gov/public/attachments/DOC-355910A1.pdf) its �rst 5G spectrum auction in 2018 in

the 28 GHz (https://docs.fcc.gov/public/attachments/DOC-353228A1.pdf) band. In 2019, the FCC will

hold an auction in the 24 GHz (https://docs.fcc.gov/public/attachments/DOC-353228A1.pdf) band

starting on March 14 and auctions in the upper 37 GHz, 39 GHz, and 47 GHz

(https://docs.fcc.gov/public/attachments/DOC-353229A1.pdf) bands later in the year. With these

auctions, the FCC will release almost 5 gigahertz of 5G spectrum into the market—more than all other

�exible use bands combined. And we are working to free up another 2.75 gigahertz of 5G spectrum in

the 26 and 42 GHz (https://docs.fcc.gov/public/attachments/DOC-351388A1.pdf) bands. 436



4/7/2019 The FCC's 5G FAST Plan |  Federal Communications Commission

https://www.fcc.gov/5G 2/6

Broadband Deployment Advisory
Committee

The Broadband Deployment Advisory
Committee, formed by Chairman Pai in
2017, provides advice and
recommendations for the Commission on
how to accelerate the deployment of high-
speed Internet access. See the latest BDAC
news (/broadband-deployment-advisory-
committee).

Mid-band: Mid-band spectrum has become a target for 5G buildout given its balanced coverage and

capacity characteristics. With our work on the 2.5 GHz, 3.5 GHz (/document/fcc-seeks-transform-25-ghz-

band-nextgen-5g-connectivity), and 3.7-4.2 GHz (/document/fcc-proposes-expand-�exible-use-mid-

band-spectrum) bands, we could make up to 844 megahertz available for 5G deployments.

Low-band: The FCC is acting to improve use of low-band spectrum (useful for wider coverage) for 5G

services, with targeted changes to the 600 MHz (/document/auction-1002-long-form-applications-

granted-3), 800 MHz (/general/800-mhz-spectrum), and 900 MHz (/document/900-mhz-notice-inquiry)

bands.

Unlicensed: Recognizing that unlicensed spectrum will be important for 5G, the agency is creating new

opportunities for the next generation of Wi-Fi in the 6 GHz (/news-events/blog/2018/06/20/scoring-

victory-5g) and above 95 GHz (/document/fcc-proposes-open-spectrum-horizons-new-services-

technologies) band.

Infrastructure Policy
The FCC is updating infrastructure policy and encouraging
the private sector to invest in 5G networks.

Speeding Up Federal Review of Small Cells (/document/fcc-

acts-speed-deployment-next-gen-wireless-infrastructure):

The FCC adopted new rules that will reduce federal

regulatory impediments to deploying the small-cell

infrastructure needed for 5G (as opposed to large cell

towers) and help to expand the reach of 5G for faster,

more reliable wireless service.

Speeding Up State and Local Review of Small Cells

(https://docs.fcc.gov/public/attachments/DOC-

353927A1.pdf): The FCC has reformed rules designed

decades ago to accommodate small cells. The reforms ban short-sighted municipal roadblocks that

have the e�ect of prohibiting deployment of 5G and give states and localities a reasonable deadline to

approve or disapprove small-cell siting applications.

Modernizing Outdated Regulations
The FCC is modernizing outdated regulations to promote 5G backhaul and digital opportunity for all
Americans.

Restoring Internet Freedom (/document/fcc-releases-restoring-internet-freedom-order): To lead the world in

5G, the United States needs to encourage investment and innovation while protecting Internet

openness and freedom. The FCC adopted the Restoring Internet Freedom Order, which sets a consistent

national policy for Internet providers. 437



4/7/2019 The FCC's 5G FAST Plan |  Federal Communications Commission

https://www.fcc.gov/5G 3/6

One-Touch Make-Ready (/document/fcc-speeds-access-utility-poles-promote-broadband-5g-deployment): The

FCC has updated its rules governing the attachment of new network equipment to utility poles in order

to reduce cost and speed up the process for 5G backhaul deployment.

Speeding the IP Transition (/document/fcc-acts-enable-investment-next-generation-networks-0): The FCC has

revised its rules to make it easier for companies to invest in next-generation networks and services

instead of the fading networks of the past.

Business Data Services (/document/business-data-services-report-and-order): In order to incentivize

investment in modern �ber networks, the FCC updated rules for high-speed, dedicated services by

lifting rate regulation where appropriate.

Supply Chain Integrity (/document/fcc-proposes-protect-national-security-through-fcc-programs-0): The FCC

has proposed to prevent taxpayer dollars from being used to purchase equipment or services from

companies that pose a national security threat to the integrity of American communications networks

or the communications supply chain.

 

February 27, 2019 - Public Notice 
FCC Announces Auction 102 Quali�ed Bidders (/document/fcc-announces-auction-

102-quali�ed-bidders)

January 24, 2019 - Public Notice 
Auction 101 Bidding Concludes (/document/auction-101-bidding-concludes)

Rulemakings News & Speeches

438



4/7/2019 The FCC's 5G FAST Plan |  Federal Communications Commission

https://www.fcc.gov/5G 4/6

December 12, 2018 - News Release 
FCC Adopts Rules for Major 2019 5G Incentive Auction (/document/fcc-adopts-

rules-major-2019-5g-incentive-auction)

November 21, 2018 - News Release 
Adopting Rules for a 5G Incentive Auction (/document/adopting-rules-5g-incentive-

auction)

October 23, 2018 - News Release 
FCC Proposes More Spectrum for Unlicensed Use (/document/fcc-proposes-more-

spectrum-unlicensed-use)

October 23, 2018 - News Release 
FCC Acts to Increase Investment and Deployment in 3.5 GHz Band
(/document/fcc-acts-increase-investment-and-deployment-35-ghz-band)

September 28, 2018 - Plan 
FCC's 5G FAST Plan (/document/fccs-5g-fast-plan)

September 26, 2018 - News Release 
FCC Streamlines Deployment of Next Generation Wireless Infrastructure
(/document/fcc-streamlines-deployment-next-generation-wireless-infrastructure)

August 3, 2018 - Public Notice 
FCC Establishes Procedures for First 5G Spectrum Auctions (/document/fcc-

establishes-procedures-�rst-5g-spectrum-auctions-0)

August 3, 2018 - FNPRM 
FCC Proposes Steps Towards Auction of 37 GHz, 39 GHz, and 47 GHz
Bands (/document/fcc-proposes-steps-towards-auction-37-ghz-39-ghz-and-47-ghz-bands-0)

August 2, 2018 - News Release 
FCC Speeds Access to Utility Poles to Promote Broadband, 5G Deployment
(/document/fcc-speeds-access-utility-poles-promote-broadband-5g-deployment)

July 13, 2018 - Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, Order 
FCC Expands Flexible Use of Mid-band Spectrum (/document/fcc-expands-�exible-

use-mid-band-spectrum)

June 7, 2018 - News Release 
FCC Takes Next Steps to Open Spectrum Frontiers for 5G Connectivity
(/document/fcc-takes-next-steps-open-spectrum-frontiers-5g-connectivity) 439



4/7/2019 The FCC's 5G FAST Plan |  Federal Communications Commission

https://www.fcc.gov/5G 5/6

May 10, 2018 - News Release 
FCC Seeks to Transform 2.5 GHz Band for NextGen 5G Connectivity
(/document/fcc-seeks-transform-25-ghz-band-nextgen-5g-connectivity)

April 17, 2018 - Public Notice 
Spectrum Frontiers Auction Comment PN (/document/spectrum-frontiers-auction-

comment-pn)

March 30, 2018 - Report and Order 
FCC Acts to Speed Deployment of Next-Gen Wireless Infrastructure
(/document/fcc-acts-speed-deployment-next-gen-wireless-infrastructure-0)

March 1, 2018 - Public Draft 
Proposed Rules to Streamline Wireless Infrastructure Deployment
(/document/proposed-rules-streamline-wireless-infrastructure-deployment)

February 23, 2018 - Notice of Proposed Rulemaking 
FCC Looks to Speed Introduction of Innovative Technologies & Services
(/document/fcc-looks-speed-introduction-innovative-technologies-services-0)

February 28, 2018 - Notice of Proposed Rulemaking 
FCC Proposes to Open Spectrum Horizons for New Services &
Technologies (/document/fcc-proposes-open-spectrum-horizons-new-services-technologies-0)

November 27, 2017 - Report and Order 
FCC Takes Steps to Facilitate Next Generation Wireless Technologies in
Spectrum Above 24 GHz (/document/fcc-takes-next-steps-facilitating-spectrum-frontiers-

spectrum)

August 3, 2017 - Notice of Inquiry 
Expanding Flexible Use in Mid-Band Spectrum Between 3.7 and 24 GHz
(/document/fcc-opens-inquiry-new-opportunities-mid-band-spectrum-0)

October 24, 2017 - Notice of Proposed Rulemaking 
FCC Moves to Promote Investment in the 3.5 GHz Band (/document/fcc-moves-

promote-investment-35-ghz-band-0)

April 21, 2017 - Notice of Proposed Rulemaking and Notice of Inquiry 
Accelerating Wireless Broadband Deployment by Removing Barriers to
Infrastructure Investment (/document/wireless-infrastructure-nprm-and-noi)

440



4/7/2019 The FCC's 5G FAST Plan |  Federal Communications Commission

https://www.fcc.gov/5G 6/6

 

Tags: 

3G, 4G and 5G (/tags/3g-4g-and-5g) - Spectrum (/tags/spectrum-0) - Wireless Services (/tags/wireless-services)

December 14, 2017 - Public Notice 
FCC Seeks Comment on Plan to Ease Collocations on Twilight Towers
(/document/fcc-seeks-comment-plan-ease-collocations-twilight-towers-0)

November 17, 2017 - Report and Order 
FCC Streamlines Requirements for Utility Pole Replacements (/document/fcc-

streamlines-requirements-utility-pole-replacements-0)

April 28, 2017 - Report and Order 
FCC Advances Competition, Investment in Business Data Services Market
(/document/business-data-services-report-and-order)

January 4, 2018 - Declaratory Ruling, Report and Order, and Order 
FCC Releases Restoring Internet Freedom Order (/document/fcc-releases-restoring-

internet-freedom-order)

April 21, 2017 - Notice of Proposed Rulemaking 
Accelerating Wireline Broadband Infrastructure Deployment
(/document/accelerating-wireline-broadband-infrastructure-deployment)

441



Next Century Cities 
1200 18th  Street NW, Suite 700 
Washington, DC 20036 

www.nextcenturycities.org 
deb@nextcenturycities.org 

@NextCentCit 

 

 
 

 

 
Next Century Cities: Connecting Communities 
 
Next Century Cities supports mayors and community leaders across the country as they seek to ensure that 
everyone has fast, affordable, and reliable internet access.   
 
Across the country, innovative municipalities are recognizing the importance of leveraging gigabit level 
internet to attract new businesses and create jobs, improve health care and education, ensure civic 
participation, and connect residents to new opportunities. Next Century Cities is committed to celebrating 
these successes, demonstrating their value, and helping other cities to realize the full power of truly high-
speed, affordable, and accessible broadband. 
 
Our Principles 
 
Next Century Cities believes that there is no single pathway to a smart, effective approach to next- 
generation broadband. What matters is meaningful choice, dedicated leadership, and smart collaboration. 
Our members are committed to the following principles: 
 

High-Speed Internet Is Necessary Infrastructure: fast, reliable, and affordable internet – at 
globally competitive speeds – is no longer optional. Residents, schools, libraries, and businesses 
require next-generation connectivity to succeed. 

 
The Internet Is Nonpartisan: because the internet is an essential resource for residents and 
businesses in all communities, the provision of fast, reliable, and affordable internet transcends 
partisanship. This collaboration welcomes leaders of all affiliations and beliefs who believe fast, 
reliable, and affordable high-speed internet access is essential to secure America’s internet future. 

 
Communities Must Enjoy Self-Determination: broadband solutions must align with community 
needs—there is no perfect model that is universally appropriate. Towns and cities should have the 
right to consider all options – whether public, nonprofit, corporate, or some other hybrid – free from 
interference. 

 
High-Speed Internet Is a Community-Wide Endeavor: building effective next-generation 
networks requires cooperation across communities. It is critical to involve and include multiple 
stakeholders and perspectives to succeed, including businesses, community organizations, residents, 
anchor institutions, and others. Everyone in a community should be able to access the internet on 
reasonable terms. 

 
Meaningful Competition Drives Progress: a vibrant, diverse marketplace, with transparency in 
offerings, pricings, and policies will spur innovation, increase investment, and lower prices. 
Communities, residents, and businesses should have a meaningful choice in providers. 

 
Collaboration Benefits All: innovative approaches to broadband deployment present diverse 
challenges and opportunities to communities and regions. Working together, cities can learn from 
the experiences of others, lower costs, and make the best use of next-generation networks.

442



Next Century Cities 
1200 18th  Street NW, Suite 700 
Washington, DC 20036 

www.nextcenturycities.org 
deb@nextcenturycities.org 

@NextCentCit 

 

 
 

 

 
A 21st Century Partnership 
 
We invite cities to join Next Century Cities and strengthen the ability of communities nationwide to prosper 
and compete in the 21st century. Next Century Cities supports mayors and community leaders across the 
country as they seek to ensure that everyone has fast, affordable, and reliable internet access.   
 

Elevating the Conversation: we work with leaders and their communities to share stories. Cities 
that have or would like to develop truly next-generation networks are visionary cities, and their 
leaders recognize what it takes to be competitive in the 21st century. Next Century Cities works with 
these leaders and their cities to make the case nationally and within communities that next-
generation internet is an essential infrastructure that 
can deliver transformative benefits to communities today. 

 
Supporting Cities: communities stepping into the 21st century through next-generation networks 
face myriad challenges. It is essential to provide crucial support to facilitate these innovative 
projects. Next Century Cities and our members work to overcome obstacles to success. 

 
Providing Tools for Success: developing a next-generation network is a daunting task for a city of 
any size. It is important that communities have access to resources, advice, and tools to develop 
effective broadband internet networks. We are committed to developing and aggregating resources 
to guide new projects, as well as tools to help those already equipped with this infrastructure better 
leverage their networks to yield community benefits. 

 
We are excited to continue working with diverse towns and cities across the country to lead a new 
conversation on what it will take to compete and thrive in the 21st century. 
 

For more information, contact Deb Socia at Deb@NextCenturyCities.org. 

443



 

March 11, 2019 

 

 

 

Summary of Final FCC Small Cell Order 

Accelerating Wireless Broadband Deployment by Removing Barriers to 
Infrastructure Investment; Declaratory Ruling and Third Report and Order; WT 

Docket No. 17-79; WC Docket No. 17-84 

Prepared in collaboration with Mark Del Bianco, Principal,  
Law Office of Mark C. Del Bianco  

 

 
DISCLAIMER: This document is intended to be a tool for education and information. It offers a 
summary of the proposed FCC order. This document is not intended to provide legal advice, or to be 
a legal analysis or a comprehensive list of all potential outcomes of this order. We offer this 
information for reference purposes only, as a starting point for analysis by interested parties.  
 

 
At its September 2018 open meeting, the FCC adopted a report and order (collectively, 
the "Order") in its ongoing proceeding to streamline the rollout of infrastructure for 
broadband services, including small cells for 4G and 5G wireless service.[i]  This 
summary addresses the effect of the Order on the issues of most importance to NCC 
members that have or are considering enacting small cell ordinances, or have or will be 
negotiating agreements with carriers or infrastructure providers such as Mobilitie or 
Crown Castle. 
 
The Order has two parts: (1) an new set of regulations (the "Rules") that govern shot 
clocks and other limited aspects of the rollout of small wireless facilities (a/k/a "small 
cells") and (2) a Declaratory Ruling that does not enact any new regulations but is the 
FCC's interpretation of how the provisions of Section 253 and 332(c)(7) of the 
Communications Act that limit state or local regulations that "effectively prohibit" the 
provision of wireless services should be applied.[ii] The Declaratory Ruling portion of the 
Order adopts the position that a state or local government need only “materially inhibit” a 
particular small wireless facility deployment in order for its action to constitute an 
"effective prohibition" under Section 253 or 332(c)(7).   Based on this conclusion, the 
Declaratory Ruling provides guidance on fees local governments may charge and on 
how they may regulate ancillary rollout issues such as tower spacing, equipment design 
and other aesthetic concerns. In lay terms, this means the FCC is making it easier for 
private companies to take local governments to court if they believe municipal policies 
are effectively prohibiting network investment.  
 
 
 
 

 
 

444



 

Key Takeaways from the Order 

  
• The Order is a blatant effort by the FCC to strengthen the hand of carriers in 

negotiations with local governments over small cell deployment and to limit the 
ability of local governments to negotiate in the public interest around small cells. 

 
• The good news is that the FCC has left local governments with some power and 

flexibility to enact reasonable regulations governing small cell deployments. With 
the right approach and partner, local governments have a higher hill to climb but 
can still negotiate win-win outcomes that benefit carriers while addressing 
citizens' concerns. 

  
• Local governments should immediately take proactive steps to maintain their 

leverage in possible negotiations with carriers. 

 
• Local governments should move expeditiously to enact zoning and other 

regulations to address issues of importance to their community.  These may 
include application processing cost recovery, antenna design, location and 
spacing, additional pole and equipment aesthetic requirements, and other factors 
of local concern. 

  
• In particular, setting out and standardizing aesthetic requirements, including pre-

approval of antenna, equipment cabinet and street furniture designs where 
appropriate, will make it easier for local governments to process applications 
reasonably expeditiously and to defend challenged siting decisions or failures to 
meet shot clock deadlines.  

  

 

Key Issues for Members 
  

 
What types of facilities does the Order apply to? 
  
The Order applies to all types of facilities used to provide wireless services. There are 
specific shot clock and other rules that govern certain small wireless facilities, i.e., 
generally those less than 50 feet tall and on which the antenna size is less than 3 cubic 
feet. 
  

 
What happens if a local government already has an agreement with a carrier or 
infrastructure provider that covers small wireless facilities? 
  

• The FCC did not address whether existing agreements are preempted by the 
Order. While existing agreements were not explicitly grandfathered, there is no 
obvious means of voiding them. The result is that local governments should be 
able to keep existing agreements.  

• In order to preempt existing agreements involving private parties, the FCC would 
have to make certain findings that doing so was in the public interest.  It did not 
do so in the Order. 

445



 

• Further evidence that the FCC did not intend to preempt existing agreements is 
its expressed intent in the Order to facilitate "mutually agreed solutions." 

• Any attempt to preempt an existing agreement would require the carrier to file a 
lawsuit against the municipality, which seems very unlikely.  

• Even if a carrier filed a case, we do not believe it would be able to convince a 
court to void a freely negotiated commercial agreement. 

 

  
Going forward, can a local government negotiate new agreements with carriers or 
infrastructure providers? If so, are there issues that cannot be addressed in an 
agreement? 
  

• Yes, local governments can still negotiate with carriers and infrastructure 
providers. Nothing in the Order preempts local governments' ability to negotiate 
future agreements in order to provide a mutually acceptable process for 
deployment of small cells.[iii] However, the Rules and presumptions created by 
the Order give carriers more leverage when negotiating with local governments 
and reduce the ability of local governments to enact regulations that achieve 
desirable outcomes when carriers are unwilling to engage in good faith 
negotiations, or to negotiate at all. 

• The Declaratory Ruling provides guidance on some parameters of the 
deployment of small cells, including such factors as the cost, aesthetic 
requirements and location, but it does not prohibit local governments or carriers 
from reaching their own arrangements on these or any other factors. This means 
that if a local government wants to follow the Lincoln model of offering very rapid 
permitting in return for fees higher than the FCC sets, it may still do so.  

  
Are there limits on the amounts that local governments can charge for small cell 
application and use fees?  
  

• There is a presumed safe harbor for application and use fees, but no specific cap 
on fees.  

• The safe harbor amounts are (a) $500 for a single up-front application that 
includes up to five Small Wireless Facilities, with an additional $100 for each 
Small Wireless Facility beyond five, (b) $270 per Small Wireless Facility per year 
for all recurring fees, including any possible ROW access fee or fee for 
attachment to municipally-owned structures in the ROW, and (c) $1,000 for non-
recurring fees for a new pole. 

• The FCC views these amounts as safe harbors because it believes they are low 
enough that no carrier would challenge them if they were imposed unilaterally in 
a local government’s regulations. 

• Nothing in the Order prevents a local government from charging higher 
fees.  However, under the FCC's framework, if a carrier files a lawsuit challenging 
the fees imposed by a local government, the burden would be on the local 
government to demonstrate that the amount is a reasonable approximation of its 
costs and that its costs are reasonable. 

• The FCC did not specify a methodology for calculating cost, or what expenses 
could be included. 

446



 

• We believe that the revenue-reducing effect of a cost-based methodology will be 
much greater for usage fees than for application fees, because usage fees are 
recurring.  

 
Can a local government require in-kind contributions or set application or use 
fees at levels to achieve social goals such as closing the digital divide?  
  

• If a court were to accept the FCC conclusion that fees must be cost-based, local 
governments would not be able to require in-kind contributions or set application 
or usage fees above cost.   

• Local governments can still negotiate agreements containing provisions for non-
cost-based fees (as San Jose and Honolulu did), but the Order attempts to 
remove most of a local government's negotiating leverage on these issues, so 
there will now be little incentive for a provider to agree to do so. 

  

 
What are the new application shot clocks? 
  

• The Rules create four new shot clocks: 
§  Collocation of small wireless facilities:  Local government has 60 days 
to act upon to an application 
§  Collocation of facilities other than small wireless facilities:  90 days. 
§  Construction of new small wireless facilities:  90 days. 
§  Construction of new facilities other than small wireless facilities:  150 
days. 

• The Rules also provide for the resetting or pausing of the shot clock when a local 
government determines that an application is incomplete.  If a municipality 
determines that an application is materially incomplete within ten day of filing and 
notifies the applicant of the deficiencies, the shot clock resets when the 
completed application is filed.  In order to prevent last minute “pausing” of the 
shot clock by local governments, an incompleteness determination must be 
made by the 30th day after an application is filed, and within 10 days after 
resubmission if a re-submitted application is still incomplete.  

  

 
What is the legal effect of the new shot clocks? 
  

• The shot clock deadlines have no direct legal effect.  
• If an application is not acted on within the deadline, nothing happens unless a 

carrier either commences a formal complaint proceeding at the FCC or files a 
case in state or federal court.  In either case, the carrier would have to 
demonstrate that the failure to act on the application amounts to an "effective 
prohibition" on wireless service under Section 253 or 332. 

• Either process will take months, perhaps years.   
• The Order recognizes that the shot clock is only a presumption, and that local 

governments have the ability to demonstrate to a court that the delay is 
reasonable under the circumstances. 

• If a court finds that a shot clock violation is an effective prohibition, it will most 
likely order the local government simply to make a decision by a specific date in 

447



 

the near future; a court is very unlikely to order a local government to grant a 
specific application. 

• We believe that carriers prefer certainty and rather than litigate over a few shot 
clock violations will be willing to negotiate a reasonable time for guaranteed local 
government action on applications. 

  

 
Do different shot clock deadlines apply when multiple applications are filed at the 
same time (batched)? 
  

• No. 
• However, the FCC acknowledged that batched applications could strain local 

governments’ resources and potentially justify a failure to meet shot clock 
deadlines.[iv] 

• We believe that in any carrier lawsuit that was based on a failure to meet the shot 
clock deadlines on a large batch of applications, a court would be very 
sympathetic to a local government’s argument that the batch application had 
caused a legitimate overload on its permitting resources.    

  

 
What types of local government permits/authorizations do the new shot clocks 
apply to? 
 

• The Rule applies to any request for authorization to place, construct, or modify 
wireless service facilities, including a zoning permit, a building permit, an 
electrical permit, a road closure permit, and an architectural or engineering 
permit. 

• The Order does not specify whether or how the shot clocks apply to requests to 
use light poles and other government facilities, whether located in or outside the 
right of way.  

  

 
May a local government still take aesthetics into account in its small cell zoning 
regulations? 
 

• Yes. 
• Aesthetic requirements must be reasonable, no more burdensome than those 

applied to similar types of infrastructure deployments (e.g., equipment cabinet 
size and color requirements would need to be similar to those for telco or cable 
company cabinets), and objective and published in advance.[v] 

  

 
May a local government require minimum spacing between small wireless 
facilities? 
  

• Yes. The Order considers spacing requirements to be a subset of aesthetics 
requirements, and thus subject to same standard. 

• The Order gives no guidance on what might be a reasonable spacing distance. 
  

 

448



 

What if a local government has an undergrounding requirement for all utilities?  
  

• Regulations requiring all utility facilities (including antennas) to be placed 
underground would effectively prohibit wireless services because antennas have 
to be placed above ground in order to function.  

• Regulations requiring all wireless equipment other than antennas to be placed 
underground would be permissible, so long as they are applied on a non-
discriminatory basis to other service providers, e.g. telco and cable companies. 

• It is not clear what sorts of poles or other above ground antenna facilities a local 
government would have to allow access to in order to avoid being considered 
“effectively prohibiting wireless service.” 

 
 

Frequently Asked Questions 
 

What happens if a city is in negotiations with a carrier and they demand that the 
agreement provisions on such issues as fees, spacing and aesthetic requirements 
follow the "guidelines" in the FCC small cell Order? 
 
In that case, the city has two or perhaps three options.  First, the city can capitulate to 
the carrier's claims about what the Order requires.  Obviously, we do not believe any city 
should do so. The second option is for the city to abandon the negotiation process and 
instead act unilaterally to adopt an ordinance, a set of regulations or a model franchise 
agreement (if it has a franchising process in place) that it believes is consistent with the 
desires of its residents and at the same time presents a low (and thus acceptable) risk of 
a court challenge.   
 
If a city has already negotiated a small cell facility agreement with one or more 
carriers/infrastructure providers, it has a third option.  It can adopt an ordinance or draft a 
template agreement reflecting essentially the same terms as the executed agreement.  
In either case, it becomes much more difficult (albeit not impossible) for other carriers to 
challenge the model agreement or ordinance on its face because it contains essentially 
the same terms that the first carrier has already agreed do not effectively prohibit it from 
providing a wireless service.   
 
 
What are cities doing to prepare for the Jan 13 deadline? 
 
Most NCC members seem to be either negotiating agreements with carriers, taking 
unilateral steps to develop and put in place a process for consideration of applications to 
place small cell wireless facilities, or doing both simultaneously.  
 
 
If a city enters into an agreement with a carrier and then the Order is overturned, 
is the city stuck with the agreement? 
 
The answer in general is yes.  No city is required to enter into any agreement with a 
carrier or infrastructure provider. If a city does so voluntarily, it will almost certainly be 
held to the terms of the agreement by a court.  However, a city might be able to resolve 
this problem by including in the agreement a clause voiding the agreement or requiring 

449



 

its modification, in the event of a regulatory change (including the overturning of the 
Order).  Many types of telecommunications agreements contain such regulatory change 
clauses because parties recognize that the wording or scope of specific provisions in the 
agreement has been dictated by the then-existing telecommunications regulatory 
scheme, and should be changed if the regulations change.    
 

 
If a city enacts an ordinance and then the Order is overturned, can it adjust the 
ordinance?  
 
Yes.  However, unless the original ordinance specifically permits retroactive application 
of aesthetic or other requirements, existing wireless facilities approved under the first 
ordinance may be effectively grandfathered.  Almost certainly, neither application nor 
usage fee increases could be applied retroactively.  
  

 
What is the risk if a city does not have an ordinance in place prior to the Jan 13 
deadline? 
 
The only risk we are aware of for a city that has no process in place to consider 
applications for placement of small cell wireless facilities is the risk that it will be sued in 
state or federal court by a carrier arguing that the failure constitutes a city action that 
"effectively prohibits" it from providing wireless service.  In the short term (say 180 days 
after January 13), there is very little risk that a carrier will bring such a lawsuit.  There is 
little benefit to a carrier in doing so.  The only relief a carrier could get in such a case 
would be an order requiring the city to enact an ordinance within a certain period of time.  
A court could not order the placement of specific antennas or create its own process for 
a city to follow.  If a city is taking observable public steps to develop an ordinance, a 
lawsuit is unlikely and it is even more unlikely that a judge would rule against a city. 
 
In the longer term (say after mid-2019), the risk of a lawsuit will increase and it becomes 
less defensible for a city not to have an approval process in place (or at least publicly in 
development).  That is why we recommend that cities publicly begin developing a 
process for small cell facility regulation now.  Doing so will allow adequate time for 
consideration of all the issues and the development of a policy that reflects residents' 
concerns, while at the same time providing for placement of infrastructure for the next 
generation of wireless services.  
 

 
The Order identifies application and usage fee amounts that are neither caps nor 
safe harbors, but simply what the FCC believes are levels at which carriers will not 
file legal challenges.  What local government usage fees are covered by these 
FCC "guidelines"?  
 
The Order identifies $270 per year as a presumptively reasonable annual usage fee.  
This covers the right to attach an antenna to a pole or other facility and to locate 
associated equipment nearby. But if a city is providing not just the right to place 
antennas on city-owned poles, but ancillary facilities or services (such as access to 
electricity, existing underground ducts and underground casements at each pole), the 
FCC fee "guidelines" do not apply and the city can set the usage fees at any level it 

450



 

wishes.  Cities should not be misled by carriers falsely claiming that the FCC's $270 
annual usage fee includes anything other than the right to mount an antenna on a pole 
and put equipment nearby. 
 

 
Does the Order impose non-discrimination requirements, i.e., does it require 
municipalities to treat wireless carriers the same as they treat electric companies, 
cable companies or other utilities? 

 
No.  The non-discrimination requirements identified in the Order are the FCC's 
interpretations of the language of Sections 253 and 332(C)(7), and are limited in scope. 
Section 253(a) addresses only state or local government actions (including 
discrimination) that effectively prohibit “any interstate or intrastate telecommunications 
service,” while Section 332(c)(7)(B)(i)(II) is even narrower: only actions that effectively 
prohibit “personal wireless services,” which is a small subset of telecommunications 
service.  Thus, Section 253 only limits discrimination between providers of 
"telecommunications service," and the only type of discrimination that could potentially 
be problematic under Section 332(C)(7) would discrimination between "competing 
wireless services." Therefore, the Order does not (and the FCC could not) prohibit 
discrimination in fees, aesthetic requirements and application requirements as between 
wireless carriers and companies that do not provide "telecommunications service," a 
category that includes not only traditional utilities, but also cable companies and even 
wireline broadband Internet access providers (which under current FCC rules are not 
providers of telecommunications services).  
 

 
How does the Order's interpretation of the "effective prohibition" language affect 
the ability of localities to regulate the number or location of small cell wireless 
antennas?  If a carrier has full geographic coverage already, can a locality require 
it to justify the need to add additional capacity? 

 
In the Small Cell Order, the FCC reaffirmed its interpretation that a locality can violate 
the "effective prohibition" language of Sections 253 and 332 by enacting regulations that 
merely "materially inhibit" the ability of wireless carriers to provide services.  It 
specifically included in this category local regulations that affect carriers' ability to densify 
their networks or to add capacity to their networks.  If this interpretation survives on 
appeal, then it would be unlikely that a locality could successfully defend a broad 
regulation that required a carrier to justify every requested small cell facility placement.  
However, NCC believes that a regulation that allows for reasonable rollout of small cell 
facilities based on objective criteria that reflect community concerns would be consistent 
with the FCC's interpretation.  Such a regulation should not be seen as "materially 
inhibiting" any carrier's ability to offer its services, so long as a reasonable number of 
potential wireless facility locations would be available under the objective criteria. Such a 
regulation would be even more defensible if it has a "safety valve" that allows a carrier to 
meet capacity needs by allowing for placement of additional wireless facilities that do not 
meet the objective criteria. The regulation could even place the burden on the carrier to 
demonstrate the need for any additional non-compliant facility.  A single "safety valve" 
decision would involve a limited geographic area and would be fact-specific, and should 
not be challengeable as a "material inhibition" on provision of wireless service in the 
locality. 

451



 

Bottom Line 

 
• This order significantly diminishes local decision making, but does not eliminate 

it. 
• Local governments cannot say no to all small cell antennas within specific 

neighborhoods or other areas of their communities.  
• Local governments can charge more than the recommended permitting fees and 

annual fees, but may have to show how the fees correlate with the local 
government’s cost for managing the permitting and right of way.  

• The order decreases a community’s capacity to receive recompense for the use 
of their right of way that is in excess of the cost of managing that right of way.  

• Local governments that are prepared by proactively putting in place policies and 
procedures will be able to retain some local control. 

• If you have an existing agreement, we believe it will be hard for a vendor to justify 
a request to change that agreement and it seems unlikely that the courts would 
side with them. 

• There will very likely be court challenges to this order.  

 

 

Important Tips and Action Steps  
 

• ANTENNA PLACEMENT - you cannot say no to any antennas on poles in an 
area. However, you can say no to a specific placement as long as there is a 
reasonable alternative.  

• UNDERGROUND - you cannot require that all of this infrastructure be placed 
underground, but you may be able to require that all but the antenna be placed 
underground. However, if you are planning to do so, you must do so for ALL 
utilities and you must have an ordinance in place.  

• STREET FURNITURE - you can require that street furniture have a certain 
aesthetic and a setback from the street (for both aesthetic and public safety 
reasons, such as to prevent loss of parking due to inability to open car doors). 
You must have an ordinance in place that applies to ALL utilities' street furniture 
in the local government’s right of way. 

• SHROUDING - You can require a certain aesthetic for certain neighborhoods 
and certain types of poles. If these requirements are in place in advance of a 
carrier approaching you, you are less likely to experience push back and your 
position will be more defensible if challenged in court. 

• PERMITTING - The time to revise and organize your permitting process is now. If 
your permitting process includes a plan to adhere to the shot clocks in the order, 
you will more likely be able to meet them.  

• SHOT CLOCK DEADLINES - The deadlines may be difficult to meet, but there is 
NO DEEMED GRANTED provision in this order. Batch permitting may be 
particularly problematic for local governments as the scope of such requests can 
overwhelm a permitting department, but if you work in good faith, keep the carrier 
updated, and are still unable to meet the deadline, it is likely the carrier will work 
with you. If instead they take you to court, your due diligence and proactive 
efforts will work in your favor.  

• APPLICATION COSTS - The costs listed in the order are for guidance. If you 
stay at or below them, your fees very likely will not be challenged in court. 
However, you can charge more if you have evidence that your costs are higher. 

452



 

Including your engineering costs, permitting staff costs, and post-installation 
inspection costs may justify a higher application fee. If those costs are 
reasonable, the fee is unlikely to be challenged and if challenged, will likely be 
upheld even under the FCC’s test. 

• ANNUAL ROW FEE - If at or below the cost specified by the order ($270/year), 
this fee will very likely be unchallenged by carriers. If higher, a court may require 
the local government to justify the fee as being directly related to cost. 

• NEGOTIATING - Remember that one of the single most valuable characteristics 
of your permitting from the carrier perspective is predictability. If you can give a 
high degree of certainty that permits will be finished in a predictable manner, 
carriers will be much more willing to negotiate for higher fees or more public 
interest requirements than those set by the FCC.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

453



 

Endnotes 
 
[i] Accelerating Wireline Broadband Deployment by Removing Barriers to Infrastructure 
Investment, Declaratory Ruling and Third Report and Order, WT Docket No. 17-79; WC 
Docket No. 17-84 (the "Order"). 
  
[ii] Section 253(a) provides that “[n]o State or local statute or regulation, or other State or 
local legal requirement, may prohibit or have the effect of prohibiting the ability of any 
entity to provide any interstate or intrastate telecommunications service.” Section 
332(c)(7) provides that “[t]he regulation of the placement, construction, and modification 
of personal wireless service facilities by any State or local government or instrumentality 
thereof—(I) shall not unreasonably discriminate among providers of functionally 
equivalent services; and (II) shall not prohibit or have the effect of prohibiting the 
provision of personal wireless services.” 
  
[iii] However, parts of the Declaratory Ruling and even the Rules acknowledge the ability 
of local governments and carriers to negotiate outcomes different from those envisioned 
in the Declaratory Ruling.  For example, with regard to proposals to allow local 
governments to implement best practices or an informal dispute resolution process, the 
FCC stated "Although we do not at this time adopt these proposals, we note that the 
steps taken in this order are intended to facilitate cooperation between parties to reach 
mutually agreed upon solutions. For example, as explained below, mutual agreement 
between the parties will toll the running of the shot clock period, thereby allowing parties 
to resolve disagreements in a collaborative, instead of an adversarial, setting." Order, ¶ 
131.  That reference is to  47 C.F.R. § 1.6003(d), which allows local governments and 
carriers to agree to toll (i.e., lengthen) the shot clock period for any type of wireless 
facility.  Similarly, nothing in the Declaratory Ruling prohibits local governments from 
reaching agreements with carriers and infrastructure providers that contain provisions 
fleshing out (or even departing from) the broad FCC guidelines on cost, aesthetic 
requirements, antenna location and other factors. 
 
[iv] The FCC noted that under its “approach, in extraordinary cases, a siting authority, as 
discussed below, can rebut the presumption of reasonableness of the applicable shot 
clock period where a batch application causes legitimate overload on the siting 
authority’s resources. Thus, contrary to some localities’ arguments, our approach 
provides for a certain degree of flexibility to account for exceptional circumstances.   

* * * 
The siting authority then will have an opportunity to rebut the presumption of effective 
prohibition by demonstrating that the failure to act was reasonable under the 
circumstances and, therefore, did not materially limit or inhibit the applicant from 
introducing new services or improving existing services.  Order, ¶¶ 115-119. 
 
[v] The Order's discussion of the first two factors is brief and provides little guidance: 
"[A]esthetic requirements that are technically feasible and reasonable in that they are 
reasonably directed to avoiding or remedying the intangible public harm of unsightly or 
out-of-character deployments are also permissible.  In assessing whether this standard 
has been met, aesthetic requirements that are more burdensome than those the state or 
locality applies to similar infrastructure deployments are not permissible, because such 
discriminatory application evidences that the requirements are not, in fact, reasonable 

454



 

and directed at remedying the impact of the wireless infrastructure deployment."  Order, 
¶ 87. 

455



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 

  

 
 
  

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development 
 
 DATE: April 10, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: 100 Block Alley Reconstruction 
   Project No. RC-039-3154 
   Request for PS&E Approval 
 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs 
and Quantities for the 100 Block Alley Reconstruction. 
 
I would recommend setting Monday, May 6, 2019 at 7:00 p.m. as the date and time for the 
public hearing on this project and Tuesday, May 14, 2019 at 2:00 p.m. as the date and time for 
receiving and opening bids. I would also request that the Notice to Bidders be published by April 
19, 2019. The Plans and Specifications will be ready for distribution to contractors on April19, 
2019 allowing more than three (3) weeks of review before contract letting. 
 
This project involves the construction of one downtown alley, in the 100 block of Main Street, on 
the east side.  Originally, it had been anticipated to reconstruct the alley at the same time as the 
parking lot, but due to project complications we were not able to do so.  The City entered into 
contract with AECOM in November 2018, to complete the design and prepare this project for 
bidding and reconstruction in 2019.   
 
Work will include removal and replacement of the existing pavement, significant underground 
utility work, relocation of a transformer (to support widening the alleyway), subdrain, installing 
connection points for each property for sump pump and downspout tie ins to the new subdrain, 
storm sewer, three sets of stairs (for access to/from rear entrances and the parking lot), 
decorative bollards, removable bollards (to allow closing the alley for special events, as 
requested), a 4’ landscaped area, and a bid alternate for colored concrete that could be 
selected to complement Parkade and side street streetscape designs.  In addition, the City has 
worked with 6 property owners to coordinate improvements to their rear entrances in 
conjunction with the project.  Each property owner would pay for the cost of above grade stair 
replacements/improvements.  Each owner has signed an agreement.  These will be on the May 
6, 2019 Council agenda for City approval, in conjunction with the public hearing. 
 

456



The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $153,466.03. Of that $25,372.00 
would be reimbursed by property owners, for stair improvements.  CIP #78 estimated 
construction to be $150,000, utilizing TIF and a grant from Black Hawk County Gaming 
Association.  The City has secured the grant, generally to cover 30% of the project.   
 
This project meets the Organizational Goal #4 of the City Council goals for fiscal year 2019, 
utilizing TIF to make landscaping, alley, and other streetscape improvements in the Downtown 
and College Hill. 
 
The Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities are available for your review at 
the City Clerk's office or the Engineering Division of the Community Development Department. 
 
 
Att: Engineer’s Estimate 
  
CC:  Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 
 Jamie Castle, AIA, Building Official 

457



No. Spec Bid Items Unit Unit Cost City 102 104 106 108 110 114 116 117 118 120 122 128 Total Quantity Total Cost

1 2010 MODIFIED SUBBASE CY 35.00$          232.1 232.1 8,125.19$               

2 2010 SUBGRADE PREPARATION SY 5.00$            760.0 760.0 3,800.00$               

3 2523 ELECTRICAL CIRCUITS LF 15.00$          202.0 202.0 3,030.00$               

4 4020 STORM SEWER PIPE, RCP, 15 IN. LF 60.00$          10.0 10.0 600.00$                  

5 4040 LONGITUDINAL SUBDRAIN, PERFORATED, 4 IN. LF 10.00$          182.2 182.2 1,822.00$               

6 4041 FOOTING DRAIN COLLECTOR, 12 IN. LF 35.00$          263.8 263.8 9,233.00$               

7 4040 SUBDRAIN OUTLETS EACH 300.00$        4.0 4.0 1,200.00$               

8 4040 SUBDRAIN FOOTING DRAIN CONNECTION EACH 300.00$        9.0 9.0 2,700.00$               

9 4040 FOOTING DRAIN CLEANOUT, 12" EACH 1,000.00$    2.0 2.0 2,000.00$               

10 6010 DOUBLE GRATE INTAKE, SW-505 EACH 7,000.00$    2.0 2.0 14,000.00$            

11 7010 PCC PAVEMENT, 8 IN. SY 40.00$          696.4 696.4 27,857.78$            

12 7010 SIDEWALK, 6 IN. SY 55.00$          11.5 11.5 632.50$                  

13 7040 REMOVAL OF PAVEMENT SY 7.00$            705.4 705.4 4,937.57$               

14 7040 SAWCUT FOR REMOVALS LF 6.00$            206.0 206.0 1,236.00$               

15 9080 CONCRETE STEPS SF 30.00$          30.0 15.2 10.0 42.5 68.7 25.0 191.4 5,742.00$               

16 9080 RAISED LANDINGS AND RAMPS SY 50.00$          17.9 18.3 36.2 1,810.00$               

17 9080 RAILINGS, DECORATIVE LF 200.00$        12.0 3.0 24.3 25.0 13.8 5.0 83.1 16,610.00$            

18 9080 RAILINGS, DECORATIVE, REMOVABLE LF 250.00$        8.5 8.5 2,125.00$               

19 9080 RAILINGS, REMOVABLE LF 150.00$        15.9 15.9 2,385.00$               

20 LIGHTED BOLLARDS EACH 800.00$        10.0 10.0 8,000.00$               

21 REMOVABLE BOLLARDS EACH 800.00$        10.0 10.0 8,000.00$               

22 UTILITY BOLLARDS EACH 800.00$        14.0 14.0 11,200.00$            

23 2010 REMOVALS AS PER PLAN LS 1,000.00$    1.0 1.0 1,000.00$               

24 6010 UTILITY ADJUSTMENT, MINOR EACH 1,500.00$    1.0 1.0 1,500.00$               

25 9030 PLANTINGS EACH 60.00$          139.0 139.0 8,340.00$               

26 9020 SODDING SQ 100.00$        5.8 5.8 580.00$                  

27 TRANSFORMER PAD EACH 5,000.00$    1.0 1.0 5,000.00$               

28 PCC PAVEMENT, COLORED, 8 IN. SY 100.00$        82.7 82.7 8,270.00$               

TOTALS 128,094.03$  -$           -$           -$           -$           1,056.00$ -$           6,055.00$    -$           8,300.00$    3,400.00$ 4,811.00$ 1,750.00$ 153,466.03$          

100 BLOCK ALLEY RECONSTRUCTION

City Project Number RC-039-3154

Engineer's Estimate

4/2/2019

Alternate Bid

458



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: April 11, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: Walnut Box Culvert Replacement Project 
  City Project No. BR-106-3152 
  Request for PS&E Approval 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of 
Costs and Quantities for the Walnut Box Culvert Replacement Project. 
 
I would recommend setting Monday, May 6th, 2019 at 7:00 p.m. as the date and time for 
the public hearing on this project and Tuesday, May 14th, 2019 at 2:00 p.m. as the date 
and time for receiving and opening bids. I would also request that the Notice to Bidders 
be published by April 19th, 2019. It is anticipated that the Plans and Specifications will 
be ready for distribution to contractors on April 19th, 2019 allowing more than two (2) 
weeks of review before contract letting. 
 
This project involves the removal of existing bridge structure, placement of new double 
cell 14’ x 6’ precast RCB culvert, creek channel excavation, erosion control measures, 
and reconstruction of portions of one (1) City Street.  
 
The total estimated cost of the Walnut Box Culvert Replacement Project is $807,010.10. 
The funding for this project will be provided by the Storm Water Fund and Local Sales 
Tax.  
 
The Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities are available for your 
review at the City Clerk's office or at the Engineering Division of the Department of 
Community Development. 
 
xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
 Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer  

459



1 2010-108-C-0 Clearing & Grubbing L.S. 1.0 $10,000.00 $10,000.00

2 2010-108-D-3 Topsoil, Furnish & Spread C.Y. 419.0 $20.00 $8,380.00

3 2010-108-E-0 Excavation, Class 10, Roadway C.Y. 825.0 $14.00 $11,550.00

4 2010-108-E-0 Excavation, Class 10, Unstable, Roadway C.Y. 82.5 $13.00 $1,072.50

5 2010-108-E-0 Excavation, Class 12, Boulder C.Y. 8.2 $30.00 $246.00

6 2010-108-E-0 Excavation, Class 13, Channel C.Y. 125.9 $15.00 $1,888.50

7 2010-108-G-0 Compaction, Subgrade, Roadway STA. 4.5 $300.00 $1,350.00

8 2010-108-H-0 Geogrid S.Y. 1484.1 $5.00 $7,420.50

9 2010-108-I-0 Modified Subbase, 12 IN., Roadway S.Y. 2473.5 $14.00 $34,629.00

10 2010-108-J-2A Removal of Existing Bridge Structure L.S. 1.0 $15,000.00 $15,000.00

11 2010-999-1 Excavation, Class 23, Structure C.Y. 369.7 $13.00 $4,806.10

12 2010-999-2 Granular Subbase Backfill, Culvert C.Y. 75.4 $18.00 $1,357.20

13 2010-999-3 Granular Bedding, Culvert C.Y. 91.3 $45.00 $4,108.50

14 2010-999-4 Flowable Mortar, Culvert C.Y. 61.0 $140.00 $8,540.00

15 3010-108-D-0 Granular Backfill (Replacement of Unsuitable Backfill) TON 50.0 $25.00 $1,250.00

16 4010-108-A-1 Sewer, Sanitary, 8” Truss Pipe L.F. 72.0 $60.00 $4,320.00

17 4010-108-E-0 Sewer, Sanitary Service Stub, 4” SDR 23.5 L.F. 25.0 $50.00 $1,250.00

18 4010-108-H-0 Removal of Sanitary Sewer, VCP, 8” L.F. 138.0 $10.00 $1,380.00

19 4020-108-A-1 Sewer, Storm, 18 IN. Dia., 2000D, RCP L.F 114.0 $65.00 $7,410.00

20 4020-108-A-1 Sewer, Storm, 18 IN. Dia., Standard Perf., HDPE L.F. 170.0 $75.00 $12,750.00

21 4020-108-A-1 Sewer, Strom, 24 IN. Dia., 2000D, RCP L.F. 64.0 $60.00 $3,840.00

22 4020-108-A-1 Sewer, Storm, 24 IN. Dia., Standard Perf., HDPE L.F. 267.0 $70.00 $18,690.00

23 4020-108-C-0 Removal of Storm Sewer, RCP, 12” L.F. 448.0 $15.00 $6,720.00

24 4030-999-1 Double Cell 14 Ft. X 6 Ft. Culvert, Precast, PCC L.F. 54.0 $2,800.00 $151,200.00

25 4030-999-2 Double Cell 14 Ft. X 6 Ft. Culvert Apron, 2:1 Sloped End Section, Precast, PCC, Including L.S. 1.0 $17,000.00 $17,000.00

26 4030-999-3 Double Cell, Flared End Section, 30° South & -30° North, 2 - 2.3:1 Slope Walls, PCC, Including L.S. 1.0 $25,000.00 $25,000.00

27 4030-999-4 1 Ft. X 4 Ft. X 36 Ft. Curtain Wall, Precast, PCC EA. 2.0 $3,000.00 $6,000.00

28 4040-108-A-0 Subdrain, Standard Perf., 6 IN. L.F. 778.0 $11.00 $8,558.00

29 4040-108-D-0 Subdrain, Outlet, 6 In. X 2 Ft., CMP EA. 12.0 $200.00 $2,400.00

30 4040-108-D-0 Subdrain, Outlet, 6 In x 6 Ft., CMP EA. 2.0 $250.00 $500.00

31 4040-108-E-0 Storm Sewer Service Stub, Non Perforated HDPE, 4” EA. 4.0 $300.00 $1,200.00

32 5010-108-A-1 Watermain, Trenched, SJ DIP, 6” (Polyethylene Wrapped) L.F. 585.0 $60.00 $35,100.00

33 5010-108-A-1 Watermain, Trenched, SJ DIP, 10” (Polyethylene Wrapped) L.F. 130.0 $75.00 $9,750.00

34 5010-108-C-1 Bend, 6” MJ 45° EA. 4.0 $210.00 $840.00

35 5010-108-C-1 Bend, 6” MJ 90° EA. 8.0 $220.00 $1,760.00

36 5010-108-C-1 Cross, 6” X 6” MJ EA. 1.0 $350.00 $350.00

37 5010-108-C-1 Cross, 10” X 10” MJ EA. 1.0 $400.00 $400.00

38 5010-108-C-1 Tee, 6” X 6” MJ X MJ EA. 1.0 $350.00 $350.00

39 5010-108-C-1 Tee, 10” X 6” MJ X MJ EA. 1.0 $400.00 $400.00

40 5010-108-C-1 Reducer, 10” X 6” MJ X PE EA. 2.0 $250.00 $500.00

41 5010-108-C-1 Sleeve, 10” X 12” Solid EA. 2.0 $400.00 $800.00

42 5010-108-C-1 6” Nitrile Gaskets EA. 14.0 $120.00 $1,680.00

43 5010-108-C-1 10” Nitrile Gaskets EA. 4.0 $160.00 $640.00

44 5010-108-C-1 Cap, 6” MJ EA. 4.0 $135.00 $540.00

45 5010-108-C-1 Cap, 10” MJ EA. 2.0 $180.00 $360.00

46 5010-108-C-1 Joint Restraint Gasket, 6” EA. 14.0 $140.00 $1,960.00

47 5010-108-C-1 Joint Restraint Gasket, 10” EA. 2.0 $220.00 $440.00

48 5010-108-C-1 Mechanical Joint Restraint, 6” EA. 32.0 $130.00 $4,160.00

49 5010-108-C-1 Mechanical Joint Restraint, 10” EA. 6.0 $160.00 $960.00

50 5010-108-D-0 Service Shortside, ¾” EA. 2.0 $1,000.00 $2,000.00

51 5010-108-D-0 Service Longside, ¾” EA. 2.0 $1,500.00 $3,000.00

52 5020-108-A-0 Valve, 6” MJ Gate W/ Box EA. 4.0 $1,600.00 $6,400.00

53 5020-108-A-0 Valve, 10” MJ Gate W/ Box EA. 1.0 $2,200.00 $2,200.00

54 5020-108-C-0 Hydrant Assembly EA. 2.0 $4,800.00 $9,600.00

55 5020-108-I-0 Remove Hydrant Assembly EA. 1.0 $1,000.00 $1,000.00

56 6010-108-A-0 Manhole, Sanitary Sewer, SW-301 EA. 2.0 $4,000.00 $8,000.00

57 6010-108-A-0 Manhole, Storm Sewer, SW-401 EA. 2.0 $3,000.00 $6,000.00

58 6010-108-E-0 Manhole Adjustment, Minor EA. 2.0 $500.00 $1,000.00

59 6010-108-H-0 Remove Manhole EA. 3.0 $1,000.00 $3,000.00

60 6010-108-H-0 Remove Intake EA. 7.0 $1,000.00 $7,000.00

61 6010-999-1 Intake, Type D EA. 12.0 $5,000.00 $60,000.00

62 7010-108-A-0 Pavement, Stand. Or Slip-Form, PCC, 8 IN., Class ‘C’ S.Y. 2246.0 $47.00 $105,562.00

63 7030-108-A-0 Removal of Driveway S.Y. 80.6 $8.00 $644.80

64 7030-108-A-0 Removal of Sidewalk S.Y. 122.4 $8.00 $979.20

65 7030-108-E-0 Sidewalk, 4”, Type ‘C’, Class III, PCC S.Y. 65.0 $50.00 $3,250.00

66 7030-108-E-0 Sidewalk, 6”, Type ‘C’, Class III, PCC S.Y. 78.4 $60.00 $4,704.00

67 7030-108-G-0 Pedestrian Ramps, Detectable Warnings S.F. 100.0 $35.00 $3,500.00

68 7030-108-H-1 Driveway, 6”, Type ‘C’, Class III, PCC S.Y. 80.6 $50.00 $4,030.00

69 7030-108-H-2 Surfacing, 1” Roadstone TON 50.0 $14.00 $700.00

70 7040-108-A-0 Patch, HMA (ST) Surface, ½”, No Fric. TON 5.0 $250.00 $1,250.00

71 7040-108-H-0 Removal of Pavement S.Y. 2246.0 $15.00 $33,690.00

72 8030-108-A-0 Traffic Control L.S. 1.0 $10,000.00 $10,000.00

73 8940-999-1 Type A Signs, Aluminum S.F. 29.5 $25.00 $737.50

74 8940-999-2 Sign Post, Square Tubing 14 Gauge 2” Galvanized L.F 74.5 $40.00 $2,980.00

75 9010-108-B-0 Hydraulic Seeding S.F 15412.0 $0.50 $7,706.00

76 9020-108-A-0 Sod, Provide & Place S.F 7200.0 $0.65 $4,680.00

77 9040-108-D-1 Filter Sock, 9” L.F 240.0 $15.00 $3,600.00

78 9040-108-E-0 Rolled Erosion Control Product, Extended Term (RECP) S.Y. 452.2 $24.00 $10,852.80

79 9040-108-J-0 Revetment, Class E TON 210.0 $45.00 $9,450.00

80 9040-108-T-1 Sediment Filter, Intake Well EA. 12.0 $250.00 $3,000.00

81 9040-108-T-2 Cleaning, Sediment Filter Basin EA. 12.0 $200.00 $2,400.00

82 9080-108-B-0 Handrail, 2 IN. Dia. Steel Pipe, Hot Dip Galvanized L.F. 103.5 $225.00 $23,287.50

83 11,020-108-A-0 Mobilization L.S. 1.0 $20,000.00 $20,000.00

$703,870.10

$17,950.00

$85,190.00

$807,010.10

ESTIMATED 

QUANTITY

TOTAL STREET RECONSTRUCTION

TOTAL SANITARY WORK

TOTAL PROJECT ESTIMATE

May, 2019

Walnut Street Box Culvert Replacement

14ft. X 6ft. Double Cell Precast Concrete Box Culvert & Associated Work
CITY PROJECT NO. BR-106-3152

FINAL ESTIMATE OF COSTS AND QUANTITIES

University Branch of Dry Run Creek

ITEM CODE DESCRIPTION
ITEM   

NO.
UNIT UNIT PRICE

TOTAL WATER MAIN REPLACEMENT

TOTAL COST

460



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 
 
 DATE: April 10, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: Ridgeway Avenue Reconstruction Project 
   Project No. RC-293-3172 
   Request for PS&E Approval 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs 
and Quantities for the Ridgeway Avenue Reconstruction Project. 
 
I would recommend setting Monday, May 6, 2019 at 7:00 p.m. as the date and time for the 
public hearing on this project and Tuesday, May 14, 2019 at 2:00 p.m. as the date and time for 
receiving and opening bids. I would also request that the Notice to Bidders be published by April 
19, 2019. The Plans and Specifications will be ready for distribution to contractors on April 19, 
2019 allowing more than three (3) weeks of review before contract letting. 
 
This project involves the reconstruction of Ridgeway Avenue from Nordic Drive west 
approximately 750 feet. Work will include removal and replacement of the existing pavement, 
installation of a roundabout, storm sewer, subdrain, replacement of driveway approaches, and 
installation of a pedestrian trail. 
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $1,942,700. This project will be 
funded by the South Cedar Falls TIF and private funds. 
 
The Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities are available for your review at 
the City Clerk's office or the Engineering Division of the Community Development Department. 
 
 
xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
  

461



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
Financial Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Brown and City Council Members  

 FROM: Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

 DATE: April 9, 2019 

 SUBJECT: FY2019 Budget Amendment 

 
Please find attached the notice for a FY19 budget amendment.  This budget 
amendment is necessary due to the timing of various projects and participation in 
various grants.    
 
The Code of Iowa requires that the City have a public hearing and I would request 
that the hearing be set for May 6, 2019. 
 
CC: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 
       Ron Gaines, City Administrator 
 
 
 
  
  

462



463


	Top
	1. Regular Meeting of April 1, 2019
	190401MINUTES.docx

	2. PH-Zuidberg NA, LLC Economic Development Project
	1_Public Hearing Memo to Council for April 15, 2019.docx
	2_Zuidberg NA, LLC Site Map.pdf
	3_Authorizing Resolution for Zuidberg NA, LLC.docx
	4_Zuidberg Signed Development Agreement.pdf
	5_Quit Claim Deed - Zuidberg NA, LLC.pdf

	3. Res for PH-Zuidberg NA, LLC Economic Development Project
	4. Ord. 2938, Rezoning A1 to RP
	2938-Rezoning A1 to RP.docx

	5. Ord. 2939, CHN Overlay Zoning District
	2939-CHN code amendments (2).docx

	6. Appointments 4-15
	Appointments Council Memo 4-15.docx

	7. Committee of the Whole Minutes 4/1/19
	Comm of the Whole 04 01 19.docx

	8. Council Work Session Minutes 4/1/19
	Comm of the Whole (Special) 04 01 19.docx
	Project Priorities meeting.docx

	9. CS Certified List-PSO
	PublicSafetyOfficer-CertList4-2019.pdf

	10. Boy Scouts - Permit for BB Gun Range
	Boys Scouts BB Gun Range.pdf

	11. Special Events
	0-Special Event Request Council Memo.docx
	1-Street Closures - Shamrock Shuffle.pdf
	2-Street Closures - UNI Triathlon.pdf
	3-Parking Variance - Breakfast.pdf
	4-IA Shrine Bowl Parade.pdf
	5-Street Closure - CH Farmers Market.pdf

	12. 4/15 Liquor
	Liquor Beer 4-11-2019.docx

	13. Marco Agreement - New Phone System
	Phone System Council Memo.docx
	Scoring Matrix.docx
	2019.03 City of Cedar Falls Relationship Agreement FINAL.pdf

	14. Flood Buyout Lease
	2019-21 Flood Buyout Lease 04-15-2019.pdf

	15. Contract - 2019 Pavement Marking Services
	Paint bid cc doc 4 15 19.pdf

	16. Wheel Loader Purchase
	wheel loader cc memo 4 15 19.pdf

	17. Walnut St Box Culvert-Agreements-Easements
	1. Memo-Council Pubic Hearing.docx
	2.2701_001.pdf

	18. Ridgeway Ave Improvements-Purchase Agreements
	1. Memo-Council Pubic Hearing.docx
	2.2709_001.pdf

	19. Bids - 2019 Permeable Alley
	1. 2019 Permeable Alley Bid Opening Memo.docx
	2. ALLEY BID TAB - 2019.pdf

	20. DPA-BJW-Park Ridge Estates
	1. Park Ridge Estates - Developmental Agreement.docx
	2. Developmental Agreement - Park Ridge Estates.pdf

	21. PSA-Snyder-Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction
	1. Professional Services Agreement Memo.docx
	2. PSA_2019-04-09_CedarHeights.pdf

	22. Rental Conversion for 1026 W 8th
	1. Memo to Council - 1026 W 8th.docx
	2. Lien Notice and Special Promissory Note.docx
	3. Supp materials.pdf

	23. Nomination-Wild Historic District
	1. Council memo 4-12-19 nomination.docx
	2. Evaluation form.pdf
	3. IA_Black Hawk County_Wild Historic District.pdf
	4. IA_Black Hawk County_Wild Historic District_Photos 1-13.pdf

	24. 2020 College St - College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Sign Review
	1. CC Staff report-2020 College.docx
	2. spp material.pdf

	25. 2125 College St, Suite A - College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Sign Review
	1.CC Staff report-2125 College.docx
	2. supp materials.pdf

	26. CBD Site Plan - 302 Main Street and 123 East 3rd Street/305 State Street - River Place II
	1. CC Staff Report for 302 Main  and 123 E 3rd Street SITE PLAN.docx
	2. Complete combined submission-2-18-19 (4).pdf
	3. 302 Main 180067 - Drainage Exhibit.pdf
	4. 123 E 3 EX1 - Stormwater Management Exhibit_305 Main St.pdf
	5. EASEMENT VACATION.pdf
	6. 4&#39; NO BUILD EASEMENT.pdf
	7. River Place Parking Impact Report. WGI.pdf
	8. CMS Letter 3_27_19 2.pdf
	9. CMS letter submitted 2-7-19.pdf
	10. letter from Jill Smith.pdf

	27. Service Agreement - Drawdowns of CDBG Funds
	1. Council memo-Lump Sum Draw Down 4-15-19.docx
	2. CDBG Lump Sum Draw Down Agreement FSB 04-15-19.pdf

	28. Cedar Heights Sidewalk Assessment Revision
	1. Council memo 4-15-19.docx
	2. Map of Cedar Heights sidewalk area.pdf
	Resolution.pdf

	29. Small Cell Design Guidelines
	1. Council memo 4-15-19.docx
	2. Small Cell Design Guidelines-Cedar Falls 4-10-19.docx
	3. FCC's 5G FAST Plan.pdf
	4. Next-Century-Cities-Information Sheet.pdf
	5. Next Century Cities Guide-to-FCC-Small-Cell-Order.pdf

	30. Small Wireless Facility Fee Schedule
	31. Set PH - 100 Block Alley Reconstruction
	1. 100 block PSE Memo 4-15-19.docx
	2. Engineer&#39;s Estimate 4-04-19.pdf

	32. Set PH - Walnut Street Box Culvert Replacement - University Branch of Dry Run Creek
	1. PSE - Walnut Box.docx
	4. Walnut Box Culvert Cost Estimate - FINAL.pdf

	33. Set PH - Ridgeway Avenue Reconstruction
	1. Ridgeway Ave PSE.docx

	34. Set PH - FY2019 Budget Amendment
	Budget Amend #2 Set Pub Hear Memo.docx
	CedarFalls_budget_amend_2_FY19 PH.pdf

	35. Allow Bills and Payroll of April 15, 2019
	36. Executive Session to discuss Property Acquisition
	Bottom

